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Preface 

The distinctive imperative that separates the Church from other charities is the 

challenge of the spread of the kingdom as proclaimed by the gospel of Jesus Christ. 

Implicit to that charge is the stewardship of the gifts that God has given us.

As part of the voluntary sector, the Church is subject to the same constraints of 

legislation as any other charity. ACAT was founded in response to the regulatory 

requirements imposed by the 1993 Charities Act, but there is now much more 

legislation governing areas of financial activities with which the Church must abide.

This handbook is written to provide guidance for treasurers and others concerned 

with the financial and legislative affairs of their church, on a wide range of financial 

matters. The core material should be relevant to most church situations. However, 

there are specific matters which are applicable to particular denominations and 

which cannot be dealt with in this handbook. If there is ever any doubt, you should 

contact the financial administration of your church central structure.

Church trustees have to demonstrate transparency and accountability to supporters 

of the church, as well as the wider public. If you are reading this it is probable that 

you are the trustee chosen to be responsible, through your church committee, 

for the financial affairs of your local church. In fulfilling this role it is important to 

understand that you must not only abide by the law, but also with the specific 

requirements and guidance of your denomination or central church authority.
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Disclaimer

This handbook is provided for its members by the Association of Church 

Accountants & Treasurers (ACAT), a charity registered in England and Wales  

(No. 1072733), administrative office: 125 Coney Green Business Centre,  

Wingfield View, Clay Cross, Chesterfield S45 9JW. 

Jurisdiction: This handbook deals with matters based upon the laws of England and 

Wales. There is general application to other parts of the United Kingdom, though the 

laws will differ and further advice should be sought in respect of local requirements. 

The Channel Islands and the Isle of Man have their own jurisdiction outside the 

United Kingdom and are not covered by this manual.

Purpose: This handbook is designed to provide a basic level of assistance to ACAT 

members. However, the information supplied should not be relied upon without 

taking further advice from ACAT or an independent legal, finance or tax adviser 

where the circumstances suggest. ACAT reserves the right to update the handbook 

from time to time and members are advised to check for updates. However, all areas 

of law constantly evolve either through Parliament or the Courts. The information 

cannot therefore be regarded as accurate until it has been confirmed by a relevant 

adviser. Certain aspects of advice may not apply to particular denominations, 

companies, organisations and styles of employment/office; in each case, further 

advice should be sought to clarify particular and individual queries. 

Intellectual Property: All information within this ACAT handbook is copyright © 2017 

Association of Church Accountants & Treasurers, 125 Coney Green Business Centre, 

Wingfield View, Clay Cross, Chesterfield S45 9JW, United Kingdom. All rights 

reserved. All information provided by this handbook remains the property of ACAT. 

Members of ACAT have permission to copy sections of the manual providing this is 

for personal use only. ACAT strictly prohibits reproduction other than for personal 

use and the alteration, modification, republication for monies or other consideration 

without the prior consent in writing from ACAT’s corporate trustee, Association of 

Church Accountants & Treasurers Corporate Trustee Limited, at the above address.
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1. Know what you are letting yourself in for
The role of church treasurer is, in the last analysis, a “labour of love”. It can 

be a thankless task and only those who have a clear idea of what they are 

letting themselves in for should contemplate the responsibility. 

Very few of us would consider an invitation to join the British four-man 

bobsleigh team as it hurtles seemingly towards oblivion without at least 

mildly enquiring what was involved and whether anyone had ever come to 

grief before on such a venture. 

It is therefore vitally important that the would-be treasurer thinks very 

carefully before committing to a task which can be both frustrating and 

rewarding. The responsibilities should be undertaken with eyes wide open. 

Study any rules or regulations your church may have adopted and be sure 

to obtain and become familiar with any guidance it publishes. Some further 

pointers follow.

a. Before accepting responsibilities

Talk to people

When considering taking on the role of church treasurer bear in mind the 

1990’s British Telecom advert “It’s Good to Talk”.  Often a very clear picture 

of what is in store can be obtained by talking to some of the key people in the 

church, with whom the treasurer must work very closely. 

Find out what their expectations are. Do they match yours? What levels of 

commitment to the job are expected? 

Are they realistic? Are you prepared to give the amount of time necessary to 

do a “good job”?

Talk to: 

• The clergy or ministers, particularly the one with whom you will have to 

work closely 

• The churchwardens or elders

• Members of the church board, committee or council

• Members of any sub-committees from whom you may require regular 

information

Can you work with the other church officers and members of the church 

committees?

It is one thing meeting people in church on Sunday or at a social function but 

relationships can take on an entirely different character in the “white heat” of 
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a church meeting or a discussion with the church hall committee on the use 

of its surplus funds.

Ask yourself whether your role and responsibilities might affect friendships, 

which perhaps mean a lot? Will you be able to work with the other church 

officers, the PCC, the board, committee or council? The church treasurer 

may only be an executive trustee of the church, and an unpaid volunteer 

at that, but it is a vitally important role, which involves dealing with other 

members of the church in a relationship which is almost a business one. Tact 

and diplomacy are essential, particularly when financial questions relating to 

expenditure or cash handling need to be asked. 

b. What has happened in the past?

Have a look at the books

In trying to form a picture of the current situation it is essential that the 

potential church treasurer has a good look at “the books”. Here again there 

are some very important questions to ask. It is essential that the “would be 

treasurer” understands how the books are kept and what procedures are in 

place for paying bills and recording income. 

• Are the financial records clear and understandable or will you need an 

accountancy qualification to make any sense of them?

•  Are the records up to date or will you have a backlog of work to 

complete?

•  Is the system of recording the various financial transactions a simple one?

•  Are the records tidy?

•  Are all the supporting receipts and invoices available and have they been 

kept filed in an easy to understand way?

Have a look at the accounts

New treasurers are usually appointed at the beginning of a new financial year. 

A good look at the previous set of church accounts can reveal much about 

not only the financial state of things but also how complicated the finances 

are.

The accounts will reveal whether the church has a number of designated or 

restricted funds, which have to be identified separately or whether most of 

the income is unallocated and therefore relatively easy to distinguish.

It is also useful to compare the accounts with the actual books or financial 

records. Is a clear audit trail visible? Is it possible to identify amounts 

recorded in the books with sums appearing in the accounts?
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The treasurer is responsible for preparing the accounts at the end of the 

financial year and it is important to verify how complicated a process this 

is likely to be. A few succinct questions with the current treasurer should 

provide some answers.   

Sometimes, the financial records are not as clear as perhaps one would 

have expected. They may not be up to date for perfectly good reasons. This 

should not deter someone considering taking on the responsibility. The role 

of church treasurer presents an opportunity for service in God’s church and 

the use of skills, which might otherwise remain dormant.

c. Is there anything hidden?

Hidden accounts

It has not been unknown for “special accounts” managed only by the minister 

and/or the church officers to exist. The knowledge of such accounts has 

often been deliberately kept from central church officers and even treasurers, 

not necessarily with any malevolent intention, but simply on the basis that “It 

is good to have something tucked away in case of emergencies”. 

The church treasurer, as the church’s ultimate financial controller (albeit only 

as a trusted specialist among his/her co-trustees), must have access to all 

funds which relate to all church activities because, in the last analysis, he (or 

she) is accountable for them to the church.

Hidden facts

The church treasurer is not just a “bookkeeper.” As the church’s financial 

controller, he or she must be in possession of all relevant information with a 

bearing on church finances.

In this respect, it is important to determine whether there are any substantial 

items of expenditure which will have to be met by the church in the near 

future and if so whether there will be sufficient funds to meet them. 

Are there inherent financial problems or issues, which lurk for the 

unsuspecting new treasurer?   

When all is said and done the job is a responsible one, and whilst it is 

more likely to increase rather than decrease one’s blood pressure it can be 

immensely rewarding.
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2. Keeping the books

a. Some basic principles

In many respects the extent to which the treasurer’s job becomes difficult 

to cope with will depend on the manner in which “the books” or financial 

records are kept. There are perhaps three fundamental principles, of which 

the treasurer should never lose sight. These are:

Accuracy 

Integrity 

Constancy

In putting forward these principles it is presumed that the financial records 

will assume some degree of formality. Clearly a shoe box full of receipts and 

invoices which gets looked at periodically is unacceptable. The assumption 

here is that receipts and payments will at least be recorded in a systematised 

form either using a computer programme, computer spreadsheets or a 

manually written cash-book.  

Accuracy is basic to all that follows. If the accounting records do not present 

an accurate picture, not only can all sorts of undetected errors and partial 

omissions lurk beneath the surface unless every single transaction’s entries 

are ‘double-checked’ by someone else (due to the uncertainty left by the 

usual arithmetical methods of checking for exactitude if totals don’t quite 

agree), but a false sense of financial well-being can be created, which in turn 

can lead to wrong decisions being taken and commitments made which 

cannot be fulfilled. Put very simply, the books should add up correctly with 

bank reconciliations prepared each time a statement is received. The records 

for all funds should clearly show each and every amount received and 

payment made, with the cashbook balance reconciled to bank statements, 

and investment purchases and sales and other asset movements fully 

accounted for (by means of an asset register, if necessary).

Integrity in a bookkeeping context means that all entries are capable of 

being evidenced by some form of documentation, which show how they 

originated. This documentation will take various forms; invoices, receipts, 

letters from donors, weekly service records of church collections, Gift Aid 

records etc.

Constancy in the bookkeeping is also vital. The books must be kept in 

a consistent manner and up to date. Burning the midnight oil before the 

monthly church meeting is not to be recommended as a regular practice.
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b. Keep it simple

The time available to the average church treasurer is rarely sufficient for the 

tasks needing to be accomplished. The bookkeeping system should be the 

slave of the treasurer not the other way around. The church accounts are not 

the context in which to devise a brand new system of single, double, or treble 

entry bookkeeping. 

Whatever system is employed, it should be simple to use, easy to understand 

and be a basis from which the annual accounts can be prepared with a 

minimum of time and energy.

c. The system

Many treasurers keep the church financial records on a computer and there 

are numbers of systems from which to choose; the software will explain how 

to operate the system. 

For those without computer skills, those choosing not to use a computer 

and those using a computer spreadsheet system, a simple extended cash-

book is sufficient, one which records receipts and payments, analysing 

the transactions according to their respective categories. The cumulative 

totals for each category will form the basis for the annual accounts and 

can be easily identified within the financial reports. If a manual cash-book 

or a spreadsheet is used, receipts and payments will need to be sorted 

into various categories. Guidelines are issued by the various church 

denominations as to formats but some suggestions are indicated below:

Receipts

Collections Donations Fees Events Magazine Hall hire Misc.

Payments

Gifts Contribution to 
central Church exp.

Clergy 
Exp.

Print & 
Stat.

Church 
Organisations

Magazine Buildings

If a spreadsheet or similar computer system is used, a back-up copy should 

be kept, ideally on a separate site or in the cloud. Many computer users have 

experienced the sick sensation in the pit of the stomach when the hard disc 

drive crashes and no back-up is available to recover the records.

Resist the temptation to analyse every pound of unallocated receipts or payments. 

Limit the categories for receipts and payments to a reasonable number. 

Ideally no more than fourteen receipts and fourteen payment analyses should 

be used. In this way, a manual multi-column cash-book can serve equally as 

well as a computer spreadsheet.
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d. Separate the various types of fund

Charity law is very clear on the need to distinguish between the various types 

of fund (Unrestricted, Restricted, expendable and permanent Endowment, 

Designated). It is important to separate these various types of fund within 

the financial records. In very simple terms the difference between these fund 

types may be summarised as follows:

Unrestricted:  Can be used for any purpose.

Restricted: Can only be used for the purpose specified by the donor.

Endowment:  These are capital funds (e.g. legacies) where usually only the 

income from the fund can be used either for general purposes, or special 

purposes as specified by the donor, but the capital has to be retained – either 

until it can be converted partly or wholly into income for spending or else 

permanently if the trustees have no such legal power.

Designated:  These are unrestricted funds, which the church has allocated 

for a designated purpose” (e.g. repair of the church roof). Such funds can be 

“un-designated” at any time and the funds returned to the unrestricted fund 

pool.

Transactions relating to these funds must always be identified and accounted 

for separately. It may be useful, particularly in the case of an Endowment 

Fund, to support the separate funds with special bank accounts, in which 

case separate cash-books will be required. However, the separation of funds 

between restricted and unrestricted does not automatically require separate 

bank accounts; this is a matter for the treasurer and the church to decide.

e. Bank reconciliation

Only those of a very peculiar disposition usually obtain personal pleasure 

from poring over bank statements. Reconciling how much money we 

thought we had to the periodic statement is most people’s nightmare. Bank 

reconciliation is simply the process by which the balance on the statement 

is compared with that contained in the treasurer’s cash-book. If the cash-

book is correct, the difference will relate either to payments made or 

income received but which the bank has not yet processed to the account. 

Alternatively, it could reflect items charged to or credited to the account by 

the bank in error.

Arguably the bank statement is the starting point for checking the accuracy 

of the financial records. Therefore, when the letterbox clatters and the 

envelope from the bank drops through don’t let the dog chew up its contents 



So you’ve been asked to be treasurer

17

secure in the knowledge that it does not really matter because there will be 

another next month. 

Bank statements are like one’s weight; to be regularly scrutinised and major 

concerns dealt with promptly.

f. Supporting documentation

Documentation supporting the various transactions (invoices, bills, receipts, 

and records of weekly giving) should be filed in a simple manner, which is 

easy to follow. For those churches whose accounts must have attached 

to them an independent examiner’s or auditor’s statutory report, this is 

particularly important. Supporting documentation is any written evidence or 

explanation of the transaction, which has been recorded.

g. Other considerations

Other considerations in seeking to keep a “proper set of books”, of which the 

treasurer should perhaps take special note are:

Don’t let the work pile up 

“Little and often” is probably the best maxim as far as the treasurer’s 

workload is concerned. Keep on top of the paper and don’t get behind with 

the bookkeeping. A disciplined approach is highly desirable.

Don’t sign blank cheques 

This is the classic mistake for treasurers and their co-signatories to make 

and all too often they get away with the consequences until there is a real 

problem. Don’t fall into the trap laid for the unsuspecting treasurer by the 

churchwarden or vicar just before you depart for three weeks on the Costa 

Del Bournemouth: “As you will be away for the next three weeks can you sign 

up a couple of cheques - just in case we need to complete one urgently.” 

Ensure that there are sufficient signatories available at all times and 

particularly during holiday periods. It is normal ‘good governance’ practice 

throughout the charity sector for cheques to require two signatures one 

of which is usually the treasurer’s – and similarly for online payments. The 

purpose is to reduce the risk of fraud or error, to ensure proper control 

of the process of paying bills and to facilitate control of cash flows and 

safeguarding of bank balances. 

Don’t be afraid to seek help 

From time to time issues will arise which may cause the treasurer some 

sleepless nights. Don’t be afraid to seek advice from other church officers, 

(the Deanery Chair of Finance or the Diocesan Accountant, the person(s) 
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responsible for finance in the governing bodies or central organisations of 

your church, or even ACAT). Nobody has a monopoly of knowledge.

Keep people informed 

The management of the churches’ finances and the keeping of the books 

must be totally transparent. The mushroom principle has no place in 

the realms of church finance. The treasurer should resist at all times the 

temptation to keep his church colleagues in the dark or, when pressed, 

give a response which has the consistency and quality of that which can be 

found in most farmyards. The church has a duty of care to parishioners or 

its members in respect of the management of church finances. Charity law 

imposes a statutory accountability to the general public – anyone who asks 

is legally entitled to a copy of the latest annual report and accounts of the 

charity, subject only to their paying any “reasonable” administrative fee for 

this. Clear communication is an essential part of ensuring the duty is carried 

out to the satisfaction of all concerned. 

h. A final thought on keeping the books

The role of the church treasurer is perhaps not dissimilar from that of the 

“Household Steward” in ancient times. The steward’s responsibility was to 

ensure sound financial management including the proper use of all available 

resources and, above all, to ensure that his master’s affairs were kept in good 

order. The church treasurer is called upon to be just such a person.

i. How long should the records be maintained?

The usual and obvious answer to this question is six years in accordance with 

the Limitation Act 1980 and relates to the time within which a legal action 

must be brought. In general, we recommend this period, except where there 

are longer retention periods indicated below. 

Accounting records including bank statements and invoices, records of any 

unusual receipts or payments etc. should be retained for at least 6 years. 

Annual reports and financial statements (including audit or examination 

reports); the main accounting “ledger” records, property and investments 

records and tax returns should preferably be retained permanently.

Inland Revenue guidance re PAYE, NI and wage and salary records is to 

retain for 3 years after the end of the tax year to which they relate. However, 

there may be other situations to which such records also relate, and it would 

be wise to retain them for the usual 6 years after the end of the tax year to 

which they relate. 
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Gift Aid declarations and notification of alterations to those declarations must 

be retained while the donor continues to make payments, and for  

6 years from the end of the tax year in which payments stopped. Other gift 

aid records should be kept for 6 years after the end of the tax year to which 

they relate. 

“Regular giving” envelopes where the donor is identified by some reference 

on the envelope (such as a unique number) and has signed a separate 

continuing gift aid declaration, only one month of each year has to be 

retained, but it should be the same month each year. Some dioceses and 

churches recommend that the current year should be retained in full as “good 

practice”. 

Health and safety accident reports can be disposed of 3 years after date of 

last entry, but health and safety records of consultation must be retained 

permanently.  Personnel files and training files (including disciplinary and 

working-time records) should be retained for 6 years after employment 

ceases and any redundancy details for 6 years from date of redundancy.

Trust deeds and association/society rules (permanently); trustees’ minute 

books (permanently), property documents (e.g. title deeds, conveyances, 

etc.) (permanently, unless superseded by Land Registry entries adequately 

noting any special conditions attaching to ownership).

Consideration must also be given to central church authority policy. Does 

your denomination, or diocese or district have any policy concerning 

archiving records for historical purposes? Does or should your church have 

such a policy? Most churches have to archive various registers (births, 

deaths, marriages, etc.) and the archiving of other records should be 

considered. For example, even if detailed records are destroyed, perhaps 

summaries should be archived, e.g. detailed financial records destroyed, but 

annual reports and accounts archived. 

Record retention is a complex subject; the above is by no means definitive 

but merely deals with the records that might apply to churches. If there is any 

doubt central church authority and/or legal advice should be sought.

3. Production and publication of year end 
accounts 
The “highlight” of the church treasurer’s year is undoubtedly the production 

of the annual accounts. The annual report and accounts should aim to paint 

the picture of how things are, to tell the story of what has been achieved in 
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the year and how the church’s funds have been used, and also to indicate 

what is planned for future activities.  

a. Plan the process

The process of preparing and publishing the annual report and accounts 

can be quite complex and if it is to be brought to a satisfactory conclusion 

must be prepared for and planned very carefully. It is also important that the 

treasurer is very much in control of the process (one that inevitably involves 

other people) to ensure that deadlines are met.

b. Prepare a timetable

The preparation process involves a number of key deadlines which must be 

strictly adhered to and in this respect the treasurer would be well advised to 

prepare a timetable indicating the various actions which are required, who is 

responsible and when they must be completed.

The timetable need not resemble that prepared for the “D Day Landings” and 

can be very simple along the following lines:

Action Responsible Date

Obtain bank statements Self 05.01

Ensure all transactions are entered in books Self 31.01

Identify accruals (where relevant) Self 31.01

Receive sub-committee financial statements Mission Sec. Hall Treas. 07.02

Close books Self 14.02

Prepare Accounts Self 28.02

Receive Annual Report from author(s) EFG 28.02

Independent Examination /Audit ABC 31.03

Publish Report and Accounts Self 14.04

Annual Church Meeting 05.05

Send copy to relevant central authority Self 06.05

The timetable should be realistic and allow for the inevitable delays, which 

will result from other people not meeting their deadlines.

The key date is the annual church meeting and it is important to identify at 

the outset when that is likely to be so that sufficient time can be allowed for 

everything to be done “decently and in order.”
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c. Decide the basis upon which the accounts will be prepared 

The Charities Act 2011 prescribes the minimum reporting requirements and the 

level of external scrutiny required. Consider the constitution of your church, and 

whether it is a separate charity with its own public accountability, or is merely a 

branch of a larger church. If a branch, whilst you may also wish to report to your 

local members, you will be bound to report to the main church using its rules. 

Accounting basis:

Gross Income Accounting Basis

Less than £ 250,000 (not 
charitable companies)

Receipts and Payments Account plus Assets and Liabilities 
Statement

£ 250,000 or more Accruals Accounts (Statement of Financial Activities & 
Balance Sheet)

£500,000 or more Accruals Accounts (Statement of Financial Activities & 
Balance Sheet),  Cash Flow Statement

Scrutiny: For years ending after 30 March 2015

Gross Income / Gross assets Scrutiny

Income less than £ 25,000 None (if not under ecclesiastical law) 

Income over £25,000 but less than £ 1,000,000 Independent Examination

Income over £1,000,000 Audit

Gross assets over £3.26 million and Income 
over £250,000

Audit

See Independent Examination chapter for persons who can act as 

independent examiner.

d. Close the books

Allow sufficient time after the end of the church’s financial year (which 

may also be the same date as the calendar year end) to ensure that all 

relevant transactions have been entered in the books. It is usually wise to 

keep the books open for a week or so, after the year end, to allow for late 

entries. This is particularly important in the context of accruals accounting.

Ensure that all bank statements have been received, especially those 

covering the year end, and are reconciled to the cash-book(s). This is the 

starting point for the preparation of the accounts and it is essential that any 

differences are identified and corrections to the books effected.

The books should now be balanced to ensure arithmetical accuracy with all 

the totals agreeing. At this stage an initial trial balance should be prepared to 

verify that the books balance.
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If the accounts are being prepared on an accruals basis, they must next be 

adjusted to incorporate income and expenditure relating to the financial year 

just ended but which has not been received or paid until after that date.  

(i.e. accrued income and expenditure) and similarly for adjustments relating to 

the previous year.

With the trial balance finalised the accounts can be prepared.

e. Preparing the accounts

Before preparing the accounts, the treasurer should be familiar with what 

precisely is required. The main choices as far as reports are concerned will 

be dependent upon the total income and expenditure levels as indicated in 

para c. above.

Will a “Receipts and Payments Account” and a simple “Statement of Assets 

and Liabilities” suffice or will a “Statement of Financial Activities” and a full 

“Balance Sheet” be required?

The chapters in this handbook “Receipts and Payments basis for Accounts” 

and “Accrual Accounts” contain the information the treasurer requires 

to prepare accounts in the appropriate format. Almost all churches have 

recognised that treasurers require guidance and have produced appropriate 

notes. 

One significant point is that the Financial Statements in whatever format 

they are produced must distinguish between the various types of fund 

(Unrestricted, Designated, Restricted, Endowment) with movements in each 

of the funds during the year being clearly identified.

Comparative figures for the previous year must by law be included in the 

Financial Statements if prepared on an accruals basis and are also helpful but 

not obligatory if the Receipts & Payments basis is adopted.

f. The independent examination or audit

For those churches to which it applies the requirement for an audit or 

examination of the accounts may be an experience somewhat akin to the 

annual dental check-up. It is desirable that the relationship with the examiner, 

his or her responsibilities, if any (apart from those that are statutory and so 

cannot be curtailed in any way), and those of the church, are detailed in 

a formal letter of engagement – even if the examiner is not in professional 

practice. A draft of a suitable letter is included in the chapter “Independent 

Examination”.
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You will have to decide whether the examiner should be an eligible 

professionally qualified person or merely somebody “qualified by 

experience”. See the chapter “Independent Examination” for full details. 

For those churches to which a statutory audit applies, the requirement is 

for an in-depth scrutiny of the accounts and the supporting evidence for 

their contents and includes a statutory form of audit report which must give 

an opinion as to whether the accounts present “a true and fair view”. An 

audit must be carried out by a registered auditor to professional auditing 

standards, compliance with which is regulated by the Financial Reporting 

Council.

g. The annual report

All charities registered with the Charity Commission are required to produce 

a statutory annual report, but most churches with income of not more 

than £100,000 are “excepted charities”, not registered with the Charity 

Commission (see 4 below). As such they are not routinely required by charity 

law to produce an annual report. If their gross income is above £5,000 

for the year, the Commission is empowered to require them to provide 

one. However, the central denomination of the church, by its accounting 

regulations, may require some form of report from its unregistered churches. 

For example, the Church of England Accounting Regulations require a report 

in the same form as the statutory report required by the Charity Commission 

for registered charities, whereas the Church in Wales requires an annual 

report to conform with specific detailed requirements in its accounting 

regulations. All “excepted” churches must therefore check what (if any) report 

is required by their central denomination. 

The chapter in this handbook “Annual Report” sets out in detail when a 

statutory report is required of a registered charity by the Charity Commission 

and what it must contain. The same will apply if an unregistered excepted 

charity has to file one with the Commission.

Since despite being intended for the public domain it is unlikely to make the 

best sellers’ list or be nominated for the Booker Prize, its authors should be 

encouraged to be succinct.

It would be normal for either the vicar, minister, or church secretary to 

oversee the drafting of the annual report, with a significant narrative 

contribution from the treasurer in support of the accounts for that year, as 

required by law to be attached. However, it is important to note that the 

annual report is the responsibility of the trustees (i.e. the PCC or management 

committee) to approve as a body and that in delegating its signing to one 
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of their number (normally the chairman) they cannot abrogate this statutory 

responsibility.

h. Publication and the annual church meeting 

Following approval by the church management committee, the annual report 

and accounts will usually be published in advance of the annual church 

meeting. A last minute scramble to distribute the report a day or two before 

the meeting should be avoided at all costs. It is not only inefficient but can 

give rise to the suspicion that the treasurer is trying to hide something by not 

allowing adequate time for public scrutiny.

The annual church meeting is also the opportunity for the church treasurer to 

demonstrate that he (or she) has been a good steward and has looked after 

the finances in a diligent manner. The treasurer should approach the occasion 

as one who can take a degree of pride in a job well done, dealing with any 

questions from the audience politely but authoritatively rather than in the 

manner of a circus lion tamer who is expecting at any minute to be torn to 

pieces by his charges.

4. Should your church be registered with 
the Charity Commission?
Most churches in England and Wales enjoy “excepted” status; i.e. although 

they have to comply with charities legislation they are not required to register 

with the Charity Commission. 

Charities legislation requires churches, that are charities under English 

law and with income in excess of £100,000, to register with the Charity 

Commission for England and Wales.  Full details of the conditions and the 

registration process are included in the chapter “Registration with the Charity 

Commission.”

Churches that are set up as charities in Scotland or have a significant 

presence there are governed by Scottish charity legislation and all are 

required to register: see the chapter “Charities in Scotland.”

New legislation has provided for a Charity Commission for Northern Ireland; 

all churches that are charities there will be required to register in due course.
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1. Bookkeeping: the basics
The church’s financial records need to be accurate, simple and up to date. 

There must be accurate records for all types of funds (see the chapter on 

Receipts and Payments Accounts for more detailed explanation), and bank 

reconciliations must be regularly completed.

Accuracy is only achieved by being up to date and by frequently reconciling 

the balances shown by the books with those shown on the bank statements. 

No matter how good you are at remembering what you have done there will 

come a time when you cannot remember what happened and then trouble 

sets in. So, the first thing is to have a regular slot in the week when you write 

up the books and the second is to make sure that you never pay or receive 

any money without there being a proper invoice or other document to verify 

the entries you will be making. Simplicity is dependent on the size and nature 

of your particular organisation. If you have many separate restricted and 

designated funds the whole process will be that much more complex but not 

necessarily more complicated: there will just be more of the same entries 

repeated in different parts of the books.

This chapter is mainly concerned with hand written books. Computer 

generated books are a little different in that some of the drudgery of adding 

up figures is taken away but many of the principles are in fact the same. 

Certainly, the above comments are appropriate for all bookkeeping methods. 

For computer systems, the computer software will explain how to operate the 

system so there is no need for this to be spelled out in this chapter.

As with computer systems where there are several available, there are many 

variations on how to keep the books. What is set out here is a basic system 

which will be simple to operate and at the same time provide information that 

will be expected by your church governing body: it will also enable you to 

produce the year end accounts with the least amount of fuss.

2. Put transactions through bank account
As far as possible, all transactions should go through the bank. This means 

that all cash received should be banked without any deductions being made 

for expenses and all payments should be made by cheque. There are several 

advantages in doing this:

i. There will be a written record of all transactions, which can be looked up 

in case of difficulty.
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ii. There will be an audit trail for anyone wishing to look at your books, e.g. 

the Independent Examiner.

iii. You will not have the embarrassment of finding the cash you are 

expecting to bank is different from the amount you have available to you 

to bank.

iv. There will be no chance of someone accusing you of using money you 

have been given for your own expenses, as the money you bank will be 

the same as you were given.

v. Payments in cash are difficult to remember at a later time when you are 

writing up the books.

vi. You have the security of not having to keep cash in the house.

Some people object to this approach but experience tells us that it is the 

system that works. If there is a real need for cash there should be a separate 

petty cash float to be used for small payments and this should be funded by 

separate cash drawings from the bank. Never take out some of the cash you 

have received to bank as cash to use as petty cash. You will need to keep a 

separate Petty Cash Book for this money which again will need to balance to 

the actual cash in hand on a regular basis. You may be prepared for this float 

to be controlled by someone else (such as a churchwarden in the case of the 

Anglican church). The same rules about its use will need to be followed and 

you will be able to keep a check on the spending by the number of times that 

you are asked for the float to be topped up.

3. Cash books
The simplest books are those where there are just two columns of figures, 

one for receipts and the other for payments. The difference between the two 

columns will be the bank balance at the time. This will be reconciled to the 

bank statements each time one is received. However, this is not the most 

useful way to keep the books and the better approach is to add analysis 

columns for both the receipts and payments columns. The analysis that is 

most suitable is that which will provide the figures to go into your annual 

accounts. If you have very many headings in the accounts there are two 

approaches:

i. Consider whether there is too much analysis in the annual accounts and 

reduce what you provide to a more reasonable amount.

ii. Combine some figures together in one column and further analyse this 

column at the year end.
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You may need to do either or both of these depending on the number of 

columns in the cash book you can buy.

In deciding the number of columns, remember that restricted funds have to 

be accounted for separately, as do designated funds. At least one column is 

needed for each of these headings and if there are several of these funds you 

will have to further analyse the columns at least at the year end.

While the restricted and designated funds do have to be kept separate in the 

books, it is not usually necessary to keep them in separate bank accounts 

although it is sometimes preferable, especially if there is a significant sum 

held on deposit. If there are separate bank or deposit accounts, a cash book 

record should be maintained for each account. For the more able bookkeeper 

it is possible to maintain the records for different bank accounts within the 

same cash book by allocating additional “total” columns for each account. 

However, most analysis books may not be large enough to achieve this and 

for the less able bookkeeper it will be less confusing to maintain separate 

records for each bank account.

4. Documentation
In writing up the books it is essential that you keep invoices or other suitable 

documentation to support your entries. These should be properly filed in 

numerical order and not just thrown into a shoe box for the Independent 

Examiner to rummage through. Ideally, all payments should be supported by 

an invoice or expense claim.

If an item relates to a claim for expenses, from a member of the congregation 

or a visiting preacher for example, it is helpful to have a proper docket with 

a description of the expense, signature and date and, where possible, a bill 

attached.

These invoices/dockets should be sequentially numbered and filed, ideally 

with the same number as the cheque with which they are paid. This 

referencing makes looking up and checking easy.  

Receipts should similarly have a document(s) showing what it is that is being 

banked. It is particularly important to ensure that documentation relating to 

Gift Aid receipts are carefully filed. The Inland Revenue do make checks on 

charities including churches to ensure that claims are correct. There must be 

a trail that can be checked by the Revenue auditor from the receipt of cash 

through to the tax claim, showing evidence that each individual has actually 

paid the amount on which the claim is made.
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Again, the documentation supporting the amounts banked should be 

sequentially numbered and filed. A good way of doing this is to use paying 

in books with three counterfoils: (1) the bank takes, (2) a removable copy for 

your records, which can be sequentially numbered and filed, and to which 

can be attached any other documentation which refers to the items banked 

on that paying in slip and (3) a fixed slip for retention as back-up in the paying 

in book. Most banks will provide this three-counterfoil paying in book if you 

ask them.

5. Cash book: a practical example
Set out in Appendix 1 is a typical cash book (drawn up from a church’s actual 

records) showing the columns they use for receipts and payments. Some key 

points are:

i. Totals entered in the banked column will also be the figures shown 

as banked on the bank statement although the order may be slightly 

different. The cash book will record everything paid in to the bank with 

the date actually paid in. The date on the bank statement may be a little 

different and when reconciling the bank statement with the cash book 

these differences may need to be reflected in the reconciliation (see later 

para.).

ii. Similarly, the amounts of the cheques entered into the total payments 

column of the cash book will be the same as shown on the payments 

side of the bank statement. Here the order will almost certainly always be 

different between the two, since money paid out is often not banked by 

the recipient until much later. Do not be tempted to change the cash book 

because the recipient has not banked a cheque. This will simply form 

one of the entries in the bank reconciliation. You need to know how much 

you have authorised the bank to deduct from your account so you know 

if you can pay another cheque without having recourse to other funds. 

Un-presented cheques are a reduction in the funds available to you for 

making further payments.

iii. Standing order or direct debit receipts and payments must be entered 

in the cash book. You should be aware of these and you should enter 

them at the appropriate time. The receipt of a bank statement will be 

an occasion for you to check that they have been received or paid (and 

perhaps for you to be reminded of any that you have forgotten). You 

may catch the bank out. It is not unknown for a bank to pay an annual 

standing order monthly instead of annually or to make some other 

annoying mistake.
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iv. All amounts entered in the total columns will need to be analysed into one 

or more of the analysis columns. The amounts in the analysis columns 

must always add up to be the same as the amount in the total column. 

Then once all the columns are totalled at the bottom of the page (or the 

end of the month), the total of the total column will equal the sum of the 

totals of the analysis columns. This must be checked as otherwise the 

accounts will not balance. Note, the bank balance at the beginning of 

each month will need to be entered in the total column and an analysis 

column (ideally a separate one for just the balance if there is enough 

room).

v. It is best practice to bank all receipts without deducting expenses. (It 

is also a requirement of charity law that all income is shown gross and 

expenses shown separately.) Nonetheless, you may be given money 

where some expenses have already been deducted, for example the 

proceeds of a fete or Christmas bazaar.

 In such cases you need nonetheless to show the gross receipts and the 

payments in the cash book. Clearly, in such cases the entries in the cash 

book total columns will be different from those in the bank statement. 

However, by ensuring that the amount of the banking is shown (i.e. the net 

amount) as one item, and by entering as separate amounts of exactly the 

same sum, the amount that has been deducted, as both a receipt and a 

payment, the net balance shown on the bank statement and by the cash 

book will be the same (with the receipt and payment in the cash book 

cancelling each other out). The payments and receipts analysis columns 

will however have been increased and will show the full expenses paid 

out, as well as the gross receipts. Similarly, the requirement to show 

receipts gross will have been met. An example of this is shown in 

Appendix 1.

vi. Your cash book should be totalled each month and the balance carried 

forward to the next month. At this point it is important to ensure that the 

bank is reconciled to the cash book.

vii. There should be a column on both the payments side and the receipts 

side into which should be entered the reference number detailed earlier. 

Additionally, on the payments side the cheque number should be shown, 

but such a column will not be necessary if the cheque number is used as 

the reference number (see earlier para.).
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6. Bank reconciliation
As has been stated earlier it is usual for the balance shown by the cash book 

to be different from the balance in the bank statement at any given date. This 

is usually because of timing differences between when money is banked and 

when it appears on the bank statement or between writing a cheque and the 

recipient actually banking the cheque.

A statement should be drawn up reconciling the bank statement with the 

cash book. An example of such a statement is at Appendix 2. It must always 

balance; if it does not the cash book and the bank statement must be 

carefully compared either to identify any items that have been incorrectly 

entered in the cash book (or indeed missed out altogether), or to identify any 

mistake the bank has made. (The banks do make mistakes!) In any event the 

differences must be investigated and corrected.

7. Accounts preparation
Having added up the columns and ensured that the totals of the analysis 

columns add up to the total columns and having reconciled your books to 

the bank, it is possible to prepare a set of accounts on the “Receipts and 

Payments” basis (see ensuing chapter).

To prepare an account for the last month, it is simply necessary to enter 

the figures from the totals of the analysis columns (for the month) into the 

accounts format (excluding the balances), add them up to ensure they are 

the same as the total of the receipts and payments, add the opening bank 

balance and show the resulting calculation of the closing bank balance, 

which should of course be the same as is shown by the cash book. (See 

Appendix 3)

For a cumulative set of accounts from the end of the previous year you 

simply need to add the totals of all the months, since the last accounts. This 

is simply an addition of the analysis columns each month excluding anything 

to do with the bank balances.

The totals of the columns can then be listed (receipts followed by payments 

with totals of each) and the difference between the two represents the excess 

of receipts over payments (or vice versa). The opening bank balance at the 

bank is then entered on the statement and either added to or subtracted from 

the excess of receipts over payments to arrive at the closing bank balance, 

which should then of course be the same as the closing balance shown by 

the cash book.
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Remember that if there is more than one bank account, the figures from 

each may have to be combined to provide the total accounts figures as 

described above. However, it should also be remembered that the various 

types of funds (unrestricted, designated, restricted) have to be accounted for 

separately (see “Receipts and Payments” chapter for detailed information).

 Appendix 1 – Cash book
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 Appendix 2 – Bank reconciliation
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 Appendix 3 – Financial report

Monthly Summary - Receipts & Payments
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It is probable that many churches (particularly the smaller ones) will find it very 

difficult to implement fully all the following ‘best practice’ recommendations, but it is 

important that church officers are aware of the need for internal control and what it 

involves in practice. Wherever necessary, churches should adapt the procedures as 

may be practicable, even if they can’t adopt them exactly as set out here.

1. What are internal controls
“Internal controls” are fundamental to “good governance” and are designed 

to safeguard the charity from undue risk of loss. They are management 

arrangements consisting of procedural systems, checks and balances, 

and the allocation of duties between individuals, so that the work entailed 

in carrying out and recording all transactions can be organised to make it 

difficult for any individual to commit substantial fraud or theft, or for major 

errors and/or irregularities to go undetected. They also ensure that anyone 

entrusted with a task can look to colleagues for corroboration of their work 

in the event of something going wrong and can more easily satisfy any 

concerns then arising in the minds of others.

a. Do churches need them?

Charity trustees, including any body of people managing a church 

organisation, have a fundamental duty to protect the funds and assets of 

their charity and to ensure that they are used only to further the objects of the 

charity.

It therefore follows that churches, like any other charity, should have 

adequate internal controls to safeguard their funds and property and ensure 

that they are properly used in their work of mission.

In any well-run organisation, internal controls are a normal and necessary 

part of the organisation. For charities (including the church in particular) they 

are important in demonstrating to potential donors and church members, as 

well as the general public and the regulatory authorities, that all the charity’s 

funds and assets are being well and properly managed.

Having good internal controls does not imply any lack of trust, nor does it 

call into question the honesty or integrity of church officers. Rather, they can 

serve as a protection for officers from any suspicion of possible misuse or 

even misappropriation of church funds, and will also protect the managing 

body of the church from any possible charge of neglecting their legal duty to 

take proper care of church funds.
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b. Basic principles

Separation of duties - As far as is practicable, checks should be built into 

all financial procedures through the involvement of people other than the 

treasurer alone. Small churches may find separation of duties difficult, but 

every effort should be made to involve others.

Separateness of funds - Church funds should never be mixed in any way 

with officers’ personal funds, and should be held in the name of the church or 

else in the names of more than one of the officers.

Financial information - Trustees of charities of all sizes need access to 

accurate and up-to-date financial information to enable them to make proper 

decisions. Trustees’ meetings should be used to communicate information 

concerning the finances and financial management of the charity. The 

trustees should verify them against church records (e.g. Service Registers, 

Accounts for special events, etc.)

All decisions by the trustees concerning their charity’s administration should 

be taken collectively and significant decisions and action points noted in 

writing as part of the minutes of their meetings. Any decision to delegate 

must be subject to adequate internal reporting procedures that can satisfy 

the trustees that all delegated powers have been properly exercised in 

accordance with their intentions.

Fraud and bribery - Trustees must take reasonable care to ensure the 

prevention and/or detection of attempted bribery, fraud, financial abuse and 

any other irregularities. In particular, churches working overseas should adopt 

procedures to avoid any situation where there is an expectation of a gift or 

payment in return for an advantage of any kind.

Audit trail - All transactions should be supported by documentation showing 

that they have been authorised independently by persons other than the 

treasurer. This is especially true for any transaction carried out by the 

treasurer alone. Charity legislation places upon church managing bodies the 

duty to maintain proper accounting records. Such records must include the 

ability to trace any transaction from its inception to its final inclusion in the 

church’s published accounts.

Budgets - To achieve adequate control, churches are advised to prepare 

financial plans and work within agreed budgets. Realistic estimates of future 

income and expenditure should be made for each financial year. Actual 

performance should be compared against those budgets regularly, both to 

ensure that funds are not stretched beyond their limits, and to highlight and 

explain any unusual or unexpected items. (See Budgets chapter)
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Accounting requirements - Trustees have statutory duties to keep ‘proper’ 

accounting records, and to prepare an annual report and accounts with the 

appropriate level of external scrutiny. Trustees must also safeguard their 

charity’s assets and ensure their proper application under trust law, so they 

must also take steps to ensure the charity is protected against financial 

abuse.

There should be adequate controls to ensure that any ‘restricted’ funds are 

spent only on the purposes for which they were given, and to ensure that any 

endowed funds are properly invested and any trust law constraints on their 

expenditure observed. Accounting records must be kept for at least six years 

(or a minimum of three years in the case of a company charity).

Trustees should determine and disclose in the annual report a reserves policy 

to manage the level of reserves held.

Review - Ideally, the trustees should review the system of internal controls on 

a regular basis; the Charity Commission recommends at least annually.

2. Receipts

a. Collections and other receipts

Two people should count, record and bag collections. This responsibility 

should be rotated rather than always carried out by the same two persons; 

the team should not be husband and wife, etc. The amount received should 

be marked on each “offertory” envelope as it is opened and a weekly record 

sheet completed showing such amount received against each envelope 

number. The sheet total must be the same as that shown on the paying in slip 

for “planned giving or stewardship”. The sheet and the envelopes must then 

go to whoever is responsible for giving and gift aid records.

Wall boxes and other church collection boxes should be opened regularly to 

ensure that the amount of money left in them at any time does not become 

excessive.

Records of receipts should be kept (securely) in the church or office, 

accessible to the minister and church officers. They should be signed and 

dated by both the persons who carried out the counting. A copy should 

be retained with the money to which it relates until the cash is banked. 

Subsequently, it should be attached to the copy of the paying in slip and 

retained as part of the audit records. If a simple duplicate book could be 

used in this process, the record to be retained in the church or office would 

be the book; the tear off slip is then the record attached to the paying in slip. 
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In those churches where the denomination requires, the totals of the amounts 

of planned giving and loose collections should be entered into the “Service  

Register”.

Once counted, the money together with its record slip should be bagged until 

it can be banked. All loose moneys, before or after counting, should be kept 

in a safe and the church should ensure that it has the necessary insurance 

cover for the maximum contents amount.

All moneys received in the church should go through the church records. 

Where a collection is for another charity, it should be dealt with like all other 

collections (e.g. at a funeral or memorial service, do not allow the funeral 

director to take it). The money should be banked and a cheque, addressed to 

the charity, sent to them or forwarded to the funeral director.

b. Fundraising events

The “collections” procedures should also be applied to receipts from 

fundraising events. In addition, it is important to maintain records for each 

event, which must identify gross receipts and expenses incurred.

Where the sale of tickets is involved, they should be pre-numbered. A record 

should be kept of all persons selling tickets together with the numbers of 

tickets issued so that sales moneys and returns can be properly reconciled. 

Similarly, if there are sales of a church magazine proper records should be 

maintained to ensure that all such sales are accounted for.

c. Planned Giving

A “Planned Giving Officer” should be appointed and should, ideally, be 

somebody other than the treasurer.

It is the duty of the church management body to ensure that adequate 

records are maintained to satisfy any Inland Revenue audit. This would be 

one of the duties supervised by the Planned Giving Officer.

Where the giving is in cash through an envelope scheme the counting should 

be carried out with the normal collection counting and is dealt with in general 

terms above. In addition, it is important to ensure that such additional records 

as may be required to satisfy the Inland Revenue are created and kept for the 

appropriate number of years.

The need for detailed records is considerably reduced if donors can be 

persuaded to make payments by standing order direct to the church’s bank 

account.
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It is important that there are regular checks to ensure that amounts due have 

been received and, that tax recoverable has been properly reclaimed and 

received. Similarly, any “one-off” gift aid receipts should be properly recorded 

and checked.

It is further good practice to send to each “stewardship” giver a regular (once 

a year) statement of the amount recorded as having been received from that 

donor compared with the amount promised.

Charities must be aware of the rules of, and their responsibilities towards, tax 

legislation on tainted charity donations, to counter the abuse arising whereby 

a donor gets relief from tax, only for the capital or a benefit from the donation 

to end up back in the hands of the donor. Although the regime is intended 

to affect the tax position of the donor, should the charity have claimed a 

repayment of tax on the gift, an income tax charge will arise in respect of that 

repayment. The charity itself may be liable for this charge if the charity was a 

party to, or aware that, the main purpose or one of the main purposes of the 

arrangements was to provide financial advantage to the donor.

d. Banking

Cash and cheques received should be banked gross; incoming cash should 

not be used to make cash payments, however quick and easy such a 

procedure may seem at the time. If a cash payment is necessary, it should be 

separately drawn from the bank.

If cash payments are made regularly a Petty Cash facility should be 

authorised (see below).

All moneys from whatever source should be banked promptly; there should 

be no undue delay between receipt, counting and banking.

It is desirable that the banking of cash receipts be carried out by somebody 

other than just the treasurer, to whom they may have come direct, so 

arrangements should be made for that other person to have the moneys 

delivered to them or to have access to the safe.

Often it will be convenient for the paying in slips to be completed as the cash 

is counted. However, there may be various moneys to bank, which have been 

counted at different times, so it will be necessary for the person banking to 

complete the paying in details and reconcile the total to be banked with the 

various receipts records.

If the amounts are significant it may be desirable that two persons should 

take the moneys to the bank, where they should ensure that the duplicate 
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paying in slips have been properly stamped and initialled by the bank cashier. 

These slips together with the supporting records and vouchers should then 

be passed to the treasurer for entry into the accounting records.

e. Internal audit

Most churches will believe that it is difficult to arrange to carry out any 

form of internal audit, consequently it is probable that few do so. However, 

if the church governing body is really keen to follow good practice it will 

endeavour to arrange for somebody other than the treasurer, a trustee who 

is not involved in the original recording of transactions, randomly to check 

transactions from time to time. Such checks could include tracing a few 

sample receipts, from their original source, through all the records into the 

books of account by:

• Tracing original records to paying in slips.

• Tracing paying in slips to bank statements, noting if there is any undue 

delay in banking and whether there are any vouchers missing.

• Tracing the banking in the books of account and checking if the detail 

recorded therein agrees with the detail shown by the vouchers.

When such a check is carried out, it should be completed by making a short 

report to the managing body, which either confirms that everything was 

correct, or notes any deficiencies in actual records or systems. Such report 

should be considered by the managing body and attached to its minutes as a 

permanent record.

3. Payments 

a.  Authorisation

All expenditure should be authorised by the church managing body. To a 

large degree this can be achieved by agreeing and authorising an annual 

budget, so that the treasurer need only check that any item he is asked to 

pay is included in and does not exceed the budget. Any expenditure not 

included, or in excess of the budget should be separately authorised. It may 

be inconvenient to delay items until the next management meeting so the 

managing body might wish to delegate authorisation of expenditure (up to an 

agreed limit) to a standing committee or some other sub-committee.

A voucher should support every payment; either an invoice or a payment request 

slip, and all vouchers should be signed by somebody other than the treasurer.
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b. Goods and services

Payment should only be made against original invoices from the supplier. 

Somebody other than the treasurer should sign the invoice to signify that the 

goods or services were duly received, that the price is correct, and that the 

quality is as ordered.

c. Expenses

If staff or any trustees incur regular expenses, the church managing body 

should adopt a policy which sets out the levels of expense they are willing to 

reimburse. Proper expense claim forms should be drawn up. The claimants 

should sign and date their claims and attach vouchers covering their 

expenditure. The treasurer should therefore ensure that expenses claimed 

are within the agreed policy and supported by vouchers, before payment is 

made.

d. Cheque payments, standing orders, direct debits and BACS 

payments

If possible all payments should be made by cheque or through the bank. All 

cheques (and any other instructions to a bank, which authorise payments 

from church funds) should require signature by two different persons neither 

of whom is dependent on the other. There should be sufficient authorised 

signatories to ensure that at least two of them are always available. The 

church managing body should internally issue written regulations (however 

brief and basic) that, among other things, prohibit the signing of blank 

cheques.

When the cheques are signed, the vouchers should accompany them so that 

the signatories can verify the payment. The payee of the cheque should never 

be one of the signatories. The signatories should also confirm at the time that 

the cheque stub has been fully completed before signing the cheque, or else 

review cheque stub completion from time to time.

Only specifically delegated individuals should be allowed to (i) set up or (ii) 

authorise any direct debit, standing order or BACS payments as part of an 

online banking facility. This authority to set up and to authorise should be 

limited to a small number of people with a list retained to show who can set 

up a payment online and who else can then authorise it online so that no 

individual is allowed to perform both functions for one and the same payment. 

The documents setting up and authorising the payments should in each case 

be printed out and retained as part of the charity’s accounting records. The 

online payments facility should be monitored so that the charity can ensure 
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that the arrangement is cancelled if and when the charity stops using the 

supplier.

e. Petty cash

When regular cash payments are necessary, the church managing body 

should authorise a petty cash float and specify the amount thereof. The float 

should be drawn from the bank against a cash cheque. Cash withdrawals 

should be reviewed for authorisation and correctness by someone other than 

the person who withdrew the cash.

Payments should only be made against authorised vouchers (in the same 

way as cheques) and recorded in a petty cash book or record.

From time to time additional cash will be required and this should be 

provided by drawing further cash cheques for the amount of expenditure to 

date since the last cash injection, so making up the balance of cash in hand 

to the amount of the authorised float.

From time to time somebody, other than the person operating the petty cash, 

should count the cash in hand and verify that it agrees with the balance 

shown by the petty cash book or record, which should be signed and dated 

when this check has been carried out.

f.  Debit, credit and charge cards

A clear written policy and procedure for the use of corporate cards, 

the criteria for their issue, spending limits and their security should be 

established which might include:

• restrictions on, for instance, the types of retailers where the card may be 

used, e.g. blocking their use elsewhere;

• obtaining from each card-holder a signed commitment to comply with the 

policy and procedure for the use of the corporate card(s) issued to them;

• ensuring corporate cards are cancelled and destroyed, if the individual 

ceases to work for the charity, or if the authorisation of the card’s use is 

withdrawn;

• ensuring that debit card expenditure is supported by a voucher and/or 

invoice and is recorded and analysed in accounting records;

• copies of all credit or charge card statements being sent directly to the 

charity’s finance team and not the individual card-holder. The statements 

are used to record and analyse transactions in the accounting records 

and are matched with supporting vouchers and invoices provided to, or 

obtained by, holders of corporate cards;
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• periodic review of card use to ensure consistency of use with set policies 

and procedures.

g. Wages and salaries

Some churches may have employees and it is important to recognise the 

special responsibilities that apply in this area.  The matters that require 

special attention include:

• There should be proper contracts of employment in force, which take 

account of all current legislation;

• Minimum wage regulations are adhered to;

• Proper systems are required for the deduction of, and the accounting for, 

PAYE and National Insurance;

• Legal obligations in relation to pension scheme arrangements are met;

• Payments should be made to employees by cheque or bank transfer. If 

cash payments are necessary, they should be made by somebody other 

than the person making up the payroll, and the employee should sign a 

receipt.

h. Internal audit

As suggested above in relation to receipts, it is also good practice for 

someone not involved in the day-to-day administration to carry out random 

checks on expenditure. From time to time a small selection of payment items 

should be traced from inception to inclusion in the accounting records. The 

steps to be covered include:

• Do duly authorised vouchers properly support the payment?

• Has it been properly authorised in the budget or separately by the 

managing body or its delegated committee?

• Does the detail on the cheque stub agree with the vouchers?

• Has the payment passed through the bank account and is the item on the 

bank statement for the same amount as the cheque stub and vouchers?

• Do the details and descriptions in the accounting records agree with the 

vouchers?

• Is there any inconsistency in dates of vouchers and payments?

Again, a short report should be made to the church managing body recording 

the findings of these checks.
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4. Assets, property and loans
As well as maintaining good control over incoming and outgoing funds, the 

church needs to ensure that good internal control systems are applied to 

their assets.

a. Equipment and property  (real physical assets)

Proper records should be kept setting out the detail of all equipment owned 

and used by the church. There should be regular checks to ensure that those 

items that are recorded as assets in the books of account:

• do actually exist and are owned by the church;

• are properly maintained and insured;

• are needed for use by the church.

For property owned by the church, either directly or through trustees, 

proper records must be maintained. These should set out ownership details, 

location, description, condition, use, where the land registry certificate, lease 

or other evidence of unencumbered ownership (e.g., freehold title deeds) are 

kept, insurance arrangements, and any other matters that are relevant. Again, 

there should be regular checks on maintenance, insurance levels and the use 

of the property.

b. Investments

Full records should be kept which set out details of the investment, the 

names and addresses of the trustees and the amount of the investment. On 

at least an annual basis, the managing body should review the investments to 

review their suitability, diversification and performance in accordance with the 

Trustee Act 2000.

Where the trustees do not have the necessary expertise, before selecting 

or disposing of investments they should seek professional advice unless 

delegating to an external investment manager in accordance with the Trustee 

Act 2000.

There should be regular checks to ensure that all interest and dividends have 

been properly received, and that tax has been reclaimed and received where 

applicable.

c. Bank and deposit accounts

Records to be maintained should include details of location of accounts, in 

whose names they are registered, signature arrangements and location of, or 

who has stewardship of, chequebooks and passbooks.
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Bank statement balances must be regularly reconciled to the accounting 

records. Ideally, this should either be done, or checked, by somebody other 

than the person who maintains the record of the bank account.

Bank and deposit accounts should also be reviewed from time to time to 

confirm suitability and necessity.

d.  Loans

Trustees should ensure, when taking out a loan or making a loan:

• that they are fully aware of all its terms;

• that the loan is in the interests of the charity;

• that funds will be available to meet the repayments of principal and 

interest as they fall due.

The loans must be fully documented and records maintained showing 

balances due. If a loan is advanced by a trustee, any conflict of interest must 

be noted and properly managed. If interest is payable the rate should be 

justifiable as well as duly authorised.

Where loans are made, ensure that they are “qualifying loans” for tax 

purposes, otherwise tax will be payable by the church on the amount lent by 

the church.

5. Security
The church should always be aware of the need for security of records. As far 

as is possible, arrangements should be made to maintain records in a central 

secure location. Offsite backup storage must be maintained up to date (e.g. 

monthly) for all online accounting records, as part of a ‘disaster recovery 

plan’ within the church’s strategic plan for survival and viability in the event of 

hard times.

It should not be left to individual officers to keep records at their homes 

unless this is necessary for day to day working. When this is necessary, the 

central records should include details of those records that are so maintained 

by individuals, including the names and addresses of the individuals, and 

their confirmation that they hold the records for the church.

Other items, which should be kept in a secure central location, include:

• Investment certificates.

• Property papers including deeds (if not lodged with banks or trustees).

• Insurance policies.
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• Minute records.

• Bank mandates.

• Details of those who hold keys to safes and buildings.

• Details of those who have custody of bank paying in books, 

chequebooks, passbooks, deeds, etc.

6. Postscript
The recommendations above have been prepared for the guidance of church 

officers; especially those concerned with church finances. They are not 

exhaustive but are a guide to best practice.

It is worth repeating that many churches (particularly the smaller ones) will 

probably find it very difficult to follow all the recommendations but it is 

important that church officers are aware of the need for internal control and 

what it involves in practice.

Wherever possible, churches should adopt as many of the procedures as is 

practicable, even if they can’t adopt all of them.

For further and more detailed reading, the Charity Commission booklet 

“Internal Financial Controls for Charities” (CC8) is recommended.  

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/internal-financial-controls-for-

charities-cc8

There is also a very useful detailed Internal Controls Checklist published 

by the Commission which will help trustees carry out their regular reviews. 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/internal-financial-controls-for-

charities-cc8
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1. Budgets are part of stewardship
This chapter of the handbook is about budgets, but it is important to 

recognise that they are just one of the tools the whole church, and treasurers 

in particular, should use in the exercise of stewardship. Jesus used this 

phrase in the context of the cost of discipleship, but his words in Luke 14: 

28-30 might seem to be a thoroughly good summary of budgeting:

“For which of you, desiring to build a tower, does not first sit down and count 

the cost, whether he has enough to complete it? Otherwise when he has laid 

a foundation and is not able to finish, all who see it will begin to mock him, 

saying: “This man began to build and was not able to finish.”

Stewardship is about GIVING, GENEROSITY AND RESPONSIBILITY. It is 

about making responsible and conscientious decisions. It poses the following 

questions:

• What does the Lord want us to do?

• What are our objectives?

• How has He equipped us to do it?

• Are we doing the best we can to provide the necessary resources, and 

are we using those to the best of our ability?

• What are our immediate priorities, and how are we going to achieve our 

objectives?

It is pertinent to note that statements concerning a charity’s aims and 

objectives, how it has endeavoured to achieve them, and its success in 

achieving them, have become the main thrust of the information to be 

included in the Annual Report, dictated by the Charity Commission’s SORP.

As the church deals with these questions, the process will lead to formulating 

plans and determining how the assets of time, skills and money are to be 

used. The church must take seriously that decision-making is about setting 

goals and objectives and then going on to achieve them. It is in this process 

that budgeting comes into its own. Budgets, like balance sheets, tell stories. 

They map out the territory in money terms.

2. What is a budget?
It is the church plan for the next period of time, expressed in financial terms; 

it is not history. It is a forecast and must reflect plans, intentions, and even 

fears. The process must be more than just comparing figures, noting trends, 

and trimming certain areas of expenditure. It should be carried out in the 

widest context of the Mission of the Church and Christian Stewardship.
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The plan should start as a written statement of aims and objectives and it 

should then be expressed in terms of money! As such, it will then assist 

good finance administration and help it to be as painless as possible. In the 

preparation of the budget, it is necessary to be realistic in assessing probable 

outgoings over the budget period dictated by the plans, as well as probable 

income over the period, and the way it will be obtained. In preparing the 

budget it may be necessary to amend the plan to ensure its viability.

A budget statement is an essential way of communicating plans and ideas 

among the church’s members, and of giving leaders the full opportunity of 

exercising their judgement, conscience and responsibility.

So, a budget should be a positive statement of aims and objectives; it 

reflects aspirations in financial terms; it is a plan of what is wanted. It should 

not be just an estimate of how things will work out.

3. Why prepare budgets?
• Finances are put into proper perspective. Money is not, nor should it 

be, the church’s prime consideration, and if properly controlled it should 

become less so.

• Most plans and responsibilities need money. If a budget is carefully 

prepared and properly administered, it will not only make it easier for 

the church to achieve its plans, but areas of responsibility may be better 

defined and regular feedback and review of the way responsibilities have 

been carried out will be possible.

• Good budgeting can go a long way to redress the imbalance of using 

money only to survive or to just carry on as previously, as opposed to 

being positive in proclaiming the gospel. In working out the budget 

details, the church should distinguish between those items which are 

needed for the local church organisation to maintain itself (buildings, 

heating, equipment, etc.) and those items which reflect a positive move to 

extend the mission of the church either in the local area or beyond.

• Getting the categories right and doing the detailed work to build up 

a budget is essential to making realistic and precise plans and thus 

avoiding vague assumptions. Vagueness means nobody knows what they 

should be doing or what is being asked of them and nearly always leads 

to under-achievement!
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4. The budget start point
Budgets must start with the church vision. What does God want the local 

church to do? What are our plans to further the Kingdom in our church, our 

town or district?

In today’s environment of decreasing membership, spiralling costs and 

increased need for legal compliance, survival all too easily becomes our 

primary objective by default. It is therefore imperative that we make a positive 

effort not only to be concerned with survival, but to look carefully at what we 

should be doing to extend the mission of the church.

An agreed statement of aims for the period is essential before anyone can 

begin to put numbers into the budget. It will be necessary to look in detail 

at all the various activities and resources the church uses to ensure that 

there is definite agreement that they should either be continued, changed, or 

discontinued. Some useful questions to ask are:

• Are those present activities that we intend to continue organised as 

efficiently as possible?

• Are they necessary?

• Are there areas we could and should stimulate by spending more?

• Do these existing activities reflect our priorities?

• Are we doing things which would not be missed or would only have 

a marginal effect if we stopped doing them and used the resources 

elsewhere?

• Are the proportions between the areas of expenditure sensible, or are 

there areas where the cost is too high for the benefit being achieved?

• What are we not doing that we should?

• What would we like to do?

5. Who should prepare the budget?
The plans, and the budget which represents them, must be the responsibility 

of the whole church expressed through its governing body. It must not 

become just the treasurer’s responsibility. Clearly the treasurer will have 

significant input in quantifying figures for existing activities and organising the 

figures in the budget, but it is not his or her budget, it is the church budget.

Every officer, every person responsible for expenditure and every organisation 

leader should spell out their plans and be asked the questions posed in 4 

above.
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Clearly too, somebody has to be responsible for organising the process, and 

often the treasurer may be in the best position to do this, but not necessarily 

so if there is somebody else equally well placed to supervise the process. 

Certainly, the treasurer will be best able to put the financial flesh on the 

bones of that part of the plan related to the normal and continuing running 

of the church, but in respect of new activities others can and should help in 

compiling the figures.

6. The budget period
Most organisations review budgets annually, and it is usually convenient to 

prepare a church budget for its next financial year. Ensure that the process 

is started early enough in the current year to ensure that the budget for next 

year is approved before the end of the current year.

Activities of course don’t start and stop in yearly cycles and increasingly 

charities find it necessary to look at the longer-term consequences of their 

plans and actions. Churches are no different. Perhaps to run a successful 

giving campaign you need to know not only how much you need next year, 

but also for the following year(s). Perhaps you wish to embark on a plan that 

means committing funds for a number of years; can you be sure you can 

finance it and will not have to make cuts before the plan is complete.

Once the first year is done in detail, it is usually possible to add further years 

in outline by allowing for those items that are going to change (e.g. inflation, 

probable salary increases, those activities coming to an end, the new ones 

starting or expanding, etc.) Thus it becomes possible to compile some sort of 

picture into the future, which in profiling the year-by-year implementation of 

the governing body’s current strategic plan for the next few years facilitates the 

annual reporting of progress in achieving objectives.

7. Budget detail
It is almost never possible to go into too much detail, certainly for the year 

immediately ahead. It may take time in researching records etc., but the 

more detail that is examined, questioned and quantified, the more likely that 

the resulting budget will accurately reflect the church’s plans. Similarly it is 

more probable that those plans will be properly quantified and not suffer in 

due course from significant over or under estimates if the figures are only 

compiled on an overall basis.
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Subsequently too, reporting actual progress against the budget and 

identifying specific causes for over or under spending, or differences in 

income, will be much easier.

Further because these differences will have been specifically identified, it may 

be easier to take amending action or identify alternative strategies for dealing 

with the variation from budget.

Time detail may also be important. Although the budget is for a year, could 

it broken down into monthly or quarterly portions (perhaps depending upon 

how often progress is reported to the church governing body)? Such a 

breakdown can also be important for dealing with uneven patterns of income 

and expenditure. Is expenditure evenly spread or are there likely to be peaks? 

Similarly is income regular? Are there seasonal variations? By plotting the 

time detail you may be saved the embarrassment of running out of cash 

because of timing differences, even though the overall plan is in balance.

8. Preparing the income budget
Start with what has happened in the current year, then adjust as necessary 

to allow for the known or projected changes. The following are some of the 

items to take into account:

• What action has already been taken that will change income sources or 

amounts in the next year?

• What changes are planned that may change income sources or amounts? 

What new sources are arising? What sources are ending, diminishing, 

increasing?

• Has anything happened in the area the church serves, or in the wider 

economy that is likely to affect income?

• Have there been any significant contributor additions to the 

congregation?

• Have any significant contributors died or moved away?

• Seek advice of the Gift Aid/Stewardship Secretary on how they think such 

income will progress.

• Has there been any advice of bequests or grants?

• Are any grant applications planned? What is the likelihood of success?

• Were there any circumstances in the current year, which decreased or 

increased income unusually? Are they likely to recur?
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9. Preparing the expenditure budget
Again, it is best to start by examining all areas of current expenditure, then 

adjusting for the following:

• What previously existing items have now been cut from the plans?

• What other cost savings have been determined?

• For continuing activities, what are the likely continuing costs, allowing for 

inflation?

• Has it been determined that expenditure in any area should be increased?

• Are any unusual one-off expenditures likely to arise?

• Are there any new or increased demands by central church authorities 

that will affect expenditure?

• What new activities have been added in the plans? When will costs begin 

to accrue?

• Are there activities or items previously determined which will now result in 

costs?

• Are there any circumstances outside the control of the church, which are 

likely to result in costs?

• Has a reasonable “contingency” sum been provided to deal with 

unforeseen expenditure?

10. Presentation and approval
Presentation of the budget must of course depend upon each church’s 

unique circumstances. In addition to the figures, there should be a written 

summary of the assumptions on which the budget has been based, and a 

description of the main areas of activity identifying those to be discontinued, 

those to be continued / expanded and new activities. It will probably be 

best to organise the presentation so that the income and costs of continuing 

activities are identified, then to show the impact of new or expanded 

activities in arriving at the overall summary for the period.

Drafts should be distributed to the governing body, allowing as much time 

as possible for study and questions before the meeting at which the budget 

is to be approved. The agenda of the meeting should allow sufficient time 

for debate (it is the plans of the church for the next period of time which are 

being reviewed), and the meeting should formally approve the income and 

expenditure plans, ideally before the commencement of the period for which 

the budget has been prepared.
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11. Using the budget
The continuing uses of the budget, once approved, are:

• It should be distributed or made available to all church members to 

communicate what the church plans are and to identifying what is 

expected of them to bring the plans to fruition.

• It should be reviewed and additionally approved at the Annual Church 

Meeting as an indication of its acceptance by the full membership.

• It serves as a continuing reminder of what the plans are and what needs 

to be done to implement them.

• It is the yardstick against which actual performance can be measured, 

and regular reports showing budget and actual performance should be 

reviewed by the governing council at their management meetings.

• It can become a valuable tool in internal control (see the chapter on 

Internal Controls). Once approved, the budget identifies the expenditure 

that has been approved by the council so that the officers and treasurers 

could be given authority to dispose of church funds in accordance with 

the budget without the need to keep obtaining council approval. Only if 

there is deviation, actual or projected, might they need to go back to the 

council for appropriate approval. This of course assumes and is subject to 

two things:

i. The Council must regularly monitor progress, to review the achievement 

of the income plan and to ensure that the spending plans remain viable 

in the light of the overall performance.

ii. A budget for expenditure should not be taken as implying that possible 

savings should be ignored, provided the mission thrust of the church is 

not impaired.

Finally, in approving the budget the church should be asking the vital 

questions: “Does what we as a church propose to do fit in with what Jesus 

Christ created the Church to do?” - “Are we fulfilling our mission?”
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1. The principles set out by law 
The accounting legislation applicable to charities is not the same for all parts 

of the United Kingdom. There are separate regulations covering charities in 

England and Wales, Scotland, and Northern Ireland.

a.  England and Wales

Section 133(1) of the Charities Act 2011 provides that if a charity’s total 

income from all sources, in a year, has not exceeded £250,000, and it is not 

a company, the charity trustees may avoid the burden of having to produce 

fully accrued accounts complying with Regulations made under section 

132(1) of that Act. Instead, they (ie, the church’s governing body) may 

produce a “Receipts and Payments” account for the year and a “Statement 

of Assets and Liabilities” at the year-end for which there are no regulations 

but only recommended templates and “best practice” examples on the 

Charity Commission website. 

b.  Scotland - See “Charities in Scotland” chapter.

c.  Northern Ireland

Charities in Northern Ireland must abide by regulations enacted by The 

Charity Commission for Northern Ireland. 

d.  Over-riding criteria

Churches and charities can take advantage of the statutory dispensation 

described above to simplify the preparation of Annual Accounts. Doing so is 

also likely to simplify the bookkeeping under section 130(2) of the Act, which 

requires “(a) entries showing from day to day all sums of money received 

and expended by the charity, and the matters in respect of which the receipt 

and expenditure takes place, and (b) a record of the assets and liabilities of 

the charity”. However, attention must be paid to the terms of the church’s 

foundation, or other governing document, such as the trust deed (if there is 

one), as well as to what is required by the central Church Authorities. To the 

extent that these demand more than the law allows, the dispensation will not 

apply.

Equally, if the church is making appeals to grant-making bodies, it may find 

they require fully accrued, regulated accounts, so it may not be possible in 

these cases to take advantage of the less onerous provisions.
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2.  Determination of right to use the receipts 
and payments basis
To adopt the Receipts and Payments basis, “gross income from all sources” 

must not have exceeded £250,000 for the financial year. 

Gross income from all sources

Section 353 of the Act states that a reference to the gross income of a 

charity: “means its gross recorded income from all sources including special 

trusts” (i.e. from all funds; restricted, designated and unrestricted). 

This broad definition is interpreted for administrative purposes by the 

Commission when making its Annual Return Regulations under section 169 

of the 2011 Act and is currently as follows:

Accounts prepared on the accruals basis; ‘gross income’ should be 

calculated as: 

• the total incoming resources as shown in the Statement of Financial 

Activities (prepared in accordance with the SORP) for all funds but 

excluding any endowment; and

• including any amount transferred from endowment funds to income funds 

during the year so as to be available for expenditure. 

(Note that the SORP excludes from total incoming resources gains on 

revaluation of fixed assets, as well as all gains on investments, which means 

that those gains do not form part of ‘gross income’ for these purposes, 

whereas unless they belong to endowment funds it includes any disposal 

gains on non-investment fixed assets – meaning those that were being used 

for the church’s own functional purposes.) 

Accounts prepared on the receipts and payments basis; ‘gross income’ is the 

total receipts recorded in the statement of accounts excluding endowments, 

loans and proceeds from sale of investments or fixed assets. 

3. Format and contents
There are no specific rules imposed by law for England and Wales, but the 

following general rules of voluntary best practice do apply.

a. The Account and Statement

A Receipts and Payments Account is entirely factual, containing no estimates 

or assumptions, and is thus quite different from the Statement of Financial 
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Activities required as part of “true and fair” accounts. Likewise, the Statement 

of Assets and Liabilities that must by law accompany it is entirely factual – 

albeit unlike the Receipts and Payments Account it includes descriptions of 

non-monetary items as well as the amount of money in hand (at bank, etc.) 

as at the year-end. 

b. Principles of annual accounting on the receipts and 

payments basis

There are three fundamental principles or common-sense requirements that 

apply but which traditionally went without saying:

FACTUAL: The account must be an accurate summary of all the charity’s 

monies received and all monies paid out by or for the charity in order to 

account fully for the difference between the amounts of money in hand at the 

start and end of the financial year. 

COMPLETE: If the charity has or comprises one or more restricted funds, 

separate accounts must be prepared for each of them unless a composite 

account in columnar format distinguishes each of them.

MEANINGFUL: The Account and Statement should group together like with 

like (see below: classification of items) in the most meaningful way, identifying 

any major items individually and all minor ones collectively, in summarising (i) 

the year’s cash-flows in and out and what these were for, and (ii) the year-

end balance of monies held, the amounts of any monies owing to and/or by 

the charity at that time and what non-monetary assets then belonged to the 

charity, with sufficient description to identify them. This is simple, traditional 

stewardship reporting to demonstrate to the reader that the charity has been 

properly administered.

c. Classification of items

All receipts and payments of the same type and assets and liabilities of the 

same type should be added together and the totals shown under appropriate 

headings, subject to identifying any major items.

There are no “required” headings. However, central church authorities may 

set out classifications, or require some kind of annual return, and individual 

churches will then have to comply with these requirements. There are 

two alternative ways in which payments can usefully and informatively be 

analysed to suit the church’s own requirements: 

By nature of payment: this means wages, rent, electricity, property repairs, 

etc., as the costs of activities; and purchase of investment assets, loan 

repayments, etc., as “other payments”;
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By activity-type: this means grouping together all the payments for costs 

of generating funds, all those for the direct costs of charitable activities, 

all those for governance and other “support costs” that are not directly 

attributable to either of the above; and then using a supporting note to show 

for each category the nature of the payments it comprises. 

d. Comparative figures

No corresponding figures for the previous year are required by law to be 

shown for comparison, but if (as a matter of best practice) this is done, they 

need to be on a comparable basis – which could mean re-analysing the 

figures published in last year’s Account and Statement if there have been any 

significant changes this year.

e. Use of words, terms and basis

Care should be taken to ensure that no misleading words or terms are used 

in the Account or Statement. For example, if the word “income” is used in 

order to distinguish monies coming in from activities from those that endow 

the charity or represent a loan or loan repayment or else the proceeds of 

disposing of an investment asset or of an asset that was being used for 

activities, it must be “income receipts”. Whereas the word “expenditure” 

should not be used in the receipts and payments account since it suggests 

the use of the accruals basis of accounting, it would be acceptable to use a 

heading of “payments for activities” to distinguish them from “purchase of 

investments”, “purchase of assets for use by the charity”, “loan repayment”, 

etc. 

The law does not allow for “halfway” house forms of accounting. It cannot be 

part “receipts and payments” and part “accruals”. If accruals are included, 

the full “accruals” basis must be applied in accordance with the Charities 

SORP and its related Regulations for “true and fair” accounts, including 

the preparation of a full balance sheet as stipulated by the SORP and its 

Regulations, instead of a Statement of Assets and Liabilities.

f. Separation of funds of the charity

The Account and Statement must clearly distinguish between the various 

types of funds if there are more than one: 

UNRESTRICTED: The church will have ordinary funds, which are for general 

use in promoting the church’s charitable purposes for the public benefit or in 

any way that supports this; these are unrestricted funds. Within this category 

you can, but need not, show separately any “designated” funds as described 

below.
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DESIGNATED: The church may have decided to set aside sums in respect of 

specific projects; these are designated funds. They can always be redirected 

back to unrestricted funds if the church chooses.

RESTRICTED: There may be “special trust” funds held for donor-specified 

purposes; appeals which the church has made for specific objects; funds or 

grants given to the church by donors who have specified that they should 

only be used for specific objectives. These are restricted funds under charity 

law and can only be spent on or applied for the purposes for which they 

were given. They cannot be added to or treated as unrestricted funds without 

either the consent of the donor (if “variation of purpose” was reserved to 

that donor from the outset, e.g. as to the permissible use of a surplus), or 

else under the trust-variation powers bestowed by the Charities Act 2011 or 

Charity Commission consent.

ENDOWMENTS: are funds held “on trust for retention”, i.e. as “trust capital”, 

the income from which can be spent on either unrestricted or restricted 

purposes (depending upon the donor’s intentions at the time of gift), but the 

capital of which must be retained; it cannot be spent as if it were income. 

Often, it is “expendable endowment” funds that arise from the donor’s 

intention. These are funds which the donor intended to be held as capital, 

but which the trustees are allowed to expend wholly or partly as income, 

depending upon certain conditions obtaining as stipulated by the donor to 

start with.

Where there is a mixture of funds they must be accounted for separately if 

contained within the Receipts and Payments Account and the Statement of 

Assets and Liabilities. This separate reporting may alternatively be done in 

the old, traditional way by preparing a separate Account and Statement for 

each fund, instead of what is now common practice, by showing columns 

for the various types of funds. Whatever method is used, a reader of the 

accounts must be able to understand the difference between the endowment 

capital and any other restricted funds and the basis upon which they are 

held, administered and applied; there should be no confusion, which might 

lead to a belief that all funds are held on exactly the same basis – and 

ultimately perhaps to a breach of trust, any irretrievable loss from which the 

charity trustees themselves might have to make good to the charity. 

The receipt of income derived from assets held as part of a particular fund 

(e.g. interest on an investment) is generally subject to the same restriction as 

to purpose as the fund itself and will form an addition to that fund unless it is 

an endowment, as explained above. Similarly, realised or unrealised gains or 

losses on any assets must be added to the fund to which those assets belong.
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A fair and reasonable allocation of overheads (management and 

administration) can be charged to restricted funds. However, it can happen 

that the donor has set a maximum of, say, x% oncosts for which the donor’s 

funding can be used. In such a case, any resulting deficit will have to be 

funded out of the charity’s unrestricted funds in order to avoid the breach of 

trust that would arise from distorting the overhead allocations to any other 

restricted funds of the charity. 

g. No netting off

All receipts and payments must be shown gross. For example, if a fete 

is held, the proceeds must be shown gross as receipts and the costs of 

organising and running the event shown as payments. If there is a magazine, 

the sales must be shown gross as receipts and the costs of printing, 

distribution, etc. shown as payments. However, if a receipt is merely a 

repayment of an expense borne on behalf of another party, (e.g. a minister 

reimbursing the church for private telephone calls, or a church paying the 

electricity bill for a tenant and then recovering it) such items can be netted 

off. 

4.  Receipts and payments summary 
Essentially, a Receipts and Payments Account, as its name suggests, is 

just a summary of the cashbook. It should show the balance of money 

brought forward, the amounts of money actually received during the year, the 

payments made during the year and the resultant bank and cash balances 

carried forward at the end of the year.

All receipts and payments of the same type should be added together and 

the totals shown under appropriate headings. Where there is more than one 

fund under trust law they must each be accounted for separately in their own 

Receipts and Payments Account, if not by using a columnar format for a 

composite Account.

a. What should be included

Receipts will include all cash, cheques and direct transfers actually received 

by the church in the year. 

Sometimes at the end of the year, a cheque or cash may be received, but 

not banked until the first few days of the following year. Alternatively, even if 

some cash and/or cheques are banked at the end of the year, they may not 

appear on the bank statement until the first few days of the following year. 
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In both these cases, the cash and cheques were received at the end of the 

financial year and so should be included as receipts of that year, even though 

they did not appear on the bank statement until after the end of the year.

Similarly, all cash and cheque payments actually made in the year should be 

included. So, if a cheque is issued at the end of the year, but is not paid in by 

the payee, or does not appear on the bank statement until early in the next 

year, it should nonetheless be included in payments.

b. What should be excluded

The simple rule is that anything that was not actually money paid or money 

received during the year should be excluded.

If the church had a bill to pay, and for some reason it was not actually paid 

during the year (even if it should normally be paid in the year), but was paid early 

in the following year, it should not be included in the Receipts and Payment 

Account, but included as a liability in the Statement of Assets and Liabilities.

Similarly, if some funds are due to the church, but they are not actually 

received until after the year end (even though they should have been received 

before year end), they should not be included as a receipt, but shown as an 

asset in the Statement of Assets and Liabilities.

5.  Statement of assets and liabilities
The Statement is a list of assets and liabilities. It is not a Balance Sheet 

and must not be called a Balance Sheet. It should not be “balanced” or 

purport to show a figure for the church’s “net assets”, its “net worth” or 

its “accumulated reserves”. All of these suggest accounts prepared on an 

accruals basis, and this misleading impression must not be given.

The statement should be adequate to show the reader of the accounts what 

were the assets of the charity and what payments the trustees were going to 

have to make after the year-end.

No valuations are required for any non-monetary assets, which only need 

sufficient narrative description to enable the reader to understand what they 

are and how they are used, but where a figure is shown for the historical cost 

(or even an indication of the present value, if such voluntary extra information 

is considered helpful) of a major asset of this kind, the date of its purchase 

should also be shown. If instead, the asset was a gift, the date of gift should 

be shown. 
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Assets and liabilities must be clearly distinguished between the various 

funds to which they may relate. This can be done in brackets after each item, 

to show the fund to which it belongs, or by showing the funds as different 

columns, with a tick for the item, or the figure of its cost, in the relevant column. 

a. The listing of assets

i. Cash and bank deposits

First on the list should be the bank and cash resources immediately available 

to the church managing body. The balances should obviously agree with the 

final balances shown by the Receipts and Payments Account.

ii. Other monetary assets

Listed under this heading should be all debts and money owed to the church. 

Small amounts of the same type can be added together as one item. Some 

of the items that would be included under this heading are:

• Loans made by the church (capital and interest due).

• Income tax claimed from HMRC but not received by the year-end. 

• Unpaid accounts for goods or services the church has provided (e.g. 

photocopying, magazines, books etc.).

iii. Investment assets

Assets or property held by the church as an investment either to generate 

income or to increase capital (or both) should be shown under this heading, 

including any deposits. The deposit balances should be shown, but quoted 

investments only need to be described, although the cost or market value 

may be shown, perhaps showing also the date acquired (unless a gift). If the 

asset is land (with or without buildings) the address and brief description of 

the property (including age, condition and cost, if known) should be included; 

such descriptions can instead be included in supporting notes.

iv. Fixed assets used by the church

Assets held and used for the church’s own purposes should be listed under 

this heading. They might include:

• Church buildings and contents.

• Church halls and contents.

• Ministers’ or curates’ houses.

• Office equipment (including any being purchased under hire purchase or 

by other form of loan).

• Staff motor vehicles (including hire purchase). 
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Provided these assets are owned they should be included here even if 

they are historic or inalienable (ie, cannot be sold, because of the church’s 

foundation). Their values do not have to be disclosed in the Statement but 

details and descriptions should then be included in the notes, if not on the 

face of the Statement. 

b. The listing of liabilities

A liability is a debt owed by the church, or an amount which the church is 

committed to paying at some time after the end of the present financial year. 

Liabilities of different types should be listed separately, but small amounts of 

the same type can be totalled.

If the liability relates to an asset (e.g. a loan in respect of a building) the 

relationship between the asset and the liability should be disclosed. Where 

there is a commitment to repay the loan by instalments, the number and 

amount of each instalment should be disclosed.

Liabilities to be listed will include:

• Amounts owed and invoiced to the church for utilities, goods and services 

received during the financial year (e.g. gas, electricity, magazine printing, 

etc.) – but this does not have to include any estimated accrual in respect 

of an invoice dated after the year-end.

• Payroll deductions and employer contributions relating to the financial 

year, which remain unpaid at year-end.

• Special collections prior to the year end for a mission or other outside 

organisation, which have not been forwarded. 

• Other monies held on behalf of third parties.

• Commitments to make grants or payments, which are legally binding.

• Balance of monies borrowed by the church (loans, hire purchase, etc.) 

including capital and interest up to the year-end.

• Any other actual liability not included above.

• Any guarantees given by the church on behalf of a third party (preferably 

indicating how much (if anything) is likely to be paid and when).

6.  Notes to the account and statement 
Rather than clutter up the Account and Statement with a mass of detail, it 

may be appropriate to summarise any exceptionally wide-ranging categories 

of items (e.g. property costs) and instead give the supplementary detail about 

them by means of explanatory notes. The over-riding principle is that the 

Account and Statement should give as much information as is possible within 
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the limits of understanding so that readers may be fully informed about how 

monies have been administered and about the residual assets and liabilities. 

Examples of supplementary notes that may usefully be included, if they are 

not alternatively included in the Trustees’ Annual Report are: 

• Information about significant non-monetary resources, for example 

donated facilities, goods and services. 

• Details of the movement on any particular major restricted funds (where 

this supplements a columnar R&P Account as information useful to 

donors who stipulated how money was to be spent). 

• Similarly, details of assets and liabilities belonging to any particular major 

restricted fund if this is not shown in the Statement of Assets & Liabilities.

Other notes can cover items included, but not fully explained or detailed, in 

the Account or Statement. The judicious use of such notes, even though no 

notes are actually required by charity law, can make the content and layout of 

the Account and Statement simpler and more easily understood.

If supplementary notes are included, it is important to number them, cross-

refer to them in the Account and Statement and use a footnote to the 

Receipts and Payments Account and the Statement of Assets and Liabilities: 

“The notes on pages … to … form part of this Account and Statement”.

7.  Authorisation 
There is no charity law requirement for the Account and Statement to be 

signed, nor for any form of words showing that they are duly authorised 

by the charity trustees, but in the absence of any mention of their approval 

in the Trustees’ Annual Report for which signature by a duly authorised 

trustee is required by law, it is good practice by analogy with the provisions 

of the SORP’s related Regulations for Accruals Accounts to add a suitable 

declaration. At an appropriate time prior to the annual meeting at which they 

are to be considered, the church governing body should meet and approve 

them for presentation to the annual meeting. A copy should be sent to each 

member of the governing body prior to the meeting to allow time for study. 

At that meeting the Account and Statement should be approved at the same 

time as the Trustees’ Annual Report by means of an appropriate resolution, 

and at least one member of the managing body should be authorised to sign 

them on behalf of the whole governing body. The date on which they were 

approved together with the signature should be added at the bottom of the 

Statement of Assets and Liabilities. 
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A suitable wording would be:

“Approved by…… (the name of the church governing body) on……. (date) 

and signed on its behalf by ……. (signature) ……. (full name/position of 

person signing). 

The Account and Statement must be attached to the Annual Report and the 

Independent Examiner’s Report (if one is needed) to effectively become “one” 

document. These documents should only ever be issued together as one 

single document, and never issued separately.

Any member of the governing body (i.e. any trustee) who does not agree 

that the Account and Statement should be approved needs to take steps to 

resolve the disagreement with the rest of the trustees. If they cannot resolve 

the disagreement on the basis that the majority prevails, any irreconcilable 

concerns should be reported to the central church authorities. If this does not 

suffice to resolve them, the matter should be reported as “cause for concern” 

to the Charity Commission.

8.  Further guidance and examples
The Charity Commission publication CC16a sets out templates (shown 

on the following pages) for the Receipts and Payments Account and the 

Statement of Assets and Liabilities, and CC16b includes guidance notes for 

their completion. See: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/charity-

accounting-templates-receipts-and-payments-accounts

On the following pages are also some R&P-based “Financial Statements” 

templates used by Church in Wales parishes. Note that the items “Other 

Capital” receipts and payments are intended to cover purchases and sales 

of assets and investments, and receipt and payment of loans; in the Charity 

Commission template they are “Asset and Investment” purchases and 

sales. These templates exceed the minimalist requirements of the Charities 

Act 2011 for the R&P option, but are typical of some church authority 

recommendations as representing good practice. 
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CC16a March 2012: new format January 2017

Receipts and Payments
Accounts

Charity name

Charity number (if any)

For the period from (start date) to (end date)D D M M Y Y D D M M Y Y

Section A Receipts and payments

A1 Receipts

Unrestricted 
funds

to the nearest
£

Restricted
funds

to the nearest
£

Endowment 
funds

to the nearest
£

Total funds

to the nearest
£

Last year

to the nearest
£

Sub total

A2 Asset and investment sales, etc

Total receipts

A3 Payments

Sub total

A4 Asset and investment purchases, etc

Total payments

Net of receipts/(payments)

A5 Transfers between funds

A6 Cash funds last year end

Cash funds this year end
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CC16a March 2012: new format January 2017

Section B Statement of assets and liabilities at the end of the period

Details

Unrestricted
funds

to the nearest
£

Restricted
funds

to the nearest
£

Endowment
funds

to the nearest
£

B1 Cash funds

Total cash funds 
(agree balances with receipts and payments account(s))

Details

Unrestricted
funds

to the nearest
£

Restricted
funds

to the nearest
£

Endowment
funds

to the nearest
£

B2 Other monetary assets

Details
Fund to which 
asset belongs

Cost
(optional)

Current value
(optional)

B3 Investment assets

Details
Fund to which 
asset belongs

Cost
(optional)

Current value
(optional)

B4 Assets retained for the charity’s own use

Details
Fund to which 
liability relates

Amount due
(optional)

When due
(optional)

B5 Liabilities

Signed by one or two trustees on behalf 
of all the trustees

Signature Print name Date of approval
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Chapter 6 
Basic Accruals Accounts 
For churches up to £500,000 gross income under 

SORP(FRS102) for financial years starting after 2015
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Introduction
For accounting periods commencing after 2014, all churches that are charities in 

the United Kingdom, if required by law to prepare their accounts on the “accruals” 

basis for a “true and fair view” or otherwise choosing to do so, must comply with the 

current Statement Of Recommended Practice for charities (the Charities SORP) – 

either SORP(FRSSE) or SORP(FRS102) from 1 January 2015, but the latter alone (as 

amended by Update Bulletin 1) from 1 January 2016.

This chapter of the handbook concerns compliance with SORP(FRS102), which is 

the only applicable version of SORP2015 from 1st January 2016, and which provides 

for standardised annual reporting by all such charities, plus additional requirements 

for “larger” charities, not covered in this handbook. SORP(FRS102) Update Bulletin 

1, issued in February 2016 defines “larger” charities as being those with income in 

excess of £500,000 (or 500,000 euros where that is the accounting currency).

This chapter does not replicate all of the requirements of the SORP. Anyone 

preparing or examining accruals-based charity accounts needs to study the relevant 

modules of SORP(FRS102), which adapt the globally based requirements of FRS102 

itself to suit the needs of charities. Rather, this chapter aims to help the reader to 

prepare accounts that will comply with those SORP requirements that apply to all 

charities on the accruals basis and in particular to most smaller churches. 

However, some churches may have particular circumstances or transactions that 

require a special accounting treatment and/or extra disclosures as detailed in the 

SORP or FRS102 and they should consult the appropriate SORP modules and 

FRS102; they may also need to seek professional advice. 

1. The requirements of charity law

a. England and Wales

The Charities Act 2011 limits the use of the Receipts and Payments basis of 

annual accounting, so that if total income from all sources, in a year, exceeds 

the specified threshold (currently £250,000), a charity must produce its annual 

financial statements on an accruals basis. The Regulations made under that 

Act require compliance with “Accounting and Reporting by Charities”, the 

Statement of Recommended Practice issued by the Charity Commission 

(SORP). With SORP 2005 now superseded by SORP 2015, pending the 

making of new Regulations pointing to SORP 2015 instead of SORP 2005, 

Charity Commission Guidance CC15c advises that non-company charities 

need to explain as part of their Accounting Policies that they have invoked 



Basic Accruals Accounts

88

the “true and fair override” provision in the SORP’s 2008 Regulations 

enabling them to comply with SORP 2015 instead of SORP 2005.

The SORP says these accounts must comprise:

• a Statement of Financial Activities (SoFA) which provides an analysis of income 

and expenditure and all other movement in funds in the reporting period.

• a Balance Sheet which sets out the assets and liabilities and retained 

funds as at the reporting date.

• Notes to the Accounts that explain the accounting framework and the 

accounting policies adopted, provide more detail in support of the SoFA 

and balance sheet figures, where material, and provide extra information 

about particular funds and transactions.

• a Cash Flow Statement if the charity’s gross income exceeds £500,000.

b. Scotland - See “Charities in Scotland” chapter.

c. Northern Ireland

Charities in Northern Ireland must comply with regulations made by the 

Department for Social Development which require charities to follow SORP 

2015 for the preparation of annual reports and accounts to be filed with the 

Charity Commission for Northern Ireland.

2. Does the accruals basis apply?
The Accruals basis of accounting has to be applied if the charity is a company 

or else its gross income from all sources exceeds the limit for the Receipts 

and Payments accounting basis. This threshold is currently £250,000.

The definition of gross income for a charity 

Section 353 of the 2011 Act states that a reference to the gross income 

of a charity “means its gross recorded income from all sources including 

special trusts” (i.e. from all funds: endowed or otherwise restricted by trust 

law, or unrestricted, including any designated funds). This broad definition 

is interpreted for administrative purposes by the Commission when setting 

the Annual Return requirements and making the Annual Return regulations 

under section 169 of the 2011 Act. This administrative definition of gross 

income is reviewed annually in preparation for the making of new Annual 

Return regulations. Where Part A of the Annual Return calls for the amount 

of the registered charity’s gross income for the financial year, the figure to 

be entered must be that derived from the statutory accounts that have been 

prepared, approved by the trustees and audited or examined if so required 
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and which will or may have to be filed with the Charity Commission in due 

course. For non-company charities, unless gross income as derived from 

those accounts is within the £250,000 limit they must comply with the SORP. 

Thus if the church’s statutory gross income on the receipts & payments basis 

does not exceed £250,000 it does not matter that if the accounts had been 

prepared under the SORP this limit would have been exceeded! 

At the time of revising this chapter, gross income should be calculated as 

follows.

Accounts prepared on the accruals basis: ‘gross income’ should be 

calculated as: 

• the total incoming resources as shown in the Statement of Financial 

Activities (prepared in accordance with the SORP) for all funds excluding 

any endowment capital; and

• including any amount transferred from endowment capital funds into 

income funds during the year so as to be available for expenditure. 

(Note that the SORP excludes from total incoming resources gains on 

revaluation of fixed assets or gains on investments, which do not form part of 

‘gross income’ for these purposes.) 

Accounts prepared on the receipts and payments basis: ‘gross income’ 

is the total receipts recorded in the receipts & payments account(s) for trust 

income fund(s) – i.e., excluding capital receipts in any endowment fund(s) - 

and also disregarding any loans and any proceeds from sales of investment 

assets or other fixed assets. 

3. General principles for accruals accounts 
under SORP 2015
The financial statements must be prepared so that they show a “true and fair 

view” of the church as a charity. This will normally be on the assumption that 

it is still a “going concern” for at least the next twelve months from the date 

when the accounts are formally approved by the trustees.  

In accordance with the requirements of FRS102 (the applicable composite 

UK financial reporting standard derived from EU-approved international 

financial reporting standards), the church’s annual accounts must be 

prepared on an “accruals” basis, the new principle for which is that an asset 

must be recognised as an incoming resource (income or capital, as the case 

may be) as and when 



Basic Accruals Accounts

90

• the economic benefit from it becomes “probable” (meaning “more likely 

than not”), 

• as long as the church is legally entitled to it, and 

• the amount is reliably quantifiable. 

Likewise, at the point where an outflow of economic benefit becomes 

“probable” in consequence of a legal or constructive obligation existing as 

at the year-end and the liability can be reliably quantified, it must be accrued 

or provided for in the year’s accounts. Until then, it remains “contingent” and 

thus disclosable in the accounts notes in sufficient detail to enable the reader 

to understand how it might affect the church’s funds if it “crystallises”. 

FRS102 requires all accounting policies to comply with a hierarchy of 

i.  its own specified accounting treatments (wherever relevant); followed by 

ii. those of the Charities SORP, whose “requirements & guidance” provide 

charity-specific treatments of transactions and situations not covered in 

detail by FRS102; and thereafter 

iii. a set of ten “qualitative characteristics” of information in financial 

statements, in decreasing order of importance. 

Foremost among these qualitative characteristics is “understandability”, 

followed by “relevance”, “materiality” and “reliability” (i.e., “showing a true 

and fair view”), with “prudence” and “comparability” coming lower down 

the list, which ends with the pragmatic test of cost versus benefit – whose 

invocation can often be used to justify continuing an old accounting policy on 

the basis that the difference is immaterial, especially for the smaller church. 

The complete list of those qualitative characteristics, taken from Section 2 of 

FRS102 is:

1. Understandability [“a reasonable knowledge of business and economic 

activities and accounting and willingness to study the information with 

reasonable diligence” is needed!] 

2. Relevance [to the “decision-making needs of users”]

3. Materiality [for influencing the “economic decisions of users” if based on 

the accounts]

4. Reliability [“faithful representation”, “free from bias or material error” – i.e., 

impartial]

5. Substance over [legal] Form [i.e., the reality must not be obscured by 

‘semantics’]
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6. Prudence [“the inclusion of a degree of caution” in face of uncertainty – 

not otherwise]

7. Completeness [“within the bounds of materiality and cost”]

8. Comparability [for comparing prior years and other reporting entities]

9. Timeliness [i.e,. available within the user’s decision-making timeframe]

10. Benefit exceeds Cost [of providing accounts-users with the information]

Thus FRS102’s Section 2.35 says:  

“The requirements for recognising and measuring assets, liabilities, income 

and expenses in this FRS are based on pervasive principles that are 

derived from the IASB Framework for the Preparation and Presentation 

of Financial Statements and from EU-adopted IFRS. In the absence 

of a requirement in this FRS that applies specifically to a transaction or 

other event or condition, paragraph 10.4 provides guidance for making a 

judgement and paragraph 10.5 establishes a hierarchy for an entity to follow 

in deciding on the appropriate accounting policy in the circumstances. The 

second level of that hierarchy requires an entity to look to the definitions, 

recognition criteria and measurement concepts for assets, liabilities, income 

and expenses and the pervasive principles set out in this section.”

The guidance in FRS102’s Section 10 is quite specific here:

10.4  If an FRS or FRC Abstract does not specifically address a transaction, 

other event or condition, an entity’s management shall use its judgement in 

developing and applying an accounting policy that results in information that is:

a.  relevant to the economic decision-making needs of users; and

b. reliable, in that the financial statements:

i.  represent faithfully the financial position, financial performance and 

cash flows of the entity;

ii.  reflect the economic substance of transactions, other events and 

conditions, and not merely the legal form;

iii.  are neutral, i.e. free from bias;

iv.  are prudent; and

v.  are complete in all material respects.

10.5  In making the judgement described in paragraph 10.4, management 

shall refer to and consider the applicability of the following sources in 

descending order:

a. the requirements and guidance in an FRS or FRC Abstract dealing with 

similar and related issues;
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b. where an entity’s financial statements are within the scope of a Statement 

of Recommended Practice (SORP) the requirements and guidance in that 

SORP dealing with similar and related issues; and

c. the definitions, recognition criteria and measurement concepts for assets, 

liabilities, income and expenses and the pervasive principles in Section 2 

Concepts and Pervasive Principles.

More specifically still, FRS102-2.36 says: 

“… On the accrual basis, items are recognised as assets, liabilities, [trust 

capital], income or expenses when they satisfy the definitions and recognition 

criteria for those items.”

4. Fund administration and accountability
The Charities SORP supplements FRS102, and its Public Benefit Entity 

(PBE) sections, in prescribing charity-specific accounting treatments and 

disclosures so that charity accounts can demonstrate due compliance with 

trust law restrictions on the application of the various kinds of trust fund 

for which the charity trustees may be accountable, apart from the general-

purpose or “unrestricted” funds that are common to almost every charity. 

These are as follows.

Unrestricted: The church will have ordinary funds, which are for general use 

in promoting the church’s charitable purposes for the public benefit or in any 

way that supports this; these are unrestricted funds. Within this category you 

can, but need not, show separately any “designated” funds as described 

below.

Designated: The church may have decided to set aside sums in respect 

of specific projects or to represent financial resources locked up in fixed 

assets needed for its functioning; these are known as “designated” funds, 

distinguishing them from “free” funds, meaning those that are held as readily 

available for current activities. Designated funds can always be redirected 

back to the undesignated unrestricted funds if the church so chooses.

Restricted: There may be income or capital funds under trust law, including 

“special trust” funds held for donor-specified purposes; appeals which the 

church has made for specific objectives; legacies with restrictions on their 

use; or grants/gifts to the church by institutions or individual donors who 

have specified that they can only be used for some specific project. These 

are all restricted under charity law and must be applied for the purpose for 

which they were given. They cannot be added to or treated as unrestricted 

funds without either the consent of the donor (if “variation of purpose” was 
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reserved to that donor from the outset, e.g. as to the permissible use of a 

surplus), or else under the trust-variation powers bestowed by the Charities 

Act 2011 or with Charity Commission consent.

Endowments: are funds held “on trust for retention”, i.e. as “trust capital”, 

the income from which is normally to be spent on either general (i.e., 

unrestricted) or restricted purposes (depending upon the donor’s intentions at 

the time of gift), but the capital of which must be retained either for the time 

being or in some cases permanently. Often, it is “expendable endowment” 

funds that arise from the donor’s intention. These are funds which the donor 

intended at the time to be held as capital, but with the trustees being allowed 

by law to expend that capital wholly or partly as income as and when they so 

choose or upon the happening of some event specified by the donor.

Where there is more than one fund, they must be accounted for separately 

according to their kind and materiality. A reader of the accounts must be able 

to distinguish the endowment capital (if any) and any restricted income funds 

and the basis upon which they are held, administered and applied; there 

must be no mixing of such funds, which might then lead to a belief that all the 

charity’s funds are held on exactly the same trust law basis – and ultimately 

perhaps to a breach of trust, any irretrievable loss from which the defaulting 

charity trustees themselves would be liable to make good to the charity. 

Income derived from investing assets held as part of a particular fund (e.g. 

deposit interest) is generally subject to the same restriction as to purpose as 

the invested fund itself. If that fund is an endowment, as explained above, 

then the capital must be retained but its investment income forms a separate 

trust fund for spending on the same purpose or as the donor specified, 

so it cannot normally be added to the capital. By contrast, disposal and 

revaluation gains or losses on assets belonging to a particular fund always 

form part of that fund, whether it be of an income or a capital nature. 

A fair and reasonable allocation of church overheads (for management and 

administration of the charity) can properly be charged to restricted income 

funds as part of their activity costs. However, it can happen that the fund’s 

founding donor has set a maximum of, say, x% on-costs for which the 

donor’s funding can be used. In such a case, any resulting deficit will have to 

be funded out of the charity’s unrestricted funds in order to avoid the breach 

of trust that would arise from distorting the overhead allocations to any other 

restricted funds of the charity. 
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5. The SORP’s modules 
SORP(FRS102) is laid out in a new format enabling charities to ‘mix and 

match’ modules from the contents listing on the SORP microsite (www.

charitysorp.org), which churches can download and print locally to suit their 

own particular reporting needs. Rather than reproducing their wording, this 

chapter just gives the gist of the requirements of those accruals-accounting 

modules that (apart from compliance with Accounting Standards (Module 3) 

and fund-accounting principles (Module 2) – for which see section 8, below) 

will always apply to the smaller church (i.e., Modules 4-13). Treasurers should 

nevertheless select, download, print and study those modules as “essential 

reading”. For other modules that might or might not apply, this chapter either 

summarises their key requirements or, for more complex disclosures, refers 

the treasurer to the module itself.

Basic modules and their topics:

4. Statement of financial activities

5.  Recognition of income, including legacies, grants and contract income 

6.  Donated goods, facilities and services, including volunteers 

7.  Recognition of expenditure 

8.  Allocating costs by activity in the statement of financial activities (instead 

of expense- type) 

9.  Disclosure of trustee and staff remuneration, related party and other 

transactions 

10. Balance sheet

11. Accounting for financial assets and financial liabilities 

12. Impairment of assets 

13. Events after the end of the reporting period 

Other modules, some of which might apply (particularly to larger churches)

14. Statement of cash flows 14.1-14.22

15. Charitable companies 15.1-15.24

16. Grant-making activities 16.1-16.25

17. Staff Pension Schemes 17.1-17.24

18. Heritage assets 18.1-18.31

19. Custodian & conduit-funds activities 19.1-19.13

20. Total Return investing (permanent endowments) 20.1-20.12

21. Social investments 21.1-21.43

22. Investment-pooling 22.1-22.12

23. Charity mergers/combinations 23.1-23.5
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24. Group consolidated accounts 24.1-24.39

25. Branch-accounting 25.1-25.26

26. Charities as subsidiaries 26.1-26.8

27. Charity mergers 27.1-27.16

28. Associated undertakings 28.1-28.20

29. Corporate joint-ventures 29.1-29.20

6.  Statement of financial activities (SoFA)
The SoFA is a composite “primary” statement within the meaning of 

FRS102, equating to the “Statement of Total Comprehensive Income”, but 

it also includes all trust capital movements on endowment funds as well. 

It is required to show all incoming resources and holding gains/losses on 

investment and functional fixed assets and all resources expended by the 

church during the year on all its funds, and to reconcile the year’s movement 

between the opening and closing balances on those funds.

a.  Fund accounting to satisfy trust law 

The SoFA must distinguish between the various types of funds (see 4 above) 

and analyse the movements on each type, supported in the accounts notes 

by analysis for any material individual trust funds. The SORP specifies a 

columnar analysis for this, with a column for each type of fund, plus a column 

showing the total for all funds for which the church is accountable.

b.  Comparative figures 

The accounts must show for each figure in the SoFA the figure for the 

previous year – adjusted, if need be, to put it on the same basis as this 

year. However, if this results in too many columns then the fund-accounting 

comparative figures can be shown in an accounts note instead. The easiest 

way to do that is to copy into the accounts notes last year’s SoFA minus its 

comparative figures, after making any adjustments needed for the figures to 

be comparable with this year.

c.  Netting off

All income and related expenditure must be shown gross, i.e., with no netting 

off, and likewise for any incoming endowments. For example, if a fete is held, 

the proceeds must be shown gross as income and the costs of organising and 

running the event shown as expenditure. Similarly, if there is a magazine, the sales 

must be shown gross and the costs of printing, distribution, etc. shown gross.
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d.  Recognition of income 

Income and any additions to trust capital (i.e. endowments) must be included 

in the SoFA when:

• the church is entitled to the resource; and 

• the economic benefit from it becomes “probable” (i.e., more likely than 

not); and

• its monetary value can be measured with sufficient reliability.

e.  Recognition of expenditure 

Expenditure must be included in the SoFA once the church has a legal or 

constructive obligation, the outflow of economic benefit becomes “probable” 

(i.e., more likely than not) and the amount can be measured with sufficient 

reliability. 

f.  Extraordinary items 

Any extremely occasional income or expenditure arising from material events 

or transactions that 

i. fall outside the church’s ordinary activities, 

ii. are abnormal in nature and 

iii. are not expected to recur, 

are to be shown separately below the line for the year’s net income/

expenditure and included in net movements on funds for the year. 

g.  Discontinued operating activities

FRS102’s commercial requirement for a separate column to be used here 

(to distinguish the year’s “continuing” activities) is not likely to apply to 

churches or indeed most charities, as the SORP takes the view that it refers 

to the cessation or disposal of a separate charitable activity but not the mere 

spending out of a restricted fund.

h.  The SoFA format

The SORP specifies a columnar format. This is detailed in the following 

table. If any fund is material enough to warrant separate disclosure here, it 

should be shown in a separate column. Conversely, if one fund-type has only 

immaterial movements for the year it can be combined with another fund-

type if the column-heading makes this clear and the detailed split is disclosed 

in the accounts notes.
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The use of a designated funds column can be helpful if the church has 

a significant designated activity with its own funding, which it needs to 

distinguish from its other general-purpose activities. Otherwise such 

a column can be omitted as it is only a discretionary sub-division of 

unrestricted funds.

If any column or row would be empty for this year and last year, it is to be 

omitted.
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i.  SoFA income and expenditure 

The SORP says at Module 4.22: “The analysis of income and expenditure 

by activity is encouraged for all charities preparing accruals accounts. 

However, smaller charities are not required to report their income and 

expenditure on an activity basis and may adopt an alternative approach to 

their analysis.” The smaller church does not therefore have to analyse income 

and expenditure by purpose (activities) as shown in the table above, but may 

instead choose an alternative presentation, e.g., by income and expense-

type, to suit their circumstances. Some central church authorities have their 

own standardised categories for income and expenditure for their churches 

to use, or require an annual return which analyses income and expenditure 

under specific headings, making these best to use in the SoFA.

For those churches having to, or choosing to, use the activity basis, 

suggestions for what to include in each category are detailed in the Appendix.

For a charitable company, any material movements of trust capital in the 

endowments column would obstruct the SoFA’s compliance with the 

company law requirement to adapt the statutory Profit & Loss Account 

to show net income for the year. The alternative is a separate Income & 

Expenditure Summary, cross-referenced to the SoFA to show where the 

income total and expenditure total figures come from. Since few churches will 

face this requirement, it is not dealt with in detail in this handbook. 

j.  Transfers between funds

Any transfers between the various categories of funds are normally to be 

shown in this row of the SoFA and supported by explanatory notes. The need 

for such transfers will arise for a church when:

• endowment capital is converted into income under trust law for spending 

on activities; 

• unspent income from an invested endowment is added to capital under 

trust law;

• a funding deficit on a restricted income fund has to be borne by 

unrestricted funds;

• a non-investment fixed asset is purchased wholly or partly out of 

donations restricted to the purchase of that asset, but without the donors’ 

clear intention/expectation of the asset’s continuing* use by the church. In 

this situation the SORP recommends (i) using a designated fund, annually 

adjusted to equal the asset’s carrying value in the Balance Sheet, and (ii) 

the initial transfer of the donations so utilized from the restricted income 

column to that designated fund within the unrestricted income column.



Basic Accruals Accounts

99

(*Note: Where it is clear that the donor (or grantor or legator) intended the 

asset to be retained for the church’s own use on a continuing basis, that 

intention automatically endows the church, and the capital fund thus created 

will then be “expendable endowment” for a “wasting” fixed asset, or else a 

permanent endowment where the fixed asset is freehold land.)

k. “Net operating income/expenditure” versus “net income/

(expenditure) for the year & endowment movements”

All movements in the carrying value of investment assets, as well as all 

disposal gains (less losses) on them, are to be shown on a separate line 

in the SoFA immediately after the sections for income (and any incoming 

endowments) and expenditure, and within FRS102’s net income figure 

– which for charities also includes the year’s net incoming/outgoing 

endowment capital (if any). This is to comply with FRS102’s requirement for 

all “fair value” movements to be accounted for within “net income”. 

For budget planning and monitoring, however, many charities need to 

distinguish the year’s operating result (which may be before or after inter-fund 

transfers, depending on their budget relevance) so that it is not masked by 

such “holding” gains/losses, with their susceptibility to market fluctuations. 

This can be achieved, as shown in the table, by means of a sub-total for 

the operating surplus/deficit before investment gains/losses and transfers 

between funds.   

l. Other recognized gains/losses

The three items under this heading are:

• Any gains on the annual revaluation of fixed assets (tangible or intangible) 

for the church’s own use, if the accounting policy for any class of such 

assets is “fair value” rather than the historical cost; the latter will normally 

be the obvious choice for churches. Any “impairment” write-off to 

recognize a reduction in an asset’s “service potential” (i.e., outside its 

normal annual depreciation charge in use) does not belong here but is an 

additional depreciation charge to be included within total expenditure. 

However, any net gain for the year on disposals of fixed assets for the 

church’s own use is to be included in “other” income (but as an incoming 

endowment in the trust capital column, if the asset belongs to an 

endowment fund).

• A defined benefit pension scheme will not normally be feasible for smaller 

churches, but if the church does have one, any net actuarial gain/loss 

arising on it each year must be shown here.
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• Any other gains/losses required by FRS102 to be recognised outside 

of the year’s net income or expenditure would include (i) any foreign 

exchange gain/loss on the year-end conversion of non-monetary assets 

to the extent that they cannot be reported elsewhere in the SoFA and (ii) 

any “extraordinary items”, as a rarity already described.

m. Reconciliation of funds

The SORP requires that the opening and closing balances for each class 

of fund must be shown as the last lines of the SoFA, with the difference 

reconciled by the year’s movement in funds. The closing fund balances 

presented in the SoFA must agree with the equivalent totals shown in the 

‘Funds of the Charity’ section on the balance sheet.

n. SoFA-related accounts notes

The notes to the accounts must include: 

1. Government grants: The amount and nature of any amount included 

in the SoFA if it is a “material item” or if an activity-based presentation of 

income and expenditure is adopted or required by the SORP. The SORP 

definition here is “assistance by government in the form of a transfer of 

resources … in return for past or future compliance with specified conditions 

relating to the operating activities of the [church] … [including] government 

agencies and similar bodies whether local, national or international”. Whilst 

this could require disclosure of, e.g., DCMS Listed Places of Worship grants, 

it is assumed not to include tax claims under HMRC’s Gift Aid Scheme 

and GASDS, nor HM Treasury’s 85% mandatory relief from local authority 

Business Rates on charity premises (not to mention SDLT).

2. Trustee-benefits:  Any remuneration or other benefit accruing directly 

or indirectly out of the church’s funds to a trustee or a close family/business 

connection details for: 

• each trustee (to include his/her “close connections”, as defined in the 

SORP’s glossary), 

• the nature of the benefit:  

o for an employment contract, as specified by the SORP, the amounts of 

(i) remuneration paid, (ii) pension contributions and (iii) other benefits, 

e.g., termination of contract, private health cover, use of a vehicle; 

o or for other kinds of contract, e.g., for services and/or goods of any 

kind, the contract’s nature and amount of benefit,

• and the legal authority for the remuneration or benefit. 
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If there were no trustee-benefits, this fact must be stated. 

If a trustee receives remuneration or other benefits from their employment 

with the charity in addition to their trusteeship, the note may distinguish 

between remuneration and benefits received as a trustee, if any, from that 

received for other services or other employment with the charity.

3. Trustee-expenses: Total of trustees’ personal expenses, how many 

trustees were reimbursed (or had such expenses paid for them by the church) 

and what type of expenses were paid. If none, this must be stated. 

4. Key management personnel benefits: Total “employee benefits” (see 

below) of all “key management personnel” – if any are remunerated, which 

is unlikely to apply to most churches. (The SORP means (i) the trustees and 

(ii) any staff given “significant authority or responsibility in the day-to-day 

running of the charity” as a delegated trustee-power. Employment contracts 

and job-descriptions may therefore need careful scrutiny to guard against 

including any such delegation if it was not intended, as such staff would 

become “Related Parties” of the charity – see below.)

5. Staff  costs (emoluments): If the church is reporting on the purpose-

related activity basis that the SORP requires for larger charities, the notes 

must disclose total staff costs analysed between (i) wages and salaries, (ii) 

social security costs, (iii) employer’s contribution to any defined contribution 

pension schemes, (iv) the operating costs of any defined benefit pension 

schemes (excluding “pension finance costs”); and (v) other forms of 

employee benefits, and also give details of redundancy or termination 

payments.  Note that this includes staff whose employment contracts are 

with a Related Party, such as (i) where one charity is under the direction or 

(sole or shared) control of another, or (ii) a subsidiary/associated undertaking 

of the church.

6. Staff numbers: For all churches, the average number of employees must 

be shown (their full-time equivalent is an optional disclosure). If, for any of 

them, “employee benefits” (this is understood to mean taxable emoluments 

and thus excludes any pension contributions by the church) exceed £60,000, 

the number in each £10,000 band above £60,000 must also be shown. 

7. Other related party transactions: Details of any other transactions with 

the church’s “related parties” i.e., other than the above disclosed benefits to 

the church’s trustees and their close connections (see above), are all required 

here by the SORP. (This category includes land donors and subsidiary/

associated trading companies (including any corporate Joint Ventures), as 

well as any other charity under the direction or control of the church or its 
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trustees.) This disclosure may be unlikely to apply to most of the smaller 

churches, but see the SORP’s glossary if in doubt. The disclosure for each 

Related Party or category* thereof is:

• a description of the relationship with the church (including the other 

party’s interest in the transaction or type* of transaction being disclosed);

• a description of the transaction(s);

• the amounts involved;

• any debts due from or to them as at the year-end; 

• any provisions for doubtful debts;

• any debts due from them that have been written off in the year;

• the terms and conditions, including any security and the nature of the 

consideration to be provided in settlement;

• details of any guarantees given or received; and

• any other elements of the transactions needed to understand the 

accounts.

(NOTE* The SORP says this information can be given “in total for similar 

transactions and type of related party except where disclosure of an 

individual transaction or connected transactions is necessary for an 

understanding of the impact of the transactions on the accounts of the 

charity or is required by law”. The relative materiality of any such transactions 

must be a judgement call for trustees, with their auditors or examiners being 

unlikely to second-guess them in normal circumstances.)

8. Independent examination/audit costs, analysed between fees payable 

for: statutory audit or independent examination; assurance services 

other than that; tax advisory services; and other financial services, e.g. 

consultancy, financial advice or accountancy services. 

9. Ex gratia payments or surrenders made without any legal obligation or 

charitable intention, but only in response to a compelling moral obligation. 

These need special external authorization, which must also be disclosed 

here (stating the nature and date of the authority). This would not include any 

reasonable staff redundancy payments over and above legal requirements.

10. Material changes in reserves committed to continuing use of 

functional fixed assets: Unless the movement for the year is explained in 

the reserves section of the trustees’ report, it could be helpful to the reader 

(although not required by the SORP) to explain here the extent to which 

unrestricted funds representing the carrying value of functional fixed assets 

for the church’s own use (e.g., in equipment, buildings, etc.) significantly 

affect the availability of the church’s free reserves, in readily realisable form, 

for current activities. The note could usefully show:
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This Year Last Year

Unrestricted funds at end of year per the SoFA

Amount invested in functional fixed assets at year end

Balance of “free” reserves for current activities

11. Other information: Any further information pertaining to the SoFA, where 

this is considered helpful to the reader for the sake of a better understanding 

of the church’s activities, its funding sources and the year’s expenditure. 

7. Balance sheet

a.  Balance sheet format

The balance sheet must analyse the assets and liabilities by type and 

between short- and long-term, and must distinguish the various types of fund 

for which the church is publicly accountable under the Charities Act. The 

format specified by the SORP can either be in one continuous vertical format 

supported by an accounts note detailing the key figures for each fund-type’s 

constituent assets and liabilities, or else columnar to show the analysis of 

assets and liabilities between fund-types as well.    

Any major individual fund needing to be highlighted should be shown 

separately, as should any designated funds, either on the face of the balance 

sheet or else in the accounts notes. Where the church does not have a 

category or type of fund shown in the balance sheet table, it will be excluded.

The following table shows the columnar approach favoured by some 

charities.
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL ACTIVITIES
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Fixed Assets

Intangible assets (if any)

Tangible assets for the church’s own use

Heritage assets (if any)

Investment assets

Total fixed assets  A

Current assets

Stocks of unused materials

Debtors & prepayments

Fixed assets to sell for activities

Cash at bank and in hand

Total Current assets  B

Current liabilities

Creditors (due to be paid within one year) C

Net Current assets & liabilities  D = B-C

Total assets & current liabilities (net) 
 E = A- D

Longer-term liabilities

Creditors (due to be paid beyond one year)

Provisions for liabilities and charges

Total longer-term liabilities  F

Net assets/liabilities  G=E-F

Church funds

Endowment capital

Restricted income funds

Designated funds

Unrestricted funds

Total church funds  =G
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b. Comparative figures 

The accounts must show for each figure in the balance sheet the figure for 

the previous year – adjusted, if need be, to put it on the same basis as this 

year. However, if this results in too many columns then the fund-accounting 

comparative figures can be shown in an accounts note instead. The easiest 

way to do that is to copy into the accounts notes last year’s balance sheet 

minus its comparative figures, after making any adjustments needed for the 

figures to be comparable with this year.

c. Intangible fixed assets

Normally covers goodwill and intellectual property rights, so it will not 

generally be applicable to churches.

d. Tangible fixed assets for the church’s own use

This heading might include:

• Church buildings and their contents

• Church halls and their contents

• Ministers’ or curates’ house

• Office equipment

• Staff motor vehicles (including those on hire-purchase as well as loan-

assisted purchase)

• Any other long-lasting assets donated to the church for its own use. 

These are to be included as an incoming resource in the SoFA at their 

deemed historical cost (which under FRS102 is their “fair value” on the 

open market as at the date of gift) and, if above the church’s capitalization 

policy* threshold, added to fixed assets and depreciated accordingly like 

any of the above assets (except freehold land, of course).

(NOTE* Small-value additions/improvements to fixed assets may be treated 

as expenses if below the Accounting Policy threshold-amount for capitalising 

them – e.g., £1,000 per item or set of items if normally used as a single 

working unit (e.g., central heating system radiators; a set of networked 

computers).

Tangible fixed assets must be carried in the balance sheet at either historical 

cost or fair value on the open market as at the year-end. For assets that 

depreciate in use over time, such as a building (but not the land if the 

tenure is freehold) or fixtures, fitting and equipment, the anticipated lifetime 

depreciation after allowing for its current disposal value must be annualised 

for charging as an expense in the SoFA – unless both the annual and 
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cumulative provisions would be immaterial, thus justifying a non-depreciation 

policy. In any case, an annual review for any identifiable impairment of each 

asset’s service potential must be made and any significant reduction of the 

asset’s value in use must be written off in the SoFA as an expense.

If a policy of revaluing such assets is adopted, it must be “fair value” as 

at each year-end and applied to an entire class of fixed assets – e.g., all 

residential properties held for church use. “Class” can be narrowly defined 

according to each church’s operations. Where there is a revaluation policy, 

formal valuations on a regular basis (say, every five years) are required. For 

such valuations, the accounts notes must disclose 

• the name and qualifications of the valuer

• whether he/she is a member of staff or a trustee or independent of the 

church 

• the basis of valuation 

• the historical cost (where available) 

• the date of the previous full valuation 

• and, if not updated in the period under review: a statement by the 

trustees that they are not aware of any material changes since the last 

valuation. 

(See the SoFA section for revaluation gains/losses.)

Tangible fixed assets must be analysed in the accounts notes into categories 

that should include as a minimum:

• Freehold land and (separately) the depreciable buildings thereon (see 

FRS102-17.8)

• Leasehold land and buildings

• Plant and machinery including motor vehicles

• Fixtures, fittings and equipment

• Payments on account and assets in course of construction

The notes should summarise all material changes in value and reconcile the 

opening and closing balances in a schedule similar to the following:
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ANALYSIS OF MOVEMENT OF FIXED ASSETS
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Carrying value (cost or fair value): 

Gross value brought forward

Additions at cost

Eliminated on asset-disposals

Revaluation movements

Transfers between asset-classes

Gross value carried forward  

Depreciation to date:

Provision brought forward

Eliminated on asset-disposals

Transfers between asset-classes

Impairment charge or write-back

Depreciation/Amortisation charge 

Provision carried forward

Net carrying (ie, book) value:

Total brought forward

Total carried forward

Except where prohibited by legislation (e.g., consecrated ecclesiastical 

property excluded by the Charities Act 2011), all fixed assets held for the 

church’s own use must be accounted for as required by FRS102 – i.e., 

carried in the balance sheet at either historical cost or current “fair value”, 

less any depreciation/impairment provision charged in the accounts as 

expenditure. 

This includes historic churches and artefacts regardless of whether 

“inalienable” (i.e., where trust law requires an asset to be retained in 

perpetuity, or where an asset cannot be disposed of without external 

consent). In the absence of reliable historical costs for long-held assets, often 

originally gifted to the church, prior to FRS102 many churches used either:

 i.  an assumed cost derived from an “insured rebuild value” either on a “new 

for old” basis or discounted for the length of time held, but disregarding 

the land value; or
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 ii.  a pragmatic substitute (usually “insured rebuild value” but for some 

properties a derivation from the latest available known District Valuer’s 

assessment) for the annually adjustable “current value” permitted under 

the old UK accounting standards.  

FRS102 permits a “first-time adopter” to account for property and other fixed 

assets held for the church’s own use at a “deemed” historical cost, measured 

at either 

• the asset’s “fair value” in the open market as at the “transition date” (i.e., 

the start of the prior year) – e.g.: 

o 1 April 2014 if moving from SORP 2005 to SORP(FRS102) for the year 

to 31 March 2016 or 

o 1 April 2015 if moving from SORP(FRSSE) to SORP(FRS102) for the 

year to 31 March 2017) 

• or else at the asset’s existing valuation (gross) as at that transition date. 

This eliminates what would otherwise become an onerous annual exercise in 

FRS102 compliance for churches with long-held property assets held for their 

own use, as the old substitutes at (i) and (ii) above would be equally non-

compliant under FRS102. 

FRS102 requires the accounting policy for depreciation to ignore any freehold 

land, as it is normally a non-depreciating asset, so the gross carrying values 

of all capitalised freehold functional properties must be split between the 

two accounting components of (i) freehold land and (ii) the buildings thereon, 

for depreciation purposes. This applies to newly acquired as well as existing 

properties. However, the SORP also says “Where an asset comprises two or 

more major components which have substantially different useful economic 

lives, each component must, unless impractical or involving undue cost or 

effort, be depreciated separately over its useful economic life”.  

e. Heritage assets

Heritage assets are “tangible assets with historical, artistic, scientific, 

technological, geophysical or environmental qualities that are held and 

maintained principally for their contribution to knowledge and culture”. 

Usually, the church holds any historic buildings, art, monuments, etc. in 

connection with its mission, so these assets are tangible fixed assets, not 

heritage assets. The topic therefore merits only a brief mention here, and 

readers are referred to the SORP’s Module 18 for further details of the 

required accounting treatment and disclosures if the assets are held as 

heritage assets.
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f. Investment assets

Fixed Asset investments covers those assets (investment securities, freehold/

leasehold property and investment cash or cash equivalents with a maturity 

date of more than one year) where the intention is to hold long term (i.e. as 

fixed assets) to produce a continuing benefit for the church in the form of 

income or capital appreciation or both. If an “investment” asset is held with 

the intention to realise the asset without re-investment of the proceeds, it 

should not be included here but classified as a “Current Asset investment”.

All investment assets must be included in the balance sheet at their fair value 

on the open market or the trustees’ best estimate of that value, subject to the 

following:

• Most tradeable investments will have a readily available market value, for 

which FRS102 requires the quoted bid price to be used (i.e., not the mid-

market price).

• Investment in unlisted companies should be valued on the basis of the 

underlying net assets, on earnings, or on dividend record as appropriate. 

However, where the cost of obtaining such a valuation outweighs the 

benefits, the historical cost may be used.

• The trustees may use any reasonable approach to establish the current 

fair value in the case of freehold and leasehold property at least every five 

years. In intervening years, they must obtain advice as to whether there 

has been any material movement in the value and if there has, the asset 

must be revalued.

• Investment assets are not to be depreciated. 

Investments may include ‘social investments’, i.e.  programme-related 

investments held to further the charitable purposes of the church in the first 

place rather than for the best commercial return.  Although programme-related 

investments can generate a financial return, its achievement is incidental to 

furthering the charitable purposes of the investing church. Programme-related 

investments must be disclosed either as a separate line on the face of the 

balance sheet or identified as a separate class of investment in the notes to 

the accounts, depending on the materiality of the holding.

In the accounts notes, the following must be disclosed:

• Where values are other than readily available market values, the name 

and qualifications of the valuer and whether he/she is a member of staff, 

trustee or external to the church; and the basis of valuation.

• All changes in values and reconciliation between opening and closing 

balances as follows:
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Fair value (see above) brought forward at  start of year

Add: Additions at cost

(Less: Proceeds* from disposals) 

Add/(Less): Net gain/(loss) on disposals and  year-end  
revaluation (per SoFA)

Fair value (see above) carried forward at year-end

(NOTE* An alternative presentation to distinguish between realised and 

unrealised investment gains/losses under the old accounting regime (prior 

to SORP 2015) shows instead the brought forward carrying value of 

investment disposals on this line, in which case the line below must present 

only the net gain or loss arising on revaluation of investments held as at 

the year-end. FRS102’s requirement to include “fair value” gains/losses in 

the year’s net income/expenditure makes that alternative presentation less 

informative for the reader – hence the above preference.)

• The total year-end value of investments must be analysed between 

distinctive classes: 

o  property,

o securities quoted on a recognized Stock Exchange, or valued by 

reference thereto (CIFs), 

o    investments in group undertakings (distinguishing loans and equity if 

material),

o    unquoted investment securities (other than the above),

o    investment cash, 

o    social investments (unless separately shown in the balance sheet), 

o    other investment assets. 

g. Current assets

Current assets (other than current asset investments – see above) must be 

carried in the balance sheet at the lower of their cost* and their year-end “fair 

value”. (NOTE* Under FRS102, for gifted assets the historical cost is their fair 

value at the time of gift.)

Debtors should normally be analysed in the notes between: 

• trade debtors; 

• amounts due from subsidiary or associated undertakings; 

• other debtors; 

• prepayments and accrued income. 
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They should be further analysed to show amounts due within one year and 

amounts due after more than one year. If the latter is material it should be 

shown in the balance sheet separately, with any that comprise charitable 

loans being distinguished as “social investments”. 

Current asset investments, including fixed asset investments held for sale 

without re-investment, and cash or cash equivalent investments with a 

maturity date of less than one year, must be valued and disclosed in the 

notes on the same basis as for fixed asset investments as above.

h. Current liabilities and long-term creditors

They should normally be included at their settlement value – discounted to 

present value if it is materially different where settlement is more than a year 

ahead. The discount rate to be used must reflect the “time value of money” 

relevant to the church’s circumstances (i.e., cost of borrowing or investment 

interest foregone if more appropriate).

Current and longer-term liabilities must each be further analysed in the notes 

between:

• loans/overdrafts; 

• trade creditors; 

• amounts due to subsidiaries/associates; 

• other creditors; 

• accruals and deferred income. 

i.  Provisions for liabilities and charges

Where provision is to be made for a legal or constructive obligation to make 

payments, that provision should be included here. The provision should be 

the best estimate, as at the balance sheet date, of the expenditure necessary 

to settle the obligation. If the payment will not be within a year from the 

balance sheet date, the provision must be discounted to “present value” as 

described above – unless the difference would be immaterial. 

Where there is no such accruable obligation (eg, the church has agreed to 

use its unrestricted funds to support some future missionary project but this 

has not yet become a firm commitment), this can only be recognised by 

designating some of the church’s free reserves for that project and explaining 

this in the reserves section of the trustees’ annual report.

j. Defined benefit pension scheme

If there is a defined benefit pension scheme, except where the church’s 

own share of a Group Scheme’s assets and liabilities cannot be reliably 
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ascertained, the funds section of the balance sheet must include a “pensions 

reserve” (positive or negative, as the case may be), with the same amount 

identified as an asset or liability and shown on a separate line (row) 

immediately below “net assets/liabilities”, and a final row below that to show 

“net assets/liabilities after pension reserve asset/liability” or similar wording. 

As the vast majority of churches will not have any such pension scheme, it 

is not included in the balance sheet template above. For further details, also 

about the extensive accounts notes disclosures entailed, readers are referred 

to Section 28 of FRS102, to which the SORP itself cross-refers

k. Other balance sheet notes

Other balance sheet matters to be dealt with in the notes to the accounts 

include:

i.  Guarantees: Any guarantees given, detailing the conditions under which 

an actual liability might arise.

ii.  Contingent assets: Where it is “probable” that the church has an asset as 

at the year-end but the economic benefit from it remains contingent (not yet 

probable) or cannot be quantified reliably enough, under FRS102 it cannot 

be accrued as an actual asset. It must instead be described in the accounts 

notes, together with the nature of the contingency that is outside the church’s 

control and the uncertainties surrounding it, and also the estimated financial 

effect on the church or an explanation of why it is impractical to make such 

an estimate. 

SORP(FRS102) suggests this treatment for a legacy if it “may be subject 

to challenge” or is “residuary” and “cannot be measured reliably”. Whilst 

quantifying the impact of a possible challenge from disappointed family 

members could be problematical, however, for a house bequeathed subject 

to a life tenancy, it seems clear that the ready availability of a reliable disposal 

value on the property market would require the church’s capital interest in the 

property as “remainder man” to be recognized accordingly as an intended 

expendable financial endowment. The asset would thus be actual and not 

contingent until “the death of the life tenant” perhaps many years later.

iii.  Contingent liabilities: where the liability is not yet “probable”, it cannot 

be accrued but must instead be disclosed in the accounts notes, including 

the nature of the contingency, the uncertainties surrounding it and an 

estimate of the amount or else an explanation of why it is impractical to make 

such an estimate. The sort of contingency that might apply for a church 

would include:
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• Where the church has made a funding commitment that will be a legal 

or constructive “obligation” only when something happens externally 

that is currently uncertain and is not within the church’s control, such as 

the grantee having to match the funding award from other sources or to 

obtain a potentially contentious planning consent. 

• Any other potential liability not included above, but which the church 

thinks could be payable at some time in the future and where the 

contingency is not so remote that it can safely be disregarded for annual 

accounting and reporting purposes.

• Commitments to pay future rentals (up to the next break clause) for 

premises leased by the church for its use.

• Loan/grant pledges: If property, equipment or stocks of any kind are 

pledged to a third party as security for the repayment of a loan or a grant 

(i.e., mortgaged), the notes must disclose particulars of such assets and 

their carrying value.

8.  Accounting policies and other  
accounts notes
The accounts notes described above in the SoFA and balance sheet sections 

are effectively part of the SoFA and the balance sheet that they support and 

amplify. To emphasise and clarify this point, all the pages of the statements 

and notes should be sequentially numbered, and at the foot of the SoFA and 

the balance sheet should be a declaration: “The notes on pages … to … form 

part of this Financial Statement”. 

The use of notes can make the actual content and layout of the statements 

simpler and more easily read and understood, in that the SoFA and balance 

sheet can give the big picture, whilst the detail is dealt with in the notes.

In addition to the notes referring to the SoFA and the balance sheet, dealt 

with above, the SORP requires notes to be made about a number of other 

items. The other principle matters to be dealt with are:

a.  Accounting framework and policies

This is normally the very first of the accounts notes. It must declare that, as a 

charity, the church is a Public Benefit Entity (PBE) within the meaning of FRS102 

and that the accounts show a true and fair view and have been prepared:

• under the Charities Act 2011 and any other applicable legislation (e.g. 

denominational regulations - for C of E PCCs, this would be the Church 
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Accounting Regulations 2006), or else (for the individual accounts of 

charitable companies) the Companies Act 2006; and

• in accordance with the applicable accounting standard (FRS102) and the 

Charities SORP based thereon – i.e., SORP(FRS102), for financial years 

starting after 2015. 

For any material items in the accounts, this note must describe the specific 

accounting policies “relevant to an understanding of the accounts” and the 

measurement bases used. It must also give “the judgements [other than 

measurement] … made in … applying [those] policies that have the most 

significant effect on [those items], the key assumptions concerning the future, 

and other key sources of estimation uncertainty … that have a significant risk 

of causing a material adjustment [in next year’s accounts], and in respect of 

those [items] details of their nature and their carrying amount as at the [year-

end]”. 

For most churches where solvency is not an issue and activities are not 

directly impacted by market volatility, it will normally suffice to recite the 

treatment required by the SORP for the most significant of the accounts 

figures.

FRS102 prescribes the historical cost convention, with an alternative of 

“fair value” accounting, whereas the Charities SORP requires all investment 

assets to be carried at fair value except where this is impracticable, so there 

is now no need to explain this accounting convention at all. 

However, when it comes to the “going concern assumption” on which 

FRS102 is built, the SORP requires a declaration either that there are no 

material uncertainties about the church’s ability to continue as a going 

concern for the foreseeable future, i.e., at least the next twelve months 

(from the date of approval of the accounts – not from the year-end), or else 

a “balanced, proportionate and clear” disclosure of those uncertainties and 

a brief explanation of the factors resolving those doubts and justifying the 

“going concern” basis of accounting. Where that basis cannot be used, this 

must be disclosed, together with the basis used instead and the reason for it.

Any material departure from what the SORP and/or FRS102 requires as an 

accounting treatment or disclosure must be explained here, detailing the 

item, the non-compliance and the reason for it – and, for a SORP departure, 

quantifying its effect on the accounts. This is likely to be a rarity for most 

churches.
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b. Fund accounting policy and disclosures

There should be brief descriptions of the different types of funds held by 

the church, disclosing the fund’s name, purpose and the movements in 

that fund during the year. The policy and reasons for any transfers between 

funds should be detailed, as should the policy creating Designated Funds. In 

particular, the SORP requires the accounts notes to disclose:

• a summary of assets and liabilities by fund type, if the balance sheet is 

not columnar;

• details of the purposes and trust law restrictions imposed on each 

material individual fund;

• details of the year’s movements on material individual funds, reconciling 

the opening and closing fund balance (small funds with similar purposes 

may be aggregated);

• details of the reasons for any material transfers between different classes 

of funds;

• where endowment capital has been converted into income, details of the 

amount(s) converted and the legal power for its conversion;

• where a permanent financial endowment is invested on a “total return” 

basis, as permitted by charity law, details of the year’s movements in the 

value of the “unapplied total return”; and

• details of the planned use of any material designated funds and their 

purpose.

9. Summary financial information and 
statements
Some churches may produce summary information covering the whole of 

their affairs or just one aspect. This topic is now outside the scope of the 

Charities SORP as it is not covered by FRS102, on which the 2015 and 2016 

versions of the SORP have been based.

10. Cash flow statement
The SORP exempts the “smaller” charity (up to £500,000 gross income 

for the financial year) from FRS102’s requirement for a cash flow summary 

in standard format to be included in the accounts as a “primary accounting 

statement”. Since it is unlikely that many churches will be troubled by this 

requirement, it is not dealt with here, but for the “larger churches” full details 

including a template can be found in the SORP’s Module 14.
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11. Accounts approval and signing
The accounts must be properly authorised for issue by the trustees (i.e. the 

church’s managing or governing body). The trustees are jointly responsible 

at law for preparing and issuing the annual accounts. At an appropriate time 

prior to the annual meeting, the trustees should meet, consider and approve 

the accounts for presentation to the annual meeting of church members 

according to their usual procedures. A copy of the draft should therefore go 

to each trustee well beforehand to allow adequate time for this.

At that meeting of trustees, the accounts should be approved along with the 

Trustees’ Annual Report (see the separate chapter of the handbook for this) 

by means of an appropriately minuted resolution, and at least one member 

of the trustee-body must be authorised to sign them on behalf of the whole 

body. The date on which they were approved together with the signature 

should be added to the balance sheet. This can be effected by adding at 

the foot of the balance sheet: “Approved by…… (the name of the church’s 

governing body) on……. (date) and signed on its behalf by ……. (signature) 

……. (full name/position of person signing).

Any statutory audit or independent examination report on the accounts must 

be attached to them for distribution, for regulatory filing and whenever made 

available to the public, along with the Trustees’ Annual Report where required 

by law or best practice.

12. Model accounts and templates
The Charity Commission has updated its website templates for financial 

reporting by charitable companies and non-company charities on the 

accruals basis of accounting for compliance with SORP(FRS102) and, 

where relevant, its related Regulations 2008. These templates also include a 

PDF for the trustees’ annual report, as well as a spreadsheet version of the 

accruals accounts PDF. Coded CC17, they can all be downloaded from the 

Government website at: www.charity-commission.gov.uk and printed out 

for completion by hand or else modified to allow for onscreen completion. 

For the smaller church, however, the accounts template’s 50 pages should 

be used in conjunction with the ACAT checklist, as many of them will not be 

relevant.

The SoFA and balance sheet templates in the sections above are taken 

from the new SORP. Churches are reminded that they should omit rows and 

columns where there is nothing to report.
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 Appendix – SoFA categories
The SORP stipulates that where the activity basis for reporting income and 

expenditure either applies or is voluntarily adopted, income must be analysed 

according to the activity that produced the resources and expenditure must 

be analysed by the nature of the activities undertaken in accordance with 

the purpose of those activities. There is a fundamental split here between 

the church’s mission-related activities, which are undertaken with a view to 

providing public benefit, and any fund-raising or investment management 

activities. Hence these two distinct expenditure sections of the SoFA.

a. Income section

1.  Voluntary income and endowments

• Gifts; donations; stewardship; collections; associated gift aid tax refunds; 

legacies.

• All grants providing core funding of a general nature from any source, but 

excluding grants for specific activities if “performance-related”, which 

would be income from charitable activities.

• Membership subscriptions and sponsorship which are in substance 

donations rather than payments for services.

• Gifts in kind and donated facilities/services.

The accounts notes should, of course, disclose and describe any material 

items.

2.  Charitable activities

• Statutory fees and charges for services (including fees for church 

weddings, funerals, etc. (which are all in the legal sense “trading 

activities” but with the church’s primary purpose).

• The sale of any goods and any other services ancillary to the charitable 

activities of the church (also known as primary purpose trading). This 

does not include other trading of a fund-raising nature primarily to provide 

financial support for the church’s primary purpose – see below.

• Contractual payments from government or public authorities and other 

parties which are to fund the provision of particular goods or services 

within the church’s primary purpose, e.g. the provision of care; provision 

of pensioner lunches.

3.  Other trading activities 

• Fundraising events such as jumble sales; fetes; concerts where a fee is 

charged to raise funds for the church (all such events are considered to 

be trading activities under HMRC tax rules).
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• Sponsorship and social lotteries that cannot be considered as pure 

donations.

• Shop income from selling donated* or bought-in goods (including book 

stall – other than to promote church mission itself, e.g., devotional 

literature).

• Providing any goods and services which are not primarily a church 

mission activity or ancillary to that purpose.

• Letting and licensing arrangements in respect of property held primarily 

for church purposes, but temporarily surplus to requirements (church hall 

rents).

The notes to the financial statements should, of course, disclose and/or 

describe any material items.

(NOTE* When donated goods become available to the church, as the SORP 

points out, if they are for free distribution to beneficiaries then their fair value 

must be accounted for as donation income. Here, where they are for resale, 

the SORP tries to square their accounting treatment with that of bought-in 

goods for resale, saying that they should be recognised at fair value in “other 

trading activities”. Unfortunately, this would result in double-counting the 

church’s gross income when later the proceeds of sale are also included 

there – unless the related stock value is first deducted from those sale 

proceeds instead of being added to the cost of sales within the expenditure 

section of the SoFA as must be done for bought-in goods sold from stock. 

The SORP could be better worded here, as it merely says: “on its sale the 

value of the stock is charged against ‘income from other trading activities’ 

– with “charged against” necessarily meaning “deducted from” (despite the 

wording in Module 4.44 to the contrary, seemingly an unnoticed carry-over 

from SORP 2005 – see below). The necessity for deduction arises from 

FRS102’s requirement for the fair value at the time of gift to be credited to 

income (subject to practicability*) and that amount added to stocks held for 

use or for sale, being the ‘deemed’ historical cost of those donated goods.

If it is impractical to measure the fair value of goods donated for resale or if 

the costs of such valuation outweigh the benefit to users of the accounts, 

and to the charity, of this information, which is normally the case for low-

value gifts, the SORP says those donated goods must then be recognised 

only when they are sold – i.e., the same pragmatic solution to the accounting 

problem as in earlier versions of the SORP, long before the globally based 

accounting theory of FRS102.) 
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4. Other income

To be used only when no other heading appears applicable. A gain on the 

disposal of a tangible fixed asset should be shown here.

b. Expenditure section

The SORP requires that charities reporting on an activity basis must disclose:

• details of the accounting policy adopted for any apportionment of direct 

costs between activities and any estimation technique(s) used to calculate 

that apportionment;

• the total amount of indirect (i.e., support costs, including governance) 

incurred;

• an analysis of material items or categories of expenditure included within 

those support costs, with the total amount of governance costs incurred 

separately identified; and

• the amount of support costs apportioned to each of the charity’s 

significant activities (if more than one) as disclosed in the SoFA or in the 

notes to the accounts.

1.  Fundraising 

This heading includes expenditure on:

• seeking donations, grants and legacies, including cost of stewardship 

envelopes and material;

• operating membership schemes and social lotteries;

• staging any kind of fundraising event, including the performance fees, 

license fees and other related costs;

• contracting with agents to raise funds (e.g., stewardship campaigns) on 

behalf of the church;

• selling donated and/or bought-in goods that are not mission-related;

• non-charitable trading activities of any kind;

• advertising, marketing and direct mail materials, including publicity, to the 

extent that the aim is not mission-related but rather to raise funds for the 

church and its purposes; and

• investment management costs, including investment advice.

Notes should further analyse and describe any material items within the 

above.

2.   Charitable activities expenditure

This covers all the expenditure by the church incurred in meeting its normal 

Christian objectives (i.e., church mission, including pastoral outreach locally 

and perhaps further afield) and may be the only material item of expenditure 
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in the SoFA on the activity basis. The notes to the financial statements, 

together with any sub-analysis of this item in the SoFA, should tie in with any 

narrative review of the church’s public benefit activities as described in the 

trustees’ report. The notes need to analyse and amplify this item to provide a 

financial understanding of the nature of the church’s work and the resources 

expended on it. 

Most churches will want to include a note concerning the church’s donations 

(grants) to mission and related activities, however apart from the SORP’s 

requirement to separate grants from other direct costs as analysed in the 

accounts note, disclosure of details is not required: 

• if grant making activities are not material;

• of the recipient’s name if a grant is to an individual;

• of any recipient institution if the amount for the year is not material in 

relation to total grants to institutions;

• if disclosure of a particular institutional grant would be seriously 

prejudicial to either the church or the recipient, the total number of such 

grants, their total value and their purpose, must be disclosed; explaining 

that an exemption applies to the details on the ground that disclosure 

would be seriously prejudicial;

• where grants to institutions are made out of a trust fund whilst the trust’s 

founder or spouse or civil partner is still alive; in which case no details 

need be given but the notes must explain that a statutory exemption 

applies to the disclosure of those grants.
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1.  How does VAT affect churches
Churches receive income from a variety of sources, the majority of which is 

generally not liable to VAT.

• Donations.

• Most fundraising events.

• The supply of welfare services and spiritual welfare services.

• The supply of goods associated with such events or services. 

• Most property rental income.

Most churches will not therefore have to worry about VAT or be registered.

Churches can claim relief from VAT on some goods and services they buy, 

regardless of whether they are registered for VAT (see section 6 of this 

chapter). 

VAT on the maintenance of listed buildings can be covered by a grant (see 

Appendix 2) again regardless of whether the church is registered or not.

2.  The crucial test
If church income from the provision of taxable goods and services (i.e. all 

that income that falls within 4.1, 4.2 and 4.3 below) does not exceed the VAT 

threshold (usually changed in each Budget), there is no VAT liability and no 

need to register for VAT. The rest of this chapter may not therefore apply to 

your church, and will not apply to most churches, except that you should 

be aware of reliefs, which can be obtained from VAT on expenditure (see 6 

below).

3.  Registration considerations
If income from taxable goods and services (i.e. income which falls within 

categories 4.1, 4.2 and 4.3 below) exceeds the VAT threshold, the church 

must register and account for VAT. It will need to apply to HM Revenue & 

Customs (HMRC) for on-line VAT registration, and will need to keep proper 

VAT accounts and complete quarterly returns.

The impact on church finances must be considered; unhappy results can 

arise, which can be even worse if the church fails to register when it should. 

It is thus important to carefully consider whether the church should be 

registered and to review the position regularly, at the end of each month 

at least. If there is a clear expectation that taxable income will exceed 
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the threshold in the next 30 days, registration in advance of reaching the 

threshold must also be considered. If it appears that the church should 

register, it is important to seek advice from professionals and/or from HMRC. 

It may be possible to apply for exemption from registration if all or most of 

the taxable supplies are zero rated supplies, such that the VAT you would 

claim exceeds the VAT payable on supplies. The relevant form VAT 1 needs 

to be completed to apply for this exemption. Another exemption from 

registration may apply on application to HMRC where the charity can prove 

that exceeding the threshold (on the test relating to the last 12 months’ 

turnover) was not going to occur in the following 12 months; but this requires 

proof that the figures for the year in which the threshold was breached were 

abnormal and would not recur.

It may also be possible to avoid registering the church itself by forming a 

subsidiary company to carry on the activities that are subject to VAT. This may 

mean that no registration is required at all or that only the subsidiary needs to 

register. See Appendix 1 for further comment about subsidiary companies.

In other cases, it is possible for a separate organisation to run the event or 

activity and give the proceeds to the church. The VAT liability will then be 

the responsibility of the separate organisation. The profits from the event will 

be paid as a donation and will be outside the scope of VAT. The separate 

organisation then also takes commercial and third party risks.

The question then arises as to whether a church can and should register 

voluntarily for VAT (even if its taxable supplies do not exceed the compulsory 

threshold) so that the tax suffered on expenditure can be recovered. If the 

church has some taxable income, it is possible to register voluntarily but in 

many cases churches would not benefit from doing so. Registering for VAT, 

if possible, might allow the church to reclaim some of the VAT paid on its 

purchases.  This is of most benefit where, either, the taxable supplies of the 

church are largely zero rated (such as sales of books and magazines) or tax is 

chargeable but to businesses that can reclaim it.

Subject to that last point, the VAT to be added and paid over to HMRC on 

income is commonly more than can be recovered on purchases. The church 

would thus be worse off by registering and will have the additional effort of 

operating accounting records to record VAT. 

Claiming VAT on appropriate expenses will need to be understood and is 

complicated!  Essentially VAT on expenses related to the earning of taxable 

income (in the VAT sense) can be recovered while VAT on other expenses 

cannot.
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There is a de minimis provision, which allows small amounts of VAT related 

to exempt income to be recovered and this might be relevant to the church 

(but this does not cover costs related to non-business activity). HMRC have 

issued a Notice dealing with Charities (Notice 701/1), which is fairly full but 

covers many points which are beyond normal church matters.  VAT recovery 

is also covered in detail in Notice 706. 

4.  VAT categories
Church income can generally be placed into five categories for VAT purposes; 

upon registration it will become necessary to allocate the income to the 

correct category. They are:

1. Standard Rated (20%): e.g. Admission to events (other than fundraising 

events, see below) and places, sales of merchandise and catering.

2. Reduced Rate (5%): e.g. Power supplies for dwellings and certain other 

charities.

3. Zero Rated (0%): e.g. Books and publications (see below), children’s 

clothes, sales of donated goods.

4. Exempt: e.g. Fundraising events (but see below).

5. Outside the scope of VAT and therefore not taxable: e.g. Donations (see 

below) such as gift aid receipts and collections, and certain statutory 

charges arising in CofE churches.

Income from property can be either “standard rated” or “exempt”. For 

example, car parking and ‘self-storage’ is standard rated, whereas residential 

accommodation is exempt but the landlord sometimes has an option 

to charge VAT on non-residential property. (See 5e below for hiring out 

buildings.)

5.  Typical church income sources
Listed below are some of the typical sources of church income and their VAT 

category:

a.  Sale of publications

The sale of books, booklets, brochures, journals, newsletters and other 

similar printed material is zero rated.  Over the years, the VAT Tribunal has 

clarified the limits within which zero rating applies resulting in tightly drawn 

criteria.  For example, a leaflet, more than 25% of which can be completed 

by the reader is not zero rated.  In areas of doubt, advice should be taken 
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before applying the zero rate. Examples of printed material which are not zero 

rated are stationery, business cards, diaries, calendars and postcards.

b.  Sale of advertising

Churches sometimes sell advertising space in their own brochures, 

programmes, annual reports, magazines, etc. The sale of such is a business 

activity and is normally standard-rated (it can be zero-rated if supplied to 

another charity). 

c.  Fundraising events

If a charged event is clearly organised and promoted primarily to raise money 

for the benefit of the church it becomes a “fundraising event” and is exempt 

from VAT, subject to the qualifications indicated below.  

This only applies where the church is a charity, or the wholly owned 

subsidiary of a charity runs the event.  Social events, which incidentally make 

a profit do not qualify. People attending must be aware of its primary fund-

raising purpose. The relief does not apply to frequent operations, such as a 

bar or shop which are trading activities. 

Eligible events are restricted to 15 events of the same kind in the financial 

year at any one location (see below). So if the church held 16 concerts in its 

church hall, none of them would be exempt. They would all become taxable. 

Location means held in exactly same place, so a church holding a series 

of concerts in various places could hold as many as it liked in the year 

provided there were not more than 15 in exactly the same place. The rules 

are designed to be generous so that a charity can run a series of events in 

the same area without them all being in the same location. So, for example, 

a weekly car boot sale held in adjacent fields might well qualify, and where a 

retreat has both a hall and a lecture-theatre, these are seen as two separate 

locations for the purpose of the fundraising event limits.

If an event (e.g. a concert or a play) takes place on successive days, each 

performance is regarded as a separate event, whereas an event, designed to 

be spread over several days (e.g. a golf tournament) is one event.

The exception to the 15 event rule is concerned with small-scale events. The 

15 event per year rule does not apply to events where the gross takings from 

all similar events (e.g. a coffee morning) are no more than £1,000 per week. 

However, such activities if carried out more than once or twice per week 

regularly are likely to become “trading activities” so would not qualify for 

exemption on that basis. 
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If takings from a series of small-scale events exceed £1,000 in a week, all 

such events in that week will not qualify, and each will count towards the 15 

per year total allowance.

HMRC Notice CWL4 gives much more detail of the rules for fundraising 

events and should be consulted if there is any doubt. The leaflet points 

out that charities no longer have to deal separately with the old Customs 

sections of HMRC to determine if fund raising events qualify for exemption. 

If events held by a charity meet the VAT criteria, they automatically qualify for 

the Inland Revenue (Direct Tax) concessions for exemption from income and 

corporation tax, provided the profits are applied charitably. 

d.  Donations

A donation is a payment where the donor is promised nothing in return for 

the monies given. Donations will generally include collections/offertory, etc. 

These are normally outside the scope of VAT and therefore not taxable.

However, if the donor is entitled to a benefit in return for the money, it is 

not a donation and the church may have to account for VAT on the amount 

received. Common benefits that might affect the tax-free status are free 

admission to premises or events, promotion in publications or at an event, 

free literature etc.

Where a benefit is received, the VAT value of the benefit is usually taken to 

be the full amount paid. If a person pays £500 p.a. to receive four magazines 

and free entrance to premises, the benefit value for VAT purposes is 

£500, even if the benefits received are clearly not worth the amount paid. 

Apportioning the payment between the benefit and the donation cannot be 

done retrospectively.

It is, however, possible to state in advance a fixed fee for the benefits (which 

must be commercially realistic) and an expected donation to be given in 

addition to this. 

However, this has a commercial risk in that the donation must be purely 

voluntary and the benefits must be available even if the person does not 

choose to pay the additional sum. 

In the above example, the structure could be changed so that £100 was 

received for the benefits and a suggested donation of £400 was requested, 

the VAT liability would be on the £100. 
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e.  Hiring out buildings (the church, the hall etc.)

This activity, though classed as a business activity, is normally exempt, so no 

VAT liability will arise. However, since this is a complex subject, section 5.11 

of Customs and Excise public notice 701/1 should be consulted for more 

detail re hiring out buildings.

f.  Provision of welfare services

Welfare services provided by charities are normally seen as business (unless 

provided for free, or, where provided to ‘distressed’ persons, at least 15% 

below cost) but are exempt from VAT. In brief, welfare services cover the 

following supplies:

• care, treatment or instruction designed to promote physical or mental 

welfare of elderly, sick, distressed or disabled people;

• care and protection of children or young people; and

• spiritual welfare provided by a religious institution as part of a course of 

instruction or a retreat, not being designed primarily to provide recreation 

or a holiday.

g.  Admission of public to a display (such as manuscripts, devotional 

artefacts, or silverware), 

may fall under the exemption for admission to a museum or gallery, but this 

only applies subject to strict rules relating to the governance of the charity.  

Professional advice should be taken.

6.  Relief available on expenditure
Although churches normally suffer VAT on purchases of most supplies and 

services, there are areas where relief may be obtained, so that the supply 

is either zero rated, charged at reduced rate, or is subject to some other 

VAT relief. Churches can claim these reliefs regardless of whether they are 

registered for VAT. Treasurers must be aware of these reliefs and ensure that 

they take advantage of them as follows:

a.  Advertising and goods for collecting donations

Advertising of any kind, including for staff, is zero rated for charities.  This 

only covers advertisements placed on third party media, and thus does not 

include the charity’s own website or social media.  It includes charges for the 

design of the advertisement as well as its placement. 
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Pre-printed envelopes, collecting boxes, appeal letters and lapel stickers or 

badges given in acknowledgment of a donation are all free of VAT to a charity. 

If a printer produces a package of printed material, some of which is zero 

rated and some of which is standard rated, it may even be possible for the 

entire supply to be zero rated under the “package” test.

Whilst the church does not need a charity number you will probably be asked 

to provide a declaration of eligibility (HMRC Notice 701/58 and see Appendix 

3 for a draft declaration). Be sure to check that the supplier is aware that the 

charge should be free of VAT; many will add tax to the invoice automatically. 

For relief re construction work contact HMRC (see 6f below)

Excluded from such relief are person to person fundraising and telesales, 

exhibition stands, and commemorative items. 

b.  Aids for the disabled

If the church buys certain goods and services, which it makes available to 

disabled people for their personal or domestic use, the supply should be 

zero rated (see HMRC Notice 701/7 for details). If the church purchases 

sound recording or reproduction equipment (including repairs, parts and 

accessories) which has been designed or adapted specially for recording 

or reproducing speech for the blind or severely visually impaired this too is 

zero rated. The relief does not apply to reproduction equipment whose use is 

available to anyone other than the blind or visually impaired, but it does cover 

radios and recorders purchased for free loan to the blind.

c.  Books

Invoices for books will not normally have VAT added so there should be no 

reason to check. However, if the church is having something printed it is 

worth checking whether it qualifies as a book; if so it should be tax free.

d.  Fuel and power

Fuel and power supplied to a church can sometimes be supplied at the 

reduced rate (5%) of VAT. Check your invoices and contact your supplier for 

further details (HMRC Notice 701/19). If the church qualifies for the reduced 

rate it will also be excluded from the climate change levy. 

e.  Construction

Construction of a new building intended to be used solely for non-business 

purposes or as a village hall or similar can be zero rated subject to certain 

criteria being met. Relief could also apply to construction of ramps, widening 
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of doorways or passages, or providing, extending or adapting a washroom or 

lavatory for disabled use (see Notice 701/7 Reliefs for disabled people).

Construction reliefs are complex, so churches should contact an adviser 

before commencing a project.  HMRC’s own advice service is unlikely to be 

sufficiently reliable given the complexity and sums involved, though with the 

help of an adviser appropriate determinations can be obtained in writing from 

HMRC.

f.  Maintenance of listed buildings

This is not strictly a VAT relief, but rather a grant provided by the Government 

under the Listed Places of Worship Grant Scheme to compensate for VAT 

(see Appendix 2). It was extended with effect from 1st October 2012 to allow 

grants in respect of the VAT suffered as a result of the abolition of the relief 

from VAT on alterations to listed buildings.

It must be stressed that only a finite budget for grants is available and the 

scheme is being regularly reviewed every 6 months. Where the scheme 

experiences an excess of applications over its available resource, it 

sometimes pro-rates the claim. There is no appeal against this, and a church 

should not therefore rely in its planning on this funding being fully available 

(though at the time of writing reports of pro-rating appear to be rare). As 

expensive works commonly require long term planning, you should be aware 

that the withdrawal or attenuation of this scheme is a possibility since the 

claims can only be made in arrears and take no account of when the charity 

originally planned to spend the money.

7. Reclaiming VAT on expenditure
If the charity is VAT registered, whether on its own or as a group registration 

with a trading subsidiary, it will need to consider the approach to reclaiming 

VAT on costs.  This is an area where experience shows that errors commonly 

arise and large potential liabilities are sometimes built up.

A church will always have purely religious activity which does not amount to a 

business and therefore gives rise to a loss of recoverable VAT.  Whereas this 

is obvious as regards costs which can only be used for devotional purposes, 

it also applies to a proportion of general costs of the church.  These need to 

be apportioned under an acceptable method.

To determine this method, the first thing to do is review HMRC’s ‘banding’ 

system for cathedrals and churches, which is intended to provide a rough 

but practical estimate of business use as distinct from non-business use.  
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The policy can be reviewed at this link: https://www.gov.uk/hmrc-internal-

manuals/vat-input-tax/vit45700

However, this is not compulsory, and you can negotiate a different method 

with HMRC.  This will then become a ‘special method’ and is binding as 

between the charity and HMRC.  Nor is the banding system compulsory 

for HMRC, but it is unlikely they would reject its application in any normal 

circumstance.

The result of this calculation is only ‘stage 1’.  If the charity makes exempt 

supplies, it must further apportion the residue of the above calculation 

(the ‘business VAT’) to reflect the business activities that are exempt.  This 

therefore eats further into the sums that can be claimed.

For example, say a church qualifies for Band C (45%), but the church is also 

used for exempt child care (in return for charges which are exempt), and this 

income is 50% of its earned income, the result is that the recovery level is 

22.5% (50% of 45%).

However, where the charity believes that measuring the use of costs for 

exempt activity cannot accurately be determined by reference to the 

monetary value of the supplies made, the charity can propose an alternative 

method to HMRC to be incorporated into a prescribed special method. 

The above is a simplified overview of the position, and a treasurer or adviser 

to a church should study Notice 706: https://www.gov.uk/government/

publications/vat-notice-706-partial-exemption

Where large capital projects (anything exceeding £250k net of VAT spend) are 

involved, the reclaim position becomes more complicated still and involves 

the Capital Goods Adjustment Scheme.  You are strongly advised to seek 

professional advice for any capital project to understand how all of the 

interlocking rules apply to your project.
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Appendices 

 Appendix 1 – Subsidiary Companies

Generally, subsidiary companies are used to legitimately avoid a Corporate 

Tax liability on trading activities. Direct Tax law allows charities to carry out 

trading activities without a tax liability only if they are part of their primary 

purpose or else fall within the statutory concession for other trading (see 

below). For example, provision of residential accommodation by a care 

charity in return for a payment, or holding an art exhibition by a charitable art 

gallery or museum in return for admission charges is allowable as ‘primary 

purpose trading’. 

Charities may also use trading activities as a way of raising money, for which 

a statutory concession exempts from tax a trading turnover of up to 25% 

of total gross income or (if less) £5,000 turnover but not more than £50,000 

turnover in any case. For example, a charity whose primary purpose is 

providing education may sell Christmas cards and gifts through a catalogue. 

This is ‘non-primary purpose trading’. Direct Tax law taxes charities who 

carry out ‘non-primary purpose’ trading in their own right, on a substantial 

basis – i.e., above the statutory concession. This recognises the general 

expectation that contributions to a charity will be used for its primary purpose 

or invested prudently, rather than being risked in trading activities simply to 

make money.

So, to carry out significant ‘non-primary purpose trading’ tax-efficiently above 

those limits, subsidiary trading companies have to be established. These are 

commercial companies controlled by one or more charities but which are 

not themselves charities. Cathedrals and large churches often do this and it 

may simplify accounting as well as satisfying normal tax law. Most VAT reliefs 

available to charities are not available to subsidiary trading companies. 

The subsidiary pays its taxable profits (provided there are sufficient 

distributable reserves) to the church charity under Gift Aid, so no Corporation 

Tax liability actually arises thereon. 

Setting up trading subsidiaries requires careful planning to comply with 

charity law and direct tax law and advice should be taken.
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 Appendix 2 – Listed Places Of Worship Grant Scheme

The Listed Places of Worship Grant Scheme (LPWG) is operated by The 

Department for Culture, Media & Sport (DCMS); full details can be found at  

http://www.lpwscheme.org.uk/ 

From 1st June 2013, the scheme is managed by Topmark (LPOW), 160 

Bath Street, Glasgow, G2 4TB, telephone: 0845 013 6601, email: dcms@

topmarkadjusters.co.uk.

Claims can be submitted as follows: 

i. By email to Topmark at the above address, along with electronic copies or 

scans of any supporting invoices or documentation.

ii. By email to Topmark at the above address and invoices or other 

supporting documentation sent by post.

iii. By post along with other documentation to the above address.

Applications can be downloaded from the LPWGS website or obtained by 

calling Topmark on the number above.  Claims will not be accepted where 

the supporting invoices are more than one year old. 

The scheme applies to repair or maintenance of the fabric of a listed building 

that is used principally as a place of public worship of all religions throughout 

the UK, and is used at least six times per year. 

Following the abolition of VAT relief on improvements / alterations to listed 

buildings from 1st October 2012, the annual budget has been increased up to 

£42 million, and now makes grants towards the VAT incurred in carrying out 

alterations (in addition to repair and maintenance) to listed buildings mainly 

used for public worship. 

Alterations or works to the fabric of a listed place of worship may require 

relevant consent from the appropriate authorities. In the case of an 

ecclesiastical building to which section 60 of the Planning (Listed Buildings 

and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 or Section 54 of the Planning (Listed 

Buildings and Conservation Areas) (Scotland) Act 1997 applies, relevant 

consent means consent for the approved alterations by a competent body 

with the authority to approve alterations to such buildings.

Written evidence of this approval is not required to be submitted within each 

claim. However, applicants will be asked to declare that where consent 

for alteration works is required, they have obtained this approval before 

undertaking the works. 
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Applicants may be asked to provide written evidence of approval, or to 

demonstrate why consent was not required, if their claim is selected for a 

post-claim audit.

If applicants are unsure whether consent for alteration works is required, 

they should contact their denominational advisory body (in the case of 

denominations operating the Ecclesiastical Exemption) or their Local 

Authority.

If the works covered have been the subject of a previous grant award for 

the costs of building works, including VAT, from: English Heritage, Historic 

Scotland, CADW, Northern Ireland Environment Agency, Heritage Lottery 

Fund, or other Lottery distributor or grant giving body, places of worship 

will be required to pay the relevant proportion of the grant received from 

the Listed Places of Worship Grant Scheme back to the statutory agencies 

(above), unless the original grant was already adjusted to take account of the 

Listed Places of Worship Grant Scheme.

As a signatory, you will be asked to certify that the place of worship will make 

the repayments due. Details of these applications will be provided to the 

relevant grant awarding agencies.

From 1st October 2012, the scheme:

• applies only to repairs, maintenance and alteration works to listed 

buildings that are used principally as places of worship;

• applies to listed places of worship throughout the UK which are included 

on the public registers of listed buildings kept for England, Scotland, 

Wales and Northern Ireland;

• applies to listed places of worship of all religions and faith groups;

• applies to listed places of worship owned by or vested in a number of 

specified organisations which look after redundant churches;

• only accepts applications made in arrears;

• only accepts claims where invoices are submitted within 12 months of the 

invoice date; and

• only accepts applications where the value of the works eligible for the 

scheme is over £1000 (excluding VAT) 

However, the Scheme was further amended with effect from 1st October 

2013 as follows:

• applications to make use of the scheme will be accepted from religious 

or charitable groups whose principal or primary purpose is to conserve, 

repair and maintain redundant listed places of worship which are not in 

private ownership.
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• In any twelve-month period, each place of worship may submit one claim 

using eligible invoices with a value of less than £1000, but more than 

£500 (excluding the VAT paid). 

• This is in addition to an unlimited number of claims where the value of 

eligible work carried out (excluding VAT) is £1000 or greater.

• Scanned or photocopied invoices are now accepted to support claims.

• The scheme will process payment runs each week to deliver a smoother 

flow of payments to applicants. This will result in most applicants 

receiving their grant more quickly.

Claimants are expected to ensure that all other eligible VAT reliefs are sought 

before seeking a grant under the scheme. This includes ensuring that where, 

and to the extent that, VAT can be claimed as input tax through the church’s 

VAT returns, this VAT is not claimed through the grant scheme.  You should 

be prepared to disclose any agreement you have with HMRC concerning 

input tax recovery.

The items eligible under the scheme have varied from time to time with 

revisions. The list of eligible expenditure is now:

Building:

• Roofs

• Vestries

• Chancels

• Towers

• Crypts

• Undercrofts

• Parapet

• Purlin

• Re-plastering

• Re-pointing

• Stone works

• Timber (where related to the fabric)

• Rainwater goods

• Guttering

• Windows

• Window re-glazing

• Window grilles / bars

• Transepts

• Pinnacles

• Rhones

• Gables
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• Drainage (rainwater, foul water, French drain, trench arch, or soak-away - 

all within the boundary walls)

• Floors and floor coverings (only where permanent and within the fabric of 

the building. This includes timber, stone, ceramic, marble or solid floor.)

• Weathercocks

• Spires

• Lightning conductors

• Flagpoles (only if on place of worship)

• Crosses (only if on place of worship) 

Internal

• Doors

• Altars and communion tables (if built into, or permanently incorporated 

into the fabric)

• Monuments (if built into, or permanently incorporated into the fabric)

• Fonts (if built into, or permanently incorporated into the fabric)

• Wall paintings / Murals (travel costs of conservators also eligible) 

• Kitchens (this includes installation or repair of fitted kitchens and related 

electrical and plumbing work). Fixed items such as water boilers and 

wall-mounted water heaters are eligible. Cupboards are only eligible 

where they are specially supplied as part of a fitted kitchen and are either 

fixed to the fabric of the building or form an integrated kitchen facility 

(excluding any electrical appliances/equipment). Removable elements 

such as white goods, dishwashers, cookers, kettles and urns are 

ineligible.

• Permanently routed heating systems 

• Turret clocks (from 1 Oct 2013) 

• Bells and bell ropes (from 1 Oct 2013) 

• Bell frames 

• Pipe organs (from 1 Oct 2013)

General

• Damp treatment

• Pest control – provided the pest has, or is likely to cause damage to the 

fabric of the building. If the invoice does not specify the type of pest, this 

must be included within the application.

• Works to repair damage to the fabric of the building caused by bats and 

mitigation measures to reduce or prevent damage caused by bats is also 

eligible. 

• Repair of damage caused to the fabric as a result of pests or metal thefts 

(including replacement of stolen metals) are eligible where these expenses 

are not met by an insurance provider.
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• Asbestos removal

• Locks and hinges

• Stairs

• Pews (kneelers, cushions and hassocks are only eligible where 

permanently attached to the pew)

• Cleaning (if as a result of eligible repair, maintenance or alteration works)

• Preliminaries (for eligible works only)

• Professional fees directly relating to eligible works (from 1 Oct 2013) 

• Electrics

• Plumbing (including toilets, hand basins, sinks and kitchen facilities as 

outlined above)

• Decoration such as carvings or stonework (where part of the fabric of the 

building)

• Investigative works/surveys (only where leads to eligible repairs and is 

carried out by a VAT registered contractor)

• Security and forensic systems to prevent crime (burglar alarms, roof 

alarms, CCTV equipment, forensic marking, physical marking, special 

fixing, security lighting)

• Handrails (although some may be eligible for zero-rating if installed as 

part of other eligible works to the building for disabled people).

• Hearing loops

Ineligible expenditure includes:

Internal:

• Audio-visual systems or components of systems

• Free-standing or fixed/detachable altars

• Free-standing or fixed/detachable fonts

• Free-standing or fixed/detachable monuments

• Detachable floor coverings – carpets, removable tiles

• Decorative soft furnishings

• Items which constitute a moveable piece of furniture 

• Areas of the building used for accommodation

External:

• Pavings

• Tree removal (lopping where necessary to preserve the fabric of the 

building is eligible)

• Ancillary buildings and structures such as boundary walls, gravestones 

and graveyard monuments, retaining walls, gates, gardens, lychgates or 

car parks

• Railings (internal railings that are part of the fabric of the building are 

eligible)
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General

• Storage of items

• Materials 

• General cleaning

• Local authority charges

• Maintenance plans

• Notice boards

• Shelving

• Cupboards (cupboards are only eligible where they are specially-supplied 

as part of a fitted kitchen or form an integrated kitchen facility which will 

remain permanently in position)

• Removable kitchen elements such as white goods, kettles and urns

• Showers and baths, except where installed to support facilities for 

homeless/social & welfare purposes

• Carpets, removable tiles, decorative soft furnishings

• Fixtures, fittings or decoration for commercial tenants

 Appendix 3 – Memorials Grant Scheme

Expenditure on memorials also qualifies for a grant similar to the LPWG 

Scheme detailed above, and the full amount of VAT is claimable. 

The scheme:

• applies only to charities and faith groups excepted from registering as 

charities;

• applies only to the construction, renovation and maintenance of memorials;

• applies solely to structures;

• applies only to memorials bearing an inscription or plaque 

commemorating a person, animal or event;

• applies only to memorials that have at least 30 hours public access per 

week, even if there is an entrance charge involved, or a key needs to be 

obtained from a key holder;

• applies to memorials both in the UK and overseas on which UK VAT has 

been incurred;

• covers work on or after 16 March 2005;

• only accepts applications made in arrears.

There are no minimum or maximum claims, and eligible items now include: 

• Stone cross

• Monolith

• Plaques

• Statues
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• Stained glass windows 

• Minor landscaping (alongside memorial or in the course of the memorial 

construction)

• Removal of graffiti

• Cleaning

• Construction of memorial

• Decoration / repainting

• Professional fees (from 1st October 2013) when incurred on the 

construction, repair and maintenance of public memorial structures.

Ineligible items include:

• Bench / seat

• Book

• Portrait

• Concert / event

• Tree

• Garden

• Memorial buildings (e.g. Library, village hall)

• Memorials located in non-public areas of civic buildings

• Materials alone (no work completed by VAT contractor) 

• Grave markers / headstones / mausolea 

• Memorials without public access

There is now a maximum annual budget of £500,000 which will be applied 

quarterly, so it is likely that (depending upon the number and amount of 

claims made in each quarter) the full amount of VAT will not be recovered.

Full details of the scheme can be obtained from, Memorials Grant Scheme,  

http://www.memorialgrant.org.uk

From 1st June 2013 the scheme is managed by Topmark (MGS), 160 

Bath Street, Glasgow, G2 4TB, telephone: 0845 013 6601, email: dcms@

topmarkadjusters.co.uk.

Claims can be submitted as follows:

i. By email to Topmark at the above address, along with electronic copies or 

scans of any supporting invoices or documentation.

ii. By email to Topmark at the above address and invoices or other 

supporting documentation sent by post.

iii. By post along with other documentation to the above address.

Application forms can be downloaded from the Memorials Grant Scheme 

website, or obtained by calling Topmark on the number above.
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 Appendix 4 – Declaration of Eligibility

(Advertising)

I  ....................................................................................................... (Full name)  

 .............................................................................................................  (Status)

of ..................................................................................  (Name of organisation)

 .................................................................................. (Address of organisation)

declare that the above named charity is buying from 

 ...........................................................................................................................

(Supplier name and address) the following supplies 

................................................................................... (Details of supplies) 

which I believe are of a kind eligible for relief under items 8 to 8C of  

group 15 schedule 8 VATA 1994.

 Appendix 5 – Hire of Premises

For charities that have to pay for the hire of premises for their charitable 

events, if the venue-owner is VAT-registered it is important to check that 

the invoice does not add VAT to the hire-charge, as distinct from catering 

and other services where the standard rate applies even to charities. This is 

based on the following professional advice:

• Room hire is always VAT exempt unless the landlord has opted to tax – 

but even then a charity using the premises for its non-business charitable 

purposes, or as a ‘village hall’ (known collectively as a ‘relevant charitable 

purpose’) is still entitled to claim this VAT exemption for itself (though 

the landlord may preclude this as a term of the lease or licence, and the 

exemption does not apply to any use of the room as an ‘office’).

• This INCLUDES the room hire element of any “Daily Delegate Rate” (DDR) 

charged by the venue (typically hotels) – except that HMRC requires the 

use of a “fair and reasonable” apportionment basis between the exempt 

room-hire charge and the VAT-able hospitality services. 
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In order to avoid any protracted arguments about the matter from your 

supplier, you should provide them with a signed Exemption Claim when 

making the room-hire booking. The following form of words, although not 

itself an official HMRC form, will suffice for this purpose:

 USE OF BUILDING BY A CHARITY - Request for exemption from VAT

PART 1 - to be completed by the charity

I ..........................................................................................................................

 .................................................................................... of...................................

 .............................................................................................  (Name of Charity)

Address:  ............................................................................................................

 ...........................................................................................................................

 ...........................................................................................................................

hereby request that the room-rent/hire charge/component within the invoice 

to be paid by us for our use of the premises at:

Address:  ............................................................................................................

 ...........................................................................................................................

 ...........................................................................................................................

be treated by the supplier as exempt from VAT as our use of the premises as 

a charity is solely for our relevant charitable purposes.

PART 2 - for use by the supplier

I have read the guidance in HMRC VAT Notice 742A, paragraph 3.5 and agree 

that the rent/hire charge described comes within the category indicated.

 .........................................................................................  (Signature and date)

This certificate should be retained by the supplier for production to his VAT 

officer.
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 Retrospective claims

The provision for overriding the supplier’s option to tax requires that the 

supplier be informed of the qualifying use either at the time of the supply 

or before it.  If you do not provide that information until after the supply has 

been made, the supplier is on strong ground to resist exempting the supply.  

However, if he charges VAT after the notification has been duly made by the 

charity this will be an error and should be challenged.

If your claim to a refund of erroneously charged VAT in respect of an invoice 

dated within the last four years is met by an objection from the supplier 

saying that they cannot make the claimed refund as you didn’t tell them at 

the time of hiring, this can be countered by pointing out that VAT legislation 

does make full provision for “error or omission” claims by means of an 

appropriate entry in a subsequent VAT Return and that as a charity you are 

legally obliged to seek recovery of the erroneously charged VAT and therefore 

you cannot properly agree to forego your claim to rectification within the 

statutory time limit. Hence your signed claim form for inclusion in the 

supplier’s VAT records, as supporting evidence for the period in which they 

refund the wrongly paid VAT to you.

The supplier cannot themselves obtain a refund from HMRC in respect of 

such an error dating more than four years back in time, and the church 

should consider therefore whether it is appropriate (or not) to seek any 

adjustments for periods pre-dating the last four years.
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It is important to note that the information given in this section of the handbook 

is only for guidance. It is advisable that in each case, where there is a specific 

employment query, the legal advice line attached to the church’s insurance policy 

(to which most churches and denominations have access) should be contacted. 

They should be able to give specific advice in each set of circumstances. Failure to 

consult could risk invalidating the relevant insurance policy should further assistance 

be required at a later stage.

New legislation is constantly emerging and while legislation is in its infancy, there will 

be developments and, no doubt, changes with time. This highlights the importance 

of contacting independent legal advisers or insurance companies especially as 

employment law changes and develops almost on a weekly basis. 

In addition to the need to abide by the law, we must always be aware of the 

Christian context of our relationships and their theological implications. There can be 

reverberations if one is seen to be acting in an ‘un-Christian’ manner, even if the law 

is on one’s side, and instances of a badly handled employment are picked up with 

great glee by the media. 

1.  Acknowledgement
The Association of Church Accountants and Treasurers is most grateful to 

UNW LLP, Citygate, St James Boulevard, Newcastle upon Tyne, NE1 4JE and 

Stone King, Solicitors Tel: 0191 2436000 for their assistance in drafting and/

or updating sections of this re-written chapter of the handbook. 

2. Who is an employee?
In the UK, there are different categories of people who work for the purposes 

of employment: Employees, Workers, Office holders, Self-employed persons.

The Employee (the most common term used) is a person who is governed by 

a contract of employment, sometimes known as a contract of service (but 

not to be confused with a contract for services). An employee is likely to be 

covered under all aspects of employment law. Here there is a form of master-

servant relationship between the employer and employee.

The Worker (a relatively new term) is the product of European legislation, as 

it has a wider meaning than employee. It can include, for example, agency 

workers (perhaps a secretary or a project worker from a ‘temping’ agency). 

Increasingly employment legislation is being drafted to include the wider 

definition of ‘worker’ rather than ‘employee’.
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The Office Holder is a person who’s been appointed to a position by a 

company or organisation but doesn’t have a contract or receive regular 

payment. This appears in the context of either a company director or a 

stipendiary/paid religious leader (priest or pastor). This area of law can be 

more complex and different rights may depend upon the constitution of the 

denomination or, in the case of the Church of England, upon ecclesiastical 

law, or the Roman Catholic Church, canon law.

In this area independent legal advice should be sought, either from a 

specialist lawyer, from the church’s insurance company, or from the central 

church organisation.

3. Employed or self-employed?
It is not always easy to define whether or not a person is employed or self-

employed, but the distinction is important not only for employment law but also for 

tax and accounting purposes. It should be noted however, that HMRC sometimes 

applies the tests rather differently compared with the Employment Tribunals; so 

both may arrive at different answers as to the status of the employee. 

An employee is someone who works under an employment contract.

All employees are workers, but an employee has extra employment rights 

and responsibilities that don’t apply to workers who aren’t employees.

These rights include all of the rights workers have and:

• statutory sick pay,

• statutory maternity, paternity, adoption and shared parental leave and pay 

(workers only get pay, not leave),

• minimum notice periods if their employment will be ending, e.g. if an 

employer is dismissing them,

• protection against unfair dismissal,

• the right to request flexible working,

• time off for emergencies,

• statutory redundancy pay.

Some of these rights require a minimum length of continuous employment 

before an employee qualifies for them. An employment contract may state 

how long this qualification period is.

Someone who works for a business is probably an employee if most of the 

following are true:

• they’re required to work regularly unless they’re on leave, e.g. holiday, 

sick leave or maternity leave,
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• they’re required to do a minimum number of hours and expect to be paid 

for time worked,

• a manager or supervisor is responsible for their workload, saying when a 

piece of work should be finished and how it should be done,

• they can’t send someone else to do their work,

• the business deducts tax and National Insurance contributions from their 

wages,

• they get paid holiday,

• they’re entitled to contractual or statutory sick pay, and maternity or 

paternity pay,

• they can join the business’s pension scheme,

• the business’s disciplinary and grievance procedures apply to them,

• they work at the business’s premises or at an address specified by the 

business,

• their contract sets out redundancy procedures,

• the business provides the materials, tools and equipment for their work,

• they only work for the business or if they do have another job, it’s 

completely different from their work for the business,

• their contract, statement of terms and conditions or offer letter (which can 

be described as an ‘employment contract’) uses terms like ‘employer’ and 

‘employee’.

Employment law doesn’t cover self-employed people in most cases because 

they are their own boss. However, if a person is self-employed:

• they still have protection for their health and safety and, in some cases, 

protection against discrimination,

• their rights and responsibilities are set out by the terms of the contract 

they have with their client.

Someone is probably self-employed and shouldn’t be paid through PAYE if 

most of the following are true:

• they’re in business for themselves, are responsible for the success or 

failure of their business and can make a loss or a profit,

• they can decide what work they do and when, where or how to do it,

• they can hire someone else to do the work,

• they’re responsible for fixing any unsatisfactory work in their own time,

• their employer agrees a fixed price for their work - it doesn’t depend on 

how long the job takes to finish,

• they use their own money to buy business assets, cover running costs, 

and provide tools and equipment for their work,

• they can work for more than one client.
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4. Discrimination
The Equality Act became law in October 2010. It replaced previous legislation 

(such as the Race Relations Act 1976 and the Disability Discrimination Act 

1995) and ensures consistency in what employers and employees need to do 

to make their workplaces a fair environment and comply with the law.

The Act identifies nine “protected characteristics” to deal with discrimination 

and inequality: 

i. Sex

ii. Pregnancy and maternity

iii. Status as a married person or civil partner

iv. Gender reassignment

v. Race

vi. Disability

vii. Sexual orientation

viii. Religion or belief

ix. Age

The law protects you against discrimination at work, including:

• dismissal

• employment terms and conditions

• pay and benefits

• promotion and transfer opportunities

• training

• recruitment

• redundancy

Some forms of discrimination are only allowed if they’re needed for the way 

the organisation works, e.g.:

• a Roman Catholic school restricting applications for admission of pupils 

to Catholics only,

• employing only women in a health centre for Muslim women.

You’re also protected from being treated unfairly because of:

• trade union membership or non-membership,

• being a part-time worker.
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a. The Equality Act 2010 - key changes

Positive action

The Act allows an employer to take positive action in respect of recruitment 

and promotion if it believes that job applicants or employees who share a 

particular protected characteristic:

• suffer a disadvantage connected to that characteristic;

• are under-represented in the organisation, or if their participation in an 

activity is disproportionately low;

• have specific needs connected to a protected characteristic.

Pre-employment health-related checks

Health issues should be treated with care, as it is generally unlawful for an 

employer to ask questions about a job applicant’s health, absences from 

work or disability before offering them employment. 

The Act limits the circumstances in which employers can ask health-related 

questions before they have offered an individual a job. Up until this point 

employers can only ask health-related questions to:

• decide whether any reasonable adjustments to the selection process 

are required for the applicant e.g. any necessary adjustments to the 

recruitment process;

• establish whether the applicant can take part in an assessment to 

determine their suitability for the job;

• decide whether an applicant can carry out a function that is essential 

(‘intrinsic’) to the job;

• monitor diversity among people making applications for jobs;

• take positive action to assist disabled people;

• assure itself that a candidate has the disability where the job genuinely 

requires the jobholder to have a disability.

Employers should keep any information on disability and health, obtained 

for the purpose of making reasonable adjustments during the recruitment 

process, separately from other information. A job-seeker cannot take a 

potential employer to an Employment Tribunal if they think it is acting 

unlawfully by asking questions that are prohibited, but they can complain to 

the Equality and Human Rights Commission.  

Once the employer has decided that a job applicant meets the requirements 

for work, the employer might make the applicant a job offer.

At this point, the employer is allowed to make the offer conditional upon the 

successful applicant meeting the employer’s health or other requirements. 
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The Act does not then prevent the employer asking questions relating to 

health or disability. The employer may, for example, need to ask questions 

to determine whether a successful applicant would be eligible for job-related 

benefits, or would need reasonable adjustments to enable them to do the job.

i. Discrimination

There are various types of discrimination and other unlawful conduct set out 

in the EqA 2010 that apply to most (and in some cases all) of the protected 

characteristics:

• Direct discrimination 

• Indirect discrimination 

• Harassment 

• Victimisation 

Direct discrimination

Direct discrimination occurs where “because of a protected characteristic, A 

treats B less favourably than A treats or would treat others.”

An employee claiming direct discrimination should show that they have 

been treated less favourably than a real or hypothetical comparator whose 

circumstances (other than the existence of the protected characteristic) 

are not materially different to their own. The exception to this is pregnancy 

or maternity discrimination where, because of European case law, formal 

comparators are not required.

The less favourable treatment must be because of a protected characteristic. 

This requires the tribunal to consider the reason why the claimant was treated 

less favourably: what was the employer’s conscious or subconscious reason 

for the treatment?

The discrimination need not be because of B’s (the victim’s) protected 

characteristic, except in marriage and civil partnership cases, where the 

discrimination must be “because B is married or a civil partner”. Therefore, 

less favourable treatment because of an employee’s association with 

someone who has a protected characteristic is covered. For example, a non-

disabled employee could bring a direct disability discrimination claim where 

they have been treated less favourably because they have a disabled child. 

An employee who is wrongly perceived to have a protected characteristic 

(other than marriage or civil partnership) will be protected against any less 

favourable treatment they receive for that reason. For example, an employee 

of Asian origin might have a direct religious discrimination claim where they 

have been treated less favourably because of the employer’s mistaken belief 

that they are Muslim 



Employment Issues

151

Indirect discrimination 

Indirect discrimination is concerned with acts, decisions or policies (broadly 

speaking) which are not intended to treat anyone less favourably, but which, 

in practice, have the effect of disadvantaging a group of people with a 

particular protected characteristic. Where such an action disadvantages an 

individual with that characteristic, it will amount to indirect discrimination 

unless it can be objectively justified.

A classic example is an employer requiring an employee to work full-

time. This requirement could disadvantage women as a group, since 

women in society as a whole bear a greater part of domestic and childcare 

responsibilities than men and are more likely to want (or need) to work part 

time. Unless the employer can objectively justify the need for a full-time 

worker to do the job, the requirement could be indirectly discriminatory 

against a woman with childcare responsibilities. 

Harassment

There are three definitions of harassment contained in section 26 of the EqA 2010:

• The general definition of harassment “related to” a protected 

characteristic, which applies to all protected characteristics (other than 

maternity and civil partnership, and pregnancy or maternity), harmonises 

the definitions found in the previous discrimination legislation (see General 

definition of harassment).

• Conduct of a sexual nature (previously found in the SDA 1975) (see 

Conduct of a sexual nature).

• Less favourable treatment because of an employee’s rejection of or 

submission to harassment of a sexual nature or harassment related to sex 

or gender reassignment (previously found in the SDA 1975) (see Rejection 

of or submission to harassment).

General definition of harassment: A harasses B if A engages in unwanted 

conduct related to a relevant protected characteristic which has the purpose 

or effect of either:

• Violating B’s dignity, or

• Creating an intimidating, hostile, degrading, humiliating or offensive 

environment for B.

In deciding whether conduct shall be regarded as having the required effect, 

the following must be taken into account:

• B’s perception.

• The other circumstances of the case.

• Whether it is reasonable for the conduct to have that effect.
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Victimisation

The Equality Act 2010’s victimisation provisions protect employees who do (or 

might do) protected acts such as bringing discrimination claims, complaining 

about harassment, or becoming involved in another employee’s discrimination 

complaint. Victimisation is usually alleged to have been committed by an 

employer that is already the subject of a discrimination complaint by a current 

or former employee, but this need not always be the case. 

For example, a prospective new employer can be liable for victimisation if 

it refuses to employ someone who has given evidence against a previous 

employer in a discrimination case.

Victimisation occurs where A subjects B to a detriment because either:

• B has done a protected act.

• A believes that B has done, or may do, a protected act.

ii. Extension of the Employment Tribunal powers

The Act extends the Employment Tribunals powers so that it will be possible 

for a tribunal to make recommendations that an organisation take steps to 

eliminate or reduce the effect of discrimination on any employees, not just the 

claimant.  This power will not apply to equal pay cases.

iii. Pay secrecy

The Act makes it unlawful for an employer to prevent or restrict its employees 

from having a discussion to establish if differences in pay exist that are 

related to protected characteristics.  The Act also makes terms of a contract 

of employment that require pay secrecy unenforceable because of these 

discussions.  An employer can require their employees to keep pay rates 

confidential from some people outside the workplace, for example a 

competitor organisation.

b. Discrimination law

The law deals with discrimination related to the following (including the nine 

“protected characteristics”):

i. Sex

ii. Pregnancy or maternity

iii. Status as a married person or civil partner

iv. Gender reassignment

v. Race

vi. Disability

vii. Sexual orientation
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viii. Religion or Belief

ix. Age

x. Part time workers/fixed-term workers

xi. Asserting a statutory right

i. Sex discrimination

There are five types of sex discrimination:

• Direct discrimination - whereby someone is treated less favourably than 

another person because of their sex.

• Indirect discrimination - whereby an employer has a rule or policy that 

applies to everyone but disadvantages employees of a particular sex.

• Discrimination by association.

• Victimisation - whereby someone is treated badly because they have 

made/supported a complaint or grievance under the legislation.

• Harassment - behaviour relating to an employee’s sex that the employee 

finds offensive.

ii.  Pregnancy or maternity

Less favourable treatment by an employer on the ground of a woman’s 

pregnancy or maternity leave is unlawful sex discrimination.  The dismissal of 

a woman because of pregnancy or because she is on maternity leave is an 

automatically unfair dismissal.

iii.  Status as a married person or civil partner

There is discrimination against a married person where they are treated less 

favourably than a single person and that treatment is a result of being married. 

This protection also extends to civil partners as a result of the Civil Partnerships 

Act 2004.  Discrimination against married persons can be direct or indirect.

iv.  Gender reassignment

The law provides protection for transsexual people.  It is unlawful to treat 

them less favourably. A transsexual person is someone who proposes to, 

starts, or has completed a process to change his or her gender.  

The Equality Act no longer requires a person to be under medical supervision 

to be protected (so a woman who chooses to permanently live as a man 

but does not undergo any medical procedures would be covered by this 

definition).  Transgender people, who are not transsexuals because they 

do not permanently live in the gender opposite to their birth sex, are not 

protected by the act.  

It is discrimination to treat transsexual people less favourably, for being 

absent from work because they propose to undergo, are undergoing, or 
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have undergone gender reassignment, than they would be treated if they 

were absent because they were ill or injured.  Medical procedures for gender 

reassignment, such as hormone treatment, should not be treated as a 

‘lifestyle’ choice by employers.

It is not unlawful to treat a person less favourably if the employee’s sex is a 

genuine occupational qualification for a particular job and the employer can 

establish that it is reasonable to do so. The key test is, would a member of 

the opposite sex be treated differently in the same circumstances? Or, are 

they currently being treated differently? Or, have members of the opposite 

gender been treated differently in the past? However, there are provisions for 

genuine occupational requirements so that discrimination against a particular 

sex may be allowed in certain circumstances, but independent advice should 

be sought before adopting this approach.

Harassment on grounds of gender reassignment is unlawful.  This is 

unwanted conduct on the grounds that the individual intends to undergo, is 

undergoing, or has undergone gender reassignment, which has the purpose 

or effect of violating the individual’s dignity or creating an intimidating, hostile, 

degrading, humiliating or offensive environment for the individual.

v. Race discrimination

It is unlawful to discriminate against someone on racial grounds, those being 

“colour, race, nationality or ethnic or national origins”. The principles of direct 

and indirect discrimination, victimisation and harassment work largely on the 

same basis as those tests for sex discrimination, so the above tests will also 

be applied in respect of race discrimination. 

vi. Disability discrimination

Discrimination on the grounds of disability is unlawful and there are similar 

liabilities/issues/risks as per sex and race discrimination (as above), but 

there is a wider ambit involved. The Equality Act makes it easier for a person 

to show that they are disabled and protected from disability discrimination. 

A person is disabled if they have a physical or mental impairment which 

has a substantial and long-term adverse effect on their ability to carry out 

normal day-to-day activities, e.g. using a telephone, reading a book or using 

public transport.  There remains a duty on employers to make reasonable 

adjustments for employees with disabilities.

The law prohibits several types of discriminatory behaviour: 

• Direct discrimination - whereby someone is treated less favourably than 

another person because of their disability.
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• It is discriminatory to treat a disabled person unfavourably because of 

something connected to their disability, e.g. a tendency to make spelling 

mistakes arising from dyslexia.  This type of discrimination is unlawful 

where the employer or other person acting for the employer knows, or 

could reasonably be expected to know, that a person has a disability. It is 

only justifiable if an employer can show that it is a proportionate means of 

achieving a legitimate aim.

• Indirect discrimination covers disabled people. An employee or job 

applicant could claim that a rule or requirement an employer has in place 

disadvantages people with the same disability. Unless any such rule or 

requirement is justifiable it would be unlawful. 

• It is unlawful, except in certain circumstances, for an employer to ask 

about a candidate’s health before offering them work.

• Disability-related discrimination – whereby an employer discriminates 

against an individual if, for a reason related to the individual’s disability, 

the employer treats the individual less favourably than the employer treats 

or would treat someone to whom that reason does not apply and the 

employer cannot show that the treatment is justified.

• Failure to comply with a duty to make reasonable adjustments. There 

is a duty on employers to make reasonable adjustments to premises or 

working practices to take account of the needs of a disabled employee or 

job applicant.  A failure to make reasonable adjustments is classed as a 

form of discrimination in itself.

• Victimisation - whereby someone is treated badly because they have 

made/supported a complaint or grievance under the law. 

• Harassment - behaviour relating to an employee’s disability that the 

employee finds offensive.

• Instructions or pressure to discriminate – It is unlawful for a person to instruct 

another to do any act which is unlawful.

• Aiding an unlawful act – It is unlawful to aid another in doing the unlawful act.

vii. Sexual orientation discrimination

Discrimination on the grounds of sexual orientation is unlawful. The principles 

of direct and indirect discrimination, victimisation and harassment work 

largely on the same basis as those tests for sex discrimination, so those 

same tests will also be applied in respect of sexual orientation discrimination. 

There are exemptions where there is a genuine occupational requirement to 

discriminate by reason of sexual orientation; this is specifically the case where 

“the employment is for the purposes of an organised religion”. Discrimination 

tests apply in the same way as religion or belief tests. Questions should be 

directed to a specialist employment/ecclesiastical lawyer.
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viii. Religion or belief discrimination

Discrimination on the grounds of religion or belief is unlawful and direct 

discrimination, indirect discrimination, discrimination by way of victimisation 

or harassment in the workplace by reason of any religion, religious belief or 

philosophical belief are prohibited.   

Religion or belief is defined as follows:

• ‘Religion’ means any religion.

• ‘Belief’ means any religious or philosophical belief.

• A reference to religion includes a reference to lack of religion.

• A reference to belief includes a reference to lack of belief.

There is some leeway for churches as there is partial exemption for them 

in terms of whether there is a genuine occupational requirement that the 

employee be Christian.  There is a defence for organisations that have an 

ethos based on a religion or belief where:

• being of a particular religion or belief is a genuine occupational 

requirement for the job;

• it is proportionate to apply that requirement in the particular 

circumstances; and

• either, the person to whom the requirement is applied does not meet it; or 

the employer is not satisfied (and in all the circumstances it is reasonable 

for it not to be satisfied) that the person does not meet it.

In ecclesiastical law circles, academic opinion suggests that a Christian 

church declining employment to a Muslim or Jewish cleaner by reason of their 

faith would be deemed to be unlawful discrimination, as there is no justifiable 

requirement for a cleaner being Christian. However, a verger with ceremonial 

duties would create a less clear case for a claim under this legislation. 

ix.  Age discrimination

Discrimination on the grounds of age is unlawful and direct discrimination, 

indirect discrimination, discrimination by way of victimisation or harassment 

in the workplace by reason of age are prohibited.  

In addition, legislation provides that an employer discriminates against an 

individual if it treats the individual less favourably than it treats other persons 

in the same circumstances, and does so because:

• the individual has not carried out an instruction to do an act which is 

unlawful by virtue of the Age Regulations, or

• the individual, having been given an instruction to do such an act, 

complains to the employer or to another about that instruction.
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Employers may currently still apply a normal or default retirement age of 65 

for both men and women, but retirement below that age must be justified on 

an objective basis. An employee can apply to work beyond retirement age; 

failure by the employer to consider that request and to follow the prescribed 

procedures starting between a year to six months before the normal 

retirement age means an automatic unfair dismissal. 

Protection extends to all employees and to those applying for work; 

employers must pay careful attention to the pre-employment process – more 

so than any other form of discrimination to date. Seek professional opinion as 

for all areas of employment law. 

x. Part-time workers / Fixed-term workers

The law forbids discrimination against a part-time employee as compared to 

a full-time employee, and ensures that part-timers’ legal rights are exactly the 

same. In other words, a part-time secretary should have the same rate of pay 

and perks as a full-time secretary in exactly the same position (unless there 

are some other justifiable grounds – for example the full-time employee has a 

longer period of continuous employment and has therefore accrued the extra 

rights over time). 

The most common query to come from this legislation is the calculation of 

holiday entitlement (minimum four weeks per year) calculated on a pro-rata 

basis. Particular care should be taken when calculating entitlement to public 

holidays, if applicable, as special rules may apply and advice should be 

sought in each case.

A fixed-term worker has the right not to be treated less favourably, on the 

grounds that he/she is a fixed-term worker, than a comparable employee, 

unless objectively justified. On the whole, a fixed-term employee’s contractual 

rights should be at least as favourable as a comparable permanent employee, 

otherwise the employer will need to be able to show that it has an objective 

reason for treating the fixed-term employee less favourably.

Some churches employ a verger or caretaker or organist and perhaps 

others. These people will almost always be employees, even if part time. 

It will therefore be necessary for a contract of employment to be provided, 

specifying the terms of the employment, rates of pay and any benefits in 

kind. They will also enjoy all the rights of employment legislation, with specific 

rights concerning discrimination (see above). 

xi. Asserting a statutory right

Established in common law, any employee who has asserted a statutory right 

or has made an allegation against an organisation by whistle-blowing may 
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also be protected against discrimination. Further advice should be sought in 

each individual case.

5.  Terms & conditions of employment
Employers must provide employees whose contracts last for one month or 

more with a written statement of terms and conditions of employment, within 

two months of their commencement of employment. 

The items in the first part of the written statement must all be included in one 

document, “the principal document”. These are:

• the names of the employer and employee,

• the date of commencement of employment,

• the date when continuous employment began,

• the scale or rate of remuneration or the method of calculation,

• the intervals at which remuneration is paid,

• terms relating to hours of work including any provisions relating to normal 

hours if any,

• holiday and accrued holiday pay including any entitlement to bank 

holidays and accrued holiday pay on termination of employment, in 

sufficient detail to enable precise calculation of the sums,

• job title or brief job description, and

• place of work or if there is none this must be indicated and the address of 

the employer included. 

If an employee has to work abroad for more than a month, their employer 

must state:

• how long they’ll be abroad,

• what currency they’ll be paid in,

• what additional pay or benefits they’ll get,

• terms relating to their return to the UK.

This information can be given to the employee in a separate document.

Additional information on matters such as sick pay or disciplinary and 

grievance procedures can be provided by other means including staff 

handbooks, a letter of engagement or on an intranet site. 

If an employee wins a case about another issue (e.g. unfair dismissal), the 

tribunal may award compensation if there’s been a problem with their written 

statement as well.  Compensation can be 2 or 4 week’s pay although there’s 

a limit on how much a tribunal will award for a week’s pay.



Employment Issues

159

6.  Termination of employment
Employees may terminate their contract by resigning or an employer may 

terminate the contract by dismissing an employee.

Employees should make it clear that they are formally resigning and it would 

be best to do this in writing giving the correct amount of notice. By law 

employees will need to give either one week’s notice or the amount stated in 

the contract whichever is the longer.

Employers normally give employees at least the notice stated in the contract 

of employment or the statutory minimum notice period, whichever is the 

longer. The statutory notice required is:

• one week if the employee has been employed between one month and 

two years;

• one week for each complete year of employment (up to a maximum of 12 

weeks), for example, for two year’s employment the notice period will be 

two weeks, for six years of employment the notice will be six weeks. 

Advice must be sought from your Legal Expenses Insurer, ACAS (Advisory, 

Conciliation & Arbitration Service) or from an employment specialist before 

terminating any contract of employment – even if you do not believe the 

employee to have any employment rights. If you have appropriate insurance, 

failure to take instruction from the insurers could leave you facing an unfair 

dismissal claim without their backing and invalidate any insurance cover you 

may have. 

There are a number of different claims an employee may have, be it unfair 

dismissal, wrongful dismissal or discrimination, and it would be inappropriate 

for ACAT to offer general guidance on the termination of employment.

In relation to this area of employment law, good disciplinary and grievance 

procedures are extremely important. 

The guidelines issued by ACAS are the most authoritative source used for 

such procedures, but these are purely guidelines and not set in stone so 

changes to procedure can be made in cases where it is appropriate. Always 

seek professional advice when using disciplinary or grievance procedures.

7. Time off & working hours
Note: the periods detailed in the various sections below were current when 

this section of the handbook was published; the current prevailing periods 

should always be checked.
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a. Annual leave

The Working Time Regulations 1998 (WTR 1998) entitle all workers to a 

minimum of 5.6 weeks’ paid annual leave per year (equivalent to 28 days 

for a full-time employee and a pro-rata amount for a part-time worker).  This 

includes statutory annual leave entitlements. However, many workers receive 

further holiday in addition to their statutory entitlements under their contract 

of employment. For example, while there is no obligation to also give workers 

holiday on bank holidays and public holidays, their contracts may entitle them 

to take these days as holiday in addition to their statutory holiday entitlements.

The WTR 1998 allow either the employer or the worker to give notice of the 

taking of annual leave:

The notice by a worker must be at least twice as many days as the period 

of annual leave that they are requesting. So a worker who wishes to take 

five days’ leave must give ten calendar days’ notice before the date on 

which leave is due to start. The employer may refuse the request by serving 

a counter-notice. The counter-notice from the employer must be given at 

least as many calendar days before the proposed leave commences as the 

number of days which the employer has refused.

The employer may also give notice ordering a worker to take annual leave 

on specified dates. Such notice must be at least twice as many days as the 

period of leave that the worker is being ordered to take.

These provisions may be varied by a written employment contract or other 

relevant agreement. In practice they are often varied by a contractual 

requirement that leave cannot be taken without the approval of the worker’s 

line manager.

b.  Maternity leave

The rules surrounding maternity leave are somewhat complex and cannot 

be comprehensively covered here. It is however important that the church 

is aware of the need to comply in this complex area, and you are strongly 

advised to seek further advice if there could be a problem.

To qualify for maternity leave, an individual must be an ‘employee’.  An 

employee does not need any continuous length or service in order to qualify 

for maternity leave.  Statutory Maternity Leave lasts for 52 weeks.  

Employees have the right to 26 weeks of ‘Ordinary Maternity Leave’ (OML) 

and 26 weeks ‘Additional Maternity Leave’ (AML), regardless of length of 

service. At the time of writing, the period for Statutory Maternity Pay (SMP) is 

39 weeks.
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An employee must take a minimum of two weeks’ compulsory leave 

immediately after the birth (four weeks if the individual is a factory worker).  

An employer will be committing a statutory offence if it allows an employee to 

work during compulsory maternity leave.

Employees have the right to return to the same job and the same terms and 

conditions on their return to work from OML, regardless of the size of the 

employer.

Employees have the right to return to the same job and the same terms and 

conditions on their return from AML, unless the employer can show that it is 

not reasonably practicable to take the employee back in their original job (e.g. 

because their job no longer exists).  In this instance, the employee must be 

offered alternative work with terms and conditions as if the employee had not 

been absent.

c.  Paternity leave

To qualify for paternity leave, a person must be an employee. An employee 

who is about to be a father, step-father or have parental responsibility may 

have a block of one or two weeks of paternity leave within 56 days of the 

birth of the child or, if prematurely born, within 56 days of the expected 

week of confinement. The employee must have worked for the organisation 

continuously for 26 weeks by the 15th week before the baby is due. Pay is 

at the same rate as maternity (be it statutory or a more generous scheme 

offered by the employer). 

As same-sex partnerships are recognised under the legislation it is important 

to note that paternity leave is not necessarily restricted to male employees 

(although predominantly this will be the case). 

d.  Adoption leave

Open to both male and female employees, the employee must have 26 

weeks’ continuous service and must be newly matched with a child for 

adoption by an approved adoption agency. The employee is entitled to 26 

weeks of ordinary leave and 26 weeks’ additional adoption leave, which are 

paid at the same rate as ordinary and additional maternity leave pay. 

e.  Parental leave

This is an entitlement to both male and female employees who have care of 

a child. They are entitled to 13 weeks leave (unpaid) to be taken at any time 

within the first 5 years of the child’s life (or 18 years if the child in question is 

disabled). 
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f.  Time off for the care of dependents

This is sometimes known as domestic crisis leave. This is unpaid and 

specifically does not specify how much time an employee can take off for 

the emergency care of dependents (e.g. children). The employee is entitled 

to a reasonable period of time in order to care for the dependent until the 

emergency can be resolved or averted, or alternative care can be provided.

A dependent is defined as husband, wife or partner, child or parent, or 

someone living with the individual as part of the family.  Others who rely 

solely on the individual for help in an emergency may also qualify.

An emergency is when someone who depends on the individual:

• is ill and needs help;

• is involved in an accident or is assaulted;

• needs the individual to arrange their longer term care;

• needs the individual to deal with an unexpected disruption or breakdown 

in care, such as a childminder or nurse failing to turn up;

• goes into labour.

Employees have no statutory right to be paid for dependency leave. The legal 

right only covers emergencies, not time required off in the future.

g.  Sick leave

Long-term sick leave and persistent but intermittent absenteeism (i.e. 

frequent odd days here and there) can often cause problems for employers. 

These can be managed appropriately, but since an employer has to be 

careful not to stray into potential disability discrimination issues, it is worth 

taking advice. 

As the law stands, Statutory Sick Pay (SSP) is paid after four continuous 

day’s sickness (including weekends, bank holidays and days not normally 

worked). SSP is payable from the fourth day of absence and lasts 28 weeks. 

After seven day’s sickness, the employer may ask for medical evidence of 

sickness to be provided. 

Once SSP has expired the employee may be entitled to some form of benefit 

from the Benefits Agency. A standard rate of SSP is paid provided average 

weekly earnings exceed the National Insurance lower earnings limit, but this 

can vary depending on other benefits the employee receives. 

Note, the periods, rates of SSP and threshold amount are subject to change 

from time to time and should always be checked by reference to the 

Employers guides published by HMRC.
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h.  48-hour week

Under the Working Time Regulations, no employee may work an average of 

more than 48 hours per week (calculated over a rolling period of 17 weeks), 

unless an appropriate opt-out agreement has been signed by the employee. 

An opt-out agreement can last indefinitely or for a fixed period. Even if an 

employee has agreed to opt out of the 48-hour limit, they cannot be required 

to work for excessively long hours if this creates a reasonably foreseeable 

risk to their own Health and Safety or the Health and Safety of others. If the 

employee does not want to work more than 48 hours per week the employer 

may not discriminate against them for not doing so.

An employer can refuse an employee’s request to opt out of the 48-hour 

limit but must be consistent in doing so to avoid potential discrimination or 

victimisation claims.  

An employee can cancel their opt-out by giving sufficient notice, in 

accordance with the opt-out agreement’s terms (notice requirement cannot 

exceed three months)

i.  Rest breaks

Further advice should be sought in each case on this point as the rules can 

vary depending on the nature of employment. As a general rule, workers over 

18 are usually entitled to 3 types of break - rest breaks at work, daily rest and 

weekly rest:

• Rest breaks at work; workers have the right to one uninterrupted 20 

minute rest break during their working day, if they work more than 6 hours 

a day. This could be a tea or lunch break. The break doesn’t have to be 

paid - it depends on their employment contract.

• Daily rest; workers have the right to 11 hour’s rest between working days, 

e.g. if they finish work at 8pm, they shouldn’t start work again until 7am 

the next day.

• Weekly rest; workers have the right to either, an uninterrupted 24 hours 

without any work each week, or an uninterrupted 48 hours without any 

work each fortnight.

A worker’s employment contract may say they’re entitled to more or different 

rights to breaks from work.

Special rules apply to young workers (those aged under 18 years) and advice 

must be sought on this. Special rules also apply to night workers.
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8.  ACAS code of practice – disciplinary and 
grievance procedures
The ACAS Code is intended to help employers and employees deal 

effectively with issues of alleged misconduct or poor performance in the 

workplace.  The ACAS Code replaced the statutory dispute resolution 

procedures that were previously in place under the Employment Act 2002 

(and the associated Employment Act 2002 (Dispute Resolution) Regulations 

2004), which were widely viewed as unworkable.  The ACAS Code is 

voluntary and a failure to follow the Code does not in itself make a person or 

organisation liable to proceedings. 

However, when deciding whether an employee has been unfairly dismissed 

for misconduct or poor performance, an employment tribunal will:

• consider whether the employer has followed a fair procedure; and

• take account of any relevant provisions of the ACAS Code when 

considering whether the employer has acted reasonably or not.

It is important therefore to follow the ACAS Code because it can potentially 

help avoid an unfair dismissal claim and additionally it can affect the level of 

compensation, should an employee bring a successful unfair dismissal claim.

Key points:

• Many potential disciplinary and grievance issues can be resolved 

informally.

• Employment Tribunals are legally required to take the ACAS Code of 

Practice into account when considering relevant cases.

• Tribunals can adjust any awards made in relevant cases by up to 25 per 

cent for unreasonable failure to comply with any provisions of the code.

• Employers and employees should always look to resolve disciplinary and 

grievance issues in the workplace.

Where an unfair dismissal claim is successful and either the employer or the 

employee have unreasonably failed to follow the ACAS Code a tribunal can 

make an upwards or downwards adjustment to the level of compensation 

awarded by up to 25%. 

Additionally, if an employee has been found to be unfairly dismissed because 

his employer has failed to follow a fair disciplinary procedure, any resulting 

compensation award could be reduced (by up to 100%) to reflect the fact 

that the dismissal would have occurred in any event, if a fair procedure had 

been followed (a ‘Polkey’ reduction).
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a.  Fair disciplinary procedures

The ACAS Code applies to disciplinary situations in the workplace, including 

misconduct and poor performance and excludes redundancy dismissals 

and non-renewal of fixed-term contracts. The Code applies to all disciplinary 

sanctions, including formal warnings and dismissals, but excludes informal 

verbal warnings. The key principle of a fair disciplinary procedure is for an 

employer to act consistently towards its employees and reasonably in the 

process followed. This process should include:

i.  Investigation

This should be carried out without delay to establish the facts of the case 

and ideally would involve holding an investigatory meeting with the employee 

before proceeding to any disciplinary hearing.  In the alternative, it would 

involve collating evidence for use at any disciplinary hearing.  

Should an employer consider it necessary to suspend the employee on full 

pay, it should keep the suspension period as brief as possible and make it 

clear that the suspension itself is not considered disciplinary action.

ii.  Inform the employee of the problem

The employer should notify the employee in writing and provide information 

about the alleged misconduct and its possible consequences, to enable the 

employee to prepare a response for the disciplinary hearing.  The employer 

should also provide copies of any written evidence and advise the employee 

of their right to be accompanied at the meeting by a work colleague or a 

union representative.

iii.  Hold a meeting with the employee to discuss the problem

This should be conducted without delay, but allowing the employee 

reasonable time in which to prepare their case.  Fair procedure entails 

allowing the employee to set out their case and respond to any allegations 

made against them.  The employee should be given a reasonable opportunity 

to ask questions, present evidence and potentially call relevant witnesses.  

Ideally the meeting/hearing should be heard by a manager who was not 

involved with the alleged incident or the investigation.

iv.  Decide on appropriate action

A fair disciplinary procedure involves making a considered decision after 

the meeting in relation to whether or not disciplinary or any other action is 

justified.  A good tip is for an employer to ensure that it adjourns to consider 

all of the evidence before making its decision.  The employer should inform 

the employee of the decision in writing.  If the decision is dismissal the 

employer should inform the employee as soon possible of the reasons for 
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the dismissal, the date on which their employment contract will end, the 

appropriate period of notice (if any) and their right of appeal.

v.  Provide employees with an opportunity to appeal

If the employee believes that the disciplinary action taken against them is 

wrong or unjust they should be provided with the right of appeal against the 

decision.  Where possible, the appeal should be heard by a manager who has 

not previously been involved in the case and is more senior than the person 

who made the previous decision, so that the appeal is dealt with impartially. 

Employees have the right to be accompanied at appeal hearings. As with 

disciplinary hearings, employers should inform employees in writing of the 

results of the appeal hearing as soon as possible.

When deciding whether or not the dismissal is within the reasonable range 

of responses available, it is a good idea for the employer to consider the 

employee’s previous disciplinary record. 

An employer may also consider whether the act of misconduct is so serious 

in itself (e.g. theft, fraud, physical violence, gross negligence or serious 

insubordination) that it should result in a dismissal without notice for a first 

offence.

b.  Fair grievance procedures

The ACAS Code also sets out guidance for employers as to handling 

grievances raised by employees in the workplace. If a grievance cannot be 

handled informally employees should raise a grievance formally in writing, 

setting out the nature of the grievance. Again the process should include:

i.  Hold a meeting with the employee to discuss the grievance

After a grievance is received, an employer should arrange for a formal 

meeting to be held without unreasonable delay (“grievance hearing”).  At a 

grievance meeting, which deals with a complaint about a duty owed by the 

employer to the worker, employees have a right to be accompanied by a 

work place colleague or a trade union representative.  

The employee should be allowed to explain their grievance and how they 

think it should be resolved.  The employer should give consideration to 

adjourning the meeting for any investigation that may be necessary.

ii.  Decide on appropriate action 

Following the meeting, the employer should decide what action, if any, to 

take.  The decision should be communicated to the employee, in writing, 

without unreasonable delay and, where appropriate, should set out what 
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action the employer intends to take to resolve the grievance. The employee 

should be advised of their right to appeal against the employer’s decision in 

respect of their grievance, if they are not content with the outcome.

iii.  Provide employees with the opportunity to appeal

Employees should appeal any decision they feel has not been satisfactorily 

resolved.  They should outline the grounds of their appeal in writing without 

unreasonable delay.  Appeals should be heard without unreasonable delay 

and at a time and place which should be notified to the employee in advance 

and in writing.  

Where possible the appeal should be dealt with by a manager who has 

not previously been involved in the case.  As with grievance hearings, the 

employer should inform the employee in writing of the results of the appeal 

hearing as soon as possible.

9.  National minimum wage and national 
living wage
From October 2003 (and from April 2016 for the National Living Wage), 

national minimum wage regulations have been in force. The rates are set as 

hourly rates and no employee should be paid less than the minimum.  When 

setting a weekly, monthly or annual salary rate for an employee, it is therefore 

essential that care is taken to ensure that the amount will at least equal 

the minimum wage rate for the hours the employee is expected to work. 

Note, hours worked is itself a complex issue and must include rest breaks, 

travelling time (in certain instances), etc., as well as any time the employee 

works in addition to the “normal” hours agreed.

Another matter that can particularly apply to some churches relates to 

employees for whom accommodation is provided. If the employer counts the 

value of that accommodation as “pay”, only the sums specifically laid down 

by the regulations can be taken into account in calculating the hourly rate, 

no matter how much the accommodation may have cost the employer, or be 

worth. The set amounts are relatively low and generally represent much less 

than actual cost or worth, so the amount the employer can count as part of 

the hourly rate are equally low and do not usually reflect cost or worth.  

The hourly and accommodation rates are changed regularly each year, 

normally in October (although both the National Minimum Wage and National 

Living Wage rates will move to an annual review in April from 2017), so should 

always be checked with HMRC.  
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Failure to comply with the regulations could not only result in an Employment 

Tribunal claim being made, but also lead to a criminal prosecution being 

made by HMRC, who are charged with the policing of them and who also 

have the power to publicise nationally those employers who have not paid 

the correct rate.

10. PAYE and National Insurance
It is important to determine if the person being paid is an employee or self-

employed. PAYE and NIC must be deducted from a payment to an employee. 

The church will be liable for any PAYE and NIC not deducted when it should 

have been, and it will normally be unable to recover the amounts from the 

person concerned, although sometimes HMRC will allow some offset of tax 

and NIC which has been payable by the individual, provided that they have 

previously registered as self-employed for tax self-assessment purposes and 

have paid the appropriate tax and NIC on their profits.

Though interpretations of Employment and Tax Tribunals and HMRC 

concerning employment/self-employment differ sometimes, the tests in 

section 3 above do apply for tax purposes. The same important issues for tax 

tribunals are: 

• control over the work of the employee;

• the ability to delegate to another person or not;

• the question of mutuality of obligation. 

For example, in an employment situation there is an obligation on the 

employer to provide work and an obligation on the employee to do it. In the 

self-employment situation the employer may not have any work and will not 

have any obligation to pay anyone; additionally, the self-employed person 

may refuse to accept the work offered. 

HMRC publish very full details of “Employment Status” on their website: 

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/employed-or-self-employed  

Also see: https://www.gov.uk/guidance/check-employment-status-for-tax

HMRC also provides employers with an online tool to enable them to 

determine whether an individual is an employee or self- employed called the 

Employment Status Indicator (ESI) tool. Although use of the ESI by employers 

is anonymous, in that HMRC cannot identify an employer by their completion, 

HMRC states that an employer may rely on its decision output, provided the 

information input is accurate. Where use is made of the tool it is recommended 

that a full audit trail of inputs and result is obtained for future queries.
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a.  Registration as an employer

As an employer, the church is responsible for maintaining relevant payroll 

records and deducting PAYE and NIC from the employees’ salaries and 

wages and accounting for them to HMRC.

The church will need to register as an employer if it takes on an employee 

and one or more of the following conditions applies:

• the employee already has another job;

• they are receiving a state or occupational pension;

• the employee is paid at or above the PAYE threshold;

• the employee is paid at or above the National Insurance Lower Earnings 

Limit;

• the employee is being provided with employee benefits.

If the church needs to register, it can do so up to four weeks in advance of 

the first pay day.

Registration can be effected using the HMRC registration email tool for 

charities: 

https://online.hmrc.gov.uk/shortforms/form/EMPREG_CharComm?dept-

name=EHL&sub-dept-name=Registration&location=1&origin= 

http://www.hmrc.gov.uk 

Guidance for what to do when taking on a new or first employee is available 

at https://www.gov.uk/new-employee

Both the above links were operative when this chapter was updated.

Once registered as a new employer with HMRC a letter will be received 

headed ‘New employer registration and reference numbers’ containing the 

PAYE reference and Accounts Office reference. This should arrive within five 

working days or so. The letter also includes a link to the ‘New Employer - 

getting started’ guide. Everything needed to get started can be accessed 

from that guide.

b.  Online filing

All employers now have to submit their PAYE details to HMRC using RTI (Real 

Time Information).  Effectively this means that:

• There will no longer be a requirement to submit forms P45 or P46 to 

HMRC.

• There will no longer be a requirement to submit End-of-Year Returns (P14) 

to HMRC.
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• Either before, or at the time a payment of wages or salary is made, all the 

information about the employee and the payment, deductions, etc. must 

be made to HMRC, automatically, online.

There are 2 different types of submission that have to be made to HMRC.  

They are :

• Employer Payment Summary (EPS). 

• Full Payment Submissions (FPS).  

EPS is a submission by an employer and is made where the employer:

• reclaims statutory payments such as SMP, SPP, SAP, and ShPP; or

• claims the Employment Allowance; or

• can reclaim CIS deductions.

An employer must send an EPS to HMRC by the 19th of the following tax 

month for HMRC to apply any reduction for statutory reliefs on what is owed 

from the FPS (see below). 

HMRC has further guidance on what to put into each field in the EPS: https://

www.gov.uk/what-payroll-information-to-report-to-hmrc#eps-what-to-report 

FPS: Every time you make a payment to an employee, you have to send an 

FPS electronically to HMRC. Each submission has to include a complete 

set of data about both the employee and the payment.  Information about 

payments to several employees on the same date can be combined into a 

single FPS, but if payments are made to employees on different dates, you 

must send a separate FPS for each.

You may need to make changes to information that you hold about your 

employees, and you may also need to add new information that HMRC now 

require you to include in submissions.  It is particularly important that all of 

the information that you hold about employees is accurate e.g.

• Personal Identity information.  You will have to record the details of the 

full legal name shown on formal identification documents such as a Birth 

Certificate, Passport or Driving Licence etc.  It is no longer acceptable 

to use ‘known as’ names i.e. where an individual’s legal name is Robert 

Frederick Smith but they are known as either ‘Bob Smith’ or ‘Fred Smith’, 

you must now use ‘Robert Frederick Smith’ in your records.

• Date of Birth.

• Passport Number.

• Number of hours normally worked each pay period.
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A full list of the information that you need to hold and include in RTI 

submissions is published on the HMRC web site at :  

http://www.hmrc.gov.uk/payerti/reporting/what-to-report.htm

The treasurer must have access to a computer with internet connection either 

personally or through the church office, the minister, some other official, or 

through a family member or friend. Otherwise it will be necessary to use the 

services of a local payroll bureau.

When the registration letter detailed above is received, the new employer 

must register with HMRC for online PAYE services. To do so, the new 

employer must: 

1. Go to the online services homepage and click on the ‘Register’ button.

2. Click on ‘Organisation’, and select ‘PAYE for Employers’ on the next 

page.

3. Read and accept the terms and conditions of HMRC’s Online Services.

4. Enter their name and email address.

5. Create a password, making sure to keep since it will be needed to use the 

service.

6. Receive a User ID - again needed to use the service.

7. Enter Employer PAYE reference and Accounts Office reference.

During the process a password will be requested and a User ID provided. 

These must be kept securely and will be needed for any login for PAYE 

matters. Subsequently HMRC will send a letter to the address provided 

confirming the registration, password, etc. and providing details of how to 

activate the service. 

All the details about registering can be found on the HMRC website at:  

http://www.hmrc.gov.uk/payerti/getting-started/register.htm#

HMRC systems, forms and arrangements frequently change, as do PAYE and 

NIC thresholds; it is therefore important that guidance is kept up-to-date and 

that the HMRC website is checked for the latest information.

c.  PAYE operation and guidance

All payroll information must be reported to HMRC online, in real time. The 

information must be automatically transmitted to HMRC on or before any day 

when a payment is made, so it is important to set clear time schedules for 

payroll calculation.

All employers must be registered with HMRC online and payrolls may be 

completed using:
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• In-house or bought-in software suitably modified to provide real time 

submissions to HMRC. 

• Payroll bureaux using appropriate software.

• In-house using HMRC software “HMRC Basic PAYE Tools”, which can be 

downloaded from:  https://www.gov.uk/basic-paye-tools 

Note however, that HMRC Basic PAYE Tools is only for a maximum of nine 

employees at any one time. The maximum includes everyone employed, no 

matter how short a time they work, or how little they are paid. 

For most churches the solution is to use a local payroll bureau or the HMRC 

BASIC PAYE Tools. The latter will calculate PAYE, NIC and student loan 

deductions, complete and produce the usual payroll records, and make the 

necessary in-year and end-year returns to HMRC. The information to be reported 

must also include approximate hours worked by each employee in a week.

However, HMRC BASIC PAYE Tools has limitations; it will not record any 

other deductions unrelated to PAYE or produce payslips. It also may not 

handle certain scenarios, including:

• some changes in NICs category letters during the tax year; 

• changing leaving dates or re-start an employment; 

• changing pay interval during the tax year, e.g. weekly to monthly; 

• dealing with more than one payment to an employee in the same tax 

period;

• operating net pay arrangements.

If any of these scenarios arise it will be necessary to start using a commercial 

payroll software or change to using a payroll bureau.

It will be important to have contingency plans ready in case of computer and/

or other failures or problems, such as a loss of internet connection. There is 

no facility to make payroll reports via email, or by filling in a form on a web 

page. 

d.  Questions concerning whether PAYE and NIC is applicable 

to an “employed” person

The special arrangement negotiated with the Church’s Main Committee 

(now the Church’s Legislative Advisory Service) which had been in place 

for local religious centres (LRC), (for example a parish church), is no longer 

appropriate and therefore no longer applies.

The arrangement had applied to LRCs who only paid employees less than 

£100 per year or over £100 per year but less than the National Insurance 

Lower Earnings Limit.
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The rules on when to register as an employer and report PAYE information in 

real time are applicable to all employers. Consequently, an LRC will need to 

register as an employer and report PAYE in real time if any of the following 

apply:

• The LRC is paying an employee at or above the PAYE threshold.

• The LRC is paying an employee at or above the National Insurance Lower 

Earnings Limit.

• The employee already has another job.

• The employee is receiving a state, company or occupational pension.

• The LRC is providing the employee with employee benefits.

Examples of such payments may include:

• Payments to casuals.

• Fees.

LRC’s no longer need to provide information to the PAYE Employer Office 

to determine whether any further action is necessary if someone is paid 

more than £100 per tax year but less than the National Insurance Lower 

Earnings Limit. Instead they will need to establish whether they are required 

to report PAYE information in real time in accordance with the rules above for 

registering as an employer.

If they are required to register as an employer, then they will need to report all 

payments made to their employees irrespective of the amount they pay.

HMRC systems, forms and arrangements frequently change, as do PAYE and 

NIC thresholds; it is therefore important that guidance is kept up-to-date and 

that the HMRC website is checked for the latest information.

e.  Part-time employees

Casual and part time employees are generally within the PAYE procedures. 

Some churches employ a verger or caretaker or organist and perhaps 

others. These people will often be employees, even if part time, and it is the 

responsibility of the treasurer to operate the deduction of tax and insurance 

under the PAYE and NI rules in respect of all sums paid. See HMRC guidance 

above.

f.   Volunteers

Volunteers, who are not paid, are not employees.  If they are paid small 

honoraria, or if any of the expenses paid to them contain a profit element, 

they will be treated as full employees for all employment law matters as 

well as tax, and the whole PAYE system will need to apply to them. Unpaid 
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volunteers are however outside the scope of PAYE and it is therefore possible 

to reimburse them the expenses, or the extra costs they incur (e.g. the 

expense of travel between home and the place where the work is done) in 

doing the work of the church, without worrying about PAYE procedures, even 

though such payments would usually be taxable in the hands of employees. 

Expenses paid must not do more than reimburse the costs incurred. If 

expenses are paid in accordance with scale rates, the rates must be at levels 

which can be regarded as paying no more than the costs incurred. 

There are, as suggested above, clearly tight limits on what can be done in 

this direction. It is not possible, for example, to pay volunteers a weekly set 

figure and look for expenses to justify them.

Volunteer drivers using their own vehicles for charitable purposes may be 

“paid” or “unpaid” for tax purposes depending upon the reimbursements 

or mileage payments they receive. If the mileage rates are not more than 

HMRC’s approved business mileage rates, they will be treated as “unpaid”. 

These rates are changed frequently and it is important to check those that 

are current. For 2017/18 the rates are 45p per mile for the first 10,000 miles 

and 25p per mile thereafter, with an additional passenger rate of 5p per mile 

applying to encourage car sharing, where a journey is shared with another 

employee. Rates in force should always be checked using HMRC’s website.

g.  Expenses

Many forms of expenses paid to employees are “taxable”. Treasurers will 

have to complete a form P11D for certain employees who are paid expenses 

or provided with any perks, which are usually taxable. The original is sent 

to HMRC, setting out the total of expenses and benefits in kind paid; the 

employee should receive a copy of this return. In certain circumstances 

where the expenses are business related and are of a simple, reimbursed 

nature, the employer does not need to complete a P11D form as these 

expenses are covered by a general exemption for business expenses. 

Examples include any subsistence taken as part of a business journey. All of 

these matters are detailed and dealt with in HMRC Employers Guides and it 

is important that treasurers of churches keep this information up-to-date. 

Expenses paid to clergy, employed by a central church authority, do not have 

to be included on forms P11D, but if HMRC request a return of expenses 

paid to all individuals employed by third parties, they would need to be 

included.  

Some employees, e.g. vergers, may be provided with accommodation. This 

will normally be a taxable benefit under specific rules, but if (for example) the 
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accommodation is provided for the individual as a caretaker of the premises, 

it may be possible to claim that the accommodation is not taxable. Before 

omitting such a benefit on a form P11D, it will be wise to agree the position 

with HMRC since there are significant penalties to be paid for incorrect 

returns, as well the potential for extra tax and NIC payable by the church.

h.  Ex gratia payments

As a general rule it is not appropriate for church funds to be used in making 

gratuitous payments to a retiring priest or other member of staff.  If the 

congregation wishes to make a presentation of some sort, this would be 

done by means of a private collection.  There are circumstances where 

a payment out of church funds might be considered possible. This could 

include where wrongful dismissal has arisen, or in a case of a dispute over 

dismissal proceedings where a modest sum might avoid costly litigation. 

These are matters, which hopefully will not arise, but if they do advice should 

be taken from professional advisers.

The tax treatment of ex gratia payments on termination of an employment is 

somewhat complex. In certain circumstances, it is possible for up to £30,000 

to be paid without any tax liability arising. 

However, these circumstances are interpreted very restrictively by HMRC. If 

such a payment is to be made it will be appropriate to discuss the payment 

with a specialist tax adviser or HMRC before making a payment tax free, and 

to check the current rate that applies. 

11. Pensions

a.  Stakeholder Pensions

Prior to 1st October 2012 employers who did not have a pension scheme 

had, in certain circumstances, to provide their employees with access to a 

Stakeholder Pension Scheme. 

Following the introduction of Workplace Pensions required by the Pensions 

Act 2008 (see below), the rules for stakeholder pensions changed on 1 

October 2012. For new employees or those returning to a job, the employer 

does not have to offer access to a stakeholder pension scheme. 

For those employees in a stakeholder pension scheme that was arranged 

before 1 October 2012, the employers must continue to take and pay 

contributions from wages. 
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This arrangement remains in place until:

• the employee asks for it to stop;

• the employee stops paying contributions at regular intervals;

• the employee leaves.

When an employee leaves, gives notice of discontinuance or change to 

another personal pension, the money they have paid in stays in their pension 

pot unless they request it be transferred to a different pension provider. 

b.  The Pensions Act 2008

The Pensions Act 2008 provides that every employer should automatically 

enrol their employees into, and contribute to, a qualifying pension scheme, 

if they are not already in one. Among other things, a scheme qualifies if the 

total contributions are at least equal to those detailed below, but the total can 

be made up solely by the employer’s contribution.

The scheme must meet minimum standards, and employers may use their 

own scheme, another pension provider or NEST (National Employment 

Savings Trust), a scheme that must be used by any employer who does not 

have an acceptable alternative.  Employees are able to opt–out if they wish 

although employers are forbidden to encourage any employee to do so. The 

workers to be covered are those who:

• are not already in a workplace pension scheme, 

• are at least 22 years old, 

• are below 75 years of age, 

• earn more than the minimum earnings threshold (which will generally be in 

line with the PAYE threshold) and work or ordinarily work in the UK (under 

their contract).

Employers will need to set up their own qualifying Workplace Pension 

Scheme based on the number of employees they have. An employer 

may check when they need to have their own pension scheme set up by 

(their “staging date”) by checking the Pension Regulator’s website and 

entering their PAYE reference. This will give the correct staging date, with 

recommendations on how to progress the process of setting up a qualifying 

pension scheme.

Timing will depend upon employer size; very large employers began 

enrolment in late 2012 and early 2013; all others will be between 2013 and 

2018. Most church employers are likely to be towards the end of the period.
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A minimum percentage of employees’ earnings will have to be contributed, 

made up of the employee’s contribution, the employer’s contribution and tax 

relief added together. This minimum will increase gradually between 2012 and 

April 2019 and ultimately become 8%, of which the employer must contribute 

3%, the employee 4% and the government (by means of tax relief) 1%. 

Employees must be enrolled in a scheme when their earnings exceed a 

“trigger” threshold, which will increase over time and will probably be the 

income tax threshold, (£10,000 for 2016/17).  

Contributions will be payable upon earnings between lower and higher limits, 

which will again increase over time. For 2016/17 the lower limit is £5,824 and 

the upper limit £43,000.

It must be stressed that these thresholds and limits will be adjusted from time 

to time so the current rates should be checked before any action is taken.



Employment Issues

178



Reserves

179

Chapter 9 

Reserves 

Page

1. Trustees’ responsibilities to use charity funds 181

2. Why hold reserves? 181

3. What constitutes reserves? 181

4. Trustees’ duties 183

5. The policy and its assessment 183

6. Summary 184



Reserves

180



Reserves

181

1. Trustees’ responsibilities to use charity 
funds
Trustees are under a general legal duty to apply charity funds within a 

reasonable time of receiving them.  In principle, trustees should not “hoard” 

charity funds but use them for the purposes of the charity.

This is part of the basis upon which charities receive preferential tax 

treatment; why they are not normally subject to corporation tax and can 

recover tax on certain donations (gift aid) and certain other income.

In some circumstances, it could be held that trustees are exceeding their 

powers and breaking their trust if they do not apply the income they receive. 

However, there may be specific provisions in a charity’s governing document 

allowing it to accumulate some reserves. Further, it is generally accepted that 

if the charity is to be maintained as a continuing, going concern, then the 

trustees have an implied power to retain “reasonable” reserves, at least for 

working capital and equipment.

2. Why hold reserves?
Churches, like other organisations, need to secure their future. Most will 

want to ensure that they can weather some downturn in their normal income 

pattern, or deal with some unexpected, immediate and exceptional need 

for expenditure. It is normally for these reasons that churches need to retain 

reserves. Further, it will always be necessary to balance the income and 

expenditure streams, so that at any point in time it is probable that the church 

will have received income it has yet to spend.

Additionally, it is possible that a church may enter into some long-term 

commitment (perhaps to support some specific missionary project) and it 

wishes to ensure that it will have the funds to continue that support. So, if 

the funds are immediately available, the church prefers to save for the project 

rather than spend on other purposes.

3. What constitutes reserves?
The Charity Commission in their booklet CC19 define reserves as follows: 

“Reserves are that part of a charity’s unrestricted funds that is freely available 

to spend on any of the charity’s purposes.” This definition excludes restricted 

funds and endowment funds. Reserves will also normally exclude funds that 
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have been designated for essential future spending and tangible fixed assets 

held for church use.

“Capital” endowment funds cannot be regarded within the above definition. 

By their very nature, they are not income to spend, but are capital funds.

Expendable endowments could be considered as part of reserves, 

depending upon the terms under which the trustees can spend the 

endowment. If there are no pre-conditions, or if the pre-conditions have 

been met, and the application of the expendable endowment is now at the 

trustees’ discretion, then such funds might be regarded as part of reserves. 

However, these funds are often invested to provide a steady income stream 

to help fund core or continuing services, and if spending such endowment 

would reduce the income and so jeopardise the activities, the funds are not 

“freely available for general purposes”, and so not part of reserves.

Restricted funds can only be spent for the restricted purposes attached to 

the fund, so cannot be regarded as “freely available” and do not form part of 

ordinary reserves. However, within each restricted fund, the income should 

be spent on the restricted purpose, so if there are funds, and expenditure on 

the restricted purpose is possible, the trustees will need to consider whether 

reserves are necessary within that fund and determine a reserves policy for 

that fund accordingly.

Designated funds are funds put aside out of general “unrestricted” funds 

for a special purpose. Since they come from and can be returned to 

unrestricted funds, they remain part of reserves. However, if the designated 

fund is created for a genuine reason and the amount is not just an excuse for 

“hoarding” resources but is appropriate to the purpose, it should be regarded 

as a special reserve, which can be disregarded in calculating the balance of 

ordinary unrestricted reserves.

Any balance on “Unrestricted funds” is part of reserves. However, is that 

balance freely available? To the extent that the fund balance is represented 

by assets, which the church has purchased, or which it has been given 

or acquired, and which are used to further the church’s mission then they 

cannot be regarded as “freely available”. For example, assume a church has 

acquired or been given a property to house its minister, and the continuity 

and mission of that church depends upon that house being available. Even 

though the house may represent unrestricted funds, it cannot be said that 

those funds are “freely available”. Consequently, the funds represented by 

the house do not have to be taken into account in determining reserves 

policy.
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Similarly, in the special case of a charitable company (but not otherwise), 

its unrestricted funds accumulated in the past may have been invested to 

provide income, which is now vital to the continuity and ordinary finances 

of the church. Thus these funds are similar to the invested expendable 

endowment funds described above. If the investments were realised and the 

funds expended, so that the income ceased, would this jeopardise the future 

of the church? If so, it may be quite reasonable to claim that these funds are 

not “freely available” and so should be disregarded in calculating reserves. 

All of these factors should be carefully recorded as part of the reserves policy 

and reported where appropriate (see 4 below).

4. Trustees’ duties
SORP requires that in the annual report trustees:

• Describe the charity’s reserve policy.

• Explain why reserves are held and which future needs, risks or 

contingencies are assumed.

• Report the level on the balance sheet date.

To justify holding reserves, trustees should have a policy based upon a 

realistic assessment of their need.

Unless required by their central governing body or (occasionally) the Charity 

Commission, churches which, as excepted charities, are not registered 

charities, do not have to prepare an annual report under the Charities Act 

2011. Nonetheless, it is good practice to do so and equally good practice to 

comply with the requirement for a reserves statement.

Even if an annual report is not prepared, the trustees should still be 

complying with the general rules concerning the holding of reserves and 

should develop a proper reserves policy.

5. The policy and its assessment
The Charity Commission suggests that the policy should be in writing and be 

formally agreed by the trustees. It should cover as a minimum:

• Why the church needs reserves.

• What level (or range) the church needs.

• What steps the church will attempt to take to maintain the reserves at the 

agreed level.

• Provisions for monitoring and reviewing the policy. 
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The factors to take into account in assessing the policy include:

Income:

It is unlikely that a church’s income would cease completely within a short 

space of time. There may however be various circumstances under which 

it could be reduced. The policy should consider what those circumstances 

might be and how much of a reduction might be suffered before some 

alternative could be found, or some balancing reduction in expenditure 

achieved.

Expenditure:

Here it is important to consider expenditure forecasts for future years based 

on planned activities. The policy will need to consider what reductions in 

expenditure could be made if necessary and how long it would take to effect 

these reductions. It will also be necessary to consider if there are any future 

commitments that it may be difficult or impossible to avoid, and what their 

impact would be if income diminished.

Risks and contingencies:

There are always risks that threaten any organisation. Their impact is difficult 

to assess, but if the trustees have carried out a risk analysis, it may be 

possible to make some assessment of likely effect and in particular what may 

be required in the short term while some major disaster recovery programme 

is being put into effect.

6. Summary
Church trustees should develop reserves policies. If they don’t they may be 

guilty of hoarding funds which could and should be spent on the church’s 

purposes. Alternatively, they could be accused of being imprudent and not 

allowing for events that could have been foreseen. Merely to add any surplus, 

or deduct any deficit from the balance of funds will not serve as a defensible 

reserves policy.

Often when a sum has been calculated, experience shows that the church’s 

reserves have actually always been held at a much lower level, yet the church 

has survived and progressed reasonably successfully over the years. The 

reasons for this might be:

• There has never been an opportunity to build reserves to the level 

deemed adequate.
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• Thankfully the church has never suffered the crisis, which has been built 

into the calculation.

• The ability to replace an income source, or reduce expenditure has been 

underestimated in the calculation.

This should not overly concern the trustees. The important considerations are 

that:

• the trustees have a policy;

• they review and refine it regularly;

• they report it; and

• that as opportunity allows they plan and manage affairs to comply with 

it; compiling the agreed level of reserves should not become a more 

important objective than the normal objectives of the church.
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1. The need for churches to prepare annual 
reports
The requirement for a church to produce an annual report depends upon a 

number of factors, including the Charities Acts, the nature of the church’s 

charitable status and any requirements of its denomination. 

The Charities Act 2011 requires an annual report to be published by 

all registered charities, but not unregistered excepted charities unless 

specifically requested by the Charity Commission to provide such a report. 

Most churches previously enjoyed excepted status, i.e. they were not 

required by law to register or produce an annual report.

However, the Charities Act requires all charities with gross income in excess 

of £100,000 to register, so any church which registers under this Act must 

also publish an annual report.

The churches, with income below £100,000, who continue to enjoy 

“excepted status” and remain unregistered and are thus not required by 

the Charities Acts to provide annual reports, are identified by the relevant 

Statutory Instruments as: A church within the meaning of section 2 of the 

Baptist and Congregational Trusts Act 1951; A church which is affiliated to 

the Fellowship of Independent Evangelical Churches; A church which is a 

member of the General Assembly of Unitarian and Free Christian Churches; 

The Calvinistic Methodist or Presbyterian Church of Wales; The Church of 

England; The Church in Wales; The Methodist Church; The Religious Society 

of Friends; The United Reformed Church.

However, there may be internal requirements from the central denominational 

bodies of those churches, which do require some form of report. For 

example, The Church of England and The Church in Wales, by their 

Accounting Regulations, require an annual report to be produced.

Such reports are a good way of standing back at the end of each year 

to see what progress has been made in achieving the objectives set for 

each church. Where an annual report is required this chapter sets out the 

information to be included.
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2. The bases for the annual report

a.  England and Wales

The content of the annual report required to comply with the Acts is 

determined by the rules detailed in “The Charities (Accounts and Reports) 

Regulations 2008”, which are dealt with in more detail in “Accounting 

and Reporting by Charities”, the Statement of Recommended Practice 

issued by the Charity Commission for England and Wales. The applicable 

Statement from 1 January 2016 is SORP(FRS102) as amended in February 

2016. This provides that trustees should prepare in respect of each financial 

year, as a separate document, a report, which should include certain legal, 

administrative and narrative information.

The Regulations further specify that the trustees annual report should be 

attached to the accounts whenever a full set of accounts is distributed.

All the trustees are responsible for the preparation of the report, so though 

it is normal to delegate preparation to one or two individuals, all the trustees 

should satisfy themselves that it complies with the requirements. 

b.  Scotland

See “Charities in Scotland” chapter

c.  Northern Ireland

Charities in Northern Ireland must abide by regulations enacted by The 

Charity Commission for Northern Ireland. 

d.  Good practice

The Regulations apply equally to registered charities even if below the 

accounts-filing threshold of £25k gross income (which also includes the 

“light touch” regime within which Annual Returns are not mandatory for 

registered charities up to £10k gross income) and to excepted charities that, 

although unregistered, are specially required by the Charity Commission to 

prepare and submit an annual report for a particular year – and regardless of 

whether the church has adopted the Charities SORP as part of its Accounting 

Policies or opts instead to prepare its annual accounts on a receipts and 

payments basis. Some church central authorities, or governing or foundation 

documents may require more information, so such detail must be given 

in addition to that required by the regulations. Even if there are no legal or 
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denominational requirements, it is recommended that an annual report be 

produced as a matter of good practice.

The Charities SORP states that the annual report should complement the 

charity’s accounts and should be a coherent document that provides a fair 

review of the charity’s structure, aims, objectives, activities and performance. 

Above all, use the report to tell the church’s story; don’t just use a checklist 

for statutory compliance.

3. Annual report content – smaller charities
The Regulations itemise a number of disclosures which must be provided 

above and below the statutory audit threshold, whereas SORP 2015 

differentiates only between those that “smaller charities” must provide and 

the additional information that “larger charities” must disclose.

For this purpose, “smaller charities” are defined as those with gross income 

up to £500,000. Those with income in excess of £500,000 (i.e. “larger 

charities”) must also report on those items shown in the next section (4) of 

this chapter. Note however that the SORP also urges all “smaller charities” to 

include some or all of the additional information required of “larger charities” 

if the charity trustees consider such additional information relevant to their 

charity’s stakeholders.

The smaller church charity must comply with the minimum requirements, and 

do so to the best of its ability in a manner which properly tells the story of 

what the church is doing in an interesting and informative way. The matters 

that must be reported by the smaller charity are:

a.  The financial year to which the report relates, the date of its 

approval by the trustees as a body and confirmation of the 

signatory’s authority to sign on their behalf.

b.  Reference and administrative details of the charity, its 

trustees and advisers

1.  The full name of the charity, which for a registered charity must be the 

name under which it is registered, together with any other name it uses 

as a “working name”. This may not be just the name of the church. For 

example in the Church of England, the responsible body is “The Parochial 

Church Council of (the name of the church or parish applicable)” 
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2.  The charity registration number if registered, and company registration 

number if it is a charitable company.

3.  The address of the principal or registered office. For churches this should 

perhaps include the address of the church(s), and any correspondence 

address (the address of the church office, if there is one, or of the minister 

or an officer).

4.  The names of all those who were trustees on the date the report was 

approved, and the same for all who served as trustees at any time during 

the financial year covered by the report. In the case of a corporate trustee, 

the names of its directors as at that date.

5.  The names of any trustee for the charity holding the title to property 

belonging to the charity (for example custodian trustee or nominee) on the 

date the report was approved; or who served as a trustee for the charity 

in holding the title to property belonging to the charity in the reporting 

period.

c.  Structure, governance and management

The report is intended to help the reader understand how the church is 

constituted, how the trustees are appointed, how it is organised and how its 

decisions are made. In detail, the following must be covered:

i.  An indication of the governing foundation of the charity, (e.g. trust deed, 

Charity Commission scheme, Royal Charter, Act of Parliament, etc.), 

and how the charity (or its trustees) is constituted, (e.g. limited company, 

unincorporated association, trustees incorporated as a body, etc.). For 

example in the Church of England the trustees (the Parochial Church 

Council or PCC) are a body corporate, whereas in the Church in Wales 

the PCC is not a body corporate. 

 Central church authorities for each denomination should be able to 

provide advice concerning the constitution of the trustee body, or may 

have some standard wording that covers the matter.

ii.  The method of recruitment and appointment or election of trustees. 

iii.  If any external body or person is entitled to nominate or appoint one or 

more trustees, a full explanation of that legal power, including the names 

of those so empowered.

d.  Objectives and activities

A summary of the objects of the church as set out in its governing document, 

and a brief summary of the main activities undertaken by the trustees of the 

church to further its charitable purposes for the public benefit. 
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i.  The report must say what the “church” purposes are and should 

obviously also explain what the individual reporting charity aims to do 

to further those purposes. It must in any case explain the main activities 

undertaken to further the church purposes for the public benefit. 

 Most “churches” have a central “mission” statement, which describes the 

objectives of the denomination, and this should be included. Generally, 

the central church authority has such a statement in a standard format, 

but individual churches may also have some addition to this main 

statement that could be included.

ii.  The report must include a statement by the trustees as to whether they 

have complied with the duty imposed by section 17(5) of the Charities 

Act 2011 to have due regard to guidance published by the Charity 

Commission in respect of public benefit.

 To this end, trustees need to make themselves aware of the current 

guidance, which can be downloaded from the Commission’s website.

iii.  The report, for the smaller charity aspiring to best practice, should 

explain the activities, projects or services identified in the accompanying 

accounts. As far as practicable, numerical information provided in the 

report about the resources spent on particular activities should be 

consistent with any analysis provided in the accounts.

e.  Achievements and performance

There must be a summary of the church’s main achievements during the year 

in relation to its objects. 

This might, and for the larger charity should, include the general progress of 

the church during the year, which could be amplified by detailing the pattern 

and types of worship provided, and by appropriate statistics, which might 

include some figures concerning membership, attendance (average and at 

main festivals) and any other relevant detail, which indicate how the church is 

fulfilling its mission.

Details and outcome of any special projects and achievements should 

similarly also be detailed.

f.  Financial review

There must be a review of the financial position of the church, and in 

particular, statements concerning:

i.  The policy for retaining reserves, stating the level held and why. Where 

material funds have been “designated” or transferred to Designated 

Funds, the policy should explain the purpose and quantify the funds. If set 
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aside for future expenditure the likely timing of that expenditure should be 

indicated.

ii.  Where any fund (whether restricted or not) or interest in a subsidiary 

undertaking is materially in deficit, the circumstances giving rise to the 

deficit must be outlined as must the steps being taken to eliminate 

the deficit. (This cannot apply to a designated fund, which would 

automatically be extinguished upon the level of unrestricted reserves 

falling to zero.) 

iii.  If, at the date of approving the report and accounts, there are 

uncertainties about the church’s ability to continue as a going concern, 

the nature of these uncertainties should be explained.

g.  Funds held as custodian trustees on behalf of others

If the church holds any assets on behalf of another charitable body it must 

disclose either here in its trustees’ report or else in an accounts note:

i.   A description of those assets

ii.  The name and objects of the other charity and how their activities fall 

within the objects of the church.

iii.  Details of the arrangements for safe custody and segregation of those 

assets from the church’s own assets.

4.  Additional content for larger charities
Though SORP 2015 makes a distinction between the reporting requirements 

for smaller and larger charities, it also encourages all charities to include 

some or all of the additional information required of larger charities if the 

charity trustees consider such additional information relevant to their charity’s 

stakeholders. However, some of the items dealt with may not apply to 

churches. The following text details all the additional requirements.

a.  Reference and administrative details of the charity, its 

trustees and advisers

i.  The names of any senior management staff (“key management 

personnel”), to whom day to day management is delegated by the 

trustees (to whom those staff are directly accountable for their use of the 

delegated powers), must be disclosed.

ii.  The names and addresses of relevant organisations or persons providing 

professional advice or financial services, including bankers, solicitors, auditors 

or independent examiner and any investment advisers, must be disclosed.
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b.  Structure, governance and management

The aim is to help the reader understand how the church is constituted and 

organised, how trustees are appointed and trained, and how the church’s 

decision-making process operates. The specific additional items that must be 

reported are:

i.   The policies and procedures adopted for the induction and training of 

trustees. 

ii.  The organisational structure of the church (and any subsidiary 

undertakings) and how decisions are made. For example, which types of 

decisions are taken by the church trustees and which are delegated to 

staff or sub-committees.

iii.  Where the church is part of a wider network (for example churches 

affiliated within an umbrella group), then the relationship must be 

explained where it impacts on the operating policies adopted by the 

church. Here it may be necessary to explain how the church fits in to the 

wider structure of the denomination.

iv.  The relationships between the church and related parties (including any 

subsidiaries) and with any other charities and organisations with which it 

co-operates in the pursuit of its charitable objectives.

v.   The arrangements for setting the pay and remuneration of the church’s 

key management personnel and any benchmarks, parameters or criteria 

used in setting their pay. 

c.  Objectives and activities

Here the objective is to give a broader picture of why the church exists and 

what it is doing to promote its objectives. The detail should explain the 

objects, activities, projects or services identified (probably by way of note) as 

charitable activities within the SOFA. `In particular the items identified in the 

SORP that larger charities must report on are:

i. An explanation of the church’s aims, the issues it seeks to tackle and the 

changes or differences it seeks to make through its activities. 

ii. An explanation of the main objectives for the year and how these relate to 

longer-term aims.

iii. An explanation of the strategies for achieving its stated objectives.

iv. Details of significant activities (including its main programmes, projects, 

or services provided) that contribute to the achievement of the stated 

objectives and the criteria for measuring success (progress) in the year.
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v. If grant making and/or social investment is a material part of the activity 

a statement of the policy for such activities must be included, and an 

explanation of how they contribute to the achievement of its aims and 

objectives.

vi. If there is a dependency on volunteers for a particular activity, sufficient 

details must be given to help the reader of the report understand their 

role and contribution. By its very nature, the church is an organisation that 

depends upon its members, many of whom give freely of their time and 

talents. It would therefore seem reasonable to interpret the requirement 

here as also concerning volunteers providing some exceptional facility 

or service without which the viability of the relevant activities of the 

church would suffer. Reporting does, however, also give the opportunity 

to acknowledge and thank church members who give of their time and 

talents more generally. 

d.  Achievements and performance

This part of the report is intended to outline and assess the achievements of 

the church, and must provide a review of performance against the objectives 

that have been set. This can be done by qualitative and quantitative 

comments and might include details of any milestones or benchmarks 

against which the achievements can be assessed. The specific items that 

must be reported are: 

i. A review of significant activities undertaken that explains the performance 

achieved against objectives set. 

ii. Where material investments are held, the investment performance for the 

year against the objectives set.

iii. Where material fundraising activities are undertaken, details of the 

performance achieved against fundraising objectives set, commenting on 

any material expenditure for future income generation and explaining the 

effect on the current period’s fundraising net return (i.e. performance) and 

on that of future years.

iv. Comment on those factors within and outside the church’s control 

which are relevant to the achievement of its objectives should also be 

included here; these might include relationship with employees, users, 

beneficiaries, funders, members, and the church’s position in the wider 

community.
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e.  Financial review

The report should contain a review of the church’s financial position and a 

statement of the principal financial policies adopted during the year. The 

particular additional items required of a “larger charity” are:

i. Principal funding sources should be disclosed, also how they have 

supported the church’s objectives.

ii. Where material investments are held, the investment policy and objectives 

must be disclosed, and this should include the extent to which social, 

environmental and ethical considerations are taken into account.

iii. The principal risks and uncertainties facing the charity (and any subsidiary 

undertakings), as identified by the charity trustees, must be described, 

together with a summary of their plans and strategies for managing those 

risks.

iv. The impact, if any, of a material pension liability arising from obligations 

to a defined benefit pension scheme or pension asset on the financial 

position of the church, should be disclosed.

v. Any factors that are likely to affect the financial performance or position 

going forward must be explained.

vi. The review should also show how the year-end reserves related to the 

totality of the church’s funds, distinguishing any endowment fund and 

restricted income fund balances, and identify any unrestricted funds 

considered unavailable for spending on general purposes (e.g. locked 

up in functional fixed assets), as well as the timescale for spending all 

designated/committed funds. It should also explain how the level of 

reserves relates to the trustees’ policy and how any gap is to be bridged.

f.  Plans for future periods

The report must summarise the church’s plans for the future, the aims and 

objectives it has set and give details of the activities planned to achieve 

them. The report should also explain the trustees’ perspective of the future 

direction of the church, and explain, where relevant, how experience gained 

or lessons learned from past or current activities have influenced future plans 

and decisions about allocating resources to their best effect.
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5.  Authorisation of the annual report
At an appropriate time prior to the annual meeting at which the report is to 

be considered, the church governing body (the management trustees) should 

meet and approve the report for presentation to the annual meeting. A copy 

should be sent to each trustee prior to the trustees’ meeting to allow time for 

study.

At that meeting the report should be approved by an appropriate resolution, 

and at least one trustee should be authorised to sign it on behalf of the all the 

management trustees. The date on which it is approved, together with the 

signature, should be added.  

This can be effected by adding the following at the foot of the report:

“Approved by…… (the name of the church governing body) on……. (date) 

and signed on its behalf by ……. (signature) ……. (full name/position of 

person signing). 

The Report should then be attached to the Financial Statements and the 

Independent Examiner’s or else Auditor’s Report to effectively become “one” 

document. These documents should only ever be issued together as one 

single document, and never issued separately.

The report must be formally approved by the trustees as a body. Any trustee 

who does not agree that the report should be approved, should take all 

reasonable steps to resolve their disagreement with their fellow trustees. 

If the disagreement is fundamental and cannot be resolved between the 

trustees, or with the auditor or independent examiner, the dissenting trustees 

should report their concerns to the central church authorities. If still unable 

to resolve the difficulties, they should report their concerns to the Charity 

Commission.
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6.  Example annual report for the smaller 
church
On the following pages there is an example of an Annual Report that would 

be appropriate for a “smaller” church within The Church in Wales; it can of 

course be suitably adapted for any other “small” church.

Parochial Church Council for The Parish of St David 

Annual Report for the year ended 31st December 2016

Administrative Information

The Parish of St David (Registered Charity No. 1234567) is a Church in 

Wales parish situated in the Vale of Glamorgan within the Diocese of 

Llandaff. It is centred on the town of Makebelieve and the three churches 

that make up the Parish, all within the town are: St David, St Paul and 

St Peter. The Parish Office is at the church of St David, Church Street, 

Makebelieve, CF44 3RR (tel; 01666 888888).

The Parochial Church Council (PCC) members who have served from 1st 

January 2017 until the date this report was approved are as follows:

Incumbent:  Rev. James Green

Church Warden appointed by the Incumbent:   

 John Red

Church Warden elected at Annual Vestry Meeting:

 Muriel Gold

Sub Wardens appointed by Incumbent:

 Brian Blue

 Sheila Brown

Sub Wardens elected at Annual Vestry Meeting

 Jennifer Silver

 Basil Bronze

Other members elected at the Annual Vestry Meeting:

 Beryl White (until 25th April 2016)

 Brenda Pink (from 25th April 2016)

 Ronald Purple (Treasurer)

 Timothy Black (PCC Secretary)

The church hall is vested in the name of the Llandaff Diocesan Board of 

Finance who held the property as custodian trustees for the Parish from 1st 

January 2016 to the date this report was approved.
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Structure, Governance and Management

The Church in Wales is governed by its Constitution, set up under section 

13(1) of the Welsh Church Acts 1914, as amended from time to time by 

its Governing Body. The PCC is not a body corporate. Its composition, 

procedures and powers are regulated by the Constitution, which provides 

that before assuming office, every member must sign a declaration that he 

or she will be bound by the Constitution. 

The Constitution also provides that the members of the PCC shall be: 

The Incumbent, Vicars and Assistant Curates; two Church Wardens, one 

appointed by the Incumbent and one elected at the Annual Vestry Meeting 

(AVM); two Sub-wardens for each church where there is more than one 

church in the parish, one appointed by the incumbent and one elected at 

the AVM; up to 25 lay members elected at the AVM; co-opted Secretary 

and Treasurer (if not already ex-officio or elected); and up to 7 further co-

opted members.

The PCC members are elected at the Annual Vestry Meeting by the 

members of the congregation who are on the electoral roll of the Parish. 

All persons over the age of 18 who attend services and are members of 

the congregation are encouraged to register on the electoral roll and seek 

election to the PCC. 

The PCC met six times during the year (75% average attendance). It dealt 

with all the affairs of the Parish and received and considered reports by 

sub-committees established for Finance, Worship and Youth Work.

Objectives and Activities

The Church in Wales is a Province within the Anglican Communion and 

seeks to advance the Christian religion through world-wide mission. The 

Parochial Church Council’s (PCC) objectives are to ensure that church life 

and work within the parish help to fulfil that mission, both locally and more 

widely. 

The PCC is aware of the Charity Commission’s guidance on public benefit 

in “The Advancement of Religion for the Public Benefit” and have regard 

to it in their administration of the parish. The PCC believes that, by fulfilling 

its responsibility to work together with the incumbent in the parish and co-

operate in all matters of concern and importance for the promotion of the 

whole mission of the church, pastoral, evangelistic, social and ecumenical, 

it provides a benefit to the public by:
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• providing resources and facilities for public worship, pastoral care and 

spiritual, moral and intellectual development, both for its members and 

for anyone who wishes to benefit from what the church offers; 

• promoting Christian values, and service by members of the churches 

in the parish to their communities, to the benefit of individuals and 

society as a whole.

The PCC is responsible, inter alia, for the parochial budget and all 

expenditure thereunder, the care and maintenance of church fabric 

and of the churchyards, and for any action or other matter referred to 

it in accordance with the Constitution, and is the normal channel of 

communication between parishioners and the Diocesan Bishop.

REVIEW OF PCC ACTIVITIES AND ACHIEVEMENTS

Here should be recited a summary of the activities undertaken during the 

year, including some indication of the success or otherwise of the church’s 

mission and the achievements of the activities undertaken to fulfil that 

mission.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

1. A brief summary of the state of the church finances and its results for 

the year should be included.

2. A statement of the PCC reserves policy. Perhaps something like:

RESERVES

Unrestricted funds: The PCC policy is to retain at least six months’ 

expenditure as “free” reserves, to meet future shortfalls in income or 

unexpected expense. The balance at 31 December 2016 (£77,654) 

represents 7 months of budgeted expenditure for 2017, but since a deficit 

is budgeted for 2017 it is expected that the balance at the end of the year 

will meet the PCC target.

Designated Funds: The balance of £15,000 on the Church Roof Fund 

represents funds set aside to cover repairs expected to be required by 

the periodic quinquennial inspection which is due to take place in the first 

quarter of 2017. It is anticipated that the funds will be expended by the end 

of 2017. 

APPROVAL

Approved by the Parochial Church Council for the Parish of St David on 

17th March 2017 and signed on its behalf by James Green, Rev. James 

Green, Vicar and PCC Chairman
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1. The law in England and Wales
The Charities Act 2011 (The Act) makes provision for the Independent 

Examination of Financial Statements below the audit threshold. The £500,000 

gross income threshold has been doubled so that, for years ending on or 

after 31st March 2015, the following audit or independent examination 

thresholds apply: 

Income / Gross assets Scrutiny

Income less than £25,000 Secular law: None* 

Income over £25,000 but less than 
£250,000

Independent Examination by a person the 
trustees consider to be competent

Income over £250,000 but less than 
£1,000,000

Independent Examination by a 
professionally qualified examiner:

Income over £1,000,000 Professional Audit

Gross assets over £3.26 million and Income 
over £250,000

Professional Audit

NOTE* Under ecclesiastical law, Parish Church Councils in England must 

have an independent examination even below this threshold – see the Church 

of England Parish Resources website. Other central church authorities may 

issue similar guidance (e.g. The Church in Wales requires all Parish Church 

Councils below the threshold to have an Independent Examination).

However, if the governing document or foundation of any charity, or any 

external regulations affecting its operation (e.g. any over-riding requirement 

by the central authority of a church, or a requirement by a body from whom 

grants are being received) require an “audit”, the option of the less onerous 

requirements of independent examination will not apply.

The definition of gross income for a charity 

Section 353 of the 2011 Act states that a reference to the gross income of a 

charity: “means its gross recorded income from all sources including special 

trusts.” This broad definition is interpreted for administrative purposes by 

the Commission when setting the Annual Return requirements and making 

the Annual Return regulations under section 169 of the 2011 Act. This 

administrative definition of gross income is reviewed annually in preparation 

for the Annual Return process. 

At the time of revising this chapter gross income should be calculated as 

follows:
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Accounts prepared on the accruals basis; ‘gross income’ should be 

calculated as: 

• the total incoming resources as shown in the Statement of Financial 

Activities (prepared in accordance with the SORP) for all funds but 

excluding any endowment; and

• including any amount transferred from endowment funds to income funds 

during the year so as to be available for expenditure. 

(Note that the SORP excludes from total incoming resources gains on 

revaluation of fixed assets or gains on investments, which means that those 

gains do not form part of ‘gross income’ for these purposes, whereas it 

includes any disposal gains on non-investment fixed assets – meaning those 

that were being used for the church’s own functional purposes.) 

Accounts prepared on the receipts and payments basis; ‘gross income’ is the 

total receipts recorded in the statement of accounts excluding endowments, 

loans and proceeds from sale of investments or fixed assets. 

2.  Scotland and Northern Ireland
• Scotland: See the chapter “Charities in Scotland”

• Northern Ireland: Charities must abide by regulations effective for 

financial years from 1 January 2016 (made by the Department for Social 

Development) and the guidance issued by the Charity Commission for 

Northern Ireland. 

3.  What is independent examination
It is a less onerous scrutiny of the financial statements and records than 

would be carried out in an audit by a registered auditor. It provides less 

assurance in terms of the depth of examination and the qualification of the 

person carrying out the inspection. It involves a review of the accounting 

records and a comparison of the financial statements with those records. It 

will also involve consideration of whether the treatment of any unusual items 

is sufficient for the reader to gain a proper understanding from those financial 

statements. It does not involve the verification and vouching procedures 

normally associated with an audit unless material concerns or doubts arise 

and the trustees are not able to give satisfactory explanations.

The examiner does not have to gather evidence to support a positive opinion 

on the financial statements as would be required by an audit. The examiner 
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is not required to form an opinion that the statements show a “true and fair 

view”, but simply to report that: 

• Accounting records have been maintained in accordance with the Act.

• Accounts have been prepared which accord with the records and comply 

with the requirements of the Act.

• The examiner has found no matters to which, in his/her opinion, attention 

should be drawn in order to enable a proper understanding of the 

accounts to be reached.

• If income exceeds £250,000, that the examiner is qualified to carry out 

the Independent Examination in accordance with section 145 (3) and (4) 

of the Act.

4.  Who can be an independent examiner
The Act describes an examiner as “an independent person who is reasonably 

believed by the charity trustees to have requisite ability and practical 

experience to carry out a competent examination of the accounts.” To be 

independent, the examiner must have no close connection with the trustees, 

which might inhibit his impartiality. So, the following would not be considered 

to be independent:

a. A trustee or anybody closely involved in the administration of the charity.

b. A major donor or beneficiary.

c. A close relative, partner, business partner or employee of those covered in 

a) and b) above.

If income exceeds £250,000, the examiner must be a member of one of the 

following bodies, and must be allowed by the rules of that body to undertake 

the role of independent examiner: 

• Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales

• Institute of Chartered Accountants of Scotland

• Institute of Chartered Accountants in Ireland 

• Association of Chartered Certified Accountants 

• Association of Authorised Public Accountants 

• Association of Accounting Technicians 

• Association of International Accountants 

• Chartered Institute of Management Accountants 

• Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators 

• Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy 

• Fellow of the Association of Charity Independent Examiners 
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• Institute of Financial Accountants

• Certified Public Accountants Association

Note, the examiner must verify that he/she is not in breach of his/her 

professional body’s rules before accepting appointment.

For churches with income less than £250,000, examiners do not have 

to be professionally qualified, but the trustees should satisfy themselves 

that the examiner does have ability commensurate with the size of the 

charity and the complexity of its financial statements. So, a church having 

to produce accruals-based accounts should ensure that its examiner has 

a good understanding of FRS102 and the Charities SORP(FRS102) and 

commensurate practical experience of accruals-based accounting.

The examiner should have relevant experience by having been involved with 

financial administration of a similar charity, or by having acted as independent 

examiner for such charities, or by having relevant practical experience in 

accountancy or commerce.

It is important that the church trustees do satisfy themselves that the 

independent examiner they appoint does understand his/her duties and has 

the requisite qualification and/or experience. If they appoint someone without 

taking reasonable steps to ensure the person is not only independent of them 

but does meet the necessary standard of competence, then the trustees 

could be held personally liable at law for any loss suffered as a result.

5.  Appointment of examiner
Trustees should discuss the work of the church and their expectations 

with the proposed examiner. They should satisfy themselves that he/she is 

conversant with the Charity Commission directions, the current Charities 

SORP and its reporting requirements and has the requisite ability and 

experience as well as personal independence of themselves and their charity. 

It is good practice to complete the appointment by the exchange of written 

terms of engagement, but these must not limit the examiner’s statutory 

duties. The examiner can be remunerated for his/her services. A model form 

of a letter of engagement is shown in Appendix I.
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6.  The examiner’s report
The examiner must report to the charity trustees, and the report must:

i. state the examiner’s name and address and the name of the charity 

concerned,

ii. be signed by the examiner and specify any relevant professional 

qualification or professional body of which he/she is a member,

iii. be dated and specify the financial year in respect of which the financial 

statements have been prepared,

iv. if gross income in the year exceeds £250,000, specify the basis upon 

which the examiner is professionally qualified to act,

v. specify that the report is in respect of an examination carried out under 

section 145 of the Act and in accordance with the Directions issued by 

the Charity Commission,

vi. state whether or not any matter has come to the examiner’s attention 

which gives him/her reasonable cause to believe that, in any material 

respect, accounting records have not been kept in accordance with 

section 130 of the Act*, or the statements do not accord with those 

records, 

vii. state whether or not any matter has come to the examiner’s attention 

to which, in his/her opinion, attention should be drawn in the report in 

order to enable a proper understanding of the financial statements to be 

reached,

viii. include particulars, if any of the following matters have become apparent:

a. material expenditure or action that appears not to be in accordance 

with the church’s trusts**

b. information or explanations to which the examiner is entitled has not 

been forthcoming

c. if the inspection is in respect of accruals-based accounts, whether any 

information contained in the Financial Statements is inconsistent with 

information contained in the Annual Report.

NOTE* Or for a charitable company, section 386, Companies Act 2006.

NOTE** This means not only the church’s declared charitable purpose(s) as 

a charity, but also any “restricted” trust funds (of a capital or income nature) 

for which its trustees are publicly accountable and which therefore have to 

be included in its statutory accounts. Charity law requires such restricted 

trust funds to be separately administered, even if only by distinguishing them 

and all their transactions within a combined accounting system, and to be 
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adequately distinguished within the church’s annual accounts, to enable 

these to show that the trust funds have been properly applied as required 

by trust law. Trust funds must be properly safeguarded and applied only in 

accordance with their declared purpose – hence this reporting requirement if 

an apparent breach of trust comes to the examiner’s notice. 

This examiner’s report must be attached to the Financial Statements and 

become part of such statements. A model Examiner’s Report is shown in 

Appendix II. The model shown is a “clean” report, i.e. there are no matters to 

be specially reported following the examination.

If there are matters to be reported as detailed above, a qualified report must 

be issued setting out such matters. Examples of report qualifications are also 

given in Appendix II.

7.  Charity Commission Directions
The Charity Commission Directions define how the reporting duties of the 

examiner must be met. The directions, which are legally binding on the 

examiner for charities in England and Wales, were revised and extended 

in 2016 and are set out, together with appropriate guidance on their 

compliance, in the new version of CC32, the Charity Commission’s website 

publication on the subject, currently awaiting finalisation to take effect for 

financial years ending on or after 31 March 2017. Meanwhile the existing 

Directions in the previous version of CC32 are reproduced below in bold italic 

type, together with explanations from CC32.

Direction 1: Examination and accounting thresholds

The examiner shall carry out such specific procedures as are considered 

necessary to provide a reasonable basis on which to conclude:

i.   that an examination is required under section 145(1) of the Charities Act 

2011, and that section 144(1) (audit) of the Charities Act 2011 does not 

apply to the charity; and

ii.   where the charity is a small company charity, that it is exempt from audit in 

accordance with section 477 of the Companies Act 2006; and

iii.   where accounts are prepared on a receipts and payments basis under 

section 133  of the Charities Act 2011, that the charity trustees may 

properly elect to prepare accounts under this sub-section.

Section 145(1) determines whether an audit is required (gross income 

exceeding £1m or £250,000 if the balance sheet value of gross assets 

exceeds £3.26m) and section 133 determines whether accrual accounts 
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must be prepared (income in excess of £250,000). So this direction concerns 

the examiner making sure that the “gross income” and (if applicable) “gross 

assets” levels are properly calculated and their conformity with the strict 

accounting rules of SORP(FRS102) are considered in order to confirm (i) that 

an audit is not required, (ii) that the examiner is eligible to act if the gross 

income exceeds £250,000 and (iii) that the proper basis for accounting and 

reporting has been chosen (such that gross income receipts do not exceed 

the £250,000 limit if the accounts prepared are not accruals-based). 

See either the Receipts and Payments, or the Accruals Chapter for the 

definition of gross income.

Direction 2: Documentation

The examiner shall record the examination procedures carried out and any 

matters which are important to support conclusions reached or statement 

provided in the examiner’s report.

The examiner should keep working papers (normally for six years) setting out 

how the work was done and what judgments he/she made in completing the 

examination. 

These papers will include: 

• documentation of the appointment, including the examiner’s “engagement 

letter”, which is normally required if the examiner is a member of a 

professional body, even if volunteering;  

• notes of any additional information obtained from the trustees (including 

any relevant extracts from minutes of their meetings); 

• details of examination procedures undertaken, conclusions reached and 

any concerns;

• how those concerns were resolved;

• schedules showing, where necessary, analysis of any items in the 

financial statements; 

• copies of any trial balance, of the statutory Accounts and trustees’ Annual 

Report;

• any written assurances received from the trustees, together with details of 

the amounts involved.

Direction 3: Understanding the charity

The examiner shall obtain an understanding of the charity’s constitution, 

organisation, accounting systems, activities and nature of its assets, liabilities, 

incoming resources and application of resources in order to plan the specific 

examination procedures appropriate to the circumstances of the charity.
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Here it may be necessary to:

• review the current governing documents constituting any material 

charitable trusts for which the church is publicly accountable, as well as 

reviewing those of its own foundation; 

• discuss with the trustees the church’s strategies for achieving its objects; 

• review the church’s mainstream and ancillary charitable activities and 

any fundraising efforts and discuss any management or other problems 

arising, e.g., for compliance with trust law concerning the administration 

and proper application of trust funds;

• review the trustees’ minutes of their meetings relevant to the accounts;

• obtain details of accounting records and methods of recording 

transactions.

Direction 4: Accounting records

The examiner shall review the accounting records maintained in accordance 

with section 130 of the Charities Act 2011, or, in the case of a charity that is 

a company, the accounting records maintained in accordance with section 

386 of the Companies Act 2006, in order to provide a reasonable basis for the 

identification of any material failure to maintain such records.

The legislation requires the church’s trustees to keep “proper” accounting 

records.  (The Charities Act 2011 applies this requirement separately to each 

distinct trust fund for which the church is publicly accountable under the Act 

– even if the church is a charitable company.) These records must account 

for all significant transactions without a gap in sufficient detail, together with 

supporting vouchers, so that annual accounts produced from them can 

satisfy the legal requirements as to form and content, including the necessary 

distinction of any differently restricted trust funds for which the church is 

publicly accountable – but without regard to whether or not those accounts, 

if accruals-based, do in fact show “a true and fair view” as required by law. 

A material failure here would be one that prevents this. This means not the 

occasional clerical error but a gross failure to keep full and accessible records 

of all the church’s transactions. The records should: 

• be organized and capable of ready retrieval and analysis;

• be kept up to date and readily available;

• provide the requisite information not only as at year end but also for any 

selected date;

• contain details and nature of all monies paid and received; 

• contain details of all valuable assets of the church and all significant 

liabilities incurred.
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Direction 5: Comparison with accounting records

The examiner shall compare the accounts of the charity with the charity’s 

accounting records in sufficient detail to provide a reasonable basis on which 

to decide whether the accounts are in accordance with such accounting 

records.

For accruals based annual accounts, all balances should be checked 

against the trial balance and/or nominal ledger. For receipts and payments 

accounts comparison must be with the cash book. Some test checks of 

postings from books of prime entry to ledgers should be carried out, and 

link-schedules showing the derivation from there of selected summarized 

figures in the accounts should also be obtained as part of the examiner’s 

working documents. Bank reconciliations, payroll summaries and any control 

accounts prepared are further useful means of checking completeness of 

posting from books of prime entry. It is not required to check back from 

accounting entries to source documents (invoices, expense claims, suppliers’ 

statements, etc) unless needing more detailed information about a significant 

item in the accounts or if concerns arise that cannot be resolved by seeking 

verbal explanations from the trustees.

Direction 6: Analytical procedures

The examiner shall carry out analytical procedures to identify unusual items 

or disclosures in the accounts. Where concerns arise from these procedures, 

the examiner must seek an explanation from the charity trustees. If, after 

following such procedures, the examiner has reason to believe that in any 

respect the accounts may be materially misstated then additional procedures, 

including verification of the asset, liability, incoming resource or application, 

must be carried out.

The typical analytical procedures undertaken here will include or comprise:

• comparing prior years’ accounts for variances that need explaining;

• comparing the accounts with budgets, again for variances and their 

causes;

• considering whether income and expenditure are consistent with all the 

information the examiner has gathered concerning the activities of the 

church, including any restricted income funds, and similarly whether any 

donations/legacies/grants to endow the church are properly reflected in 

the accounts;

• comparison of the accounts with those of churches of similar size/

structure, to identify any abnormalities that might need special 

explanation or further enquiry;  
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• considering whether the assets and liabilities are consistent with those 

activities and with the funds to which they are attributed in the accounts;

• considering whether investment assets are producing income consistent 

with the nature of such assets;

• comparison of the findings from the above with the trustees’ own 

knowledge of their church and its activities, with a view to ensuring that 

the accounts include enough information to enable the general reader to 

gain a proper understanding of the church’s financial affairs.

Direction 7: Form and content of accounts

The examiner shall carry out such procedures as the examiner considers 

necessary to provide a reasonable basis on which to decide whether or not 

the accounts prepared under section 132 of the Charities Act 2011 comply 

with the form and content requirements of the 2008 Regulations including 

their preparation in accordance with the methods and principles set out in the 

Statement of Recommended Practice: Accounting and Reporting by Charities 

(the SORP). 

Or in the case of a charity that is a company, whether or not the accounts are 

prepared in accordance with section 396 of the Companies Act 2006, and are 

prepared in accordance with the methods and principles of the SORP.

It should be noted here that this and the next Direction cannot apply to 

accounts prepared on a receipts & payments basis, for which the only 

statutory requirement is that they must be factually correct. There are no 

regulations for them in England & Wales (though in Scotland the SORP’s 

related regulations do include a schedule specifying their form and content), 

and they are completely outside the scope of the SORP and FRS102. 

Section 132 of the Act requires that accounts prepared on the accruals 

basis comply with regulations, which essentially means complying with the 

Charities SORP. However, at the time of updating this chapter, SORP 2005 

has been superseded by SORP(FRS102), with an option of SORP(FRSSE) 

available for a financial year starting between 1 January and 31 December 

2015 only, but the 2008 regulations underpinning SORP 2005 have not 

yet been replaced (see (10) below).  So the examiner should ensure that 

if the statements are prepared on the accruals basis, they do comply 

with the relevant SORP, which for financial years from 1 January 2016 is 

SORP(FRS102), and not SORP 2005 as cited in those regulations.

The Statutory Instrument “The Charities (Accounts and Reports) 

Regulations 2008” (No.629) specifies the form and content of Statements of 

Account, details for preparation of Group Accounts (where appropriate), how 

Accounts should be scrutinized (audit and independent examination) and the 
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matters to be reported by the examiner or auditor, and the form and content 

of trustees’ Annual Reports. Here, the examiner only needs to check that 

the Accounts Notes do contain an appropriately worded justification for the 

adoption of SORP 2005’s successor by reference to the “true and fair view 

override” contained in those regulations, as advised in the Commission’s 

website publication CC15c. 

For completeness, unless the trustees have already done so, the examiner 

could use ACAT’s SORP Compliance Checklist to confirm that nothing of 

significance has been overlooked as regards the information contained in 

the accounts and their form and content and that nothing in the trustees’ 

annual report appears to contradict the accounts. The Charity Commission 

conducted a public consultation in 2016 on extending its existing ten 

Directions to thirteen, to apply for year-ends from 31 March 2017 onwards, 

with one of these new Directions being about ensuring that for accruals-

based accounts any conflict of interests has been properly authorized and 

managed as required by law, including appropriate disclosure of any “Related 

Party” transactions – for which SORP(FRS102) sets a materiality level of zero.  

Direction 8: Accounting policies, estimates and judgments

When accounts are prepared under section 132 of the Charities Act 2011, or 

in the case of a charity which is a company, prepared under section 396 of 

the Companies Act 2006, the examiner shall review the accounting policies 

adopted and consider their consistency with the Statement of Recommended 

Practice: Accounting and Reporting by Charities (the SORP) and their 

appropriateness to the activities of the charity. The examiner must also 

consider and review any significant estimate or judgment that has been made 

in preparing the accounts.

Accounting policies, estimates and judgments can have a material effect on 

accruals-based accounts, so these matters do require careful consideration. 

The guiding principle for the examiner is that the explanations set out in 

the accounts notes here should enable the reader to come to a proper 

understanding of the basis on which all significant figures in the accounts 

have been prepared, including any uncertainties that could result in such 

figures later turning out to have been materially wrong either way. The 

constraint here between transparency and confidentiality to avoid detriment 

where negotiations with a third party are ongoing is a sensitive issue for both 

the trustees and the examiner. 

The examiner will need to be familiar with the strict new accounting rules of 

FRS102 on which SORP(FRS102) is based – as was SORP(FRSSE), for that 

matter, except that it allowed existing accounting policies to be continued as 
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long as they did not conflict with FRS102. These new rules are summarized in 

the Accruals Accounts chapter of this handbook. 

Accounts prepared on the accruals basis are normally assumed to be 

consistent with the “going concern” concept that the church’s activities are 

considered by the trustees to be sustainable at least for the next twelve 

months from the date they approve the accounts, so the accounting policy 

adopted for any figures that are instead reported on a ‘cessation basis’ will 

need to be explained. In line with the Financial Reporting Council’s long-

held concerns about the economic sector’s lack of transparency in reporting 

on financial sustainability, the Charity Commission conducted a public 

consultation in 2016 on proposals to extend its ten existing Directions to 

thirteen, applicable for year-ends from 31 March 2017 onwards. Here, they 

will require the examiner to say whether he/she believes the church is in 

financial difficulty if the accounts are on a receipts & payments basis or else 

for accruals-based accounts whether the trustees have carried out a ‘going 

concern’ assessment, documented it, and disclosed in the accounts any 

material uncertainties identified.

Direction 9: Trustees’ Annual Report

When accounts are prepared under section 132 of the Charities Act 2011, or 

in the case of a charity which is a company, prepared under section 396 of 

the Companies Act 2006, the examiner shall compare the accounts to any 

financial references in the charity Trustees’ Annual Report (if any); identifying 

any major inconsistencies and consider the significance such matters will 

have on a proper and accurate understanding of the charity’s accounts.

If the church has to, or chooses to, produce an Annual Report, there 

should be no inconsistency between the disclosures in the report and 

the information contained in the accounts. For accounts prepared on the 

accruals basis, the examiner must ensure that this is so. Otherwise, if the 

trustees do not amend the report to eliminate the conflict, the examiner must 

include details in his/her report. 

There is no such statutory requirement for the examiner to consider the 

trustees’ annual report if the accounts are prepared on the receipts and 

payments basis, but as a matter of best practice the examiner would be 

well advised to check in any case, since significant conflict between the two 

documents could be damaging to the examiner’s own credibility in the public 

mind.

Direction 10: Examiner’s report

The examiner shall review and assess all conclusions drawn from the 

evidence obtained from the examination and consider the implications on 
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the report to be made under Regulation 31 of the 2008 Regulations. If the 

examiner has cause to make a positive statement on any matter arising from 

the provisions of Regulation 31(h) or 31(i), or to make a statement on any 

matter arising from the provisions of Regulation 31(j), then the examiner must 

ensure so far as practicable that the report gives a clear explanation of the 

matter and of its financial effects on the accounts presented.

This direction relates to the various matters in the examiner’s report dealt with 

in section 5.6 to 5.8 inclusive above. Where there are matters to deal with, 

and they can be reconciled by adjusting the accounts and/or accounts notes, 

the examiner must seek the trustees’ agreement to such adjustment. Any 

concerns that remain must be fully explained in the examiner’s report and 

their effect on the financial statements detailed.

In its 27 March 2015 website guidance: “Charity Reporting & Accounting: the 

essentials March 2015” the Commission concludes with a new section 8.4: 

Advice for independent examiners and auditors regarding the application 

of the new SORPs, SORP(FRS102) and SORP(FRSSE) until such time as 

the 2008 Regulations are updated, saying: Until the 2008 Regulations are 

updated, it is recommended that the following reference is made in the first 

section of the examiner’s report as part of any comment on other matters:

 Your attention is to drawn to the fact that the charity has prepared the 

accounts (financial statements) in accordance with Accounting and 

Reporting by Charities: Statement of Recommended Practice applicable 

to charities preparing their accounts in accordance with the Financial 

Reporting Standard for Smaller Entities published on 16 July 2014, the 

Financial Reporting Standard for Smaller Entities (FRSSE) in preference to 

the Accounting and Reporting by Charities: Statement of Recommended 

Practice issued on 1 April 2005 which is referred to in the extant 

regulations but has since been withdrawn. We understand that this has 

been done in order for the accounts to provide a true and fair view in 

accordance with the Generally Accepted Accounting Practice effective for 

reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2015.

Alternatively:

 Your attention is to drawn to the fact that the charity has prepared the 

accounts (financial statements) in accordance with Accounting and 

Reporting by Charities preparing their accounts in accordance with 

the Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic 

of Ireland (FRS 102) in preference to the Accounting and Reporting by 

Charities: Statement of Recommended Practice issued on 1 April 2005 
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which is referred to in the extant regulations but has been withdrawn. We 

understand that this has been done in order for the accounts to provide a 

true and fair view in accordance with the Generally Accepted Accounting 

Practice effective for reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2015.

As mentioned above, the Charity Commission conducted a public 

consultation in 2016 on extending its existing ten Directions to thirteen, to 

apply to year-ends from 31 March 2017 onwards. These require the examiner 

to confirm his/her required independence of the church’s trustee body and its 

management, in line with current best practice in charity governance matters 

generally, and where group consolidated accounts are being examined this 

will include independence from all subsidiaries, associated undertakings, 

etc. The examiner’s required independence is not regarded as compromised 

if he/she is also asked to prepare the accounts as well as to examine them, 

as long as this does not extend to maintaining the accounting records 

themselves, as that is regarded as too close to “management”. 

Statutory duty to report to the Charity Commission (or OSCR, in 

Scotland)

Sections 156 and 159 of the Charities Act  2011 place a duty upon the 

independent examiners of both non-company and company charities to make 

a report to the Charity Commission, where in the course of their examination, 

they identify a matter, which relates to the activities or affairs of the charity or 

of any connected institution or body, and which the examiner has reasonable 

cause to believe is likely to be of material significance for the purposes of 

the exercise by the Commission of its functions listed in section 156(3) of the 

Charities Act  2011.

Only major or material matters should be reported, not small or insignificant 

items, particularly if the matter has been resolved internally. They might 

include deliberate and reckless actions by the trustees but only if they have 

resulted, or could result, in material loss or misapplication of funds. Honest 

inadvertence or errors of judgment are not reportable. In 2016 OSCR led 

a public consultation for itself and the Charity Commission on their joint 

proposal to include three significant new categories of reportable situation. 

The matters to be reported direct to the charity regulator, wherever the 

examiner’s report is issued after 1 May 2017, including textual changes from 

the matters that were previously reportable, as italicised below, also the one 

that is now deleted and the two significant new categories, are:

• Matters suggesting dishonesty or fraud involving a significant loss of, or a 

material risk to, charitable funds or assets. 
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• Failure(s) of internal controls, including failure(s) in charity governance, 

that resulted in, or could give rise to, a material loss or misappropriation of 

charitable funds, or which leads to significant charitable funds being put 

at major risk. 

• Knowledge or suspicion that the charity or charitable funds, including the 

charity’s bank account(s), have been used for money laundering, or such 

funds are the proceeds of serious organised crime, or that the charity is a 

conduit for criminal activity. 

• Matters leading to the knowledge or suspicion that the charity, its 

trustees, employees or assets, have been involved in or used to support 

terrorism or proscribed organisations in the UK or outside of the UK 

(excluding anything prior to 1998 re the N.I. conflict) #. 

• Evidence (obtained in the course of the audit or examination) suggesting 

that in the way the charity carries out its work relating to the care and 

welfare of beneficiaries, the charity’s beneficiaries have been or were put 

at significant risk of abuse or mistreatment#. 

• Single or recurring breach(es) of either a legislative requirement or of the 

charity’s trusts leading to material charity funds being misapplied#. 

• Evidence obtained in the course of the audit or examination suggesting a 

deliberate or significant breach of an Order or Direction made by a charity 

regulator under statutory powers including suspending a charity trustee, 

prohibiting a particular transaction or activity or granting consent on 

particular terms involving significant charitable assets or liabilities#. 

• [Deleted as it has resulted in too many non-actionable notifications: Any 

notification or matter reported to the trustees on resigning as independent 

examiner or matter that the examiner is aware of on resignation or 

ceasing to act that falls within the categories of reportable matters set out 

above.]

• On making a modified audit opinion, emphasis of matter, material 

uncertainty related to going concern, or issuing of a qualified independent 

examiner’s report identifying matters of concern to which attention is 

drawn, notification of the nature of the modification/qualification/emphasis 

of matter or concern with supporting reasons including notification of 

the action taken, if any, by the trustees subsequent to that audit opinion, 

emphasis of matter or material uncertainty identified /examiner’s report.

• (During the audit/independent examination) evidence that significant 

conflicts of interest have not been managed appropriately by the trustees 

and/or related party transactions have not been fully disclosed in all the 

respects required by the applicable SORP, or applicable Regulations.
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NOTE# relates to the “serious incidents reporting regime” under which the 

trustees of registered charities above the accounts filing threshold of £25,000 

gross income must confirm in their Annual Return (Part B) either that they 

have already notified all such incidents or there were none in the financial 

year. (A “serious incident” of concern to the charity regulators is one “that has 

resulted or could result in a significant loss of funds or a significant risk to a 

charity’s property, work, beneficiaries or reputation.”)

The last of the above reporting duties to be imposed on examiners will 

each need careful handling if a good working relationship with the church’s 

trustee-body is to be preserved. In formulating a draft notification to the 

Charity Commission, the examiner will be expected to have fully explored 

the trustees’ own views of the situation in question and the action already 

taken and/or to be taken by them with a view to removing the need for 

that notification. The notifying of non-compliance with Charity Commission 

Guidance on managing “conflicts of interests” will be a judgement-call for 

the examiner, who will need to assess the extent of any private benefit arising 

from unmanaged (or inadequately managed) conflicts of personal interests 

within the context of the Related Party Transactions disclosure requirements 

of SORP(FRS102) that appears to have resulted in “material loss” to the 

church – taking into account the legal obligations of charity trustees to 

pursue a defaulting trustee for restitution. However, the proposed notifying 

by the examiner of any Related Party transaction that has not been “fully 

disclosed in all the respects required by the applicable SORP” could be a 

step too far unless it can be modified as a result of the public consultation 

to exclude non-disclosures below the regulator’s radar for regulatory 

intervention – given that the Commission’s pragmatic threshold for private 

benefit to charity trustees currently turns a blind eye below £1,000.

Where a reporting duty arises the examiner should report the matter by email 

to Whistleblowing@charitycommission.gsi.gov.uk  which should include: 

• the examiner’s name and contact address, telephone number and/or 

email address; 

• the charity’s name and registration number (if applicable); 

• a statement that the report is made in accordance with section 156 of the 

2011 Act; 

• under which of the eight headings of reportable matters (see paragraph 

11.3) the report is being made; 

• describe the matter giving rise for concern and the information available 

on the matter reported and, where possible, provide an estimate of the 

financial implications; 
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• where the trustees are attempting to deal with the situation, a brief 

description of any steps being taken by trustees of which the examiner 

has been made aware; 

• if the report concerns terrorist, money laundering or other criminal activity 

whether you have notified the Serious Organised Crime Agency and/or 

Police as appropriate; and 

• if the report concerns the abuse of vulnerable beneficiaries whether you 

have informed the Police and/or Social Services. 

 Appendix I – Letter of Engagement
[The phrases in square brackets and italics should only be included when the 

examination is of accounts prepared on the accruals basis.]

FROM (insert the proper name for the governing body of the church) 

To (insert name of examiner) 

DATE…….

Dear ……..

Engagement as independent examiner

The purpose of this letter is to set out in confirmation of our recent 

discussions the basis on which you will act as independent examiner to 

prepare a report in respect of the church’s financial statements for the year 

ended…………….... in accordance with Section 145 of the Charities Act 2011 

(the Act).

Responsibilities of (insert the church governing body)

As members of (insert the proper name for the governing body of the church), 

we are responsible for maintaining proper accounting records and for preparing 

accounts which [give a true and fair view and] and comply with the requirements 

of the Act and the Charities SORP. We are also responsible for determining 

whether, in respect of the year, the church meets the conditions for exemption 

from an audit of the accounts set out in Section 145(1) of the Act, and for 

providing you with information and explanations required for your examination.

Responsibilities of the independent examiner

You will plan your work on the basis that an independent examiner’s report on 

the accounts is required for that year, unless we inform you in writing to the 

contrary. 
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As an independent examiner you have a statutory duty to state in your 

report whether any matter has come to your attention in connection with the 

examination which gives you reasonable cause to believe that in any material 

respect:

• accounting records have not been properly kept in accordance with 

Section 130 of the Act; or

• the accounts do not accord with the accounting records or do not comply 

with the Regulations [other than in respect of the requirement for a true 

and fair view].

You also have a statutory duty to disclose in your report [inconsistencies 

between the accounts and the annual report and any] matters coming to your 

attention during the examination to which, in your opinion, attention should 

be drawn in order to enable a proper understanding of the accounts to be 

reached.

Should your work lead you to conclude that the (insert the church governing 

body) is not entitled to exemption from an audit of the accounts or should 

you be unable to reach a conclusion on this matter then you will not issue any 

report and will notify us in writing of the reasons. In these circumstances, if 

appropriate, you will discuss with us the need to appoint an auditor.

Scope of the independent examiner’s work

Your work will be carried out in accordance with general directions setting out 

the duties of an independent examiner issued by the Charity Commission. 

Your work as independent examiner will be a less onerous form of scrutiny 

than an audit of the accounts in accordance with Auditing Standards. 

Your examination will include a review of the accounting records kept by the 

(insert name of church governing body) and a comparison of the accounts 

presented with those records. 

It will also include a review of the accounts and consideration of any unusual 

items or disclosures identified. In such cases where you identify an unusual 

item, you will seek explanations from us, and may carry out verification and 

vouching procedures where you require further clarification. [Similarly you 

will make assessments of the estimates and judgements made by us in our 

preparation of the accounts where they are material to the accounts.]

Your work cannot be relied upon to identify the occasional omission or 

insignificant error, nor to disclose breaches of trust or statute, neglect or 

fraud which have taken place and which it is our responsibility to guard 

against. Should you become aware, for any reason, that the accounts may 
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be misleading and we cannot agree appropriate amendments, and you then 

conclude that the matter cannot be adequately dealt with in your report, you 

will not issue any report and will withdraw from the engagement, and will 

notify us in writing of the reasons.

As part of your normal procedures, you may request us to provide written 

confirmation of any information or explanations given by us orally during the 

course of your work.

Fees

(insert what has been agreed concerning fees)

Confirmation

Once it has been agreed, this letter will remain effective, until it is replaced 

or until you cease to hold the position of independent examiner. We shall be 

grateful if you will kindly confirm your agreement to the terms of this letter by 

arranging for the signature, and return, of the attached copy.

 Appendix II – Examiner’s Report
Independent Examiner’s Report to the Trustees of …………….. Church. 

I report on the accounts of the church for the year ended ……………., which 

are set out on pages 00 to 00. 

Respective responsibilities of trustees and examiner

The church’s trustees are responsible for the preparation of the accounts. 

The church’s trustees consider that an audit is not required for this year 

under section 144(2) of the Charities Act 2011 (the 2011 Act)) and that an 

independent examination is needed. 

It is my responsibility to:

• examine the accounts under section 145 of the 2011 Act);

• to follow the procedures laid down in the General Directions given by the 

Charity Commission (under section 145(5)(b) of the 2011 Act); and

• to state whether particular matters have come to my attention. 

Basis of independent examiner’s report

My examination was carried out in accordance with the general Directions 

given by the Charity Commission. An examination includes a review of the 

accounting records kept by the charity and a comparison of the accounts 

presented with those records. It also includes consideration of any unusual 

items or disclosures in the accounts, and seeking explanations from you as 
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trustees concerning any such matters. The procedures undertaken do not 

provide all the evidence that would be required in an audit and consequently 

no opinion is given as to whether the accounts present a ‘true and fair view’ 

and the report is limited to those matters set out in the statement below.

Independent examiner’s statement

Since the gross income for the year exceeds the amount provided in section 

145(3) of the Act, I confirm that I am qualified to act as Independent Examiner 

under the provisions of that section of the Act and that my qualification is as 

shown below. (Delete if income less than £250,000.)

In connection with my examination, no matter has come to my attention:

1.   which gives me reasonable cause to believe that in any material respect 

the requirements

•   to keep accounting records in accordance with section 130 of the 

2011 Act; and

•   to prepare accounts which accord with the accounting records and 

comply with the accounting requirements of the 2011 Act have not 

been met; or

2.   to which, in my opinion, attention should be drawn in order to enable a 

proper understanding of the accounts to be reached.

(Name)     (Date)

(Relevant professional qualification or body)

(Address)
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Examples of qualification

1.  Concerning investments and market value. 

The church held shares listed on a recognised stock exchange as a fixed 

asset investment with a market value at the balance sheet date of £x. These 

assets have been included in the accounts at their cost of £y, resulting in 

their value being understated by £z in the balance sheet. In this respect the 

accounts do not comply with the accounting requirements of the 2011 Act.

In connection with my examination, no other matter except that referred to in 

the above paragraph has come to my attention: (insert the rest of this section 

of the report, as above)

2.  A restricted receipt may need to be repaid.

In connection with my examination, no matter has come to my attention, 

……………………with the accounting requirements of the 2011 Act have not 

been met.

The accounts disclose the receipt of a restricted grant of £x, of which £y was 

expended in the year. A concern exists that the unexpected balance of £z, 

which has been carried forward as a fund balance, may need to be repaid to 

the donor.

No other matter has come to my attention in connection with my examination 

to which, in my opinion, attention should be drawn in order to enable a 

proper understanding of the accounts to be reached.
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1. Why churches need licences etc.
There are many occasions where religious organisations will need a licence or 

will need to comply with a mass of legislation covering their activities.

• Does the church arrange public collections outside of church?

• Are words or music copied for church services? The church may have 

hymn books which include copyright royalties in the purchases price but 

if copies of the words or music are needed or preferred a royalty may be 

due.

• Are church services recorded, e.g. video a wedding or baptism? A service 

may include music in which there will be a copyright, hymns which will 

have a copyright, and perhaps other material.

• Is live or recorded music played, or are videos or films, shown in a church 

service or at some other church sponsored event such as a church youth 

group or parent and toddler events?

• Does the church arrange concerts by the choir or by a visiting 

organisation, and are they recorded? Musicians are entitled to copyright 

in their performance and the music itself and the words may have their 

own copyrights.

• Are internet performances recorded? Just because the performance is 

publicly available on the internet there is no right to distribute it to anyone 

else.

• Are song lyrics and/or chords and lead sheets downloaded? Royalties are 

due on any distribution of such material, downloaded from the internet.

• Are pictures from the internet downloaded for presentations, magazines, 

etc.?”

• Are any lotteries or gaming organised?

• Are refreshments provided before or after church or at fundraising events?

• Many typical fundraising events currently require some sort of license or 

permit. It is important that the organisers check exactly what permits are 

required and apply for them in good time.

The following are some of the problems to be considered.

2. Public collections outside of church
The Charities Act 2006 has a section on 2011, at section 15(1), includes as 

one of the Charity Commission’s general functions the issuing and revoking 

of certificates under Chapter 1 of Part 3 of the 2006 Act to those officially 

authorised to organise Public Charitable Collections, but this section has not 

been enacted yet. In the meantime, the previous law is still applicable.
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a. House to house collections

These are regulated by the House to House Collections Act 1939, and the 

House to House Regulations 1947 and 1963.

Collection for money or other property requires a licence granted by the 

appropriate local authority, or in London by local police or Common Council 

of the City of London. In the case of small collections (e.g. carol singers 

at Christmas) an exemption may be obtained from the local police where 

a collection is local and will be completed in a short time. In the case of 

national collections an exemption may be obtained from the Home Secretary 

so that individual consent need not be obtained from each local authority.

House to house collections include visits to public houses, offices and 

factories to appeal for money, other property (e.g. clothes), or to sell things 

on the basis that part of the proceeds will go to charity.

Collections of money must be made in a sealed collecting box, by a collector 

with a certificate of authority and a badge. All collectors must be over the 

age of 16 and all boxes must be opened in the presence of a promoter 

and another responsible person. Accounts in a prescribed form have to 

be submitted within one month of the expiry of the license. For national 

collections an envelope collection is often made. Regulations concerning age 

of collectors, wearing of badges and certificates apply equally to this type of 

collection.

b. Street collections

These are regulated by the Police, Factories etc., (Miscellaneous Provisions) 

Act, 1916, as amended by Section 251 and Schedule 29 of the Local 

Government Act, 1972.

Street collections, or selling goods for charity in streets or public places, 

also require a permit from the local authority, the police in London, or the 

Common Council of the City of London. Regulations state (inter alia) that 

collectors are required to remain stationary whilst collecting and at least 25 

metres apart and there are similar rules for the opening of collecting boxes 

as mentioned above. They also deal with such matters as obstruction, 

hindrance, etc. The local authority should be consulted before raising funds 

in this manner is attempted.



Copyright, Licences & Fundraising Regulations 

233

3. Copyright
Copyright is the provision made by law to give its owners the right to charge 

for the use of original musical, literary and dramatic works and to prevent 

any changes to it. The right is given to the creator of the work involved and 

includes such works as books, paintings and drawings, films and videos and 

music. Some works include copyright belonging to many different people, so 

for example a film will have a copyright in the film belonging to the maker of the 

film, a copyright belonging perhaps to the author of the original book and to the 

person who adapted  it for filming and perhaps to the composer of the music 

included in the film. Under current legislation, copyright usually lasts for seventy 

years, save in certain exceptional circumstances.  If the copyright owner dies 

during this period of protection, the beneficiaries of the estate will be entitled to 

collect royalties from licensing the commercial or public use of his/her original 

works - except in certain circumstances, for example, where an Open Licence 

has been granted, which typically grants royalty-free use.

In our current climate, where it is easy to reproduce sound and vision by 

photocopying, recording on a tape recorder or disc or downloading from the 

internet, it would be easy to avoid paying the creator of almost any work. 

There are therefore a number of different organisations whose object is to 

license the use of copyright material and collect royalties on behalf of the 

owners of the copyright.

Licences include Church Copyright Licence, Music Reproduction Licence, 

a licence for photocopying from non-music publications and magazines, 

Church Video License, PRS for Music Church Licence, PPL for playing 

recorded music in public, Event Licence Song Select Licence which is 

needed for music downloaded from the internet.

For churches, there is an organisation, Christian Copyright Licensing 

International (CCLI), which collects on behalf of most of these organisations 

in most circumstances (but not all) so that in general there is only the need 

to apply to this one body for the appropriate licences. They do not however 

cover everything but will advise, where they do not, who you should contact 

for other licences.

4. Music and performing rights
Recent legislation has reduced some of the exemptions previously enjoyed 

by charities, but it has been confirmed that the charitable statutory 

exemptions for the public performance of recorded and broadcast music will 
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apply to music used in divine worship. Further, Phonographic Performance 

Limited (PPL) has agreed on a voluntary exemption for the use of broadcast 

and recorded music as part of divine worship anywhere. This will also 

apply to all religious ceremonies and domestic or family occasions such as 

wedding parties as long as no entry fee is charged, see: http://churches.

uk.ccli.com/licenses/ppl/. If, however, the event in question is being recorded 

or filmed and sound recordings are being played, those making the recording 

will require a PPL/PRS Limited Manufacture Licence.

PPL’s Churches Tariff will still apply to the following uses of sound recordings 

in churches and their associated buildings, irrespective of the means 

of playing the recordings such as CDs, radio broadcasts or television 

broadcasts (other than background music provided by jukeboxes):

• as background music for occasions such as coffee mornings, fetes etc;

• in variety shows, talent contests and pantomimes (if within the rights 

controlled by PPL);

• as part of music quizzes;

• during aerobic, keep fit and exercise classes;

• during bingo sessions; bazaars and exhibitions;

• as telephone music on hold; and

• during balls, dances, discotheques, and other social events with dancing.

For further information, please see PPL’s Churches Tariff at http://www.ppluk.

com/Documents/Tariff%20PDFs/PPLPP115.pdf

So where music is played in any form on other occasions or at a fundraising 

event, whether it is live or recorded, a licence will be needed. This could 

involve more than one person’s copyright as in the case of a tape, record 

or compact disc. Not only will the composer own copyright, but also the 

performers on the recording and the recording company itself will have 

rights relating to the public performance of the recording. Permission must 

be obtained from the owner of the copyright whenever there is a public 

performance; fundraising events will almost always be treated as public.

It is not usually necessary to apply for permission to play the music or 

recording of each individual composer or record company concerned, 

as most songwriters, composers and music publishers are members of 

the Performing Rights Society (PRS) and the majority of record labels are 

members of Phonographic Performance Limited (PPL), both of which license 

the playing of sound recordings in public on a bulk basis. PRS issues an 

annual licence permitting the performance of musical works. Most venues 

which have regular events (including recorded music), will need to obtain a 



Copyright, Licences & Fundraising Regulations 

235

PRS Annual Licence and this will include many village halls, church halls and 

community centres. If an annual licence is not in place, it will be necessary 

to obtain a licence for an individual fundraising event. PPL, representing both 

recording companies and performers on their recordings, will also require 

that an annual licence be obtained from them by venues whenever recorded 

music is to be played in public.

Community buildings playing recorded music in public are now, in almost 

all cases, required to hold a PPL as well as a PRS licence. From 2012, a new 

joint music licence for community buildings, incorporating charges from both 

PRS and PPL was introduced, with PRS issuing the licence on behalf of 

both. In summary, the charges (as at 1 April 2016) are calculated as follows 

(provided defined income does not exceed £75,000 per annum):

PPL

• For community buildings with an annual income of £10,000 or less: 

£47.50 per annum (subject to annual adjustment for inflation)

• For community buildings with an annual income of over £10,000: 1% of 

annual income PRS

• 1% of annual income subject to a minimum charge of £47.50 per annum

The PPL tariff does not apply to third party hire to commercial organisations 

and individuals earning an income from providing the activity such as 

aerobics classes, practice and social dance classes/sessions or any event 

where the profit does not go entirely to the voluntary organisation (to this 

extent, responsibility for holding the relevant PPL licence rests with the hiring 

third party).

Income is defined as door takings and similar takings of the host voluntary 

organisation (the community association or management committee); hiring 

charges received from hirers of the building (but not the door takings of those 

hirers if retained by them); subscriptions; and the net contribution from food 

and bar takings where they accrue to the voluntary organisation. Income 

should exclude Value Added Tax; capital grants; revenue grants; interest 

from accounts; gifts and donations whether or not specified by the donor for 

a particular purpose (such as capital building work or assets, legacies and 

bequests).

Fact sheets relating to the  PRS/PPL tariffs mentioned above can be found 

at: 

• http://www.prsformusic.com/Documents/CommunityMattersMP_

Factsheet_v3_HR.pdf
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• http://www.prsformusic.com/ppljointlicence/Pages/communitybuildings.

aspx

Tariffs:

• PRS Community Buildings Tariff: 

https://www.prsformusic.com/SiteCollectionDocuments/PPS%20Tariffs/

cb-tariff.pdf 

• PPL Churches Tariff 

http://www.ppluk.com/Documents/Tariff%20PDFs/PPLPP115.pdf 

• PPL Community Buildings Tariff: 

http://www.ppluk.com/Documents/Tariff%20PDFs/PPLPP116.PDF

ACAT is indebted to Brian Miller partner at Stone King LLP for editing 

this section of the handbook chapter.

5. Lotteries and gaming
Lotteries are now governed by the Gambling Act 2005, and in some form or 

another are one of the most common forms of fundraising, either as a free-

standing scheme or as part of a fund-raising event. A lottery is essentially a 

distribution of prizes entirely by chance where a financial contribution has 

been made by those taking part. If there is any element of skill, then it will not 

be a lottery, but it may still be regulated under the Gambling Act 2005. There 

are two main types of lottery that will apply to churches, regulated by the Act:

• exempt lotteries

• society lotteries

a. Exempt lotteries

These are usually carried out at a Bazaar, Sale of work, Fete, Dinner, Dance, 

Sporting or Athletic event, or other entertainment of a similar character. No 

license is required for this form of lottery provided:

• the lottery is not the main purpose of the event at which it takes place; it 

must be incidental to the event;

• tickets must be sold and results declared at the event; no lottery tickets 

may be sold beforehand;

• proceeds must be devoted to purposes other than private gain;

• deductions from proceeds for expenses must not exceed £100 and 

deductions for prizes must not exceed £500.
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b. Society lotteries

These are normally larger lotteries, where in particular there is no event to 

which they are incidental and where the tickets are sold over a period of time. 

Where the ticket sales will exceed £20,000 (or if taken with other lotteries 

in the same year exceed £250,000) registration with the Gaming Board is 

required. Otherwise the church must register with the Local Authority

There are restrictions relating to ticket sales, prices, prizes, expenses and 

accounting and anyone acting as a promoter of a “Society Lottery” must 

make sure that all the restrictions and regulations are strictly complied with. 

The Local Authority should be consulted for advice.

c. Gaming

Gaming is the playing of a game of chance for winnings in money or money’s 

worth and includes such popular fundraising events as bingo, bridge and 

whist drives.

Organisations can provide non-commercial gaming for charitable or other 

non-commercial purposes (e.g. to raise funds for a society) at events where 

none of the proceeds from the event itself are used for private gain, and when 

the participating players have been told what “good cause” is to benefit from 

the profits from the gaming. There are two types of gaming:

i.  Prize gaming: where the prizes are put up in advance, and are not 

dependent on the number of players taking part or the amount of money 

staked. There are no statutory limits on stakes, prizes, participation fees 

or other charges for this type of gaming.

ii.  Equal chance gaming: where the amount or value of the prizes varies 

according to the number of players who participate and/or the amount of 

money they stake. Here a single payment of £8 per day may be charged 

to cover admission, stakes and any other charges for playing. The total 

value of prizes must not exceed £600 in one day. Where an event is the 

final one of a series in which all of the players have previously taken part, 

a higher prize fund of no more than £900 is permitted.

Some of the games and the provisions under which they can be organized 

are:

• Bingo - both types of gaming

• Poker, bridge, whist, cribbage - equal chance gaming

• Casino nights – prize gaming

• Race nights - are events in which participants stake money on the 

outcome of recorded or virtual races, where the selection is totally 
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dependent on chance, and where no “odds” or “form” are available to 

assist the selection, - may be organized under either the prize or equal 

gaming rules. Where the “race night” is not the only or main purpose of 

a non-commercial event, it may be possible to operate it as an incidental 

“exempt” lottery as detailed above. In this case there are no limits on 

the amount that players may be charged to participate, but prizes and 

expenses limits for exempt lotteries apply.

Information on licensing of lotteries is available from the Department of 

Culture Media and Sport https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/

department-for-culture-media-sport

6. Food preparation and provision
The Food Safety (General Food Hygiene) Regulations introduced in 1995 

cover the sale of food. The term “sale” has an extended meaning, which 

would cover most supplies of food including, refreshments before, in or after 

church, refreshments at a garden fete, a cake stall or a soup lunch, a supper, 

or any food supplied by the church in the course of its activities.

The regulations include provisions that there should be adequate facilities 

to prepare and serve food safely; food handling procedures should avoid 

exposing food to risk of any contamination. The local Health and Safety 

Inspector will determine whether facilities are adequate for the purpose of 

the regulations and a church hall, or a kitchen attached to a church, which 

is sometimes used for preparation and/or sale of food will normally require 

inspection. This may well result in the need for some alterations to the 

kitchen such as the need for an additional hand wash-basin. There may also 

be need for food preparers to have obtained suitable qualifications.

Food prepared by volunteers in their own kitchens and brought to an event 

for sale or distribution is acceptable provided the person responsible for 

catering at the event is satisfied that it has been properly and safely prepared.

“Starting Up: Your first steps to running a catering business” is a booklet 

available from the Food Standards Agency: it can be downloaded from 

their website https://www.food.gov.uk/sites/default/files/multimedia/pdfs/

publication/starting-up-booklet.pdf or ordered from 0845 606 0667; it is a 

good basic summary of the requirements.
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7. Health and safety
Health and safety regulations apply to any event organized by the church as 

much as they do to the church’s normal day to day activities and premises. 

Organisers will need to take them into account. See the Health and Safety 

chapter of this handbook.

8. The Licensing Act 2003
This act brings together a number of licensing activities, which were 

previously administered separately, and became fully effective in November 

2005. The following are the main items likely to affect churches, subject to 

denominational guidelines.

a. Licensable activities include:

• The sale by retail of alcohol.

• Regulated entertainment.

• Late night refreshment (i.e. supply of hot food or drink between 11p.m. 

and 5 a.m.) Exemptions apply if the provision is free of charge or by a 

registered charity.

If entertainment is made available to the public for a charge or consideration 

with a view to making a profit it is regulated entertainment if it also includes:

a) a performance of a play

b) an exhibition of a film

c) an indoor sporting event

d) boxing or wrestling

e) a performance of live music

f) any playing of recorded music

g) a performance of dance

h) entertainment similar to that falling within paras (e), (f) or (g)

In the past, certain performances or activities in churches have required 

an entertainments licence. However, the provision of any entertainment or 

entertainment facility for the purposes of, or for purposes incidental to, a 

religious meeting or service, or at a place of public religious worship, is not 

to be regarded as the provision of regulated entertainment, so no licence is 

required.
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b. Other exempt activities

Certain other activities often carried out by churches will also be exempt. 

They include:

• A film show demonstrating a product, advertising goods or services, or 

providing information, education or instruction.

• Live or recorded music if it is incidental to an activity that does not fall 

within the definition of regulated entertainment.

• Simultaneous reception and relaying of television or radio broadcasts.

• Entertainment at a Garden Fete or any function of a similar nature 

provided the function is not for private gain.

• A performance of Morris dancing or other dancing of a similar nature or 

unamplified live music, which is an integral part of the performance.

c. Tombolas and Raffles 

(including those with prizes of alcohol) are not licensable activities provided:

• They are not part of a licensable entertainment.

• They are not for private gain.

• The alcohol is in a sealed container.

• Tickets are sold and results declared only at the entertainment premises 

and during the entertainment.

• Taking part in a Lottery is not the only or main inducement to attend the 

entertainment.

d. Church Hall and Outdoor Events are likely to be the main areas of 

concern to churches. A new, more relaxed arrangement replaces temporary 

permissions. A licensable activity organiser will supply a Temporary Event 

Notice (TEN) to the licensing authority provided:

• There will be no more than 499 people involved.

• A premises can now have 15 TENS provided total length of all events is 

not more than 21 days.

• An event must not last longer than 168 hours (7 days)

• A single organiser can only issue 5 TENs per year.

• There is a minimum of 24 hours between events.

The organiser must give notice (in duplicate) of a TEN to the relevant 

licensing authority (with a copy to the police) at least 10 working days before 

the event and must include a fee of £21. The information to be included in the 

TEN includes:



Copyright, Licences & Fundraising Regulations 

241

• the activities that will take place;

• the period proposed to use the premises for those activities;

• the times during which licensable activities are to take place;

• the maximum number of persons to be allowed on the premises at any 

one time;

• if the supply of alcohol is involved, whether the supplies will be for 

consumption on or off the premises or both;

• where the licensable activities include the supply of alcohol, the condition 

that all such supplies are made by or under the authority of the premises 

user (the event organiser).

Provided that the criteria set out above are met, only the police may intervene 

to prevent an event covered by a TEN notice taking place, or agree a 

modification of the arrangements for such an event and then only on crime 

prevention grounds.

e. Full Licences

If the criteria for TENs cannot be met, the church will have to apply for a full 

premises licence. Application must incorporate

• a completed application form;

• an operating schedule;

• a plan of the premises in the prescribed form; and

• if the application includes the supply of alcohol, a form containing 

the consent of the proposed designated premises supervisor in the 

prescribed form.

Application and annual fees are normally payable, but if the application is 

only for regulated entertainment in a church, village, parish or community hall, 

or in a school (to be carried on by the school for school purposes), no fees 

are payable.

f. Information

A wealth of information covering alcohol and entertainment licensing is 

available from: https://www.gov.uk/topic/business-enterprise/licensing

Licensing authority

The licensing authorities are the local authorities, and many of their sites also 

include useful information.
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9. Is there anything not requiring a licence
Apart from specific references above to exemptions, in the case of copyright, 

though it exists in most liturgy, a charge is not usually made for non-

commercial reproduction of it. Acknowledgment of the copyright is however 

required.

At present it is permitted without licence to play music from CDs or cassettes 

during church services, but not at other times. This does not however extend 

to playing films or scenes from films.

Copyright law allows exemptions for what is called Fair Dealing and allows, 

in limited circumstances, for works to be reproduced without permission 

of the copyright owner. The exemption allows for single copies to be made 

for non-commercial research or private study, criticism or review provided 

suitable acknowledgment is included. Exactly what can be reproduced under 

this heading is far from clear and is subject to interpretation by the courts. It 

is usually considered appropriate only where there is limited economic impact 

from the publication. The amount of the work that is being copied is not 

necessarily relevant to whether fair dealing may apply.

10. What action should the church take?
Where the owner of the copyright is known and there is no “Open Licence” 

available for it, you may be able to obtain his/her permission to do what is 

intended. Take care that what is being reproduced does not include rights of 

other people beside the person being asked. If you are asking a solo singer if 

their performance may be recorded for resale, there may also be copyright in 

the music and words to be considered as well.

For most other occasions it would be well to contact CCLI who will give a 

health check on the sort of things the church is doing. CCLI can be contacted 

on Customer Services: 01323 436100   

Copyright owners / Publishers: 01323 436104 

CCLI Chantry House 22 Upperton Road Eastbourne East Sussex BN21 1BF
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1.  The major schemes of giving
Giving to charity can be done in many ways and as far as churches are 

concerned the most common is by means of a collection of alms at services. 

Such giving, though very useful, is the least efficient from a tax point of view. 

Further, because it is in cash, it leaves the church open to the potential of a 

loss where adequate controls are not in place. Control over cash is dealt with 

separately in the handbook chapter on internal controls.

The Government provides a number of ways in which individuals and 

companies can give where there is a tax incentive.  Briefly, these are:

• Payments under Gift Aid

• Payments under the Gift Aid Small Donations Scheme (GASDS)

• Payroll giving

• Gifts under the terms of a will

• Lifetime gifts, including stocks and shares, life insurance, policies and 

leasehold and freehold property

The following paragraphs give details of how the above schemes operate. It 

should however be noted that, in relation to Gift Aid, donors must pay income 

tax or capital gains tax, at least equal to the tax to be recovered on their gift 

aid payments; if they do not HMRC will require a payment from the donor of 

the difference.

If an individual does not pay tax there is no advantage in making payments 

under Gift Aid or payroll giving. With this exception there is no reason why 

every member of your congregation should not make most gifts in money to 

your church in a tax efficient manner.

2.  Gift Aid
A Gift Aid payment can be of any amount: there is no upper or lower limit. 

There must be evidence of the payment in the church’s accounting records to 

show who has made the payment. A number of rules apply:

• The gift must be of money and can be made in cash, by cheque, by bank 

transfer (e.g. a standing order), or on-line (including text giving).

• In general there should be no benefits provided to the donors but certain 

minimal benefits are acceptable.  These benefits must not amount to 

more than:

o 25% of the gift where the gift is not more than £100

o £25 where the gift is between £100 and £1,000
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o 5% where the gift is over £1,000 but not more than £50,000 

o £2,500 as the maximum value of any donor-benefit for larger gifts 

• Gifts from individuals require a Gift Aid Declaration (see appendix for a 

model form).

• Companies can make Gift Aid payments of money (as well as of goods 

and services, including staff secondments) but they do not deduct tax; 

they receive relief against their company taxation. Charities cannot 

therefore recover any tax from such a payment.

3.  Gift Aid Declarations
In order to reclaim tax on a payment received from an individual, the charity 

must obtain from the donor a Gift Aid Declaration. These forms must be retained 

carefully by the church. There is no standard form of Gift Aid Declaration but 

it must contain certain information, detailed below, and make reference to 

guidance provided by HMRC. The form can apply to a single payment or to 

a series of payments (e.g. all previous donations and this donation; or: this 

donation and all future donations). A declaration once given can be withdrawn at 

a future date and will not therefore apply in respect of any payments made after 

the donor’s notification that the declaration has been withdrawn. This is only 

likely to be an issue if a taxpayer ceases to pay tax for any reason.

The declaration must show:

• The name of your church

• The name of the donor

• The address of the donor with post code

• A note of which payments the declaration is to cover

• A statement that the gift is to be treated as Gift Aid

• A statement that the donor is a UK taxpayer and understands that if 

they pay less Income Tax and/or Capital Gains Tax in the current tax 

year than the amount of Gift Aid claimed on all their donations it is their 

responsibility to pay any difference.

• It need not be signed

With effect from March 2012, HMRC issued new guidance on the wording 

to be included in the declaration concerning the donor having paid sufficient 

tax. All charities must amend their declarations to include the wording shown 

in the Model Gift Aid Declaration in the appendix to this chapter.

HMRC have confirmed that old declarations for enduring donations (i.e. 

those already in existence for regular stewardship giving), using previous 

wording, will remain acceptable, Nonetheless, churches might consider that 
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it is appropriate to get their declarations up-to-date and arrange for donors to 

provide new declarations.

The declaration must be dated when this is necessary to determine which 

payments are covered. For example, a declaration which uses the words “all 

donations I make from the date of this declaration” must be dated.

If you receive a donation from someone who has not provided a Gift Aid 

Declaration, you can ask that person if they would be prepared to make it 

a Gift Aid payment after the event. If they agree, you should send them a 

statement containing all the above information and informing them that unless 

you receive a note from them to the contrary within 30 days, it will be treated 

as a Gift Aid payment. You should keep a copy of your letter as the declaration.

Where you have Gift Aid Declarations, which cover more than one payment, 

it is also necessary to keep a note of any changes to the Declaration (e.g. 

change of address). This is so that should HMRC conduct one of their audits 

of your records, they can check each of the donors’ tax returns using the 

original declaration and the information about any changes.

You will thus need to develop a system to ensure that the declarations can 

be found easily at any time. Records should be retained for six years and 

declarations will need to be kept for six years from the date of the most 

recent payment covered by it.

4.  Tax benefits of Gift Aid
A payment under Gift Aid allows the church to claim tax back from HMRC 

and for the donor to claim tax relief at the higher rate of tax where the donor 

is a higher rate taxpayer. Tax repayment claims by your church do not have to 

be made only annually but can be submitted more frequently where there is a 

worthwhile sum of money to reclaim.

The amount of tax that can be reclaimed is the basic rate of tax; currently, 

until there is any further change in base rate, 20%. The assumption is, that 

when the donor made his payment to the church he paid it out of net receipts 

in his hands (i.e. that he had already paid tax). In effect the assumption is, 

that in respect of any payment, he has paid tax of 20p in the £ to HMRC 

and that he is paying the church the remaining 80p in each £. So the tax 

recoverable is 20/80 of the gift.

If the donor is a higher rate taxpayer he can claim, on his tax return, relief for 

the tax he has paid above the basic rate. Thus if a donor gives you £800, the 

gross amount is assumed to be £1000 (with basic rate tax of 20%) and:
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• The church reclaims 20/80 of £800, i.e. £200

• The higher rate taxpayer can claim 40% of £1,000, less the £200 the 

church has claimed, i.e. he can recover £200.

The church reclaims tax at basic rate even if the donor is only paying tax at 

a lower rate, because it is the total of tax paid by the donor from any source 

(income and capital gains taxes) which must exceed the total tax reclaimed 

by the church and by all other charities and community amateur sports clubs 

(CASCs) benefiting from gift aid donations from that individual. The donor 

may have to make good any shortfall to HMRC if the total tax he/she has 

paid in the year is less than that which is reclaimed. The church treasurer is 

not and should not be involved with any such adjustments.

Claims for Gift Aid can be made no later than four years after the end of the 

accounting period to which the claim relates. So, for donations made during 

an accounting period ended 31 December 2013, the final date on which a Gift 

Aid repayment claim can be made to HMRC Charities is 31 December 2017.

5.  Making Gift Aid claims
Detailed explanations of how to sign up for HMRC online services and enrol 

for online Gift Aid claims are on the HMRC website at: https://www.gov.uk/

guidance/claim-tax-back-on-donations-using-charities-online

To reclaim tax, the church must first register with HMRC and obtain a 

“HMRC Charities reference that starts with X or C” by completing the online 

registration process at: https://www.gov.uk/charity-recognition-hmrc. The 

church will also have to register with HMRC an individual who is authorised 

to make the repayment claims on behalf of the church. If these change, you 

must notify HMRC of the changes on form ‘ChV1’.

Churches must ensure that their trustees and anyone involved in the day-to-

day running of the organisation are ‘Fit and Proper Persons’. HMRC guidance 

explains the need for charities to ensure that their managers are suitable to 

hold such posts and, in particular, that they haven’t been involved in tax fraud 

or disqualified from being a charity trustee. The guidance which, includes a 

“Fit and Proper Persons Helpsheet” (which also includes a model declaration 

managers can sign) can be found at: https://www.gov.uk/government/

publications/charities-fit-and-proper-persons-test.

Ordinarily, the forms (both the online and paper forms) require a list of all 

the amounts received, completing the columns: Title, First name, Last 

name, House name or number, Postcode, Donation date, Amount. Amounts 

received from a single donor via a “blanket” declaration should be grouped 
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and entered under the date of the last instalment of those donations; these 

are referred to as a series of donations.

Small donations (of less than £20 or less from different donors) may be added 

together and shown as one entry. The total of each line must not exceed £1,000. 

If the online claim is for aggregated donations do not fill in the donor detail 

fields, but enter in the aggregated donations column a short description to 

enable identification of the relevant Gift Aid declarations and payment records. 

These aggregated amounts should not be confused with the series of donations 

from a single donor detailed above. On the paper form tick the appropriate box.

All the donations for someone participating in a sponsored event can 

be aggregated as one entry under the name and personal details of the 

participant. Additionally, on the online form enter “yes” in the Sponsored 

Event column, or tick the appropriate box on the paper form. If there is any 

individual donation within the sponsored event of £500 or more it must be 

shown as a separate line on the Gift Aid claim form.

The information required in all claims will be:

• title

• donor initials or first name

• donor surname

• house name or number (or full address where the post code is not known 

or the address is abroad)

• postcode (where available for UK addresses only)

• date of payment (or latest in a series of payments)

• the amount of the donation or the total for the series during the period 

covered by the claim

There are three ways of making a claim:

• Option 1: Online using the HMRC online system 

• Option 2: Online using your own or proprietary software

• Option 3: Using the paper form

a.  Claims made online

To make claims using an online HMRC form or through your own database/

proprietary system the church needs to sign up to use HMRC’s Online 

Services, and enrol for Charities Online.

To do this you will need to:

• Sign up for an organisation Government Gateway account - you will only 

need to do this once.

• Enrol to use the HMRC Charities online service. You will be asked to enter 

some ‘known facts’ about your charity.
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• Activate the Charities online service account using the Activation Code 

which will be sent by post from the Government Gateway.

Detailed explanations of how to sign up for HMRC online services and enrol 

for online Gift Aid claims are on the HMRC website at: https://www.gov.uk/

guidance/claim-tax-back-on-donations-using-charities-online

b.  Claims made using HMRC online form

This option can be used to submit a Gift Aid repayment claim, or a top-up claim 

under GASDS. The Online claim form (in the form of a spreadsheet) has fields 

that must be completed, and when submitting the claim, the online system 

automatically checks that the information has been entered in the correct format. 

Up to 1,000 Gift Aid donations can be claimed by completing and attaching a 

schedule as a spreadsheet.  The HMRC spreadsheet in either Excel or Libre 

Office format can be downloaded from: https://www.gov.uk/government/

publications/gift-aid-schedule-spreadsheets-to-claim-back-tax-on-donations

It is possible for churches to maintain their own spreadsheet or database 

systems for recording Gift Aid receipts. The information can then be cut 

and pasted onto the HMRC spreadsheets, provided the information is in the 

format required by the HMRC spreadsheet.

c.  Claims using propriety software or the church’s own system/database

This option is for those who file Gift Aid claims for more than 1,000 donations, 

although it can also be used to make smaller claims. Those choosing this 

option will be able to send one claim per day directly from their own internal 

database or system, with details for up to 500,000 Gift Aid donations. 

Churches wishing to use this system will either need to develop their own 

compatible software package or purchase a suitable package from a software 

provider. If your church is thinking of buying software to make a claim using the 

Charities Online service, HMRC has published a list of commercial software 

and suppliers that have tested their own products and provided evidence that 

they interact with the Charities Online Service. See the list at the Charities 

Online software from commercial suppliers’ link below: https://www.gov.uk/

government/publications/charities-online-commercial-software-suppliers 

and the technical specification for software at: https://www.gov.uk/

government/collections/charities-online-support-for-software-developers

Examples of such software which is compatible are:

• Donations Co-ordinator:  http://www.datadevelopments.co.uk

• Paxton Charities Accounting:  http://www.paxtoncharities.co.uk

• Fund Filer:  http://www.fundfiler.com
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d.  Claims using the HMRC paper form

This option is intended for those who don’t have access to the internet. 

There is a paper repayment claim form, called a ChR1. If this option is 

chosen form ChR1 can be ordered from the HMRC Charities Helpline 0300 

123 1073. The form must be completed and returned by post to HMRC. 

The form is designed so that HMRC can automatically scan the information 

into the new system. Old R68 forms or photocopies of the ChR1 will not be 

accepted because the new system will not be able to scan the information. 

There is no limit to the number of claims that can be submitted on the ChR1. 

Continuation sheets for the form (called ChR1CS) can be requested so that 

details of up to 90 Gift Aid donations can be made on each individual claim.

6.  Gift Aid records
HMRC require you to keep sufficiently detailed records for them to be able to 

check at any time that your claim forms have been correctly completed and 

that tax reclaimed for any period chosen for inspection relates to genuine, 

bona fide Gift Aid payments you have received in that claim-period. There 

must be a complete “audit trail” for HMRC to follow. This means that you 

need to be able to demonstrate that money has been received from specific 

individuals, that it has been properly banked and that the amount received 

is supported by an appropriate Gift Aid Declaration. It is, in any event, good 

practice to keep such records but it is necessary to bear in mind that you 

may receive a visit from HMRC to check that your records are adequate. 

This is happening increasingly often, so it is very important to make sure that 

the job of the HMRC auditors is as easy as possible. Charity auditors may 

also require access to your Gift Aid records in the course of their audit work, 

subject to materiality considerations, and to a lesser extent independent 

examiners if they need to enquire further in the course of their work.

There are some complicated rules about the length of time records should 

be maintained but, HMRC have confirmed that records should be kept for at 

least six years after the year tax year to which the claim relates. The records 

to be kept are all those necessary to demonstrate the audit trail. For Gift Aid 

Declarations (including the details of changes of information on those forms) 

the period should be for as long as the declaration remains in force plus six 

years from the date of the last receipt to which any record relates.

From a practical point of view, it is helpful for people who give regularly to your 

church to sign standing orders as this means that the bank statement becomes 

first class evidence of the donor and the money received from him/her.
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This is also helpful to the church in financing its day to day expenditure and 

saves you having to collect donations and deal with hard cash. There are 

also circumstances where it can also be clearly embarrassing if bank notes 

are used for payments. Some donors may remember giving money to you, 

which they may not have done, and it is also quite possible for a treasurer, 

as a busy person, innocently to mislay or forget about cash he has received 

before it has been recorded in his accounts. Finally, HMRC may challenge the 

receipt of cash or where it has come from, particularly if the audit trail is not 

of the very best. If possible try to receive money by standing order or cheque.

7.  Gift Aid Small Donations Scheme 
(GASDS)
Eligible charities (including churches) are able to claim top-up payments in 

respect of small cash donations received after 6 April 2013. The relevant 

legislation is in The Small Charitable Donations Act 2012 and The Small 

Charitable Donations Regulations 2013, as amended by the Small Charitable 

Donations and Childcare Payments Act 2017 (The ACT).

GASDS may be claimed on individual cash donations of £20 or less (including 

donations given under an envelope scheme if the donor has not given a Gift 

Aid Declaration). The scheme applies to small cash donations, received on 

or after 6 April 2013. Only small cash donations not made under Gift Aid can 

qualify, and any cheques, standing orders or text receipts cannot be included 

within the scheme, but from 6 April 2017 this exclusion does not apply to 

cash gifts made by contactless payment-card (debit or credit) and Android/

Apple Pay or similar where no record identifying the donor is retained. The 

qualifying donations must be paid into a UK bank account.

Provided the church is eligible (see a. below), for periods prior to 6th April 

2017, it can claim both a single “top-up” GASDS payment for donations 

limited to £8,000 received anywhere in the UK (£5,000 for accounting periods 

beginning before 6th April 2016), and similar GASDS “top-up” payments for 

any other cash donations received in the course of delivering its charitable 

activity in its “community buildings” provided that charitable activity was 

attended by 10 or more people (see c. below).

However, for any charity “connected with another”, there was only one “top 

up” claim covering all the connected charities. HMRC took the view that 

churches in “denominations” were connected, so could only claim on the 

donations in “community buildings” (see b. below).
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In both cases, this is provided the church is making Gift Aid claims equal to 

at least one tenth of the amount claimed under GASDS (see d. below). All 

churches using Gift Aid should be able to benefit from this scheme.

From 6th April 2017, The Act abolished some of the eligibility rules (see a. below) 

and provided that a claim can be made for either the “top-up” payment in 

respect of donations received anywhere in the UK, or the “community buildings” 

payment for each such building and its local authority area in respect of 

donations received there - but not for both “top-up” and “community buildings”.

Although it is not Gift Aid, the top-up payment from HMRC, and likewise 

the equivalent payment in respect of community buildings, is calculated in 

the same way as a Gift Aid payment. Where the basic rate of income tax is 

20%, for small cash donations totalling £8,000 in a tax year the church will be 

entitled to claim a top-up payment of £2,000.

The scheme is based on tax years (ending 5 April each year) and not on 

calendar years or the accounting year of the charity. The claim for the top-up 

payment must be submitted within two years of the end of the tax year in 

which the donations were received.

Claims are made by the same means as Gift Aid Claims (see the three 

options for making gift aid claims, above), but do not necessarily have to be 

made at the same time as a Gift Aid claim.

Although the principle is relatively straightforward, the GASDS is complicated 

by the issues of:

• eligible charities (see a. below)

• connected charities (see b. below)

• community buildings (see c. below)

• the matching rule (see d. below)

a.  Eligible charities

As with any other charity, for claim periods prior to 6 April 2017 a church has 

been eligible to use the scheme if the church:

• has existed for at least 2 complete tax years before the relevant tax year 

for the claim; and

• has made a successful Gift Aid claim in at least 2 of the previous 4 tax 

years. There must not be a period of 2 or more tax years between those 

claims or between the latest claim and the year of the particular claim; and

• has not incurred a penalty relating to a Gift Aid or GASDS claim in the 

current or previous tax year.

The first two of the above criteria are removed from 6th April 2017 by The Act 

(see above).
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The criteria for eligibility will have relevance where two or more churches 

are combined to create a new church and, therefore, a new charity. In this 

situation, the new charity can apply to HMRC in order to benefit from the 

compliance history of the previous charities. This may allow the new charity 

to claim under the GASDS straight away, even though it will not have a 

Gift Aid history of its own. The contact details are: Charities, Savings and 

International 2, HM Revenue and Customs, BX9 1BU

b.  Connected charities

In broad terms, a charity is “connected” to another charity if the two charities:

• have the same or substantially similar purposes and activities; and

• are controlled by the same or connected persons.

An example of connected charities is where the local charity is separately 

established but operates as a branch under the control of a national or 

regional ‘lead’ charity. The issue of ‘connected’ churches has been subject 

to review and it is important for denominations to clarify any ‘connected’ 

status for its individual churches. For example, guidance now on the Parish 

Resources website about how HMRC’s rules are to be applied has indicated 

that from 6 April 2017 Parochial Church Councils within the Church of 

England, with only one church should now (from 6 April 2017) claim the 

single-church top-up payment (not previously available to individual PCCs, 

as HMRC deemed them to be connected with all other PCCs within their 

Diocese – virtually trivializing the top-up payment each could claim). The new 

rules for GASDS have also been further clarified on the HMRC website in 

revised guidance dated 6 April 2017.

Conversely, any PCC or other charity that has more than one church (including 

church plants), and any set of connected charities, should claim the community 

buildings payments as below instead of the single-church top-up payment. 

(The general understanding prior to 6 April 2017 was that denominational 

churches should be treated as connected charities through their denominational 

structure, so only able to claim the community building allowances.)

c.  Community buildings

The maximum amount of eligible donations for each of a charity’s community 

buildings (or those used by a set of connected charities) is £8,000 (£5,000 for 

accounting periods beginning before 6th April 2016) per annum.

For a church building to count as a community building, it must be used 

for charitable purposes (e.g. worship or occasional offices) at least six 

times a year, with at least ten people (including children) in attendance as 
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beneficiaries. Until 5th April 2017, the donations which are to be included in 

the ‘community building amount’ must be collected while running charitable 

activities within the building, when 10 or more beneficiaries are in attendance. 

From 6th April 2017, the donations which are to be included in the ‘community 

building amount’ can include any donations collected at any time in that building 

or elsewhere within the same local authority area; 10 beneficiaries do not have 

to be present each time, provided 10 beneficiaries are present on at least six 

occasions to satisfy the “community building” test. Cash received in wall boxes 

cannot be included within the ‘community building amount’ for claim periods prior 

to 6 April 2017 as the donations do not relate to the running of charitable activities 

in the building, whereas since then they can. Proceeds, other than pure donations, 

from activities carried out primarily for the purposes of fund raising, e.g. jumble 

sales, concerts, etc., do not qualify as charitable activities for this purpose. 

A building owned by another organisation, hired by a church as a place of 

worship, can be regarded as a community building. A building can be a 

community building for a number of charities. Most church plants (meeting 

in schools, village halls or other community buildings) will be able to claim on 

up to £8,000 of small donations received in each tax year in that building or 

(from 6 April 2017) in its local authority area, if they are separate charities with 

their own HMRC registration. 

 However, venues such as residential care homes, private homes and charity 

shops do not qualify as community buildings for this purpose. In addition, 

buildings on the same or adjacent land are classed as one community 

building and, therefore, many church halls will not be eligible for additional 

amounts (see chapter 8 of the HMRC 6 April 2017 guidance on GASDS).

d.  The matching rule

Every £10 of donations claimed under the Gift Aid Small Donations Scheme 

must be matched with £1 of donations claimed under Gift Aid in the same 

tax year. For example, if the total value of donations claimed under Gift Aid is 

£300 for a particular tax year, the maximum value of donations which can be 

claimed under the GASDS for that tax year would be £3,000.

e.  Top-up (GASDS) principles for a single-church charity which is not 

“connected” with another charity (see b. above) (Applicable largely to 

independent churches, for claim periods prior to 6 April 2017)

For claim periods prior to 6th April 2017, it can claim:

• a top-up payment on up to £8,000 (£5,000 for accounting periods before 

5th April 2016) per tax year in the form of small cash donations collected 
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while running charitable activities in any of its community buildings, 

provided at least 10 people (including children) are present as its 

beneficiaries at the charitable activity.

• an additional top-up payment on up to £8,000 (£5,000) per tax year of 

other small cash donations that were not collected while carrying out 

charitable activities in its community buildings. This could, for example, 

include street bucket collections or a church wall box.

As an illustration, an independent church with two qualifying community 

buildings will have had a small cash donation limit of £24,000 (£15,000) 

per tax year, i.e. £8,000 (£5,000) for donations received in each community 

building and £8,000 (£5,000) in small cash donations collected outside the 

church, or in the church when it was not running a charitable activity.

From 6th April 2017 such a church may only claim either the “top-up” 

payment (in respect of donations collected anywhere in the UK) if it only has 

one church, or the “community buildings” allowance if it has two or more 

such buildings (in respect of donations collected at any time in each such 

building and its local authority area).

f.   The “Community Buildings” (GASDS) principles for a multi-church 

charity, i.e, which is “connected” with another charity (see b. above) 

(Applicable to most “denominational” churches, for claim periods both 

prior to and after 6 April 2017)

It will have a small cash donations limit prior to 6 April 2017 on up to 

£8,000 per tax year (£5,000 for tax years beginning before 6th April 2016) 

of donations collected while running charitable activities in each of its 

community buildings, known as the ‘community building amount’’, provided 

at least 10 people (including children) were present as its beneficiaries at the 

charitable activity.

For example, a multi-church / charity with two qualifying community buildings 

will have a small cash donations limit of up to £16,000 per tax year, i.e., a 

limit of £8,000 for donations received in each community building.

In a set or ‘group’ of “connected” church-charities, prior to 6 April 2017 the 

£8,000 limit applies to each of its community buildings for the small cash 

donations collected while running charitable activities in which at least 10 

beneficiaries participate, as above.

From 6th April 2017 such a multi-church charity, or each such “connected” 

church-charity, can claim the “community buildings” GASDS payment for 

each qualifying building it uses to collect up to £8,000 in donations at any 

time either in that building or within the building’s local authority area. 
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Example

A charity has 3 community buildings in a Local Authority area. During the tax 

year the charity collected £15,000 in eligible small donations inside this Local 

Authority Area. £4,000 was collected inside of one community building and 

therefore the charity can only allocate the £4,000 to that particular building. The 

remaining £11,000 was collected outside of the community buildings and can 

be allocated to the 3 buildings in any way of the charities choosing, as long as 

the amount allocated to each community building does not exceed £8,000. 

If your charity has collected more small donations in a Local Authority area 

than it can claim under the £8,000 per building limit you won’t be able to 

claim a GASDS top-up on the amounts collected over the £8,000 per building 

limit because these extra donations cannot be claimed under a community 

building outside of the Local Authority area. 

g.  GASDS records

The church must keep records because HMRC may ask to see them. The 

church should follow best practice guidance for cash-handling. The minimum 

requirement is a record in respect of each collection claimed which shows the 

total collected analysed between cheques, bank notes in excess of £20, and 

notes and coin of £20 or less. It can then be assumed from this record that 

the notes and coin of £20 or less are the small donations eligible for claim. 

Ideally, the record should show the amounts collected analysed between:

• Cheques

• Contactless receipts

• £50 notes

• £20 notes

• £10 notes

• £5 notes

• Coins

This analysis can then be compared with the record of the amounts banked 

(copy of paying in slip) in a UK bank account. It is not necessary to keep 

details of each donor. However, arrangements should be in place to note 

any single donation of over £20 made in notes and/or coins, as well as 

any cheques. Such donations must, of course, be deducted from the total 

amount collected in arriving at the amount on which GASDS is to be claimed.

The “collection” record should include the date of the collection and ideally 

the name of the persons who collected it. In a church service situation this 

may not be practical but the record should record the names of the persons 

who counted the cash and are responsible for the record.
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If the cash was collected from participants in the course of running charitable 

activities in a community building, you will need to keep the following 

additional records:

• the address and postcode of the community building

• the date the cash was collected

• a note of what the event was

• a note of the number of people attending the event; the exact number is 

not necessary if it’s clear that the numbers attending were a lot more than 

10, so a note, for example ‘more than 20’, would be acceptable.

As with Gift Aid records, GASDS records should be retained for six years 

after the tax year to which the records relate.

8.  Envelope schemes
Many churches run an envelope scheme by which members make regular 

weekly or monthly payments.

Since Gift Aid can apply to any size of payment and to a series of payments 

to a charity (including your church), the envelope scheme can benefit from Gift 

Aid. The donor must provide a Gift Aid Declaration. There must be an audit 

trail, which HMRC can follow to check that you have received the appropriate 

amount of money from each person.

What, then, is required? The scheme works by providing each member with a 

distinctive number and a set of weekly envelopes upon which is printed this 

distinctive number. The donor fills the envelope with their gift each week and 

places the envelopes in the collection when they attend church.

The envelopes should be opened (preferably by two people) and the amount 

in each envelope should be recorded on the face of the envelope and on a list, 

with the amounts being entered against the correct number. The total of the list 

will then be banked so that the figure can be checked onto the bank statement. 

It is good practice that annually each donor is provided with a note of the 

amount they have given in the previous year for checking (hence the benefit of 

having two people opening the envelopes to avoid possible disputes).

As previously stated, a Gift Aid Declaration must be obtained from the donor, 

so that these Envelope Scheme payments are covered by the Declaration.

For the purposes of envelope schemes, this latter requirement can be worded 

to cover all future (and even past) payments made by the donor and so save 

considerable effort in collecting and retaining pieces of paper.
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Wording can be flexible and could include “all donations I make on or after 

this date until I notify you otherwise” or, “all donations I have made since 

6th April 2000 and all donations I make on or after this date until I notify you 

otherwise”, or “all donations ……. until my death”.

Deeds of Covenant which started before 6th April 2000 continue to be 

effective for Gift Aid until they expire or until the donor increases payments 

(whichever is the earlier). The documentation for such deeds (tax form and 

covenant form) that was provided is accepted as a Declaration for Gift 

Aid for payments after 6th April 2000 up to the amount of the covenanted 

sum. When the covenant expires or if payments are increased a Gift Aid 

Declaration is then required.

9. Loans – a warning
Church members will often make loans to assist with a major project. If at a 

later date the lender decided to turn all or part of the loan into a gift, Gift Aid 

cannot be claimed. To overcome this problem, the loan must be repaid and 

the lender must then pass the cash back to the church as a gift.

10. Using agents for regular giving
The submission of repayment claims to HMRC and the maintenance of 

records gives rise to significant effort. Usually this is well worthwhile. 

However, if this is a matter with which you have difficulty it is possible to 

use other organisations to relieve you of this burden. Usually these are 

charitable organisations in their own right and they can claim the tax back on 

your behalf. Such organisations include Stewardship Services and Charities 

Aid Foundation. Under these arrangements, the donor makes his Gift Aid 

payment to the chosen organisation on trust for your church/charity, and that 

organisation will reclaim the tax and add it to the sum donated. They will then 

remit the gross money to you less a small handling charge.

11. Payroll giving (give as you earn)
This scheme is designed to encourage employed people to make donations 

to charity. It gives relief entirely to the donor in respect of their gifts to charity.

The donor decides the amount of the gift and gives instructions to his or her 

employer to deduct these sums from his or her earnings. The donor’s PAYE 

is computed on the amount of the earnings less the deduction under the 

scheme so that the donor obtains tax relief for the gift. The employer then 
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arranges for the money deducted to be sent to the charity of the employee’s 

choice and this can be your church.

The scheme has to be operated by the employer but because of the added 

administrative burden, not all employers provide the facility. Nevertheless, it is 

a simple way of giving where the employer is prepared to join in this scheme. 

There are no limits to the amount which can be given under the scheme 

(other than the amount of wages earned by the donor).

As treasurer there is little administrative consequence from people giving in 

this way since there is no tax reclaim for the treasurer to make.

12. Gifts under wills
Any bequest to a charity under a will is free of inheritance tax. This is a valuable 

tax break. Most members of our churches are not wealthy but many will own 

a home that is now sufficiently valuable to create an inheritance tax liability. 

Inheritance tax is not paid on gifts to charity and so the church treasurer does not 

need to take any action concerning tax when the church benefits under a will.

You will however need to look closely at the information provided by the 

executors. If they have received income from the estate in the course of 

their administration, which under the will is due to the church, the executors 

should provide you with a certificate setting out the amount of tax deducted. 

You will be able to reclaim this tax at the same time as your recover the tax 

on Gift Aid receipts.

Where you are entitled to any part of the Remainder of an Estate there may 

also be issues relating to capital gains tax, which need to be considered. 

Advice on these aspects is well beyond this Handbook and you should seek 

professional assistance.

In the March 2011 budget, the Government announced a substantial 

incentive for individuals to leave gifts to charities. For deaths after 6th April 

2012, a reduced rate of inheritance tax (IHT), 36% rather than 40% (the then 

current rate), applies where 10 per cent or more of a deceased’s net estate 

(after deducting IHT exemptions, reliefs and the nil rate band) is left to charity.

Example: For an estate with gross value of £500,000, the net estate 

(assuming a £325,000 nil rate band), is £175,000, so IHT is £70,000 leaving 

£430,000 for beneficiaries. Under the charity relief given here, if 10% of the 

net estate (£17,500) is left to the church, IHT will be £56,700, the church will 

receive £17,500 and the beneficiaries £425,800. So for a modest cost of 

£4,200 to the beneficiaries, the church would receive £17,500.
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13. Lifetime gifts
Normally, a gift to a non-charity of shares, life insurance policies and freehold 

and leasehold property attracts capital gains tax (in some circumstances 

income tax) and if the donor dies within seven years Inheritance Tax is also 

payable. However, gifts of these assets to a church are free of tax. If the 

donor sells the asset and passes the proceeds to the church, the tax reliefs 

are lost. It is important therefore, that even if the church would prefer cash, 

the asset should be transferred to the church before it is sold. Stamp duty 

is not payable on a gift of shares provided the appropriate declaration is 

completed on the stock transfer form.

14. Non-charitable expenditure – HMRC 
restrictions
In order to enjoy tax free status (including the ability to reclaim tax on gift aid 

contributions), a charity’s expenditure must be incurred solely for charitable 

purposes. Non-charitable expenditure could include payments to overseas 

bodies without adequate controls to ensure its proper application (including 

payment to an independently managed overseas branch or office of the 

charity – ie, one that is not controlled by your church’s trustee-body) and 

certain transactions with substantial donors.

a.  Overseas payments

Payments to overseas bodies will only be regarded as charitable if:

• the payment is made to a foreign supplier of goods or services in the 

ordinary course of the charity’s activities; or

• the charity takes steps that HMRC consider reasonable to ensure that the 

payment is applied for charitable purposes according to English law (HMRC 

apply the English Law test even for charities in Scotland and Northern Ireland).

When reviewing payments made to overseas bodies HMRC will generally ask 

the charity trustees to provide information about:

• the person or persons to whom the payment was made

• the charitable purpose for which it was made

• what guarantees or assurances have been given by the overseas body 

that the payment will be applied for the purpose for which it was made

• what steps the trustees took to ensure the payment was in fact, or will be, 

applied for charitable purposes

• what follow-up action the trustees took to confirm that payments were 

applied properly.
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The steps to be taken by the trustees will depend upon the nature and size 

of the expenditure and will range from a simple exchange of correspondence 

up to obtaining legally binding assurances in a form that is enforceable in the 

overseas country.

Many churches make payments to UK registered charities involved with 

overseas mission. These payments are not affected, but where the church 

makes direct payments overseas the trustees need to make sure that the 

operation they are supporting meets HMRC guidelines. Full details can 

be obtained from: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/charities-

detailed-guidance-notes/annex-ii-non-charitable-expenditure

b.  Tainted donations

HMRC has guidance about this at: http://www.hmrc.gov.uk/charities/

guidance-notes/annex8/annex_viii.htm

The rules apply where UK-taxpaying donors attempt to obtain private financial 

advantage (for themselves or persons closely connected with them) from a 

tax-relievable donation made to a charity or CASC. The rules do not apply to:

• a simple donation with no inter-dependent arrangements intended to 

benefit the donor or a close connection (whether legally enforceable or 

not);

• a donation under Gift Aid within the Gift Aid donor-benefit limits;

• a donation from a qualifying charity-owned company or a connected 

social housing provider;

• a donation, any private benefit from which has been taken into account in 

calculating the tax relief due for donations to charity of shares, securities 

and real property, or trading stock.

The previous “substantial donors to charity” rules were repealed in respect 

of transactions taking place on or after 1 April 2011, provided the donation 

before then would not have been a “tainted donation” under the new rules.

Where a donation is tainted but otherwise would have qualified for Gift Aid, 

charities can still make a repayment claim to HMRC; however, income tax 

will be charged by HMRC in connection with this repayment, equal to the 

amount the charity would have been entitled to claim had the donation not 

been tainted (whether or not the repayment claim has been made). In practice 

HMRC will look to the donor and any other financially advantaged person first 

for payment of this tax charge.  HMRC would not charge the charity if did not 

claim the Gift Aid tax in the first place (or has had to repay it to HMRC for any 

reason), and even then only if the charity had been party to, and aware of, the 

donor’s arrangements to obtain financial advantage from it.
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It is unlikely that a church would intentionally enter into an arrangement 

designed to give a donor an improper tax benefit; but it is not unknown for 

unscrupulous people to pose as legitimate donors in order to derive some 

improper benefit for themselves, and Finance and Stewardship Officers are 

strongly urged to read the full guidance.

 Appendix 1:  Model Gift Aid declaration
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 Appendix 2: Model sponsorship 
declaration
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1. Christian stewardship principles
Christian stewardship begins from recognising that all we have and all we are 

is a gift of God. It is a principle based on thanksgiving and commitment of 

time, talents and money. This chapter is chiefly concerned with the financial 

aspects. Fundraising, a wholly laudable task, is the process of accumulating 

income in response to an appeal for resources to meet a need; it will only 

be a product of the principle; it is neither the reason nor the excuse. The 

challenge of stewardship is to properly respond to a generous God whose 

measure is pressed down and overflowing and whose example is in the total 

self-giving of His only Son.

The “Stewardship Campaign” challenge, in those churches which use this 

process, inevitably includes elements of fundraising as well as thanksgiving 

because those challenged will hopefully be at all stages of responsiveness 

to both God and His church. So how should it be tackled? This chapter sets 

out to provide pointers, not solutions. Every challenge, every church group, is 

different and there is no ‘one-size-fits-all’ solution.

2. Outside advisers
Most denominations have access to direct stewardship advice. Nearly 

all churches have professional advisers, contactable through the central 

organisation (for example in the Church of England through the Diocesan 

office). Other denominations vary between those with professional 

advisers and those with volunteer advisers again through the organising 

administration. There are of course independent professional consultants as 

well as voluntary groups such as the Anglican Stewardship Association. Any 

church group planning to mount a “Stewardship Campaign” challenge to its 

membership is well advised to seek advice. A poorly prepared programme 

can create a situation from which it takes a long time to recover.

3. Planning the campaign
All campaigns follow the same basic outline; what is it we want to say to our 

members and who are the members?

The first stage in the process is one of review and planning. The aim is to 

produce an action plan, which will stimulate the membership to be active 

participants; volunteers, donors and givers - all combining to support the 

church in its gospel mission. The way the review is conducted will depend 
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on the resources available. The most effective method is to use an outside 

consultant to help lead the church through the evaluation and planning 

process. Analysis processes such as SWOT - looking at the Strengths and 

Weaknesses, the Opportunities and Threats - during a church conference 

(away from the church for a day or a weekend) can be useful at this stage. At 

the end of it the church group must come up with an action plan.

The second stage is to define the membership. The core congregation will 

be easy to define - they will probably be the group involved in the review 

mentioned above. However, there are those who need to be considered who 

will not have been confident enough to be involved initially. In small rural 

churches the membership may include the whole resident community. In 

urban churches the membership may be a list of people with whom there has 

been some, any, form of contact. This list might include, (in addition to the 

core membership) any persons known to have attended the church over a 

period of time, Sunday school families, births, baptisms, marriages, deaths 

- any that are known to have had contact or be in sympathy with the church. 

The task of the planning committee, (yes there has to be a committee!) is to 

define to whom the challenge is to be put.

4. The action plan
There is no substitute for detailed analysis and planning of a campaign. 

Every step, every publication, every move must be carefully considered, and 

the whole process fitted into a time schedule. This ensures that everybody 

concerned knows what is expected, where they fit in, and the date by which 

they should complete their tasks. No campaign benefits by being long 

and drawn out, but it is also important that sufficient time is allowed for 

completion of all the tasks. 

The things to consider might include: (the list is not exhaustive, it merely 

serves to demonstrate the detail)

• Who is to be responsible for seeing that all the steps are properly carried 

out and completed?

• What is the challenge we want to pose?

• If it is financial - has the treasurer quantified the requirement (or how long 

does he/she require) - how do we want to communicate this financial 

position?

• Is there to be a “launch” of the campaign or some special event at which 

it will be introduced - where - what - when?
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• If there are leaflets or other printing involved - who is going to draft them 

- what arrangements for review - who is going to and how are they to be 

printed?

• How are the “visitors” to be chosen, trained, allocated a reasonable 

number of visits to make?

• What arrangements are required to acknowledge, to follow up and 

implement the stewardship promises.

5. Presenting the challenge
The next decision is how to present the challenge. Most of us know of and/

or have experienced Stewardship Campaigns where excellent plans are 

gathering dust behind the clock on the mantelpiece for want of a method 

to close the deal. Some church members may shudder at that phrase - it 

smacks of a commercialism that strays from the theology of the joyful 

giver - but getting a promise is what the stewardship programme is about. 

Wonderful brochures, sumptuous suppers, lively launches and indeed worthy 

plans all come to naught if there is no technique for gathering the promises or 

the pledges of support. If “visitors” are to be involved, they must be ready to 

make the challenge and to get the commitment - if there is any likelihood that 

this may not happen, perhaps other ways of communicating the challenge 

should be considered.

6. Face to face presentation
There can be no doubt that the best way for the challenge to be presented 

is by one church member talking, face to face, to another. The task is basic, 

to inform, to share our own commitment, to challenge the other person and 

(hopefully) obtain some clear promises. Stewardship visits, by trained visitors 

properly prepared for the task of bringing this fourfold activity into the lives 

of others is a powerful and potentially church-changing experience. It is also 

fraught with problems; who will visit and who will train them is just the start. A 

bad stewardship visit can be a disaster, and a reluctant visitor who has been 

“pressed” into service can be the subject of such an outcome. A great deal of 

thought needs to be given to this subject.

If the membership list is small and the enthusiasm and commitment is great 

then tackling a restricted list of members may not be too difficult. However, 

the problems to be faced by (for example) a small village church struggling to 

convey a message to its whole community can be daunting.
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7. Alternative presentations
There are other ways to carry the message - all set to fulfil the same fourfold 

task detailed above - inform, share, challenge and bring back the promise. 

Stewardship professionals have looked over the years to find other ways and 

means.

i. A method, popular at one time, was the use of a group approach. House 

Groups conduct a review of the church and its development. Their 

considered views are then collated into a plan, which is published at 

a suitable event (e.g. a church supper). This plan - and the resources 

necessary to put it into effect - is then the topic for a final meeting of 

each of the groups. The intention of the discussion is to lead individuals 

to making their own responses to the plan and making their pledges 

accordingly. The method is sound but the group activity can mask 

individual response, which therefore becomes easy to avoid - (“the dust 

is gathering on the mantelpiece of good intentions”). A further problem is 

the difficulty of ensuring that all persons who are intended to be included 

in the campaign are included in a House Group.

ii. One successful communication tool is the Pass-it-On Programme, an 

adaptation of the Neighbourhood Watch Movements technique. This 

entails putting an appropriate collection of leaflets into a folder (or pack) 

and inviting households to pass on the folder to their neighbour when the 

contents are read.

 The pack must be structured. There should be sufficient numbers of 

packs so that each can be distributed to perhaps 8 to 10 households. 

The recipients’ names for each pack are listed inside the cover of the 

pack. The leaflets are divided into general background reading material 

and those specific to the church plan. Each recipient has a personally 

addressed envelope in the pack too; it is in this that material specific to 

that person is enclosed. This provides an opportunity to tailor-make the 

contents. It enables the church to present to a core congregation member 

material that may be less appropriate to someone who may only see the 

church as a building rather than a community, an occasional refuge rather 

than a worship centre. The pack in its design sets out to be different; it 

should excite curiosity; its contents should inform; its response forms 

should provide the starting point of commitment and - this is critical 

- it has pockets on the back to contain those responses sealed into 

envelopes. An advantage is that new readers witness that previous 

readers have responded. Human nature decrees that we do not like to 
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be alone in being challenged, so that same nature likes to see that others 

have responded too!

 The Pack Campaign is introduced in church at an appropriate act of 

worship. Packs are given out to distributors who ensure its circulation 

amongst the eight or ten households to whom it is destined. These 

distributors are commissioned in their task and, at the end of the 

(typically) three week circulation period, required to collect and return the 

packs for what is sometimes called the Gathering of the Gifts at the main 

Sunday service.

iii. Particularly if the appeal is being made to those who regularly attend 

church, a further method is the “Stewardship Presentation”. In effect, 

a slide show with commentary is compiled to tell the “story” and to get 

across to the congregation the background of, the basis for, and the 

details of what is being asked for in the appeal. The slide show could be 

just a series of overhead transparency projections, or if somebody has 

access to the appropriate equipment it could be a much more animated 

“show” controlled by a computer, even with additional sound.

 The important thing is to choose some occasion when the congregation 

will be together and to make the presentation to them then; perhaps it 

could be during, or immediately following, the Sunday service (perhaps 

in place of the sermon). As part of the process a leaflet can be designed 

to cover the main points of the presentation. This should be handed to 

each member as they leave church. It will serve as a reminder of what 

they have seen and heard and might incorporate some means by which 

individuals can respond to the appeal (e.g. a promise form, a gift aid 

declaration, etc.)

8. Summary
There is no one way to run a Stewardship Campaign. Detailed planning and 

consideration of all the requirements and every step is essential. There are 

professional advisers in many churches; check that they are available to you 

and use them.
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1. Investment responsibility
The trustees of a charity are responsible for safeguarding the charity’s assets. 

This includes investing the charity’s funds in appropriate ways – whether this 

is by way of bank deposit, term deposits in the money market, equity shares, 

loan stock, common investment vehicles or land. The trustees of a church for 

this purpose will normally be its managing body (PCC or similar governing 

body). In this chapter the word trustee means normally that managing body.

Before making any investments, the trustees should check with the 

appropriate denominational authorities to ensure that they comply with any 

specific regulations that need to be followed.

2.  The Trustee Act 2000
The Trustee Act 2000 and new investment vehicles/concepts since the 2000 

Act have made substantial changes to both the legal requirements and to the 

way in which many churches and charities approach investment decisions. 

As a result the Charity Commission’s investment guidance has been 

significantly updated in August 2016 to reflect these developments. It not 

only distinguishes what it now calls “financial investment”, (as liberated for 

trusts by the 2000 Act), from “programme-related” investment, (whose aim is 

primarily a public benefit one, the aim of a financial return being secondary), 

but also distinguishes a hybrid between these two, where neither aim takes 

precedence. 

The Trustee Act 2000 liberated trustees by authorising them to invest in 

any kind of investment as if they were the absolute owner of those funds. 

However, it does not authorise “total return” investing, where the traditional 

trust law distinctions between permanent capital and spendable income 

are disregarded by treating all investment returns as capital. That is now 

separately authorised in the Charities Act 2011 as amended by the Trusts 

(Capital and Income) Act 2013. The 2000 Act does, however, provide trustees 

with powers to appoint agents, nominees and custodians, and contains 

safeguards for the operation of the powers it provides, including a duty to 

ensure investments are “suitable” for the trust and to take proper advice 

where needed and by imposing a statutory “duty of care”.
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3.  The Charities (Protection and Social 
Investment) Act 2016
With effect from 31 July 2016 a new statutory power of “social investment” 

under this Act has put an end to sector speculation as to the legality of 

using the 2000 Act’s “absolute” power of trust investment for such a non-

commercial aim. 

This specific new power is explained in the interim guidance on the Charity 

Commission website under the title: Social Investment by Charities. 

This complements an updated version of the Charity Commission guidance 

publication CC14: Investment of charitable funds: basic principles, aimed 

at larger charities, and now retitled as: Charities and Investment Matters: a 

Guide for Trustees.

4. Charity Commission Guidance
“Investment” is not defined in the Trustee Act 2000 and the court’s 

interpretation of what qualifies as an investment is still developing. The 

specific power of “social investment” given to charities by the 2016 Act has 

considerably broadened it. The Charity Commission guidance now defines 

it as “using assets in the best possible way in the interests of the charity in 

a way which may attract a return” – ie, not just with the sole aim of getting a 

financial return from it, which the guidance now calls “financial” investment. 

That return, as it explains, could be either income or capital growth. 

In the case of a “programme-related” or “social” investment (the subject of 

the “interim guidance” mentioned above), the public benefit it achieves may 

or may not be accompanied by a return of any capital outlay in whole or in 

part. To safeguard permanent endowments from undue risk of loss from a 

proposed social investment, the trustees must have a reasonable expectation 

of a capital return such that there would be no breach of the prevailing 

restrictions on expending the permanent capital. 

If this means they need to adopt a “total return” investment policy, in order 

to free up some of the permanent capital, they must then also comply with 

the Charity Commission’s regulations made under the 2013 Act. The detailed 

guidance of November 2013 about this is on the Charity Commission 

website, entitled: “Total Return Investment for Permanently Endowed 

Charities”. 
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As a negative form of social investment necessitating an accounts disclosure 

as a contingent liability, a charity might underwrite a beneficiary’s loan 

repayments to a third party. The capital outlay will then be nil unless the 

guarantee is called in. In that case, the payment to the third party will be 

expensed in the SoFA as a charitable grant – as would any impairment of 

the (expendable) capital outlay on other kinds of social investment (PRI) – in 

accordance with the SORP.

“Ethical Investment” 

If trustees adopt an ethical investment policy, for “suitability” to the trust’s 

charitable aims under the 2000 Act, they should set out in writing both their 

positive aims and any exclusions. They will need to evaluate the effect which 

any proposed policy might have on potential investment returns, and this 

will usually require expert advice to ensure that the net effect of policy and 

performance is not detrimental to the investing trust.

Trustees are unlikely to be criticised for adopting a particular investment 

policy if they have considered the correct issues, taken appropriate advice 

and reached a rational result.

5. Short term financial investment
Churches may at times have funds in excess of current operational 

requirements. If they are likely to be required for spending in the short/

medium term (say up to three years) then a suitable investment might be in 

term deposits. These should be timed for the option of withdrawal or renewal 

according to how quickly the funds would be required for the planned 

spending. Banks, Building Societies and the money market are the obvious 

choice for such deposits, and there are also institutions that specialise in 

providing facilities for churches and charities, whose details can be found in 

the “Useful Addresses” section of the handbook.

6.  Longer term financial investment
A church may receive funds in the form of permanent or expendable financial 

endowments, the capital of which must be retained and invested to provide 

income either for the general operational purposes of the church or for some 

specific and restricted purpose. Substantial funds may also become available 

either from a legacy or from the sale of fixed assets owned by the church 

and no longer needed for operational use. Or a church that is constituted 

as a charitable company may have substantial unrestricted funds which as 
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corporate revenue reserves are not held on trust at all, but can be spent or 

retained at will as long as they are used only for the church’s own benefit. 

Funds such as these that are to be held for the longer term should be 

invested to obtain the best return consistent with the requisite degree of 

prudence and the suitability of the investment in relation to the purpose for 

which the funds were given. 

Before making any long-term investments, the trustees should read the 

Charity Commission’s guidance in publication CC14 and take particular 

note of the need to obtain appropriate advice. This applies also to the use of 

Common Investment Funds and Common Deposit Funds where these are 

set up as charities. The trustees should also consult the church’s governing 

document to ensure they are complying with its provisions.

7.  Land as a financial investment
Investment in land can only be made if this is permitted by the church’s 

governing document. The Charity Commission publication CC33 – 

Acquiring Land, should be consulted before undertaking a purchase 

and its complementary publication of March 2012, CC28 – Disposing of 

Charity Land, will need to be consulted if a sale (freehold or leasehold) or a 

mortgage/pledge is contemplated for whatever reason. 

CC28 also includes guidance on use of the ‘statutory power of disposal’ (the 

Trusts of Land and Appointment of Trustees Act 1996 – TLAT1996) subject 

to complying with the 2011 Act’s s.117 to s.121 and with the ‘duty of care’ in 

the 2000 Act.

8.  Delegation of Investment Management
“Managing trustees”, being those individuals who, as a body, have the 

legal authority and responsibility for not only the day-to-day operational 

and investment transactions of their charity but also for all its longer-term 

decisions affecting such matters as the investment strategy, must be 

distinguished from “holding trustees” – see below. This managing body will 

usually be the PCC or a similar governing body of the individual church. 

Managing trustees do not necessarily have to involve themselves in the 

day-to-day investment decisions: under the 2000 Act, they can delegate this 

function and the legal responsibility for it to an external investment manager 

acting as their agent - provided this delegation is properly controlled and 
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monitored under a legally binding agreement within the terms and conditions 

of an investment policy adopted by the trustees and issued to the investment 

manager – even if in practice such documentation is drafted by the latter for 

the former’s approval and issue. 

If the Act’s statutory safeguards are put in place and maintained, legal liability 

for any defaults by the investment manager will not fall back on the managing 

trustees themselves.

9.  Nominees and custodians as “holding 
trustees” 
If trustees who are not incorporated as a body have any investment securities 

and/or property of any kind belonging to their charity, they must normally 

hold them in the names of all the trustees. However, this becomes very 

cumbersome and expensive, since each time there is a sale or purchase 

each trustee would have to be involved, and upon any change in trustees, 

the revised ownership of the investment securities or property would have to 

be registered. Thus, it became common practice for non-corporate bodies 

of trustees to use “nominees” (either a small number of the trustees as a 

committee or else an outside agency) to hold title on their behalf. Investment 

managers (see above), too, normally offer the use of their own nominee 

company to hold title to investment securities.

Those who are acting in this way, only as “holding trustees”, have no 

management powers and thus no legal liability for investment management 

as such. Care is nevertheless needed in choosing a nominee or custodian 

and the Trustee Act 2000 sets out various safeguard provisions for this, too.

Some churches have specific provision in their constitution for appointing 

a “custodian trustee” or are subject to guidance from their central church 

body, which may direct that investments and property should be held only 

in the name of such a body. Alternatively, denominational rules may specify 

that investments must be held by specified custodian trustees. The church 

council or managing body does not then have the power to hold title to 

investments; they have to be held in the name of the custodian trustees as 

their nominees.

Custodian trustees provide the security and continuity of a corporate body 

in which property and investments are vested. A custodian trustee does 

not have the power to take investment management decisions and must 

carry out the instructions of the managing trustees in accordance with any 
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restrictions in law. Custodian trustees do however have a duty to safeguard 

endowment capital and can therefore challenge the managing trustees’ 

instructions if those instructions appear to put the capital at undue risk.

Where no such provision or requirement for the use of nominees or 

custodian trustees exists, any church wishing to make an investment should 

nonetheless consult their central body for guidance and/or should consider 

the Charity Commission guidance in its publication CC42 - Appointing 

Nominees and Custodians: Guidance under s.19(4) of the Trustee Act 2000.
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In addition to churches themselves, there are a number of different types of charity, 

which may be associated with individual churches or denominations or may be 

independent or non-denominational. It is important to understand the relationship 

between the church and the outside body to determine where responsibilities lie.

1. Friends’ organisations
Many cathedrals, churches or abbeys have friends’ organisations. They may 

be merely fundraising sub-committees which come within the charitable 

status of the cathedral or church, and whose funds are part of church funds. 

Alternatively, they may be established as independent registered charities. If 

so, they will normally be membership bodies set up with the main purpose 

of raising funds and will usually be constituted either as unincorporated 

associations or perhaps as trusts with a small body of trustees and no formal 

membership.

The advantages of having a friends’ organisation as an independent 

registered charity is that it may be easier to attract funding and supporters, 

and some people may be more willing to serve as trustees of an independent 

body. Registered charity status may also assist fundraising from the public, 

from grant giving trusts, public bodies and other fundraisers. The main 

disadvantage is that an independent body of trustees may have different 

priorities and may not always wish to support the projects put forward by 

the church or cathedral, so leading to conflict. The objects of the trust will 

not normally be limited to any one aspect and so the trustees of the friends’ 

organisation retain the discretion as to how the funds should be applied.

Another disadvantage is that a separate registered charity will involve some 

additional administration and expense, for example in the preparation of 

separate accounts and fees for audit or independent examination.

2. Appeal funds
An appeal fund for a church or cathedral may be set up as a sub-committee 

within the charitable status of the cathedral or church or it may be set up as 

an independent registered charity. In this case, the objects will normally be 

limited to the specific appeal, for example, the restoration of the church or 

the addition of an annex or the purchase of a new organ. The advantages 

and disadvantages of setting it up as an independent charity are similar to 

those set out above with regard to friends’ organisations, although in the 
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case of an appeal fund, the objects are more likely to be limited for a specific 

purpose so that the problem with regard to a conflict as to priorities would 

not normally arise.

If the appeal fund is a separate charity, there should be a clear understanding 

between the church and the charity as to which will be entering into the 

restoration contracts. This avoids misunderstandings and makes it clear 

where the liability rests.

3. National denominational and non-
denominational religious charities with 
local branches
There are a number of national denominational and non-denominational 

religious charities with local branches, closely linked to individual church 

congregations. The structure of these charities varies. In some cases, (e.g. 

The Mothers’ Union) the National or Regional Headquarters is a registered 

charity so the local church organisation is merely a branch. As such its funds 

are not part of the church funds but belong to the national charity.

Alternatively, (e.g. the non-denominational Girls’ Brigade) the regions and 

divisions may be part of a National Charity but at local branch level the units 

come within the local church’s charitable status, so the funds should be 

included in the church accounts.

There are other cases of non-religious groups affiliated to a church (e.g. the 

Scouts), which may be a separate registered charity or part of a separate 

registered charity so should not be included in the church accounts.

4. Which organisations are part of the 
church?
The exact legal position of any organisation, attached to your church, must 

be examined to determine whether it is a separate charity or organisation, 

part of separate charity or organisation, or whether it is in fact “a branch” of 

your church. In the latter case it must be included in the church accounts. 

Essentially, you must decide if the organisation is under the control of the 

church; i.e.
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• Is the organisation, either directly or indirectly, controlled by the church 

governing body, or by members of the governing body who are effectively 

acting as a sub-committee of the governing body?

• Is whoever is responsible for the organisation accountable to the church 

governing body and not to the general public?

• In the final analysis, does the church take responsibility for the 

organisation’s actions and finances? For example, does the organisation 

recover Gift Aid tax as part of the church (and not separately), or is the 

church responsible for paying the organisation’s debts if it cannot?

5. Overseas and home missions
Almost all overseas and home mission bodies are constituted as registered 

charities; some are linked to a single denomination, others are inter-

denominational. Examples are, The Church Missionary Society, CAFOD, 

The Salvation Army and The Mission for Seamen. Many of these societies 

have supporters’ groups in local churches, or in the case of denominational 

societies, at an area, deanery or diocesan level. The purpose of these groups 

is to support the mission through prayer and fundraising and to publicise the 

work of the society at a local level. Any funds raised should be sent directly 

to the headquarters of the missionary society at the earliest opportunity, 

ideally within 28 days of receipt.

In almost all cases, the local groups will be branches of the National Charity 

and not separate registered charities. In these cases, the funds of the group 

are not to be included in the church accounts.

In the case of home missions such as The Salvation Army, as well as local 

supporters’ groups, there will usually be local projects carrying out the work 

of the society and these will often have a local management or advisory 

committee.

6. Christian charities with some or all non-
religious activities
There are a large number of charities with a Christian ethos, which have 

objects and activities in wider fields of charitable activity such as the relief 

of poverty; the advancement of education and the provision of recreational 

activities. Many of the major children’s charities have a Christian foundation.  
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The Children’s Society (for the Anglican Church) and the NCH Action for 

Children (for the Methodists) provide many different services. Similarly, the 

YMCA and YWCA operate a wide range of activities throughout the UK, 

including housing, training and the provision of recreational activities. These 

groups often have complicated structures with separately registered charities 

at the local level.

The older Christian charities concentrated on the provision of services such 

as children’s homes, hostels and community centres. Some of the new 

Christian charities such as the Church Action on Poverty and the Churches 

Coalition on Housing place more emphasis on campaigning for better state 

provision.

7. Special interest groups
A number of new Christian charities have been set up dealing with special 

interests or areas of concern. Examples of these are, The Prayer Book 

Society and Women in Theology. They are essentially membership bodies, 

often with a subscription, with the overall objective to exchange information 

and provide advice and support; ACAT is another example.

8. Endowed charities
Many churches have associated permanently endowed charities. Although 

the officers of the charity may be drawn from the members of the church, 

it will be necessary to look at the constitution of the charity to determine 

whether it is a restricted fund of the church, or a separately constituted 

charity and in the latter case whether it is a “special trust” of the church 

which must then normally be included as a “branch charity” in the church 

accounts (see below) or else a “connected” charity which is under the 

church’s control and which as such must then be included as a subsidiary 

charity in any group consolidated accounts that the church chooses to 

prepare, or (if group gross income exceeds £1m) must prepare, under the 

Charities Act 2011.

For example, a 19th century bequest for the purpose of maintaining the 

churchyard may have initially created a separate charity as a means of ring-

fencing the funds.
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If the funds are in a separately constituted charity whose purposes are not a 

subset of the church’s purposes, it will not be a “special trust” of the church. 

In that case the funds should not be included in the church accounts as a 

branch charity unless it has the same trustees as the church and (for that 

reason) a “Uniting Direction” under s.12(2) of the Charities Act 2011 has 

been obtained from the Charity Commission. The separate charity, if not 

included in the church accounts as a branch charity, will have its own public 

accountability, requiring it to prepare its own annual report and accounts, 

and if the church is a larger charity (exceeding £500k gross income) the 

relationship should be explained in the church’s annual report under the 

SORP’s rules concerning associated charities.
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1. The principles set out by law

a. England and Wales

Until the Charities Act 2006, most churches enjoyed “excepted” status, 

confirmed in accordance with the Charities Act 1993 by a statutory 

instrument published in 1996. Both the 1993 and 2006 Acts are replaced by 

the Charities Act 2011, but the above provisions remain and the 1996 SI has 

been amended by SI 2012 1734 and again by SI 2014 242.

The bodies referred to by those Statutory Instruments, whose churches 

remain excepted, are:

• Associations of Grace Baptist Churches, East Anglia, West Anglia and 

South East

• Baptist Union of Great Britain

• Baptist Union of Wales

• Gospel Standard Trust

• Grace Baptist Trust Corporation 

• Old Baptist Union

• Congregational Federation

• Evangelical Fellowship of Congregational Churches

• Fellowship of Independent Evangelical Churches

• General Assembly of Unitarian and Free Christian Churches

• The Calvinistic Methodist or Presbyterian Church in Wales

• The Church of England

• The Church in Wales

• The Methodist Church

• The Religious Society of Friends

• The Union of Welsh Independents

• The United Reformed Church

Local Ecumenical Partnerships (LEPs) that include a church that is an 

excepted charity are themselves excepted up to the £100,000 registration 

threshold (see below).

The following previously excepted churches not included in the 1996 

Statutory Instrument were thus no longer excepted charities, so the £5,000 

registration threshold applies to them: 

• The Church of the Nazarene

• The Free Church of England



Registration of Charities in England and Wales

294

• Independent Methodists

• Wesleyan Reformed Union

• Churches of Christ

Under the 2011 Act all excepted charities (including churches) with a gross 

income for the year in excess of £100,000 have to register. Churches with 

income up to that threshold continue to enjoy excepted status under SI 2012 

1734 as amended by SI 2014 242 until 31st March 2021, when their excepted 

status will finally come to an end and all those above the £5,000 registration 

threshold will have to register like any other charity.

b. Scotland

See “Charities in Scotland” chapter.

c. Northern Ireland

New legislation for the regulation of charities was passed in 2008. All 

charities operating in Northern Ireland have had to register with the Charity 

Commission there (CCNI) since the registration process started on a tranche-

by-tranche basis on 16 December 2013. Once entered into the CCNI Register 

they are required to report annually under Regulations effective from 1 

January 2016.

2. Which churches must register
Any church with gross income in excess of £5,000 a year, if it is not one of 

those covered by the exception list above, and any in that list with gross 

income exceeding £100,000, must register with the Charity Commission. 

“Gross Income” is the total from all sources, meaning for all income funds 

(restricted, designated and unrestricted), before the deduction of costs or 

expenses.

The 2011 Act, in section 353(1), continues to define “gross income” as 

meaning the gross recorded income from all sources including special trusts, 

and the Commission has lost the power it had under s.96 (4) of the 1993 Act 

to make a final and binding determination of the amount of a charity’s gross 

income for all or any regulatory purposes. It now has discretion for only two 

purposes. Under section 30 (4) (b) the Commission can estimate a charity’s 

likely gross income for registration purposes. The other purpose is more 

general: for the making of its Annual Returns regulations (see below).
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Thus the Charity Commission for England and Wales, has exercised its 

regulation-making powers under section 169 of the Charities Act 2011 to 

provide an administrative definition of gross income for the purpose of 

issuing each year’s Annual Return Forms. The definition is now as follows:

• For accounts validly prepared on a receipts and payments basis, gross 

income is simply the total receipts recorded in the statement from 

all sources excluding the receipt of any endowment* or loan or loan 

repayment instalment and also any sale proceeds from the disposal of 

investment assets or property or other assets held for the charity’s own 

long-term use. (*Where, unusually endowment capital is converted into 

income for spending on activities, that money is technically a payment out 

of trust capital and a receipt of trust income. Even if both funds are shown 

within a single combined receipts and payments account, that receipt of 

income must be included in the charity’s gross income for the year on this 

basis.)

• For accounts prepared on an accruals basis (even if that basis is not 

required by law), gross income is the total income within the “income and 

endowments” section of the Statement of Financial Activities (the SoFA 

means as prepared in accordance with the “Charities SORP”) for all funds 

excluding any gain on the disposal of fixed assets held for the charity’s 

own use, and including (from the “inter-fund transfers” line of the SoFA) 

any amount transferred to income funds during the year from endowment 

funds in order to be available for spending. This equates to the cash-

based definition as above by excluding any incoming resources in the 

Endowments column of the SoFA.

The effect of this Annual Returns definition is that any church exceeding the 

£100,000 should consider its duty to register with the Charity Commission 

without delay.

However, the Commission has also intimated that if an unusual and genuinely 

“one off” receipt causes the threshold to be exceeded consideration will be 

given to the likelihood of its future annual gross income remaining below 

the registration threshold. The example quoted is as follows (taken from the 

Commission publication “Changes to the regulation of excepted and exempt 

charities (January 2009)”:

“If a charity normally has an income well below that of the excepted charity 

registration threshold (currently £100,000), but receives a substantial legacy 

that causes the gross income to exceptionally exceed the threshold, then 

the charity can apply to us for a written determination. The determination 
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will state that the estimated income for a future year is used as the baseline 

for assessing whether registration is required. Because the determination 

is based on the estimate of the likely income in a future year we will not 

normally give this determination when the general income is steadily 

increasing and is approaching the £100,000 threshold anyway.”

The precedent for the regulator’s flexibility here is the presumption under 

the common law of trusts that the legacy constitutes an “expendable 

endowment” if no contrary intention has been indicated by the testator or 

else implied by the circumstances and the legacy is so large that it seems 

unreasonable to regard it as income that must be spent in the short term, 

within a year or so.

Clearly there are other kinds of “one off receipts” that could cause the 

registration threshold to be exceeded. Even though it may not be possible 

to disregard them in quite the same way, the above definitions can be used 

to persuade the Commission to estimate the church’s likely future income as 

continuing to be below the registration threshold; e.g. an insurance claim in 

respect of damage to or loss sustained on a major asset where the insurer 

sees to the repair and pays direct, rather than paying the church an agreed 

amount to settle its claim. It is different for the receipt of a loan or of loan-

repayment instalments, as neither of these count as income.

3. The programme for registration
From 31st January 2009 any church in England and Wales whose gross 

income exceeds £100,000 should have registered with the Charity 

Commission and thereafter any church when it reaches the threshold must 

register.

The following table, compiled from the Charity Commission website, lists 

the denominations whose nationally agreed standard forms of constitution 

(governing documents), are already approved by the Commission, so 

that their individual churches do not have to agree them separately with 

the Commission. However, contact should be made with the central 

denominational authority before proceeding to registration to confirm the 

latest position.
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Church Name Registerable Entity Governing Document (GD) GD to 
be sent

Church of England Parochial Church 
Council (PCC)

PCC Powers Measure 
as amended and Church 
Representation Rules

No

Methodists Assets of Local 
Churches Circuits 
and Districts

Methodist Church Acts and Deed 
of Union

No

URC Working funds 
of Churches and 
Synods

Trusts distilled from the URC 
Acts and the scheme of Union

No

Baptist Union Working funds of 
local church

Approved Constitution Yes

Grace Baptist Trust 
Corporation

Approved Constitution Yes

Congregational 
Federation

Revised model trusts under 
1951 Baptist and Congregational 
Church Trusts Act

Yes

Religious Society of 
Friends

Approved governing document 
for area meetings

Yes

Fellowship of 
Independent 
Evangelical Churches

Approved constitution for 
churches

Yes

Church in Wales Constitution No

Presbyterian Church 
in Wales

Presbyterian Church in Wales 
Act 1933 and constitution under 
the Act

No

Evangelical 
Fellowship of 
Congregational 
Churches (EFCC)

For each denomination, the Table clarifies (where not obvious) what is the 

charity to be registered, the standard governing document relevant to that 

denomination and whether it is likely that (as changes may be allowed for 

individual churches) a copy of the governing document has to be submitted 

with the registration documents. In the case of the EFCC, Congregational 

Federation, Methodists and URC, refer to the Commission’s website.
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All churches should check with their central denominational authority 

before attempting to register. Similarly, advice should be sought from these 

authorities before commencing completion of the forms, to ensure that the 

application to be made includes all the information and arrangements agreed 

between the Commission and the Denomination. Care at this stage will avoid 

delays in the future.

4. Documents to be gathered before 
registration
The registration of a charity has now to be done online via the Charity 

Commission website. The Commission website has guidance notes at: 

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/how-to-register-your-charity-cc21b 

The following documents or details will be required before pursuing any 

registration process and must be attached to the online application:

• The Governing Document if it says onscreen that it has to be sent to the 

Commission.

• The latest set of Accounts and Annual Report.

• Full details of all trustees, including full name, preferred name, any other 

names used now or previously including previous married name, full 

address, telephone number, e-mail address (if there is one), date of birth.

• A declaration (see Appendix 1), which must be signed by all trustees 

confirming that they are not disqualified to act as trustees and confirming 

compliance with statutory requirements for working with children and/or 

vulnerable adults.

To obtain all the trustees’ personal details, it is advisable to get each trustee 

to complete an appropriate “Personal Details” form for the church’s internal 

records/use. 
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The information required for each trustee is:

Title: ..................................................................................................................

Optional: Honours and qualifications:  ..............................................................

Personal names:  ..............................................................................................

Family names (surnames)  ................................................................................

Optional: Preferred name  .................................................................................

Other names used now or previously (including former

married names):  ...............................................................................................

Date of birth (dd/mm/yyy):  ...............................................................................

Home Address:  ................................................................................................

 ..........................................................................................................................

 ..........................................................................................................................

Postcode:  .........................................................................................................

Email Address (if appropriate):  .........................................................................

Telephone number:  ..........................................................................................

All trustees should have completed these forms for you before you can 

submit the registration application.  Any person who is unwilling to give the 

information detailed above, and is unable or unwilling to sign the trustee’s 

eligibility declaration, must normally be excluded from trusteeship.

Whereas all the trustees’ personal details have to be provided within the 

online registration application form, a separate form has to be signed by all 

those named trustees which, among other things, includes confirmation that 

each one is eligible to act – see Appendix 1. 
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5. The online registration process
To use the online facility, the person completing the application must first 

register with the commission and obtain a password.

Once the password is obtained the person applying can log into the 

application as many times as they require to complete, add or amend the 

information before submitting it to the Commission. The information created 

and added to date is always still available unless left for 30 days or more, 

when it is liable to be erased on the assumption that it has been abandoned.

(To access online guidance on how to register with the Commission, including 

how to obtain a password for access to the website’s online registration 

page, go to the website page: https://www.gov.uk/guidance/how-to-register-

your-charity-cc21b)

From there you can click onto the website page for starting or continuing 

your registration application once you have your online access password 

by email from the Commission: https://apps.charitycommission.gov.uk/

outreach/RegistrationLanding.ofml 

The first time a “log on” is effected, the words “Apply to register a new 

charity” in the left hand column are underlined and should be clicked. This 

leads to the first part of the form. Once the form for a new charity has been 

started by identifying the contact-person’s details and the charity name, etc., 

it can will be saved automatically and can then be left without completion, 

but re-accessed at any time by going through the same log on procedures to 

pick up from where you left off.

Once an application has been started, other options in the left hand column 

are now underlined and the option “Continue with an application you have 

started” should be clicked. From the next screen it is then possible either to 

open the incomplete application or abandon it.
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6. Tips for completion of the forms
As noted above, a comprehensive set of guidance notes can be downloaded 

from: https://www.gov.uk/guidance/how-to-register-your-charity-cc21b 

Most of the information to be supplied is obvious and straight forward, 

however the following tips may be useful.

Section A1 – What is your organisation’s name?

It is very important to insert the correct name of the charity being registered. 

For example for a Church of England Parish it will be “The Parochial Church 

Council of the Ecclesiastical Parish of ….....(The dedication of the church and 

its location). If there is any doubt, the correct name should be checked with 

central denominational authorities.

Section A3 – Assessing eligibility for registration

Tick all three boxes “yes”. Once the £100,000 threshold is exceeded the 

church is not excepted from the requirement to register.

Section A5 – Finance and funding - How has your organisation raised its 

funds and/or how does it intend to do so in future?

Wording will depend upon circumstances but something like the following 

may be appropriate: “The voluntary contributions from church members 

together with associated gift aid account for xx% of normal income. Other 

sources are fees for weddings, funerals, etc., fund-raising events, and interest 

on investments. If large repair or building projects arise the trustees are likely 

to seek special voluntary income including donations and grants.”

Section B – Governing document

Complete B1, the type of document as appropriate – see the table above for 

guidance or check with your central denominational authorities.

Date document became effective: If an approved Constitution is the 

governing document, the date upon which it was adopted should be checked 

with central denominational authorities. Whilst agreeing the document with 

the Commission, they are likely also to have agreed an adoption date. The 

other forms of governing document should normally have a date related to 

them, being the date of their execution.

Section C – Assessing the organisation’s public benefit

The main objective for Christian churches is usually the promotion of the 

Christian Religion, but the actual wording to be used will depend upon the 
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wording in the Governing document. For online applications, this will be 

completed automatically once the name of the body that issued the approved 

governing document has been entered in the previous section of the form.

The next sub section “ways of carrying out the objective” can be dealt with 

by identifying the main “Christian” activities of the church. They might include 

all or any of the following:

• Provision of a church for prayer and worship.

• Regular services of public worship.

• Teaching Christianity through, sermons, Sunday schools, school 

assemblies, adult courses, retreats, etc.

• Pastoral care including visiting and ministering to the sick, bereaved or 

any in difficulty.

• Providing activities for various groups to promote the mission of the 

church and its Christian values.

• Supporting other charities in the UK and overseas

There is no need to complete secondary objectives sections unless the 

church has a major secondary activity that should be reported.

Section D – Vulnerable people

Most churches work with children so should have a child protection policy. 

There is no legal requirement to carry out DBS checks on trustees (acting 

in that capacity), so the “legal requirement” box should be ticked “No”. 

However, there is some confusion as to whether churches are allowed by 

law to carry out DBS checks voluntarily on their trustees, so each church is 

encouraged to check with its central denominational authority about how to 

mark the box concerned with this matter.

If it is determined that voluntary checks cannot be carried out, the box which 

says: “If you are neither required nor allowed to obtain DBS checks on 

all trustees then tick box B on the trustee declaration form, and explain 

why not in the box below” should be completed by wording similar to the 

following:

“It is believed that the church is not a children’s charity as defined in law. 

The church’s child protection policy entails DBS checks on all who work with 

children; this may include persons who are also trustees.”

The vulnerable adults section applies to charities providing care services, so 

providing the church is not involved with this activity, this section should not 

be completed.
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Section F3 – Classification

a. What does your organisation do?: tick “Religious activities”

b. Who does your organisation help?: tick “The general public/mankind”

c. How does your organisation operate?: tick “Provides buildings/facilities/  

open space”, “Provides services”, “Makes grants to organisations” (if it 

applies)

Section F5 – Trustee details

This section of the application must be completed for every trustee. If 

any have provided reasons why their name should not be available on the 

Commission website, complete this section as well. 

Each of these persons will be required to sign a form that must be uploaded to 

accompany the completed online registration application when it is submitted. 

This is their “Trustees’ Eligibility Declaration” – see Appendix 1.

The Trustees’ Eligibility Declaration Form (v9 01/17) can readily be 

downloaded separately at the web-link below, for completion, scanning back 

into your computer as a PDF and uploading in support of your registration 

application at the onscreen prompt. It has space for eight persons to sign. 

Use a copy of the same form if there are more than eight trustees: - 

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/

file/581249/Trustee_declaration.pdf
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It is important that a church insures with a specialist Church Insurer who can offer a 

bespoke policy. In this way, the church does not need to worry about which covers 

to select as the appropriate covers will be automatically included. The church will of 

course still need to decide upon appropriate sums insured.

Many churches are finding that insurance premiums are taking a substantial part of 

their income. It is necessary to make sure that such monies are spent in the best 

way and set out below are some general guidelines concerning church insurance. 

The information contained is set out in broad terms and any point of detail should be 

taken up with the church’s insurers or brokers.

1. Church buildings
In considering the sum insured, allowance should be made to include costs 

of debris removal and all professional fees that are likely to be incurred. 

Listing will affect the reinstatement value. 

A standard church package policy will usually include the following perils:

Fire

Lightning Explosion

Storm and tempest Flood

Burst pipes Aircraft impact Earthquake

Riot and malicious damage (vandalism) Accidental damage

Theft damage

Breakage of all glass and sanitary fittings

Falling trees and branches

Terrorism is an option at extra cost

2. Church contents
The sum insured for contents should represent the total replacement cost 

without making any deduction for wear, tear and depreciation.  The policy 

may cover all contents including furniture, furnishings, consumable stock and 

valuable items such as plate, sculptures, pictures etc. Contents of all rooms 

should be included and not just the sanctuary, for example a church office. 

The risks to be considered are as mentioned above under Church Buildings 

but should also include theft.
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3. Public/products/property owners liability
This cover would protect the interests of the Church Authorities in respect 

of any legal liability that may attach to them due to injury to a third party 

or damage to third party property arising out of the ownership of church 

buildings or organised church activities.

In view of the amounts now being awarded by the Courts for personal injury 

damages, it is recommended that a minimum indemnity of £5,000,000 is 

arranged, and indeed some policies now automatically give £10,000,000. 

4. Employers’ liability
This protects the Church Authorities against claims for damages made by 

church employees or volunteers who have sustained accidental injury whilst 

carrying out their duties for the church. Employers’ Liability insurance cover is 

required by statute, and the relevant insurance certificate (or copy) should be 

exhibited in the church and in any church premises.

5. Personal accident
This insurance provides stated benefit payments following accidental injury 

to or death of any insured person whilst engaged in church business or 

authorised activities.

Age limits normally apply under this type of insurance so individual policies 

need to be checked to make sure they meet requirements.

6. Money
Church income relies heavily on money taken from collections and organised 

events.  Considerable hardship could arise if unfortunately the money is 

lost, stolen or misappropriated. Cover against these eventualities is usually 

included. 

7. Consequential loss
If the property suffers serious damage by an insured peril it may be unusable 

until the damage has been repaired. This “consequential loss” is covered by 

insurance.



Church Insurance

309

The church’s main concern is likely to be to resume normal church activities 

as quickly as possible by hiring alternative premises and equipment and 

these costs together with its loss of income from shortfall in collection 

and loss of rent from hiring out the building can be covered by this type of 

insurance.

8. Church halls
Cover for these halls and their contents can be arranged in similar fashion to 

churches and the points mentioned above under the various headings will 

still apply.

9. Legal expenses
This type of insurance has become more important over the past few years 

as people have become litigation conscious. It provides cover for legal 

fees incurred in defending or pursuing legal actions, up to a stated amount, 

and provides a legal telephone helpline facility. Policies would normally 

include property protection, personal injury protection, legal defence costs, 

employment disputes and employment compensation awards.

10. Trustee indemnity
This cover will protect trustees and church officers for:

• breach of trust or duty committed by them in their capacity as trustees or 

officers of the church, or

• any negligence, default, breach of duty or trust committed by them in 

their capacity as directors or officers if the charity is a body corporate.

The insurance cannot cover a number of things such as fines imposed by 

criminal proceedings or penalties, nor costs incurred in defending an action, 

which resulted in conviction or penalty. Neither can it cover conduct, which 

the trustees knew or should have known was not in the best interests of the 

charity. This type of insurance has become more important over the past few 

years as people have become litigation conscious.
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11. Building works
In the majority of cases, building works are undertaken by independent 

contractors and are normally subject to a JCT (Joint Contracts Tribunal) 

contract. These contracts will incorporate insurance clauses, stipulating 

the exact insurance requirements for each party. In general, the Church 

Authorities will be required to arrange additional cover when the works 

involve the existing structures (i.e. alterations, additions and repairs). Your 

insurer may require notification of the works prior to commencement in order 

that the insurance implications can be considered.
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It is both a caring and a legal requirement that churches should make all their 

premises and activities as safe as possible. Nobody attending, or visiting churches 

or taking part in activities should be put at any risk or harm.

Health and safety has as much to do with good housekeeping as it has to do with 

common sense. This chapter highlights and serves to remind of some important 

matters that should be addressed.

You are also referred to the chapter on Risk Assessment where there is guidance on 

how to make assessments of what needs to be addressed to make premises and 

activities in them safer.

This chapter is divided into the following sub-sections: 

• Responsibility

• Premises

• Fire

• Asbestos

• Furnishings

• Access, issues concerned with vehicles,

• Electricity, gas and water

• Graveyards 

• People

• Vulnerable people (disabled, infirm, young)

• Employees and volunteers

• Harmful materials

• Potentially harmful equipment

• Potentially harmful activities

• Contractors

• Other people using church premises 

• Policy implementation and maintenance

1. Responsibility
The church management committee (the trustees) is responsible for health 

and safety in the church, church premises, and in respect of all church affairs. 

Legislation requires all employers with 5 or more employees to prepare and 

bring to the notice of their employees a written statement of the health and 

safety policy and the organisation and arrangements for carrying out that 

policy. Because many people “work” voluntarily for the church it is good 

practice for churches to have such a written policy. (See Appendix 1 for an 

example).
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In the same way that a treasurer is appointed to manage the church finances, 

it is advisable that the management committee appoint a person or sub-

committee to whom the responsibility for health and safety can be delegated, 

to co-ordinate these activities and ensure that the policies are carried out and 

are up-to-date.

The Health and Safety at Work Regulations (1992) require employers to make 

a suitable and sufficient assessment of the risks to health and safety of both 

employees and persons not employed when in the employer’s premises or 

involved with the employer’s undertaking. The church should carry out such 

an assessment and Appendix 2 sets out some matters to be considered.

Although it is a separate subject requiring separate detailed understanding 

and guidance it is worth noting here that churches should have a “Child 

Protection Policy” and again somebody delegated to be the child protection 

officer for the church.

2. Premises 

a. Fire

This is the most common threat to the function of church premises, either 

through arson, equipment overheating or electrical faults. Many church 

premises may need to be secured when unoccupied. Always ensure that 

electrical equipment is turned off at the mains when no longer required. 

Heaters and cooking equipment are particularly vulnerable. Under legislation 

activated in October 2006, all organisations, including churches, are required 

to nominate a person responsible for fire safety and carry out a fire safety risk 

assessment (see Appendix 4).

b. Asbestos

All churches should by now have commissioned formal inspections by 

competent persons (or carried out their own inspection) to establish presence 

of asbestos and identify necessary action to protect persons from risk to their 

health in accordance with the Control of Asbestos Regulations 2012. See 

website: http://www.hse.gov.uk/asbestos/regulations.htm 

c. Furnishings

These must be of fire retardant materials. Damaged furniture can be a hazard: 

take such items out of use and arrange repair or replacement. Whatever its 

source, always check any furniture for potential hazards: Is it robust enough 

for the intended purpose? Are folding seats likely to be a finger-trapping 
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hazard for small children? Are there sharp edges or glass surfaces? Are the 

items too heavy or awkward for safe movement by those who would be 

called upon to do this?

d. Access

There are two elements: pedestrian and vehicle access.

i Pedestrian access

It is important to ensure that there are no “slip, trip” or other hazards. 

Handrails should be fitted wherever possible, including interior corridors 

where space permits. Walkways should always be kept clear of obstructions, 

whether these may be on the floor, or at body height. Make sure that no 

items are ever left in walkways. A pile of books or a box left for a few minutes 

could cause an accident. Look to see that there are no rugs or loose tiles 

that could be a trip hazard, particularly for those who may be infirm or have 

poor eyesight. Remove any such hazards. Be particularly aware of steps and 

stairways: are these well lit? Are there any other areas where better lighting 

should be provided, both for safe access and also for security purposes? Are 

churchyard paths in good condition with no loose or hazardous surfaces?

ii Vehicle access

It is a legal requirement that there should be a clear separation of vehicle and 

pedestrian traffic. It is strongly recommended that on-site parking be properly 

designated and that it is supervised, especially at times when people who are 

unfamiliar with the site may be present. Reversing minibuses are a particular 

hazard: these should be allocated a designated area and where there is any 

possibility of pedestrians being nearby, minibuses (or coaches) should never 

be allowed to manoeuvre unsupervised. Ideally all such vehicles should also 

be fitted with audible warning devices that operate automatically when the 

vehicle is reversing.

e. Electricity, gas and water

Competent qualified professionals should service these utilities regularly. 

There are also legal requirements to have all gas and electrical items regularly 

inspected, tested and serviced. Ensure that all such equipment, however 

obtained, is inspected and tested by a qualified person (i.e. a registered gas 

fitter or a qualified electrician) before they are put into use. If there is ever 

suspicion of faulty water, gas or electrical fittings, call in appropriate technical 

help immediately. Visually check all electrical cables and wiring to portable 

items regularly. Take out of service anything that is damaged – particularly 

portable electrical or gas equipment. Do not re-use until proper repair has 

been effected. Unwanted gas or electrical equipment has to carry a test 
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certificate if it is to be passed on for use by another. If it is being discarded, it 

must be disposed of in an environmentally legal way. Your local authority can 

advise.

f. Graveyards

Headstones and other structures can deteriorate and cause injury through 

collapse or falling masonry. Headstones falling over and graves surrounded 

by spiked railings are particular hazards for children. Although all matters 

relating to graves are the responsibility of the family, in practice for most old 

graves no family is known or can be found and responsibility falls back on 

the owner of the land or the body responsible for its maintenance. Regular 

inspection should be made and appropriate action taken to make safe or 

prevent access.

3. People

a. Vulnerable people:

When arranging activities, a risk assessment should be undertaken early 

on in the planning stage of the activity. Who does it involve? Are there any 

special risks? How will these be minimised and managed? Are there people 

who would be especially at risk through age, infirmity or disability? Is there a 

need for special supervision or equipment? Where the activity involves young 

people, will all the provisions of child protection regulations be covered and 

have the necessary police checks been made? What other precautions need 

to be put in place?

b.  Employees and volunteers

Personal security may need attention, especially for ministers and those 

counting, handling or carrying cash. Intruder alarm systems might become 

necessary or some way of making a work area safe.

Where display screens / work stations are habitually used for long periods 

(more than 2 hours at a stretch and daily during the working week), the 

workplace should be assessed to minimise the risk to back, arms, wrists, 

neck and eyesight (screens should be at eye level, comfortably read, without 

glare or flickering and brightness / contrast properly adjusted; forearms 

should be parallel to the floor when using the key board; thighs should 

be parallel to the floor (a foot rest should be provided if necessary); the 

back should be supported by the chair back; a brief rest with some gentle 

stretching exercise should be taken after one hour’s concentrated work.



Health & Safety

317

c. Harmful materials

Chemicals and other substances that could cause harm, for example 

cleaning fluids (e.g. bleach, dishwasher chemicals), paints and solvents, etc., 

should only be accessible to and used by adults who have been trained in 

their use and are knowledgeable about the harm that could arise through 

their use/misuse. Only the minimum quantities compatible with immediate 

requirements for such products should be kept on site. They should be kept 

in suitable locked stores unless in immediate use. In some cases special 

storage may be required, for example for inflammable liquids, which should 

be in a spark free environment (i.e., an area which if illuminated has “spark-

free” electrical fittings). Where aggressive chemicals may have to be applied 

by hand, suitable rubber gloves should be provided. These should be 

replaced if damaged. Never leave cleaning chemicals in toilet areas, where 

children might handle  them.

d. Potentially harmful equipment

Is the item inherently safe for all who may be exposed to it? If there is any 

doubt, do not use it. Furniture, fittings and equipment should be regularly 

inspected to ensure that they are safe for all users. Where one item may be 

placed on top of another (for example a heavy object on to a plinth or table), 

is the support strong enough, is the item stable, could it be knocked over 

rendering it unsafe? When using powered equipment, always ensure that the 

cables are not laid where they could be a trip hazard. Always take out of use 

and put in a safe and secure place any item of equipment that is broken.

e. Potentially harmful activities

Trips or activities that involve some risk to the participants need to be 

very carefully planned, organised and supervised to minimise risks. Such 

examples might be a “night hike”, a sponsored swim, or an outing for the 

elderly. Where an activity involves provision of food, normal food hygiene 

requirements should be observed, and the activity and arrangements must 

comply with the requirements of the Food Hygiene Regulations. Where an 

activity may involve working at heights – annual spring-cleaning, decorating 

the premises for a special event or redecorating as part of a refurbishment 

programme, care should be taken to ensure that competent persons properly 

use proper equipment. Ladders and steps should be in serviceable condition 

and properly located. There should always be a second person to “foot the 

ladder” or steady the steps.
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f. Contractors

When contractors are hired they should be asked to provide evidence of their 

third party insurance cover. They should also lodge with the church health & 

safety officer a safe system of work for the tasks they are contracted to carry 

out before commencement.

g. Other people using church premises

Most church premises are at some time used by people or organisations 

other than church members or organisations. It is important that these 

“external” people or organisations are made aware of the health and safety 

policy and the provisions the church has made thereunder. It would be 

appropriate to give a copy of the policy to anybody hiring the premises and 

request that they acknowledge receipt.

4. Policy implementation and maintenance
It is important that a policy be determined, that a detailed assessment is 

carried out to establish the areas of risk, and that remedies and safeguards to 

be used to counter such risks are determined. It is equally important that the 

review of the situation is kept up-to-date. A checklist (example in Appendix 2) 

could be used as a vehicle for a formal regular review and inspection, which 

should be carried out at least annually. In the meantime, the health and safety 

officer and all members of the church should be constantly aware of potential 

hazards and be prepared to deal with them.

All documentation, self-assessments, inspection and test certificates, check-

lists, etc. should be filed by the church health and safety officer in one place 

for ease of future reference and audit.

5. Other sources
Ecclesiastical Insurance publish “Health and Safety-Guidance Notes for 

Churches”, which are very detailed and can be downloaded from their 

website at: 

http://www.ecclesiastical.com/churchmatters/images/pdf%20-%20

church%20guidance%20notes%20-%20health%20and%20safety.pdf

and “Church Health and Safety Policy” at: 

http://www.ecclesiastical.com/churchmatters/images/church%20

insurance%20health%20and%20safety%20policy%20with%20

guidance%20notes.pdf 
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Appendix 1 – Example Health & Safety Policy
1 ......................... Church recognises and accepts its responsibilities 

for providing, so far as is reasonably practicable, a safe and healthy 

environment with a view to ensuring the health, safety and welfare of all 

those who use church premises.

2 ................Church will, therefore, take all necessary steps within its power to 

meet its responsibilities, in so far as is reasonably practicable, by (inter alia):

2.1 maintaining the Church premises in a condition that is safe and without 

risk to health and safety and maintaining means of access to and egress 

from it that are safe and without such risks;

2.2 providing and maintaining furnishings and equipment which, are safe and 

without risks to health;

2.3 assessing the risk to the health and safety of those who use Church 

premises;

2.4 ensuring safety and absence of risks to health in connection with the 

use, handling, storage and transport of articles and substances;

2.5 providing such information, instruction, training and supervision as is 

necessary to ensure the health and safety of those who use the Church 

premises;

2.6 providing and maintaining a proper environment for Church employees, 

leaders, helpers and volunteers that is safe, without risks to health, and 

adequate as regards facilities and arrangements for their welfare;

2.7 consulting, where necessary, with all employees, leaders, helpers and 

volunteers on the implementation of any changes to this Policy;

2.8 ensuring that adequate funds and resources are made available for 

carrying out this Policy.

3 The  Church  has  given  the  overall  responsibility  for  the  fulfilment  

of  this  Policy  to .............................................. as the Health and 

Safety Officer but subject thereto the ...................................... (church 

management committee) will be responsible for carrying out the 

implementation of the policy and for the issue of supplementary policy 

statements where this may be necessary.

4 The Health and Safety Officer will:

4.1 carry out appropriate risk assessments (these to be reviewed annually) of 

Church premises and activities and report to the management committee 

as necessary;

4.2 co-ordinate the implementation of the Church Health and Safety Policy 

(including Fire Safety);
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4.3 carry out investigations of any accidents and recommend measures for 

preventing their recurrence;

4.4 ensure that accident and other appropriate records are maintained and 

returned to the appropriate bodies;

4.5 ensure that all appropriate arrangements are made to provide for first aid;

4.6 ensure that all Food Safety legislation is complied with;

4.7 arrange safety training courses, as may be necessary or desirable, so 

that specific legal requirements are adhered to and that any changes in 

such requirements are complied with and communicated to employees, 

leaders, helpers and volunteers as necessary;

4.8 ensure that, where necessary, all relevant safety regulations are 

prominently displayed, that all emergency procedure notices are properly 

exhibited and clearly visible at all times;

4.9 ensure that access to and from emergency exits and fire equipment are 

not impaired and that corridors and stairs are kept free from obstructions 

other than of a temporary and partial nature with adequate signposting 

and/or warning signs in place.

5 All employees, leaders, helpers and volunteers and users of Church premises will:

5.1 take reasonable care of their health and safety, and of the health and 

safety of other persons who may be affected by a person’s act or 

omissions while working or helping.

5.2 as regards any duty or requirement imposed on the Church or any 

person by or under any of the relevant statutory provisions, co-operate 

with the Church so far as is necessary to enable that duty or requirement 

to be performed or complied with;

5.3 ensure that they shall not intentionally or recklessly interfere with nor 

misuse anything provided in the interest of health, safety or welfare, in 

pursuance of any of the relevant statutory provisions;

5.4 make themselves familiar with and conform to the Health and Safety 

Policy of the Church at all times;

5.5 observe all safety rules, procedures, and codes of practice at all times, 

and in particular, they must be fully conversant with the procedures to be 

followed in the event of a fire or any other emergency;

5.6 conform to all the Food Safety regulations that are applicable to themselves;

5.7 co-operate with the Church to enable it to carry out the duties and 

requirements under the provisions of all health and safety legislation, 

including participating in any training if called upon to do so;

5.8 report to the Church Health and Safety Officer all accidents or hazardous 

occurrences or dangers whether persons are injured or not as soon as is 

reasonably practicable;
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5.9 ensure that all working equipment and materials used by them are in 

a safe and serviceable condition and that no cables or wires are left in 

such a position as to be likely to cause anyone to trip;

5.10 have regard to the possible consequences of their actions on the health, 

safety and welfare of all those persons who at any time and for whatever 

purpose may or will use the church premises.

This Policy statement was adopted by a resolution of ………………….  

(the church management committee) dated ……………………………..

Appendix 2 – Check-list

Result of check/ action required

Action programme

Are paths, steps, staircases, floors in a safe condition? (Note: broken tiles, 
paving, rugs, carpets, etc.)

Are they kept clean and maintained and are they adequately lit?

Are tower stairs safe, with handrails fixed? Are ladders securely fixed and 
inspected? Is there adequate emergency lighting?

Are bells left “rung down”, with bell ropes properly secured?

Do sound levels in the ringing chamber comply with current practice?

Is there any emergency communication system, and is it working and 
maintained?

Is all the electrical wiring safe and when was it last tested by a qualified 
electrician?

Are all portable electrical appliances checked regularly for safety e.g. flexes, 
appropriate fuses, trailing wires?

Are there sufficient numbers of sockets without the use of adaptors?

Is the gas/oil installation in good and working order?

When was it last tested by a qualified person and is there a regular 
maintenance contract?

Are all exits and escape routes clearly marked with appropriate signs, which 
comply with the Health and Safety (Safety Signs and Signals) Regulations 
1996?

Are exits, escape routes, staircases and passages, which would be used in 
emergency kept clear and properly lit?

Should emergency exits and any emergency exit route be provided with 
emergency lighting?

Are all exit doors to be used in emergency unlocked when premises in use or 
fitted with panic bolts?
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Is the fire equipment adequate, easy to use, properly positioned? Is it 
regularly maintained with appropriate certificates?

Are there signs for fire equipment in accordance with the Health and Safety 
(Safety Signs and Signals) regulations 1996?

Are instructions displayed or issued as to what to do in the event of fire, and 
are there arrangements for warning of fire?

Do any swing doors have visibility panels and if so are they fitted with safety 
glass?

Are there any doors, windows, partitions (particularly those below 800mm 
height) that should be fitted with safety glass?

Are all plaques, pictures, light fittings, etc., which are fitted on walls secure 
and safe?

Are toilets in a safe and clean condition and adequately lit?

Does the kitchen and any equipment in it comply with modem hygiene 
requirements?

Are any hazardous or harmful substances stored on the premises and are 
there proper precautions for use, labelling and storage?

Are there rules or advice on how furniture and equipment should be stacked 
or stored?

If furniture or other heavy items require to be moved is advice given on how?

Is all equipment (e.g. ladders, lawnmowers etc) in a safe condition and 
regularly inspected?

Are there appropriate arrangements for planning and supervising volunteer 
work parties maintaining or repairing the premises?

Are there arrangements for employees, organisers or helpers to be supplied 
with Health and Safety and Fire precautions?

Where outside organisations use the premises are they made aware of the 
church Safety Policy?

Is it made clear to them that they must take responsibility for their own 
operations?

Is a first aid box available? Is it maintained? Are  there any nominated first 
aid officers?

Are there proper arrangements for recording investigating and reporting of 
any accidents (including Accident Book)?

Are there any other ‘hazards’, which require to be considered? If so list them 
noting the action programme.

Are there arrangements for monitoring any action required as a result of this 
assessment and for its annual review?



Health & Safety

323

Appendix 3 – Food Hygiene
New food hygiene regulations came into force with effect from 1st January 

2006. Many churches serve food at fetes, fundraising events, before or after 

church services or in their church halls. They must all be aware of the need 

for food hygiene and where necessary must register with the local authority. 

The government website http://www.food.gov.uk/ has a mass of information.

The legislation and business guidance can be found on the above website, 

and a page specifically relating to charities and community groups can be 

found at https://www.food.gov.uk/business-industry/caterers/food-hygiene/

charity-community-groups

Copies of the various leaflets and guides can also be obtained by telephone 

from 0845 606 0667. Alternatively check with your local authority to obtain 

advice.

Appendix 4 – Fire Safety Regulations
The Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005 came into force on 1st 

October 2006. The rules cover all non-domestic premises in England and 

Wales including churches, church halls and other meeting places. The new 

law makes it the responsibility of those persons or bodies who have some 

level of control in premises to ensure the safety of all people who use the 

premises, and in the immediate vicinity, by taking reasonable steps to reduce 

the risk of fire and ensure that people can safely escape if there is a fire. Fire 

certificates will no longer apply.

To comply with the order, the body responsible for the premises must make 

sure a fire-risk assessment (see the table below) is carried out, although the 

tasks can be performed by some other competent person or body. However, 

the responsibility, in law, for meeting the order cannot be delegated. There 

is a difference from previous legislation in that everyone who might be on 

the premises must be considered, whether they are employees, visitors 

or members of the public. Particular attention should be paid to people 

who may have a disability or anyone who may need special help. The 

order specifies that the responsible body must manage any fire-risk in the 

premises. Fire authorities no longer issue fire certificates and those previously 

in force will have no legal status.

For smaller premises (under 300 attendees) download for free:

http://www.ucl.ac.uk/estates/maintenance/fire/documents/Small_Places_of_

Assembly.pdf
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“Fire Safety Risk Assessment - Small and Medium Places of Assembly”- 

ISBN: 978 1 85112 820 4;

For larger premises, download for free:

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/fire-safety-risk-assessment-

large-places-of-assembly

“Fire Safety Risk Assessment - Large Places of Assembly”- ISBN: 978 1 

85112 821 1;

Alternatively, they can be ordered from Communities and Local Government 

Publications, Cambertown House, Goldthorpe Industrial Estate, Rotherham  

S63 9BL  Tel: 0300 123 1124  Quote ISBN when ordering.

FIRE SAFETY RISK ASSESSMENT

1 Identify fire hazards: 

Identify ignition sources

Identify fuel sources 

Identify oxygen source

2 Identify people at risk:

In and around the premises 

Those especially at risk

3 Evaluate, remove or reduce and protect from risk

Evaluate risk of fire starting 

Evaluate risk to people 

Remove/ reduce fire hazards 

Remove/ reduce risk to people 

Protect people by providing fire precautions

4 Record, plan, inform, instruct, and train

Record major findings and action taken

Discuss and work with other responsible people

Prepare emergency plan 

Inform and instruct relevant people

Provide training

5 Review

Review assessment regularly 

Change as necessary
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1. Introduction
All aspects of our lives involve risk and the life of the church is no exception.  

The Charity Commission expects trustees of charities to assess the risks 

they carry and to take steps to mitigate those risks.  The current Charity 

Commission guidance note CC26 can be found on the Commission website 

and provides a detailed explanation of the type of risks, their potential impact 

and how the threats they pose may be mitigated.   Although not all charities 

are obliged to report on risk, common sense should persuade all churches, 

however small, to look at the risks they face and to include a suitable 

statement in their annual report.

Society has become litigious and therefore any risk which a charity or church 

may be exposed to carries with it the threat of legal consequences.  It is 

therefore vital that policies and procedures are in place which not only define 

the risks which a church or charity might face, but also how they are defined, 

the process by which they are managed and the accountabilities in place. 

Risk is not just a financial issue. It includes health and safety, the implications 

of bad publicity, legal claims and the inability to continue because of fire, 

flood or other perils, and should not overlook the effect of a key worker’s ill 

health.  Increasingly the responsibility for those who work in any capacity 

within our churches or who volunteer or attend the various events, is onerous.  

In that respect safeguarding is a key aspect within risk assessment and 

management. The obligation to assess and deal with the risks falls on the 

officers of the church but they are likely to look to the treasurer for a lead.

2. Nature of risk
The probability of some risks is low while their impact may be high. Other 

risks may be highly likely but their impact is minimal. It may be helpful to 

firstly group risks into aspects of the church or charity as follows:

• Buildings & Property

• People (Volunteers & Employees)

• Vulnerable adults & those under eighteen including children

• Financial

• Governance & Administration including legal

• Health & Safety

• Reputational Risk
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This list is not comprehensive and may vary depending upon the activities 

and nature of the church or charity.  Within each group an attempt should be 

made to define the nature of the particular risks associated with it and the 

impact whether high or low.

The likelihood of a toddler falling from an open upstairs window might be low, 

but the result would be catastrophic.  On the other hand the probability of 

rabbits eating new bedding plants in the grounds of a country church may be 

high but the impact, although annoying will be low.

To prevent a toddler falling to his or her death we take positive steps to reduce 

the risk. Preventative measures are likely to include fitting a stair gate and 

installing window locks. To achieve this requires a visit to a baby store to buy 

the gate, followed by a trip to a hardware outlet to purchase the window locks. 

Then comes the installation, which will take time and effort and finally there is 

the constant attention to ensure that the gate and locks are in place whenever 

there is a child at risk. We may not appreciate it at the time but all these steps 

are an assessment and a planned response to a potentially very serious risk.

The care shown for bedding plants is likely to be at a much lower level even 

though the risk is very real.

In both cases a risk assessment has been undertaken and appropriate steps 

taken to mitigate the risk.

3. Risk assessment
Having defined the risks the next stage is to assess the threats they 

pose and the steps which are required to minimize or mitigate the 

threats completely.

So what is a risk assessment?  It is a complete review of the charity’s 

objectives, its workings and its controls.  While the obligations fall on the 

trustees of the church (the PCC or similar managing body) it should involve all 

the workers in all the groups within the church and should not forget that they 

can look for help to the fire brigade, police crime prevention officers, insurers, 

the church’s independent examiner (or auditors), solicitors, investment 

managers and other advisers.

As part of the assessment process a thorough review of current policies 

and procedures should take place. In the event of an issue arising the first 

question to be asked is likely to be: “What are the relevant policies and 

procedures currently in place?”  The next question may well be: “How up to 

date are they and when were they last reviewed?”
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How should risk assessment for a church be approached?  The following 

steps are suggested:

i. Ensure that the officers and leaders of the activities within the church 

understand why they are obliged to address the risk of something going 

wrong.

ii. Identify the core activities. All organisations, churches included, pick up 

baggage as the years go by and continue working in areas that were 

once central but are now at best peripheral. A clear idea of the central 

activities will help in identifying and prioritising the risks.

iii. Ask each group within the church to look at the particular risks that they 

face. No doubt almost all groups will report that if the building burns 

down they will need somewhere to meet but each group will also have 

its own particular temporary accommodation needs. There will then be 

risks that apply specifically to the individual group. The Sunday school 

will hopefully mention their obligations to comply with child protection 

legislation while those involved in the kitchen will report on the risks 

of food poisoning and the need to keep the fridge and cooker in good 

order.

 Although some groups may need help in identifying the risks, the church 

leaders should resist the temptation to do the task for them. A bottom 

up approach involving all the workers, paid and unpaid, is more likely to 

identify the gaps that need attention.

 It might, for example, reveal that unknown to the church leaders, a group 

has started to work with young people but that those involved have not 

been checked with the Disclosure & Barring Service.

iv. Consider statutory obligations, including health and safety, disability 

discrimination and data protection.

v. Collate the information and list all the risks to which the church is 

exposed.

vi. Prioritise the risks. Assess the likelihood of the risks arising and the 

impact if they occurred.

vii. Identify the policies and procedures currently in place in respect of the 

areas of risk, when they were last reviewed and who is responsible for 

ensuring that they are kept up to date.

viii. Identify what controls and procedures are in place to minimise the 

risk and/or their effects and to deal with them. Risk is best controlled 

by good and clearly understood internal systems. They will reduce 

problems, catch those that arise before they become a crisis and provide 

for a remedy if the controls fail.
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It is difficult to provide a simple example of a comprehensive document 

which fully assesses the various risks to which a church or charity may 

be exposed but the Charity Commission guidance note referred to above 

provides some helpful examples. 

The following impact grid seeks to define the impact of a particular risk on 

the one hand and the likelihood of it happening on the other:

Low Likelihood (not 
expected to happen)

Medium Likelihood 
(could well happen)

High Likelihood 
(happening now or 
expected to happen 
within the next year)

High Impact

Insure.

Establish contingency 
plans. Establish 
preventative controls.

Take steps to reduce 
the likelihood and 
establish contingency 
plans. 

Take avoiding action or 
shut down

Medium 
Impact

Insure.

Establish contingency 
plans. 

Establish contingency 
plans. Establish 
preventative controls.

Take steps to reduce 
the likelihood and 
establish contingency 
plans. 

Low Impact Accept risk. Accept risk, respond if 
threat materializes.

Establish preventative 
controls.

Some examples of impact might include:

• High impact/high likelihood – fire, if the church is in an area where 

churches have already suffered arson attacks.

• High impact/medium likelihood – serious accident during youth club 

games session.

• High impact/low likelihood – indecency by key church worker.

• High impact/low likelihood – abuse of vulnerable adults & minors

• Medium impact/high likelihood – mice infestation.

• Medium impact/medium likelihood – grant from central funds withdrawn.

• Medium impact/low likelihood – no one available to assist with Sunday 

school.

• Low impact/high likelihood – short term sickness of church treasurer

• Low impact/medium likelihood – expenses claim not fully supported by 

receipts.

• Low impact/low likelihood – accidental damage to churchyard mower.

The process of risk management and assessment is a continuous one. All 

larger charities are required under the SORP to disclose in their annual report 

the “principal risks and uncertainties” they face and their plans to manage 

them. Smaller charities (including churches) though not subject to the same 
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disclosure as above, are required to explain in their annual report, any 

uncertainties over their ability to continue as a going concern for at least the 

next 12 months from the date of approving the annual report and accounts. 

Whilst this is not a legal requirement for those churches and charities not 

registered with the Charity Commission, nevertheless in the interests of good 

governance and to protect the trustees in the event of an issue occurring, it is 

recommended that unregistered charities and churches ensure they have an 

effective risk assessment management process in place.

4. Conclusion
Risk assessment should be seen not as another chore but an opportunity 

to take a long hard look at all aspects of the church and its work.  It is also 

an opportunity for the church to demonstrate the highest standards of good 

governance and practice.

5. Help available
The Charity Commission has issued guidance for charity trustees on 

managing risk.  This is mainly directed at larger charities but contains 

some useful tips.  Copies of CC26 can be obtained from the Commission’s 

Taunton office or can be downloaded from https://www.gov.uk/government/

publications/charities-and-risk-management-cc26.

The Health and Safety Executive have published a useful guide entitled 

“Charity and Voluntary Workers: a Guide to Health and Safety at Work”.  

It can be downloaded free by pasting the following link into a web browser: 

static1.1.sqspcdn.com/static/f/679927/9684695/1291463717800/hsg192 
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1.  The Data Protection Act 1998
There are two fundamental aspects of the Data Protection Act, which 

churches must consider:

1.  All organisations must comply with the Data Protection Act and its 

provisions.

2.  In certain circumstances, organisations may have to register with the 

information commissioner, however, many churches should be exempt 

from registration.

This chapter therefore:

• reviews compliance with the Act (all churches must comply);

• details when churches can claim exemption and therefore avoid the need 

to register;

• identifies some of the circumstances which may require registration;

• details the registration process.

The following terms used in the legislation and in this chapter need to be 

explained.

• Data controller: means any person who will either individually or jointly 

with other persons determine the purposes for which, and the manner in 

which, any personal data is to be processed. So any governing church 

body would become a data controller (e.g. a PCC, the trustees, the 

elders, or any governing council of the church).

• Data subject: is any individual who is the subject of personal data.

• Personal data: means any data relating to a living individual who can 

be identified by that data (e.g. just a name and address is personal 

data). It includes both facts and opinions about the individual, as well as 

information regarding the intentions of the data controller towards the 

individual.

• Processing: means obtaining, recording, or holding the data, or carrying 

out any operations on that data.

2.  The main provisions of the Act
The Data Protection Act 1998 came into force on 1st March 2000. It sets 

rules for processing personal information and applies to some paper records 

as well as those held on computers. The Act covers information which is 

recorded as part of a “relevant filing system’’, that is a set of information in 

which the records are structured either by reference to individuals or criteria 
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relating to individuals so that ‘’specific information relating to a particular 

individual is readily accessible’’. This means that a significant amount of 

manual or paper data falls within the scope of the Act; it does not only apply 

to records maintained on computer.

Any church processing personal data must comply with the eight enforceable 

principles of good practice. Any data controller, whether they are exempt 

from registration or not must comply with the principles. They are that data 

must be:

i.  Processed fairly and lawfully and meet one of the specific conditions set 

out in the Act.

ii.  Processed for limited purposes and not in any manner incompatible with 

those purposes.

iii.  Adequate, relevant and not excessive.

iv.  Accurate.

v.  Not kept for longer than is necessary.

vi.  Processed in line with the data subject’s rights.

vii.  Secure.

viii.  Not transferred to countries without adequate protection.

i. Fairly and lawfully / ii.   Limited purposes

When data is collected from an individual, the data controller should be 

honest and open about why it is wanted, and must have a legitimate reason 

for processing the data. This means explaining (in writing) who the data 

controller is (by giving the proper name for the church), why the information 

is needed, and whether there is any intention to pass it to third parties (most 

churches will be able to confirm that it will not be passed to third parties 

either without consent or unless absolutely necessary). To comply with these 

requirements it would be appropriate for all documents asking for personal 

details (e.g. any kind of enrolment or membership form, or any agreement 

concerning regular giving, including continuous Gift Aid Payments) to include 

some statement that data being collected by that document will be used for 

the purposes of church records in compliance with the Data Protection Act, 

and will not be used for any other purpose, and in submitting the information, 

the individual is agreeing to this.  In this way, you will meet the requirement to 

be transparent, but you can also demonstrate that you have the individual’s 

consent to use their information in this way. 

iii. Adequate, relevant and not excessive

There is no definition of these terms in the Act but the intention is that data 

controllers should hold neither too much nor too little information about 
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individuals. For example, a date of birth may be appropriate for younger 

members of the congregation, but thereafter is it necessary to know the age, 

or is it more appropriate just to know whether the data subject is over 18 and, 

say, under 65? A data controller should not hold data which is not actually 

needed by the organisation.

iv. Accurate

Clearly, data must be accurate and the only remedy in respect of this 

principle is that errors must be corrected.

v. Not kept for longer than is necessary

The principle here is that, only in exceptional circumstances, should data 

be kept indefinitely. The church should have a system for removal of data 

from the records when it is no longer required for audit purposes or when 

individuals are no longer members of the church.

vi. Data subject’s rights

An individual about whom data is processed has the right to find out what 

information is held about themselves on computer and in some paper 

records. They can apply to the court to order a data controller to rectify, 

erase or destroy personal details if they are inaccurate or contain expressions 

of opinion based on inaccurate information. An individual can ask a data 

controller to stop processing information about themselves where it could 

cause significant and unwarranted damage or distress to themselves or 

anybody else. They can also ask that processing be stopped if it is to be 

used for direct marketing purposes. An individual may claim compensation 

for damage or distress caused by breach of the Data Protection Act.

When a Data Controller collects personal data, the data subject should be 

provided with an address to enable the subject to contact the controller.

vii.  Security

Data controllers must take measures to safeguard personal data. The Act 

requires that appropriate technical or organisational measures be taken 

to prevent the unauthorised or unlawful processing or disclosure of data. 

For most churches this probably means ensuring that nobody other than 

the appropriate officials of the church have access to either the manual 

or computer files containing information about individuals. In particular, it 

would be necessary to ensure that persons processing the data cannot 

be overlooked while they are working. Obviously, churches must also take 

reasonable steps to ensure that data cannot be stolen or misappropriated.  

One very simple but effective measure for computer systems is to ensure that 
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files are password protected, strong passwords are used, and that individuals 

do not share their password with others. 

viii. Transfer of personal data overseas

The 8th principle restricts the transfer of personal data outside the EEA 

(which consists of Norway, Iceland and Liechtenstein as well as the EU 

member states). Personal data may only be transferred to other countries if 

they ensure an adequate level of protection for the rights and freedoms of 

data subjects. This principle is particularly important when considering the 

use of websites. Clearly any information posted on a website is available to 

countries all over the world, so should not normally include personal data 

concerning church members without explicit consent.

3.  The conditions for processing data
Processing of data may only be carried out when one of the following 

conditions has been met:

• The individual has given his or her consent to the processing.

• The processing is necessary for the performance of a contract with the 

individual.

• The processing is required under a legal obligation.

• The processing is necessary to protect the vital interest of the individual.

• The processing is necessary to carry out a public function.

• The processing is necessary in order to pursue the legitimate interests of 

the data controller or third parties (unless it could prejudice the interests 

of the individual).

Churches may claim that they are maintaining records, which are necessary 

to pursue their legitimate interests. For example, they need to keep records 

of members including, where appropriate, an electoral roll and details of 

gift aid contributions, etc. However, the conditions can be further met if any 

document which asks for information about members or contributors also 

includes some statement, which advises the data subject that the information 

will be retained for church purposes (see above) and that the data subject’s 

permission to retain the information is assumed unless the church is advised 

otherwise.
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4.  Processing sensitive data
The Act makes specific provision for the processing of sensitive personal 

data. This includes information concerning racial or ethnic origin, political 

opinions, religious or other beliefs, trade union membership, health, sex life, 

criminal proceedings or convictions. Sensitive data may only be processed 

under strict conditions, which include:

• Having the explicit consent of the individual.

• Being required by law to process the data for employment purposes.

• Needing to process the information in order to protect a vital interest of 

the data subject or another.

• Dealing with the administration of justice or legal proceedings.

However, since the church is “a body not established or conducted for profit” 

and “exists for religious purposes” its data controller is allowed to process 

sensitive data “fairly” provided the processing

• is carried out in the course of its legitimate activities

• is carried out with appropriate safeguards for the rights and freedoms of 

the data subject

• relates only to members of the church, or persons who have regular 

contact with the church in connection with its purposes

• does not involve disclosure to third parties without consent of the data 

subject.

So if sensitive data is maintained it will be necessary to adhere closely to the 

conditions or obtain permission of the individuals concerned.

5.  Registration and exemption
If personal information about living individuals is maintained on a computer, 

or such information is processed on a computer by others (for example a 

computer bureau, or an officer of the church), or you have paper files that 

form part of a “relevant filing system”, the data controller may need to register 

under the Data Protection Act.  A “relevant filing system” is one which is set 

up so that you can identify personal information within it.  SO even if the only 

records that are held are in a filing cabinet, if it’s organised alphabetically by 

name, you would still be required to register. However, there are a number 

of exemptions from registration where the information is used for limited 

purposes. There is no procedure for officially claiming exemption; it is left to 

data controllers to assess whether they meet the exceptions or not.
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The following chart details the bases for assuming exemption. It is not 

exhaustive but has been specifically tailored to relate to some of the 

activities, which may be undertaken by churches.

Is data processed by computer, or in a relevant filing system? 

YES    NO    Registration NOT 
required

Is it processed for:

Education, or

Health admin, or

Provision of health services, or

Pastoral care, or

Provision of financial services/advice

(see below for more detailed list of activities requiring 
registration)

NO   YES    Registration 
required

Is the church a “not for profit” body? (see below for more detailed 
conditions) and/or is the processing carried out for “core” business 
purposes (see below for more detailed conditions) 

NO    YES    

Registration required

Registration NOT 
required

6.  Exemption conditions
i. “Not for Profit” exemption will obviously include churches and will apply 

where:

• The processing is only for the purposes of establishing and maintaining 

support of the church or providing or administering activities for 

individuals who are either members of the church or have regular 

contacts with it.

• The data subjects are restricted to any person, the processing of whose 

personal data is necessary for church purposes.

• The information is restricted to that which is necessary for church 

purposes.

• Disclosure of the data, other than made with the consent of the data 

subjects is restricted to those third parties, necessary for church 

purposes.
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• Data is not kept after the relationship between the church and the data 

subject ends, unless and for so long as it is necessary to do so for 

church purposes

ii. “Core” business purposes are:

• Staff administration: processing for the purposes of appointments or 

removals, pay, discipline, superannuation, work management or other 

personnel matters in relation to church staff;

• Advertising, marketing and public relations: processing for the 

purposes of advertising or marketing the business, activity, goods or 

services of the church and promoting public relations only in connection 

with that business or activity, or those goods or services;

• Accounts and records: processing to keep accounts relating to any 

business or other activity carried on by the church, or deciding whether 

to accept any person as a customer or supplier, or keeping records 

of purchases, sales or other transactions to ensure that the requisite 

payments and deliveries are made, or services provided, by the church 

or to the church in respect of those transactions, or for the making of 

financial or management forecasts to assist the church in conducting any 

such business or activity;

• Data subjects must be restricted to any person, the processing of whose 

personal data is necessary for staff administration, the church’s own 

advertising, marketing and public relations, or accounts and records;

• Data must be restricted to that necessary for staff administration, the 

church’s advertising, marketing and public relations, or the accounts and 

records (this excludes personal data processed by or obtained from a 

credit reference agency- see non-exempt activities)

• Disclosure, other than made with the consent of the data subject, 

must be restricted to those third parties which are necessary for staff 

administration, the church’s advertising, marketing and public relations, 

or accounts and records;

• Data must not be kept after the relationship with the data subject, 

customer or supplier ends, unless and for so long as it is necessary to do 

so for staff administration, the church’s advertising, marketing and public 

relations, or accounts and records.
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7.  When a church should register
Generally, the church would qualify for exemption under the “not for profit” 

and/or “core” business headings. However, if it processes any data, which 

falls outside the exempt conditions, or processes any data, which falls 

within the categories for which registration is specifically required, then it 

will need to register. A more detailed list of those activities is shown below.  

Of particular note should be the “pastoral care” heading. This may not be 

something the ordinary governing body of the church is concerned with, 

but if the minister keeps any such records on a computer, the church must 

decide whether it or the minister should register.

Non-exempt purposes, though not exhaustive, include:

Accountancy/Auditing (i.e. the professional practice of an Accountant or 

Auditor) Administration of justice and legal services

Canvassing political support amongst the electorate Constituency casework

Credit referencing

Debt administration and factoring Education

Health administration and provision of health services Mortgage/insurance 

broking/insurance administration Pastoral care

Private investigation

Provision of financial services and advice Research

Trading and sharing in personal information Pensions administration

Processing data processed or obtained from a credit reference agency.

8.  The registration process
Registration involves notifying the Information Commissioner, completing 

a number of forms and paying a registration fee of £35. The notification 

(registration) is for a period of one year and has to be renewed each year for 

the same fee (£35).

There are two ways to make an application to notify:

• Internet: the notification form can be completed on-line, then printed 

and sent with the fee (or direct debit instructions) to the Information 

Commissioner.
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• Telephone: call the notification help-line. They will ask for name, address 

and contact details and the nature of the organisation wishing to register. 

They will then send the necessary forms for completion and return with 

the fee (or direct debit instructions).

The forms will be checked, and when the notification is added to the register, 

a copy of the entry will be sent to the data controller. A security number will 

also be issued which must be quoted on all further contacts concerning the 

entry. The register entry must be kept up to date and all changes must be 

notified within 28 days of the change (change forms are available).

Addresses for notification or further information are:  

Notification Dept. email: registration@ico.org.uk

Internet: www.ico.org.uk 

Information line: 01625545745

Notification help-line: 01625545740

Notification Fax: 01625 545748

Post: Information Commissioner’s Office, Wycliffe House, Water Lane, 

Wilmslow, Cheshire, SK95AF

9.  EU General Data Protection Regulation
In May 2016, the long-awaited EU General Data Protection Regulation 

(GDPR) came into force.  This EU legislation amends data protection law 

across the EU, and is directly effective – meaning that it applies in the UK 

without us having to pass our own version of the law via Parliament.  To 

allow for the fact that there are some significant changes, all organisations – 

including churches – were given until the 25th May 2018 to be fully compliant 

with this new law. 

Following the vote to Brexit, the future of this law was unclear, but we can 

now be fairly certain that we will still be part of the EU when the deadline 

for compliance comes into force, and so we will have to comply with 

the new law.  The UK government have also confirmed that they will be 

putting in place very similar legislation when the GDPR no longer applies, 

so it’s important that you are aware of the changes, and start to look at 

implementation now.

The main changes about which you need to be aware are set out and 

explained further below:

 i. Removal of registration requirement

 ii. Focus on accountability and transparency
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 iii. Change to definition of consent

 iv. Need for Privacy Impact Assessment

 v. Legal requirements for policies

 vi. Right to be forgotten

 vii. Changes to Subject Access

i.  Removal of registration requirement

Post May 2018, no organisations will have to register (notify) with the 

Information Commissioner’s Office.  Whether this changes when the UK 

brings in its own law remains to be seen, but until May 2018, you do still have 

to register unless excepted. 

ii.  Focus on accountability and transparency

One of the key amendments to the law is in the change in focus to 

accountability and transparency.  What this means in practice, is that 

organisations have to be able to prove that they comply with the law, and the 

only way to do this is to ensure that all your records are detailed, and up to 

date.  

You may also need to think about the way in which you record certain 

information – such as when someone consents to you having and using their 

information.  It is no longer enough just to comply with the law – you have to 

be able to prove it as well.  Looking at the records that you currently have, 

and where these might be improved, is something that you should be looking 

at now, to give you time to implement changes needed before May 2018.  

iii.  Change to definition of consent

Under the current law, “consent” bears its natural meaning, but under 

GDPR, for consent to be valid, it must be specific, informed, freely given 

and unambiguous. Whilst this does not necessarily mean that you cannot 

continue to rely upon implied consent, it is worth looking at when you rely 

on consent, and how you obtain and record that consent, so that you could 

show, if asked, that you meet those conditions.

iv.  Need for Privacy Impact Assessment

Where you are doing something with personal data where there might be a 

risk to the individual, you are now required to carry out a “Privacy Impact 

Assessment” or “PIA”.  This is simply a question of balancing the benefits 

of what you want to do, as against the risks to the individual, and setting 

out any steps you are taking to mitigate or lessen those risks.  This should 

be done before you put in place the new, riskier, action, and needs to be in 

writing and kept so that you can meet the accountability requirement above.
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v. Legal requirements for policies

Data Controllers will have to have a data retention policy in place, and a 

data breach notification policy before May 2018.  A data retention policy 

just needs to set out the categories of data that you have, and how long you 

intend to keep them.  There is no magic formula to this – some records you 

will be required to keep for a certain length of time, but as long as you can 

justify it, you can keep the records for as long as you want to. 

A data breach policy just needs to set out the procedure if there is any kind 

of breach of the data protection legislation.  It needs to specify to whom any 

breach needs to be reported, and what happens next.  When putting this in 

place, you need to bear in mind that if you have to report the breach to the 

ICO, it has to be done within 72 hours, so initial action will need to be taken 

quickly. 

vi.  Right to be forgotten

There is a new right under GDPR to ask to be forgotten by an organisation 

that holds your details.  There are exceptions to this – such as where you 

hold records for historic or archive purposes – but it is worth being aware 

that the right exists, should you ever be asked to “forget” someone, and 

make sure that you have systems in place to be able to delete extraneous 

information if asked. 

vii.  Changes to Subject Access

The right of access remains largely the same, except that you will only have 

30 days in which to respond, rather than 40.

The other rights and principles remain largely the same, and so compliance should 

not require any additional burden.  The main area where all organisations are likely 

to make more significant changes, is around the accountability and transparency 

requirement – making sure that you are giving people as much information as you 

possibly can, and keeping records of what you have told people, and what they 

have agreed with you.
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1. Consent
No property development can take place without appropriate local authority 

planning consent. In addition, listed buildings require special consent and, 

in the Church of England, and Church in Wales, before any alteration can be 

made to a church or other church property it is necessary to obtain a Faculty 

from the diocesan authorities.

2. Pre-planning
Before obtaining these consents, clearly it is vital to decide what 

development is proposed: plans will need to be drawn up, normally by an 

architect, with estimates of cost and eventually quotes will be needed from at 

least two firms.

As treasurer, it is clear that before any decision can be considered, or 

applications for consent made, there will be costs incurred in employing the 

architect etc., and it is important to ensure that funds will be available for 

this and the subsequent planning applications, even if the project fails to be 

implemented in due course.

3. Development purpose
Development can involve a building or alterations to a building for use by 

the church or a development for sale perhaps for fundraising purposes for 

example. Different considerations apply to each of these.

4. Development for church use
Development for the church’s own use, usually involves fundraising. To the 

extent an appeal or fundraising effort is specifically concerned with raising 

funds for the development project, then the funds raised must be used 

exclusively for that project. It is therefore wise to ensure that all paperwork 

and announcements make it clear that should the particular project not 

proceed, the funds will be applied to some alternative purpose within the 

church organisation. Without this provision, the donors must be consulted as 

to alternative uses of their funds or the funds must be returned to the donors.  

As to fundraising generally, see the individual section in this handbook.
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5. Funding
Development of any kind will need financing and clearly no project should 

be started without proper plans for payment for the works as expenditure is 

incurred. The plans will also need to cover the running costs of the building 

once it is complete and interest on any borrowings. Such planning cannot be 

left to chance and proper budgets with reasonable and proper assumptions 

as to the cost and likely income from the use of the property should be 

prepared.

6. Development for sale
When development is undertaken for the purposes of selling bare land for 

development, or for the sale of a completed development, care must be 

taken over the tax consequences.

In some circumstances, income tax (or possibly corporation tax) is payable 

on the profit generated. Value added tax clearly will arise on costs although 

it may be possible to recover VAT on development costs. These are areas 

where advice should be sought at an early stage since there is frequently 

a way of saving such costs. If they cannot be saved, however, it will be 

essential to build the expense into the budgeting process.

Direct taxes on profits from a development are not always treated as capital 

gains. Capital gains only arise where an asset is sold without any work 

having been done on it. As charities, churches generally are exempt from 

tax on capital gains. Where work is done on a newly acquired property 

before being sold, then this would, in all probability, be considered a trading 

transaction. As a trading transaction, there is no extra exemption from tax 

despite the charitable status. Where a church has owned property for a 

number of years, and wishes to change its use by development, it is clear the 

position is somewhere between the two scenarios. If the sale is of land for 

which planning consent has been obtained, and its proceeds are dependent 

upon the value of the completed development which the acquirer is able to 

achieve, then this is likely to create a tax liability on the profit.

For value added tax purposes, it may be appropriate for the church to 

register for VAT and to charge VAT on the sale of the land in order to be able 

to recover VAT on some of the costs incurred in preparing the land for sale.
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7. Community  infrastructure levy
In respect of any development of land which requires planning permission, a 

new tax, the

“Community Infrastructure Levy”, came into force on 6th April 2010. The 

collecting authority will normally be the local authority, which will also set the 

rate for the levy.

Following the grant of planning permission and before the development 

starts, a “commencement notice” must be submitted to the “collecting 

authority”, which in most cases will be the planning authority. The collecting 

authority issues liability notices and collects the tax.

There is a general small development exemption for non-residential 

buildings and non-residential extensions if the gross internal area of the new 

development is less than 100 square metres.

There are also exemptions for charities and for those developing social 

housing but a strict order of events has to be followed for these exemptions 

to apply. Claims for charity and for social housing reliefs must not only be 

in the hands of the collecting authority before the development commences 

but they will fail if any work commences before the authority notifies the 

charity or social housing provider of its decision on the claim. Additionally, 

a development ceases to be eligible for relief if the charity or social housing 

provider fails to submit a commencement notice to the collecting authority 

before starting work.

In summary, for relief all the following steps are necessary and must be 

carried out in the correct order:

1. Obtain planning permission.

2. Apply for charity/social housing relief.

3. Obtain a decision on the application for relief.

4. Submit a commencement notice.

5. Start development.

If any one of the steps is missed relief will be lost.

To be eligible for relief a charity must own a material interest in the land and 

the development must be used wholly or mainly for charitable purposes. If 

the land is owned jointly by the charity with a non-charity there is no relief. 

So, if a charity’s trading subsidiary has an interest in the land, the relief is 

compromised. Similarly, if a supporter bequeaths a part interest to a charity, 

with the other party being a non-charity, there is a problem.
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Discretionary relief can be granted when the development will generate 

income for the charity, but the charity must not use the development for 

ineligible trading activities, which are defined as “trading other than the sale 

of goods donated to the charity where the proceeds of sale of the goods are 

applied to the charity’s charitable purposes.” The regulations contain no de 

minimis exemption, so difficulties could arise if, for example, the space is 

used for a few weeks for an activity such as selling Christmas cards.

For charities, if the development passes to a non-charity within seven 

years the relief is clawed back. For social housing providers, the clawback 

provisions permit the disposal of a qualifying dwelling provided the sale 

proceeds are either spent on another qualifying dwelling or transferred to 

certain specified public authorities.
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Sections 1 to 11 of this chapter are intended primarily for those who have little 

or no knowledge of IT. Sections 12 to 18 are intended to apply to all church 

treasurers.

For novices

1.  Introduction
Information Technology (IT) is the means by which information can be 

prepared and communicated electronically. It has almost totally superseded 

the use of pen and paper in all professional situations, in particular because 

electronically prepared information can be changed and communicated 

easily and quickly. It also enables extremely professional looking results to be 

produced by a relatively unskilled user.

IT combines computer hardware, computer software and the skills of the user 

to achieve the end result. The importance of the skills of the user should not 

be underestimated.

The extent to which you might choose to use IT to support your role as 

church treasurer will depend on a number of factors such as:

i. the size and complexity of the church organisation and its finances,

ii. your own aptitude, knowledge and skill in IT, 

iii. the money at your disposal.

If the church organisation is very small and you have limited IT skills, then you 

may wish only to use IT in a very limited way e.g. by the occasional use of a 

computer owned by a friend or family member, or by asking them to prepare 

the occasional document or template for you. 

If the organisation is larger and more complex, there are substantially more 

benefits to be gained. Examples of the use of IT might include:

i. preparing and communicating church accounts and reports,

ii. contacting members of the church organisation,

iii. researching treasurer related subjects such as employment legislation on 

the internet,

iv. paying employees or suppliers,

v. making employee returns to HMRC.

There are two approaches for the treasurer who is not prepared to use a 

computer system:
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i. Hand-preparation: 

Do not be afraid to take this route if the church organisation is very small 

and you are not adequately prepared or supported to use a computer. 

However, the larger and more complex the organisation, the more difficult this 

approach will be. One of the most basic facts about accounting software is 

that it carries out calculations and generally manages the “double entry” of 

bookkeeping. With hand-prepared accounts you must do all this for yourself.

ii. Templates: 

These are an extension to hand-prepared accounts. They can be computer 

prepared by a friend or family member and into which you can slot hand-

prepared figures for your accounts. Templates for charity accounts and for 

the trustees’ annual report can be downloaded from the Charity Commission 

website and printed out for you to fill in the boxes, but the one for accruals 

accounts is lengthy (nearly 50 pages). They look more professional and 

it saves time. Once again, this approach is best suited to very small 

organisations with low diversity and low activity.

2.  Acquiring a computer and other related 
hardware
A computer consists of a processor, a display, a keyboard and a mouse. The 

processor is the ‘brain’ of the computer, where all the processing takes place. 

The display enables the result to be seen. It is the window into the computer. 

Through the keyboard, information (the raw data) is entered, and the mouse 

is an extension of this. In a desktop computer, these components will be 

separate; in a laptop computer or a tablet computer, they will have been 

integrated together to form a single unit.

The desktop is more flexible (e.g. the processor can be placed under the 

desk), is upgradeable but may not be cheaper. The laptop or tablet computer 

is compact, portable and there are few or no cables associated with it. 

However, the laptop or tablet computer has other disadvantages:

i. the integrated mouse or touchpad or touchscreen facility can be difficult 

to operate,

ii. the screen size is generally smaller,

iii. it is more difficult to set up to be ergonomically acceptable (see ‘Are you 

sitting comfortably?’),

iv. its portability makes it more of a security risk.
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The desktop, as its name implies, needs to be sited permanently, usually 

on a desk. This could involve further expenditure, and you need to have a 

reasonable idea of where you are going to put it before acquisition. Close to a 

power socket is a likely possibility, though there are circumstances where this 

need not be so (see ‘The Internet’). The laptop is at home on any flat surface 

or even, as its name implies, on your lap. The tablet computer is even more 

versatile.

Generally speaking, it is advisable to buy a desktop if the computer is to be 

used for several hours per day in a single location. It is also advisable to buy 

a desktop if the user has back, or eye problems or arthritis in the hands (see 

‘Are you Sitting Comfortably?’).

If a desktop is to be bought exclusively for church use, then focus the money 

available on the display, the keyboard, the mouse and the chair (see ‘Are you 

Sitting Comfortably?’). Choose only an entry-level processor. If, however, 

the computer will be shared with others, especially those who would play 

computer games, then the processor would have to be a much more 

sophisticated and powerful model.

The display should be as large as can reasonably be afforded, and you may 

wish to experiment with several different types of mouse or other device (eg, 

touchpad) for moving the onscreen cursor before choosing one that suits 

you. Be aware that for those coming to computers later in life, learning to use 

the mouse is probably quite difficult.

Computers usually come with basic software, known as the operating 

system. The operating system works with the hardware to enable basic 

computer processing to take place. 

Bundled with the operating system, there will normally be: an internet 

browser, an e-mail client and a media player, but not necessarily the essential 

application software that will be needed to produce documents.

Personal computer (PC) hardware is a commodity bought largely on price. 

Good after sales support is likely to be critical, particularly for the new or 

inexperienced user.

Together with the PC, whether desktop or laptop or tablet computer, one 

peripheral will be essential – a printer. There is a choice between inkjet and 

laser printers. Choose a cheap one, but be aware that ink cartridges can be 

very expensive.

Sometimes discarded computers are gifted to the church.  Beware of these 

‘elderly’ computers; if you receive one that is already performing exactly 

the functions you wish to perform, then it might be suitable. Otherwise, 
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when new software is loaded, it may either not function at all, or run very 

slowly. In addition, it may not be possible to take advantage of some of the 

recommendations in the rest of this chapter e.g. broadband access.

Alternatively, there is now a market for reconditioned computers and charities 

now also have access to a wide range of cut-price hardware and software 

from a number of reputable UK suppliers readily accessible from an internet-

search.

3.  Are you sitting comfortably?
During the decision-making process to acquire a computer, you should 

have been thinking about its planned location and other office equipment to 

be purchased, such as a desk. One of the most important pieces of office 

equipment to buy is a chair. It must be a specialised office chair, conforming 

to health and safety requirements. One of these is that its height must be 

adjustable; another is that it must move on five castors to prevent it from 

tipping.

There are a number of different aspects of the way a user should sit in 

a computer chair that must be optimised if they are not to suffer health 

problems as a result. There is much advice to be found on this subject in a 

number of places, but the following are the most critical aspects:

i. the screen should be at eye level, particularly so that the operator does 

not have to look up,

ii. hands should rest comfortably at the desktop level,

iii. feet should rest on the floor. If they don’t, use a foot-rest.

The height of the chair and the height of the screen should be adjusted until 

all the requirements have been satisfied. Clearly this is more difficult if a 

laptop is to be used.

There are potential problems associated with working at a computer for long 

periods, particularly regarding the visual display. Do not spend more than 

two hours at a time at the computer. Even a short break, taken regularly is 

beneficial.

For further information, refer to:

• BS EN ISO 9241-5:  Ergonomic requirements for office work with visual 

display terminals, workstation layout and postural requirements.

• Working with VDUs: www.hse.gov.uk/pubns/indg36.pdf

• Seating at Work:   ISBN 0 7176 1231 7
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4.  The internet
The internet has an alternative name, the ‘world wide web’. This conjures up 

an image which is quite helpful to an understanding of how it works. There 

are computers called ‘servers’ situated throughout the world and linked 

together. The servers are the hosts for web sites, which can be accessed 

from literally anywhere. Web sites can be used to sell products or advertise 

services, or simply provide useful information, which can be downloaded to 

the computer. Some servers are specific hosts for e-mail, which is simply a 

specialised form of internet use.

The internet can only be accessed with all of the following:

i. appropriate hardware integral to the computer,

ii. a telephone line or other network connection,

iii. an internet service provider (ISP),

iv. internet browser software on the computer.

The appropriate integral hardware may be any one of the following:

1. a LAN port (sometimes described as Ethernet) – one option for 

broadband access,

2. a USB port – an alternative option for broadband access,

3. ‘WiFi enabled’ – for wireless access.

All the above support broadband access, which is now almost universal for 

new users. Broadband partitions the telephone line into two parts, voice and 

data, operating concurrently. This means that the internet connection is not 

disrupted when you need to make a telephone call. 

Once connected, there is continuous access to the internet at all times 

when the computer is switched on. This does not cost more money, but see 

‘Security’.

If option 1 or 2 is selected, the computer must be sited in a room, which has 

a telephone socket, and be attached to it by a cable. If there is more than 

one computer to access the internet via the same telephone line the ISP will 

provide a ‘black box’ which uses Ethernet connections. This is called a router.  

If there is only one computer, the ‘black box’ will use USB connections and 

be called (confusingly) an ADSL modem. 

If option 3, wireless connectivity, is selected, the ‘black box’ is a wireless 

router. The computer can be sited in a location away from the telephone line, 

literally wire-less, and is particularly useful if a laptop is to be used. However, 

the wireless router, with which the computer communicates, will have to 
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be connected by cable to the telephone line. A wireless router also enables 

two or more machines in the same location to communicate with each other 

without being physically connected.

You will need to negotiate with an ISP to provide the needed access to the 

internet at a price that can be afforded. The situation is complex but broadly 

speaking works as follows:

The ISP supplies:

i. the broadband signal via the telephone line,

ii. the ‘gateway’ to the internet,

iii. one or more e-mail addresses, 

iv. the ‘black box’ which connects the computer to the telephone socket.

In theory, three suppliers will have to be paid for:

i. the telephone line rental (traditionally BT),

ii. voice calls,

iii. the broadband signal (usually a flat monthly fee).

However, in practice, the same supplier will often provide two or even all 

three of the facilities.

Once the ISP has established connection, follow the instructions and the 

internet can be accessed using the internet browser software provided with 

the computer.

To get the best out of the internet, use one of the ‘search engines’ 

available (e.g. Google), entering keywords, to find the site(s) in which you 

are interested, e.g. entering Charity Commission will give a list of sites, of 

which the first is the Charity Commission web site, where the latest charity 

information can be found.

There are circumstances in which broadband access may not be possible. 

Some very old machines might not have a USB port, or a LAN port or be 

‘WiFi enabled’. Consequently, broadband access will not be possible. A 

modem (probably an integral part of the hardware) will have to be used to 

enable “dial-up” access. This gives a much slower speed of internet access, 

call charges continue to accrue whilst connected and voice calls cannot 

be made on the same line at the same time as internet connection. Seek 

specialist advice.

In some remote rural areas, broadband access may not be technically viable. 

A number of different initiatives are being pursued at a community level to find 

alternatives. Seek local specialist advice for the alternatives available in the area.
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5. E-mail
This follows from the internet provision by the ISP. Messages can be sent to 

those who have internet/e-mail connection. Other documents can also be 

“attached” to the e-mail message e.g. finance reports. Similarly, when other 

people know your e-mail address, they can send messages to you. E-mail 

client software is usually provided with the computer, but more sophisticated 

software can be purchased to replace it if you prefer.  

An e-mail is sent (using the “send” button) via the internet to the e-mail 

server associated with the addressee’s e-mail address. When the addressee 

wishes to receive mail, he/she accesses the e-mail server to download any 

waiting e-mail. Once downloaded, e-mails are deleted from the server. When 

correspondents e-mail back to you, the process operates in reverse and you 

download any waiting e-mails from your server.

6. Security
If the computer is to be used as a stand-alone machine and it is not to be 

connected to either another machine or to the internet, then questions of 

security are basically physical security, though there may still be dangers 

from loading new software or data from external sources (hard disks, etc.) 

and anti-virus software should be installed. The matter of physical security 

becomes a little more complicated if a laptop is chosen. 

However, if access to the internet is intended it is vitally important that 

before the computer is connected to a telephone line a “firewall” should be 

operational. 

At the individual PC level, a firewall is software that sits in the computer. Most 

current operating systems will contain a firewall, otherwise firewall software 

must be purchased and installed before a connection is made. 

A firewall protects against all kinds of malicious intrusions from the internet. 

However, it cannot protect against viruses in e-mail attachments, and in files, 

which are physically admitted to the computer by inserting CDs etc. For 

this reason, anti-virus software is also needed. This detects intrusions and 

either deletes or disables them. Without these two forms of security, not only 

is the computer extremely vulnerable, the costs of removing any disabling 

intrusions can be high.

There is one important point to note. Anti-virus software providers may 

also provide more comprehensive firewalls than the one provided with the 

computer.  If a more comprehensive firewall is obtained (with anti-virus 
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software), then the firewall supplied with the operating system should be 

turned off. Do not run more than one firewall at a time in the machine. 

7.  Software applications
Software applications work with the operating system to allow the user to 

carry out specialised tasks. Two examples are the internet browser and the 

e-mail client provided with the computer. Most other application software 

will have to be bought separately and installed. You can do this yourself; 

installation is normally straightforward if the instructions are followed.

As church treasurer you will need a word processor to write finance reports, 

etc.; and a spreadsheet for accounts preparation and/or as an adjunct to any 

specialised accounting software you may choose. These will often be bundled 

together as part of an ‘Office’ suite. Such a package is often supplied, loaded 

onto a new machine, but there are a number of proprietary ‘Office’ suites 

available. You may also wish to use more specialised software applications 

e.g. for accounts (see ‘Accounting Software’). For old computers, check 

carefully the minimum requirements of the software package before installing 

it. If only the minimum is available, performance may be poor, so an upgrade 

to the computer may be required - or even a new machine.

8.  Training
New computer users must take advantage of as much training as possible. 

Those who already have the basic skills are advised to seek training for all 

new application packages they install.

9.  Managing files
It is often regarded as an afterthought, but the proper management of 

computerised documents (files) is extremely important. If they are not 

managed properly, they will be difficult to find when they are needed. In the 

same way that paper documents are kept in hanging files in a filing cabinet, 

computer files are kept in levels of ‘folders’ within ‘folders’, stored within 

the computer.  File management software is supplied with the operating 

system for a computer; in the Microsoft environment, this software is called 

‘Windows Explorer’. 

When a document is first created, using say, a word processor, you will be 

prompted to save it. If it is not saved it is lost forever. In the saving process 

you will be asked where to store the saved document. The system will 
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already contain a ‘My Documents’ folder. Think of this as a filing cabinet. 

Create folders within it and put the documents in these lower level folders. 

For this reason, before any documents are created, thought should be 

given to a file structure, and these lower level folders created. They must be 

meaningful to you and to the way you think. A very simple folder structure for 

a church treasurer might look like this:

My Documents:

  Finance Reports

  Statutory Accounts

  Management Accounts

  Church correspondence

If your first document was a Finance Report, then save it with a suitable 

name such as Finance Report 2017 03 07.xxx and store it in the folder called 

‘Finance Reports’. The suffix ‘xxx’ is unique to the software application that 

created it (e.g. “Word” documents all end in .doc, “Excel” spread sheet files 

all end in something like .xls). Always follow the convention when naming a 

file; this helps later retrieval. Having saved the document in a folder, it can 

be retrieved using the file management software. It can also be deleted or 

moved to another folder. 

Some documents associated with the church may need to be kept for several 

years e.g. accounts. For this reason, it is particularly important both to know 

where the files you need are stored, and also to be certain that they will still 

be retrievable in years to come. 

Inability to retrieve files may be a result of inadvertent deletion (which no-one 

can protect against), but more likely because of a hardware problem. All files 

are stored on what is called the ‘hard disk’ in the computer.  This is usually a 

mechanical component, which spins during use and is accessed by a ‘head’ 

on a swinging arm. (Think of it as a gramophone record being played). Like 

all mechanical components the hard disk can fail. If it does, an expert should 

be engaged, who will advise whether or not any files can be recovered. In the 

worst case scenario, none of the files will be recoverable, so always back up 

files on a regular basis. 

Backup of files and their recovery is a vast subject. It ranges from simply 

copying files periodically onto a portable medium such as a memory stick or 

portable hard drive and storing this in a separate room, to the very elaborate 

means used by large commercial organisations to ensure that their businesses 

can keep running even after major disasters such as fire or explosions. 

Backing up onto a portable medium and storing it securely in another location 

is probably as much as most church treasurers would need to do. 
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An alternative is to store data in the “cloud”. This is a form of online storage 

available from numerous online suppliers and often includes some “free” 

storage which may be sufficient for most church records. Used with back-up 

software (often supplied with the computer operating system) this can be a 

very cheap and easy means of backing up records.

10. When things go wrong
As with life, things can go wrong with the computer. This is the kind of thing 

that can happen:

• the computer doesn’t work at all,

• it doesn’t work in the way you expect,

• it will not do what you want to do.

For these reasons, it is important to have the following:

i. formal support for the hardware,

ii. simple but effective backup and recovery,

iii. a firewall and anti-virus software,

iv. training in all the software being used,

v. experience in using the computer ‘Help’ facility, 

vi. formal support for any specialised software, 

vii. informal support from computer literate friends and family.

Armed with the above, there is a good chance of solving the problems that 

you may face.

11. Further references
Which? produces booklets on various aspects of IT and there are numbers of 

books written, including the series “.......for dummies”.

For all treasurers

12. Accounting software
From an accounting software perspective, churches are at a significant 

disadvantage. They must comply with the complexities of Fund Accounting, 

while in almost every other respect their accounting needs are usually simple, 

and they generally have a limited budget. Unfortunately, from the software 
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developer’s perspective, incorporating fund accounting into accounting 

software packages is a cost which needs to be recovered, usually resulting 

in a higher price.  When this is added to the enormous diversity of individual 

accounting needs within such a vast church community, it is not surprising 

that there is no one accounting software product that will best meet the 

needs of all churches or all church treasurers. Consequently, church 

treasurers find themselves in a dilemma as to what software to choose. There 

will almost always have to be some form of compromise.

The following is a step-by-step guide to choosing the accounting software 

most likely to be right for you.

a. Establish the accounting needs of the church organisation.

b. Understand your own skills and aptitudes (and those of others who will 

use the accounting software, e.g. book keeper, accountant).

c. Understand your personal expectations of an accounting solution.

d. Establish a maximum price to be paid, to include the price of the 

software, training and support.

e. Look carefully at where you are prepared to compromise and where you 

are not. 

13. The church organisation
First determine what can be quantified easily.

1. What is the organisation’s total annual income / expenditure?

2. How many separate buildings are there, which generate transactions and 

analysis requirements? 

3. How many bank accounts are there (including deposit and share accounts)?

4. How many funds are there (including restricted and endowment funds)?

5. How many financial transactions are there per month?

Then consider any particular needs, e.g.:

6. Do customers have to be invoiced, e.g. for church hall lettings?

7. Do you need to keep track of regular suppliers or customers?

8. Does VAT have to be accounted for?

Lastly, consider other related activities, perhaps carried out by you, or possibly 

carried out by others, such as: Planned Giving, Payroll, Fees, etc. How might 

the information from these be integrated with the accounting system?
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When these questions have been answered, refer to the table below to 

assess the church organisation.

If ‘yes’ is the answer to questions 6, 7 or 8, then additional constraints may 

be placed on the choice of software (see later note).

Income /
expenditure

Transactions per 
month**

Diversity* Classification

< £50,000 n/a n/a very small

£50,000-£100,000 n/a <10 small

£50,000-£100,000 n/a >=10 small diverse*

£100,000-£250,000 <100 n/a medium

100,000-£250,000 >=100 n/a medium complex

£250,000-£500,000 n/a n/a large

> £500,000 n/a n/a very large

* Diversity = number of buildings + number of funds + number of bank and 

investment accounts

** including Planned Giving, Payroll and fees

14.  Skills and aptitudes of the user
From the following, which most closely describes the individual using the 

accounting software?  

Non-user (any of the following):

• may or may not use a computer in the home but doesn’t like it,

• hasn’t opportunity or aptitude to learn basic skills,

• usually gets someone else to do it!

• struggles with the mouse,

• cannot use the computer independently,

• may never have used a computer and doesn’t want to start now.

Basic Computer user (all of the following):

• can send / receive e-mails,

• can search the internet,

• can write a basic document and print it out,

• understands the basics of how a spreadsheet works,

• understands the basics of file storage,

• can work independently,

• is prepared to give time to learn more.
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Competent user: as for basic user plus all the following:

• can attach files to e-mails,

• is proficient at preparing professional looking documents,

• is aware of most of the features of a spreadsheet package,

• is proficient at managing files.

• has attended some form of training on a computer package.

Skilled user: as for competent user plus all the following:

• has substantial experience of using a computer in a business setting,

• understands database concepts and can apply them,

• has attended several computer training courses over time,

• knows a wide range of computer software,

• has taught himself how to use some software,

• is proficient at using the Help facility and rarely or never has to call for 

support on training related issues.

15. Expectations of an accounting solution
Whether or not you are an accountant, you will have expectations regarding 

an accounting solution; and some will be more important than others. 

Possible examples are listed below. However, think carefully about your own 

expectations; they may be quite different!

1. It should save time in day-to-day operation (i.e. be quick and easy to 

use).

2. It must be easy to set up.

3. Customising the solution is acceptable.

4. It should be intuitive.

5. Statutory and management accounts must be catered for.

6. It must save time at Year End.

7. Having to use a spreadsheet alongside the package for detailed working 

is acceptable.

8. Constraints to ways of working are acceptable.

9. Flexible solutions that can adapt to suit the user are preferable.

10. Accounting practices (e.g. double entry) must be visible.

11. A visible, clear audit trail must be available.

If there are too many expectations, they may rule out all potential solutions! 

It is in the area of personal expectations that you are most likely to have 

to compromise. It is important that you are very clear about which of your 

expectations are non-negotiable and why.
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After following the above steps, the available products can be now 

considered and matched against the church needs, your own abilities and 

expectations, and the price you are prepared to pay.

16. The market place
The accounting software market place is not generally focussed on churches. 

Its main focus is on varying levels of business or personal needs. Some 

smaller software development companies have recognised the niche market 

that churches offer, notably Data Developments.

The market place is split among those products where:

• Fund accounting is fully integrated.

• Fund accounting capability is present but is not fully integrated.

• Fund accounting is not possible.

Where fund accounting is fully integrated, the user is led through a set-up 

process whereby each fund balance within each asset account must be 

recorded. Thereafter all transactions, even transfers between bank accounts, 

must have a fund associated with them. The software produces statutory 

accounts as output reports, which should comply with current Charities 

SORP requirements for accruals accounts, but you will still need to check for 

yourself by using the ACAT checklist – and in any case the software cannot 

write the trustees’ annual report for you. Management reports appropriate 

to individual church needs for internal use may be more difficult to specify, 

but as the requirement here is mainly for project-control and cashflow 

management, most software packages should be able to cope.

In the absence of integrated fund accounting, a product is fully fund 

accounting capable if it has:

1. a field other than the income/expense heading by which transactions can 

be analysed (e.g. category, class, classification, dept.) to record the fund,

2. AND a means whereby appropriate initial fund/asset account balances 

can be entered,

3. AND the ability to produce the necessary reports or to export enough 

information to a spreadsheet to derive the necessary reports.

The extent to which individual packages comply with these requirements 

varies, but all must have the first and most essential requirement. The user 

has to carry out the customisation, which can be complex, and note that 

for both integrated and fund accounting capable packages some initial 

customisation is always required e.g. in setting up the Chart of Accounts. 
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There are three types of software which church treasurers might find suitable 

to their needs:

1. The spreadsheet: 

Microsoft “Excel” is an example of a DIY product, ultimately flexible, suitable 

for small churches and all users. Only highly experienced spreadsheet 

users, particularly accountants, would want to deal with large or complex 

spreadsheets or use for accruals accounts. Year-end processing is complex 

and errors can arise unless calculation checks are incorporated. This solution is 

unlikely to be suitable if the answer to questions 6, 7 or 8 in section 13 was yes.

2. The charity/church-specific package with integrated fund accounting: 

Data Developments’ “Finance Co-ordinator” is a product with traditional 

basic accounting functionality, easy to set up and relatively simple to use. It is 

particularly suitable for inexperienced treasurers and receipts and payments 

accounts, but can also be used for accruals accounts. Its target market is small 

and medium sized churches. It may be less suitable if the answer to questions 

6, 7 or 8 in section 13 was yes, or for large volumes of transactions and large 

churches where more complex or sophisticated accounting procedures may 

be required.  Finance coordinator has undergone some significant upgrades 

recently. It has a selection of pre-designed account structures for various 

different denominations and organisations throughout the UK, based on both 

Receipts and Payments and Pre-payments and Accruals systems. Finance 

Co-ordinator easily handles funds, budgets, cost centres, standing orders, 

debtors and creditors, journal entry transactions and bank reconciliation. It has 

a large variety of reports including an in-depth and customisable transaction 

listings report, Balance sheet report, SOFA report, Statement of Asset and 

Liabilities report, budget reports, cost centre reports and much more. It 

will also automatically produce a paginated Trustees’ Annual Report as a 

word document – including the facility to include your own introduction and 

conclusion documents. “Paxton” comes in either “Standard” or “Pro” editions; 

both will deal with Vat and “Pro” has invoicing and sales ledger capability.

3. Fund Accounting Capable Personal and Small Business accounting 

software packages: 

There are a number of personal or small business accounting solutions 

(many being online “cloud” based) that might be adapted for churches 

and fund accounting, particularly for the smaller church or one having few 

separate funds. However, the treasurer may have to use a certain amount of 

skill to adapt the package to meet his/her requirements. They can be found 

by entering appropriate queries in internet search engines. Some of the 

more-simple systems are free systems and may be either online or can be 

downloaded. Popular examples of small business accounting solutions are 
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Quickbooks, MYOB, and Sage; these may be more difficult to adapt to fund 

accounting, but are more likely to be able to deal with questions 6, 7 and 8 of 

section 13 in providing billing, supplier and VAT recording.

When you have drawn up a short-list of products which are most likely to be 

appropriate for you, make sure that you see a demonstration of each product 

on your short-list before making a final decision. Other church treasurers may 

be willing to help with this. If possible, spend time evaluating the product 

for yourself. Check that it does what you want it to do and that you feel 

comfortable with the way it does it.

Always satisfy yourself of the financial viability of a potential software supplier 

before committing to their product. You need to be sure that it will be around 

for a while and that it will be supported.

The above is not intended as a comprehensive review of all possible accounting 

software products. In general, only the most widely used or well-known have been 

included. ACAT members may find that other products meet their needs equally well.

17. Payroll accounting
Now that all employers have to report to HMRC online in real time, any church 

with employees must have an appropriate system. Some of the small business 

solutions (exampled above) will have “payroll capability”, but for most churches 

it may be preferable to use a payroll bureau, particularly for a larger number of 

employees or where there is a high turnover of employees. For those churches 

with no more than 9 employees (particularly if they are relatively straight forward 

monthly paid) the HMRC “Basic PAYE Tools” software is free to download and 

is relatively easy to use, though has limitations including that it will not record 

any other deductions unrelated to PAYE or produce payslips. For a payroll of 

up to three employees, Brightpay UK offers free software to which you can 

subscribe online and which also includes payslips plus a facility to email them. 

Above that level of staffing, there will be an annual subscription fee.

18. Disclaimer
Whilst every care has been taken in writing and researching this chapter, 

the Association of Church Accountants and Treasurers cannot be held 

responsible for the accuracy of the information or any consequence 

arising from it. The sole aim has been to suggest to readers a basis for 

their own assessments. Any judgements regarding specific products are 

intended merely to inform this process.
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1.  Useful addresses - alphabetic order
This list is intended to assist in finding addresses difficult to find elsewhere. 

It is not a list of recommended bodies and the inclusion of an address should 

not be taken as an endorsement by ACAT. Information correct at time of 

printing.

Ansvar Insurance Company

Ansvar House, St Leonard’s Road, Eastbourne  BN21 3UR 

T: 01323 737541      E: ansvar.insurance@ansvar.co.uk

www.ansvar.co.uk

Archbishop’s Council

Finance Division, Church House, Great Smith Street, London  SW1P 3AZ

T: 0207 898 1000 

www.churchofengland.org

Association of Charitable Foundations 

Acorn House, 314-320 Gray’s Inn Road, London  WC1X 8DP

T: 0207 255 4499      E: acf@acf.org.uk

www.acf.org.uk

Association of Charity Independent Examiners

The Gatehouse, White Cross,  South Road, Lancaster  LA1 4XQ

T:   01524 348920      E: info@acie.org.uk

www.acie.org.uk

Association of Charity Officers

Acorn House, 314-320 Gray’s Inn Road,  London  WC1X 8DP 

T: 0207 255 4480      E:  info@aco.uk.net

www.aco.uk.net

Association of Chartered Certified Accountants

The Adelphi, 1-11 John Adam Street,  London  WC2N 6AU

T: 0141 582 2000      E:  info@accaglobal.com

 www.acca.co.uk

Association of Church Accountants and Treasurers (ACAT)

Unit 125 Coney Green Business Centre,  Wingfield View, Clay Cross, 

Chesterfield  S45 9JW

T: 01246 767787      E: admin@acat.uk.com

www.acat.uk.com
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Baptist Insurance Company plc (The)

Beaufort House, Brunswick Road, Gloucester, GL1 1JZ

T: 0345 070 2223      E: enquiries@baptist-ins.com

www.baptist-insurance.co.uk

CADW

Welsh Assembly Government

Plas Carew, Unit 5/7 Cefn Coed,  Parc Nantgarw, Cardiff  CF15 7QQ

T:  01443 336000      E:  cadw@wales.gsi.gov.uk

www.cadw.gov.wales

CAFonline  (Previously Charities Aid Foundation)

25 Kings Hill Ave, Kings Hill,  West Malling  ME19 4TA

T: 03000 123000      E: enquries@cafonline.org

www.cafonline.org

Cathedral Communications Ltd

High St, Tisbury, Salisbury SP3 6HA

T: 01747 871717      E: info@buildingconservation.com

www.buildingconservation.com

CCLA Investment Management Ltd

Charities Official Investment Fund (COIF) 

Senator House, 85 Queen Victoria Street,  London  EC4V 4ET

T: 0800 022 3505      E: clientservices@ccla.co.uk

www.ccla.co.uk

Charity Commission

PO Box 211, Bootle  L20 7YX

E: via the website 

www.gov.uk/government/organisations/charity-commission 

Charity Finance Group

15-18 White Lion Street,  London  N1 9PG

T: 0845 345 3192      E: info@cfg.org.uk

www.cfg.org.uk

Charity Law Association

P O Box 828, Gillingham.  ME8 1DJ

T: 01634 373253      E:  admin@charitylawassociation.org.uk

www.charitylawassociation.org.uk
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Charity Tax Group

Church House, Great Smith Street London  SW1P 3AZ

T: 0207 222 1265      E:  info@charitytaxgroup.org.uk

www.charitytaxgroup.org.uk

Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy

77 Mansell Street, London  E1 8AN

T: 0207 543 5600      E: customerservices@cipfa.org

www.cipfa.org 

Christian Copyright Licensing International 

Chantry House, 22 Upperton Road,  Eastbourne  BN21 1BF

T: 01323 436100      E: info@ccli.com

uk.ccli.com

Chubb Ltd

Littleton Road, Ashford. TW15 1TZ

T: 0800 32 1666      E: info@chubb.co.uk

www.chubb.co.uk

Church Care - Cathedral and Church Buildings Division

Church House, 27 Great Smith Street,  London SW1P 3AZ

T: 0207 898 1863      E: via website 

www.churchcare.co.uk

Church Commissioners for England

Church House, Great Smith Street, London SW1P 3AZ

T: 0207 898 135      E:  commissioners.enquiry@churchofengland.org

www.churchofengland.org

Churches’ Legislation Advisory Service (CLAS)

Church House, Great Smith Street,  London SW1P 3AZ

T: 020 7222 1265      E: via the website

www.churcheslegislation.org.uk

Churches Together in England

27 Tavistock Square, London WC1H 9HH

T: 0207 529 8131      E: office@cte.org.uk

www.cte.org.uk

Churches Together in Wales

58 Richmond Rd, Cardiff  CF24 3AT 

T: 02920 464204      E:post@cytun.cymru

www.cytun.org.uk
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Churches Together in Scotland

Jubilee House, Forthside Way,  Stirling  FK8 1QZ

T: 01259 216980      E: via website

www.acts-scotland.org

Churches Together in Britain & Ireland

39 Eccleston Square, London SW1V 1BX

T: 0203 794 2288      E: info@ctbi.org.uk

www.ctbi.org.uk

Congregational & General Insurance

Currer House, Currer Street Bradford, West Yorkshire BD1 5BA

T: 01274 700700      E: info@congregational.co.uk

www.congregational.co.uk

Data Protection   (See Information Commissioner)

www.gov.uk/data-protection

Disclosure & Barring Service

PO Box 3961,  Royal Wootton Bassett  SN4 4HF

T: 03000 200 190      E: customerservices@dbs.gsi.gov.uk

www.gov.uk/government/organisations/disclosure-and-barring-service#org-

contacts

Ecclesiastical Insurance Group

Beaufort House, Brunswick Road Gloucester, GL1 1JZ

T: 0345 777 3322      E: information@ecclesiastical.com

www.ecclesiastical.com

English Heritage

1 Waterhouse Square, 138 - 142 Holborn London, EC1N 2ST

T: 020 7973 3000      E: customers@english-heritage.org.uk

www.english-heritage.org.uk

Epworth Investment Management Ltd (For Affirmative Deposit Fund)

9 Bonhill Street. London EC2A 4PE

T: 0207 496 3636      E: admin@epworthinvestment.co.uk

www.epworthinvestment.co.uk
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Food Standards Agency

Aviation House, 125 Kingsway, London WC2B 6NH

T: Switchboard: 020 7276 8000      Helpline T: 0207 276 8829

E: helpline@foodstandards.gsi.gov.uk

www.food.gov.uk

Fundraising Regulator

2nd floor, CAN Mezzanine Building, 49-51 East Road, London, N1 6AH

T: 0300 999 3407      E: enquiries@fundraisingregulator.org.uk

Website: www.fundraisingregulator.org.uk

Health & Safety Executive

Redgrave Court, Merton Road, Bootle, Merseyside, L20 7HS

T: 0300 003 1747      E: via website

www.hse.gov.uk

For guidance on electrical PAT testing refer to:

www.hse.gov.uk/electricity/faq-portable-appliance-testing.htm

Historic Environment Scotland

Longmore House, Salisbury Place, Edinburgh  EH9 1SH.

T: 0131 668 8600

www.historicenvironment.scot

HMRC

www.gov.uk/government/organisations/hm-revenue-customs

HMRC - Pay As You Earn & Self Assessment

HM Revenue & Customs  BX9 1AS

T: 0300 200 3300

www.gov.uk/government/organisations/hm-revenue-customs/contact/

income-tax-enquiries-for-individuals-pensioners-and-employees

HMRC - Charities

HM Revenue and Customs  BX9 1BU

T: 0300 123 1073

www.gov.uk/government/organisations/hm-revenue-customs/contact/

charities-and-community-amateur-sports-clubs-cascs

ICAEW - The Institute of Chartered Accountants in England & Wales

Chartered Accountants’ Hall, Moorgate Place,  London EC2R 6EA

T: 01908 248 250      E: contactus@icaew.com

www.icaew.co.uk
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Information Commissioner’s Office (previously Data Protection Registrar)

England: Wycliffe House, Water Lane Wilmslow, Cheshire SK9 5AF

T: 0303 123 1113      E: via website

https://ico.org.uk/

Scotland: 45 Melville Street, Edinburgh  EH3 7HL

T: 0131 244 9001      E: scotland@ico.org.uk

Wales: 2nd floor, Churchill House, Churchill Way, Cardiff  CF10 2HH

T: 029 2067 8400      E:  wales@ico.org.uk

Northern Ireland:  3rd Floor, 14 Cromac Place,  Belfast  BT7 2JB

T:  028 9027 8757      E: ni@ico.org.uk

Institute of Fundraising

Charter House, 13-15 Carteret Street,  London SW1H 9DJ

T: 020 7840 1000      E:  info@institute-of-fundraising.org.uk

www.institute-of-fundraising.org.uk

Listed Places of Worship Grant Scheme

Topmark (LPOW) 160 Bath Street,  Glasgow G2 4TB

T: 0845 013 6601

www.lpwscheme.org.uk

Monumental Brass Society

Pentlow Hall, Cavendish Suffolk CO10 7SP

E: martinstuchfield@pentlowhall.com

www.mbs-brasses.co.uk

National Council for Voluntary Organisations

Society Building, 8 All Saint’s Street, London N1 9RL

T: 020 7713 6161      E:  ncvo@ncvo.org.uk

www.ncvo.org.uk

Northern Ireland Council for Voluntary Associations

61 Duncairn Gardens, Belfast BT15 2GB

T: 02890 877777      E: Individual addresses at www.nicva.org/team

www.nicva.org
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The functions of the Office for Civil Society (previously Office of the Third 

Sector) have been transferred to the Department for Culture, Media & Sport

www.gov.uk/government/organisations/department-for-culture-media-sport

Official Custodian for Charities

See Charity Commission

Stewardship

1 Lamb’s Passage, London  EC1Y 8AB

T: 020 8502 5600      E: enquires@stewardship.org.uk

www.stewardship.org.uk

Scottish Charity Regulator (Office of)

2nd Floor Quadrant House, 9 Riverside Drive, Dundee  DD1 4NY

T: 01382 220446      E: infor@oscr.org.uk

www.oscr.org.uk

Third Sector

Bridge House,  69 London Road, Twickenham  TW1 3SP

T:  020 8267 4694      E:  thirdsector@haymarket.com

www.thirdsector.co.uk/

TPT Retirement Solutions  (Previously Pensions Trust)

Verity House, 6 Canal Wharf,  Leeds LS11 5BQ

T:  0113 234 5500      E:  via website

www.tpt.org.uk/
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2.  Useful addresses by type of service
This list is intended to assist in finding addresses difficult to find elsewhere. 

It is not a list of recommended bodies and the inclusion of an address should 

not be taken as an endorsement by ACAT. The full address can be found in 

the alphabetical list.

a. Accountancy

Association of Chartered Certified Accountants

Association of Charity Independent Examiners

Association of Church Accountants and Treasurers (ACAT)

Charity Finance Group

Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy

Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales (ICAEW)

Stewardship

b. Advisory

Association of Charitable Foundations

Churches’ Legislation Advisory Service (CLAS)

Food Standards Agency

Health & Safety Executive

National Council for Voluntary Organisations

Northern Ireland Council for Voluntary Associations

Third Sector

c. Church groups

Churches Together in: England, Scotland, Wales, Britain and Northern Ireland

d. Electrical & fire equipment testing

Chubb

HSE

e. Finance - general

Archbishop’s Council

CAFonline (previously Charities Aid Foundation)

Church Commissioners for England

Churches’ Legislation Advisory Service (CLAS)
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f. Gift aid and other services

CAFonline (previously Charities Aid Foundation)

Stewardship

g. Insurance and pensions

Ansvar Insurance Company

Baptist Insurance Company

Congregational and General Insurance

Ecclesiastical Insurance Group

TPT Retirement Solutions (previously Pensions Trust)

h. Investments

CCLA Investment Management

(CCLA fund manage the Charities Official Investment Fund (COIF) and the

CBF Church of England Deposit Fund)

Epworth Investment Management Ltd

i. Legal

Charity Law Association

Christian Copyright Licensing International

Churches Legislation Advisory Service (CLAS)

j. Professional associations

Association of Chartered Certified Accountants

Association of Charity Independent Examiners

Association of Charity Officers

Association of Church Accountants and Treasurers (ACAT)

Charity Finance Group

Charity Law Association

Charity Tax Group

Institute of Fundraising

Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales (ICAEW)



Useful Addresses

382

k. Regulatory bodies

Charity Commission

Disclosure & Barring Service (previously Criminal Records Bureau)

HMRC (Her Majesty’s Revenue & Customs)

Information Commissioner (previously Data Protection Registrar)

Scottish Charity Regulator (Office of)

l. Repairs and maintenance

CADW

Cathedral Communications Ltd

Church Care - Cathedral and Church Buildings Division

English Heritage

Historic Environment Scotland

Monumental Brass Society

m. Tax (inc. VAT)

Charity Tax Group

HMRC 

Listed Places of Worship Grant Scheme
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Charities in Scotland are regulated by the Charities and Trustee Investment 

(Scotland) Act 2005 (the Scottish Act). It established the “Office of the Scottish 

Charity Regulator” (OSCR) and enacted new Scottish charity law and procedures. A 

number of changes have been made to the rules up to and including the Charities 

Accounts (Scotland) Amendment Regulations 2016. The law for charity regulation in 

Scotland and in England and Wales is very similar following the replacement of the 

Charities Act 2006 by the Charities Act 2011 (the English Act). However, there are 

still significant differences, which in as far as they relate to churches are dealt with in 

this chapter.

OSCR has a very useful website which provides significant guidance at www.oscr.

org.uk that includes best practice in charity governance, including a voluntary 

scheme since 1 April 2016 for trustees to inform the OSCR of any “notifiable 

events” of regulatory significance. Some of these feature in the “Serious Incidents 

Reporting” regime in England and Wales under Part B of the statutory Annual Return 

and for cross-border charities are routinely shared with OSCR. They complement the 

matters of regulatory concern that must be reported direct to the charity regulators 

by auditors and independent examiners and which are to be extended from 1 April 

2017. The guidance also includes all aspects of public accountability. To reflect the 

changes introduced by the Charities Accounts (Scotland) Amendment Regulations 

2010, OSCR produced a new publication “Scottish Charity Accounts – an updated 

guide to the 2006 Regulations”, August 2011, since updated as explained below. 

It is available online by visiting  http://www.oscr.org.uk/media/2064/2015-10-

28-amended-scottish-charity-accounts-guide.pdf. This publication explains the 

regulations in simple, understandable language that includes their updating to cross-

refer to the new SORP, firstly by S.S.I.2014/335 for financial years after 2014, and 

latterly by S.S.I.2016/076 for financial years after 2015, thus effectively replacing the 

Charities SORP 2005 by what is now the Charities SORP(FRS102) as amended by 

its “Update Bulletin 1”.

1. Registration
There is no excepted status in Scotland. All charities operating in Scotland, 

including churches, regardless of their size, must register with OSCR. The 

Scottish Act does provide for certain relaxation of provisions for “Designated 

Religious Charities”, but none relate to the matters dealt with in this chapter.

To qualify as a charity in Scotland, the relevant organisation must meet the 

charity test of providing public benefit in Scotland or elsewhere, and its 

purposes must fall within the sixteen charitable purposes specified in the 

Scottish Act, one of which is the advancement of religion. The list is similar to 

that included in the English Act.
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2. Annual Returns
All charities, including churches, must submit an Annual Return (with at least 

Section A completed) to OSCR within nine months of the end of the financial 

year, which must be accompanied by their Annual Report and Financial 

Statements. 

Additionally, charities with income in excess of £25,000 must complete 

Section B, which includes a set of “sector-monitoring” questions, and 

those exceeding £250,000 must also complete Section C, comprising key 

information taken from the accounts. Returns can be submitted online, as 

is now done by 90% of charities. (The Return for cross-border charities only 

requires Section A to be completed and a yes/no question on activities in 

Scotland to be answered.) 

Guidance and pro-formas for these Returns can be found on the OSCR 

website.

3. Form and content of the Annual Report 
and financial statements
The Charities Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2006 (the Regulations), 

together with subsequent amendments, provide that:

All charities must keep adequate accounting records which disclose at any 

time the financial position of the charity, enable the preparation of appropriate 

financial statements, show all income and expenditure and the reasons 

therefore and include a record of the assets and liabilities of the charity.

Charities must submit to the OSCR a copy of their statement of accounts 

within nine months of the end of the financial year.

Depending upon the size of the charity, it must either prepare fully accrued 

accounts, or may prepare accounts on a Receipts and Payments (R&P) basis.

Accounts shall be subject to either an audit or an independent examination.
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Churches should follow this table to determine the accounts they should 

prepare:

INCOME ETC
Accruals 
Accounts

R&P 
Basis

Accounts are required by the governing document or for other 
reasons to show “a true and fair view”

X

The church governing body chooses to prepare accruals accounts X

Gross income is less than  £250,000 X

Gross income is or exceeds  £250,000 X

Gross income for the above purposes, means the total recorded income 

in all unrestricted, (including designated) and restricted income funds, i.e. 

not including resources received as capital (endowment) funds except 

where converted into spendable income. So the definition is the same as is 

dealt with in detail in the “Receipts and Payments Basis for Accounts” and 

“Accruals Accounts” chapters of this handbook.

a. Fully accrued accounts

The Regulations provide that the accounts shall comprise

• A report from an external scrutineer

• Statement of Financial Activities (SoFA)

• Balance Sheet

• Cash flow statement, if appropriate

• Notes to the Accounts

• Trustees’ Annual Report

and that these shall comply with the requirements set out in the current 

“Statement of Recommended Practice for Accounting and Reporting by 

Charities”, i.e. SORP(FRS102), as updated by its “Update Bulletin 1”, 

effective for financial years after 2015 or upon its early voluntary adoption.  

The Regulations further provide that the balance sheet and the annual report 

shall be signed by one of the charity trustees on behalf of all the charity 

trustees as authorised by them and shall specify the date on which the 

statement of account of which the balance sheet and the annual report forms 

part was approved by the charity trustees.

Churches in Scotland preparing accrual accounts should refer to the 

“Accruals Accounts” and “Annual Report” chapters of this handbook 

for detailed guidance, as the same requirements of SORP(FRS102) are 

applicable in both jurisdictions.



Charities in Scotland

388

b. Receipts and Payments accounting basis

The Regulations provide that the accounts shall comprise: 

• A report from an external scrutineer

• A Receipts and Payments Account for the financial year

• A Statement of Balances as at the last day of the financial year 

• Notes to the Accounts

• A Trustees’ Annual Report

Again, the Regulations provide that the statement of balances and the annual 

report shall be signed by one of the charity trustees on behalf of all the 

charity trustees as authorised by them and shall specify the date on which 

the statement of account of which the statement of balances and the annual 

report forms part was approved by the charity trustees.

Unlike the English regulations, the Scottish regulations specify the content for 

receipts and payments accounts, prescribe a statement of balances instead 

of a statement of assets and liabilities and require additional content for the 

annual report where charities account on a receipts and payments basis. 

These requirements are detailed in Appendix 1 to this chapter.

The OCSR website has a wealth of support material. An online booklet at 

http://www.oscr.org.uk/media/1709/2014-11-21-scottish-charity-accounts-

part-2_-receipts-payments-accounts.pdf is supplemented by further 

guidance at  http://www.oscr.org.uk/charities/managing-your-charity/charity-

accounting/receipts-and-payments-accounts, which includes guidance and 

“work packs” in pdf and word format.

c. Audit or independent examination

The statement of account must be audited by an auditor who is eligible under 

Part 42, Companies Act 2006 to act as a statutory auditor or else by the 

Auditor General for Scotland when:

• the gross income in a financial year is £500,000 or more, or

• the gross income is less than £500,000, but the aggregate value of assets 

(before deduction of liabilities) exceeds £3.26 million and accruals-based 

statutory accounts are prepared – even if gross income is less than 

£250,000 for the year.

An audit shall also be carried out if it is required by the constitution of the 

charity, by any other enactments, or by a decision of the trustees to have an 

audit.
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If an audit is not required under any of the above provisions, the statement 

of account must be examined by an independent examiner. He or she 

must be somebody who is reasonably believed by the charity trustees to 

have the requisite ability and practical experience to carry out a competent 

examination of the accounts.

However, if the accounts to be examined are accruals-based accounts, the 

independent examiner must also be:

a. a member of:

• the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales

• the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Scotland

• the Institute of Chartered Accountants in Ireland

• the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants

• the Association of Authorised Public Accountants (as ACCA members, 

since December 2016)

• the Association of Accounting Technicians

• the Association of International Accountants

• the Chartered Institute of Management Accountants

• the Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators

• the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy, or

b. a full member of the Association of Charity Independent Examiners, or

c. the Auditor General for Scotland, or

d. a person appointed by the Accounts Commission for Scotland.

Whilst charity audits throughout the UK have to conform to International 

Standards on Auditing (ISAs), the OSCR’s website Guidance for Independent 

Examiners is less extensive than the 13 statutory Directions to Independent 

Examiners in the 2016 version of CC32 on the website of the Charity 

Commission for England and Wales.

The auditor or independent examiner also has a duty, or in some 

circumstances a right, to report direct to the OSCR any matter which he or 

she thinks should be brought to their attention. The statutory duty covers any 

“matter of material significance” for the regulation of charities that comes 

to notice in the course of the audit or examination work. The statutory right 

covers any other matter of concern. The charity regulators have agreed a 

common list of mandatory notifications, which has so far mirrored the list in 

Appendix 5 to the FRC’s Practice Note 11 (the Audit of Charities in the UK) 

since March 2011. For independent examiners’ reports issued after 1 May 

2017, the common list of matters reportable direct to the relevant charity 

regulator has been revised and extended as announced in a press release on 
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12 April 2017, in line with the results of a joint public consultation by the UK 

charity regulators in 2016.

Only major matters should be reported, not small or insignificant items, 

particularly if the issue has been properly resolved internally. These would 

include deliberate and reckless actions by the trustees that have resulted, or 

could result, in material loss or misapplication of funds. Honest inadvertence 

or errors of judgment are not reportable. 

The matters that are reportable by the examiner, updated for CC32’s 

proposed textual changes as italicised below and one deletion [in brackets], 

plus two significant new categories, are:

• Matters suggesting dishonesty or fraud involving a significant loss of, or a 

material risk to, charitable funds or assets. 

• Failure(s) of internal controls, including failure(s) in charity governance, 

that resulted in, or could give rise to, a material loss or misappropriation 

of charitable funds, or which leads to significant charitable funds being 

put at major risk. 

• Knowledge or suspicion that the charity or charitable funds, including the 

charity’s bank account(s), have been used for money laundering, or such 

funds are the proceeds of serious organised crime, or that the charity is a 

conduit for criminal activity. 

• #Matters leading to the knowledge or suspicion that the charity, its 

trustees, employees or assets, have been involved in or used to support 

terrorism or proscribed organisations in the UK or outside of the UK 

(excluding anything prior to 1998 re the N.I. conflict). 

• #Evidence (obtained in the course of the audit or examination) suggesting 

that in the way the charity carries out its work relating to the care and 

welfare of beneficiaries, the charity’s beneficiaries have been or were put 

at significant risk of abuse or mistreatment. 

• Single or recurring breach(es) of either a legislative requirement or of the 

charity’s trusts leading to material charity funds being misapplied. 

• Evidence obtained in the course of the audit or examination suggesting a 

deliberate or significant breach of an Order or Direction made by a charity 

regulator under statutory powers including suspending a charity trustee, 

prohibiting a particular transaction or activity or granting consent on 

particular terms involving significant charitable assets or liabilities. 

• [Deleted as it has resulted in too many non-actionable notifications: Any 

notification or matter reported to the trustees on resigning as independent 

examiner or matter that the examiner is aware of on resignation or 

ceasing to act that falls within the categories of reportable matters set out 

above.]
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• On making a modified audit opinion, emphasis of matter, material 

uncertainty related to going concern, or issuing of a qualified independent 

examiner’s report identifying matters of concern to which attention is 

drawn, notification of the nature of the modification/qualification/emphasis 

of matter or concern, with supporting reasons including notification of 

the action taken, if any, by the trustees subsequent to that audit opinion, 

emphasis of matter or material uncertainty identified [or to that] examiner’s 

report.

• (During the audit/independent examination) evidence that significant 

conflicts of interest have not been managed appropriately by the trustees 

and/or related party transactions have not been fully disclosed in all the 

respects required by the applicable SORP, or applicable Regulations.

#This is also on the smaller list of “notifiable events” to be disclosed to the 

OSCR by the trustees voluntarily – i.e., as best practice – from 1 April 2016, 

as set out in the website guidance on that topic.

The last of the above reporting duties imposed on examiners will each need 

careful handling if a good working relationship with the church’s trustee-body 

is to be preserved. In formulating a draft notification to the regulator, the 

examiner will be expected to have fully explored the trustees’ own views of 

the situation in question and the action already taken and/or to be taken by 

them with a view to removing the need for that notification. 

The notifying of non-compliance with regulatory guidance on managing 

“conflicts of interests” will be a judgement-call for the examiner, who will 

need to assess the extent of any private benefit arising from unmanaged (or 

inadequately managed) conflicts of personal interests within the context of 

the Related Party Transactions disclosure requirements of SORP(FRS102) 

that appears to have resulted in “material loss” to the Church – taking into 

account the legal obligations of charity trustees to pursue a defaulting trustee 

for restitution. However, the notifying by the examiner of any Related Party 

transaction that has not been “fully disclosed in all the respects required by 

the applicable SORP” could be a step too far unless modifiable to exclude 

non-disclosures below the radar for regulatory intervention.
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APPENDIX 1 – Receipts and Payments Basis

a. Trustees’ report requirements

1. The name of the charity as it appears in the Register and any other name 

by which it makes itself known.

2. The number assigned to it in the Register.

3. The address of the principal office of the charity or, where it does not 

have such an office, the name and address of one of the charity trustees 

(unless the charity is entitled to exclude the address from its entry in the 

Register in terms of section 3(4) of the 2005 Act - (this section provides 

that information can be excluded from the register if OSCR are satisfied 

that the information is likely to jeopardize safety or security of persons or 

premises).

4. The name of any person that is a charity trustee on the date the annual 

report was approved by the charity trustees unless–

a. there are more than 50 charity trustees, in which case the names of 50 

charity trustees is sufficient, or

b. the charity is entitled to exclude the names of the charity trustees from 

its entry in the Register in terms of section 3(4) of the 2005 Act.

5. The name of any person who has, at any time during the financial year in 

question, been a charity trustee, unless the charity is entitled to exclude 

the names of the charity trustees from its entry in the Register in terms of 

section 3(4) of the 2005 Act.

6. Particulars of any deed or other document containing provisions, which 

regulate the purposes and administration of the charity.

7. The purposes of the charity as set out in the constitution of the charity.

8. A description of the methods which have been adopted by the charity 

trustees to recruit and appoint new charity trustees and the name of any 

external body or person that is entitled to appoint the charity trustees, if 

any.

9. A summary of the main activities of the charity undertaken and 

achievements in the financial year, explaining how these further its 

charitable objectives and deliver public benefit.

10. A description of the policy which has been adopted by the charity 

trustees for the purpose of determining the level of reserves which it 

is appropriate for the charity to maintain in order to meet effectively its 

purposes, including the level of reserves held, why they are held and 

quantifying and explaining the purpose of any designated funds and the 

likely timing of any expenditure that has been set aside for the future.
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11. If the charity has a deficit, an explanation of the circumstances giving rise 

to it and details of the steps being taken to rectify it.

12. An analysis of donated facilities and services, if any, that the charity 

received during the financial year.

b. Information to be shown in the Receipts and Payments 

Account and in the Statement of Balances

1. In respect of every amount required to be shown in the receipts and 

payments account and in the statement of balances, the corresponding 

amount for the financial year immediately preceding that to which the 

receipts and payments account and statement of balances relate.

2. The receipts and payments account shall set out the total receipts and 

payments for the financial year in sufficient detail as may reasonably 

enable a proper appreciation of the transactions and the excess of 

receipts over payments or payments over receipts for that year and shall 

distinguish between restricted, unrestricted, expendable endowment or 

permanent endowment funds. This is usually achieved by giving each 

fund a separate column in the accounts. Where a charity has more than 

one fund in any of these categories it should present the total funds held 

in each. The notes to the accounts must then explain in sufficient detail 

the content of the unrestricted, restricted and endowment funds so that 

the reader gains a full understanding of the accounts.

3. The following receipts in particular, if any, shall be shown separately:–

a. donations;

b. legacies;

c. grants;

d. receipts from fundraising activities;

e. gross trading receipts;

f. income from investments other than land and buildings;

g. rents from land and buildings;

h. gross receipts from other charitable activities;

i. proceeds from sale of fixed assets; and

j. proceeds from sale of investments.

4. The following payments in particular, if any, shall be shown separately:–

a. expenses for fundraising activities;

b. gross trading payments;

c. investment management costs;

d. payments relating directly to charitable activities, detailing material 

items;
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e. grants and donations relating directly to charitable activities;

f. governance costs relating to–

i. audit or independent examination;

ii. preparation of annual accounts; and

iii. legal costs associated with constitutional matters or trustee 

advice;

g. purchases of fixed assets; and

h. purchase of investments.

5. The receipts and payments account shall set out transfers from 

a restricted, unrestricted, expendable endowment or permanent 

endowment fund into another fund separately.

6. The statement of balances shall:–

a. distinguish between unrestricted, restricted, and expendable 

endowment or permanent endowment funds;

b. reconcile the cash and bank balances at the beginning and end of the 

financial year with the surplus or deficit shown by the receipts and 

payments account;

c. summarise the holding of investments and market valuation;

d. summarise other assets including gifted assets and state the cost or a 

valuation of the assets if available; where the charity trustees consider 

the valuation to be lower than the cost, the valuation should be used;

e. state an estimate of the liabilities at the end of the financial year 

showing separately any contingent liabilities.

c. Additional information to be provided in the Notes to the 

Accounts

In respect of the receipts and payments account and statement of balances, 

except where provided in the annual report:–

a. the nature and purpose of each of the funds including any restrictions on 

these funds;

b. the number and amount of grant or grants paid, the type of activity or 

project supported and whether the grant or grants was or were made for 

the benefit of an individual or an institution;

c. the amount of remuneration paid to a charity trustee or person connected 

with a trustee, the authority under which the remuneration was paid, and 

if no remuneration was paid to a charity trustee or a person connected to 

a trustee, a statement of that fact;
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d. the aggregate amount, if any, of expenses paid to the charity trustees, 

detailing the number of charity trustees paid and if no expenses were 

paid, a statement of that fact;

e. the nature of any transactions between charity trustees and persons 

connected with a trustee, the nature of the relationship, the transaction 

amount and any outstanding balances at the end of the financial year of 

the charity;

f. such other information as may reasonably assist the user to understand 

the statement of accounts.

APPENDIX 2 – Example independent 
examiner’s report

Independent Examiner’s Report to the Trustees of “ABC” Trust

I report on the accounts of the charity for the year ended xx xxxx 20xx which 

are set out on pages xx to xx.

Respective responsibilities of trustees and examiner

The charity’s trustees are responsible for the preparation of the accounts 

in accordance with the terms of the Charities and Trustee Investment 

(Scotland) Act 2005 and the Charities Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2006 

(as amended). The charity trustees consider that the audit requirement of 

Regulation (* insert regulation; see note below) of the Accounts Regulations 

does not apply. It is my responsibility to examine the accounts as required 

under section 44(1) (c) of the Act and to state whether particular matters have 

come to my attention.

Basis of independent examiner’s statement

My examination is carried out in accordance with Regulation 11 of 

the Charities Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2006 (as amended). An 

examination includes a review of the accounting records kept by the charity 

and a comparison of the accounts presented with those records. It also 

includes consideration of any unusual items or disclosures in the accounts, 

and seeks explanations from the trustees concerning any such matters. 

The procedures undertaken do not provide all the evidence that would be 

required in an audit, and consequently I do not express an audit opinion on 

the view given by the accounts.
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Independent examiner’s statement

In the course of my examination, no matter has come to my attention [other 

than disclosed below]

1. which gives me reasonable cause to believe that in any material respect 

the requirements:

• to keep accounting records in accordance with Section 44(1) (a) of the 

2005 Act and Regulation 4 of the 2006 Accounts Regulations, and

• to prepare accounts which accord with the accounting records and 

comply with Regulation (** insert regulation; see note below) of the 

2006 Accounts Regulations, have not been met, or

2. to which, in my opinion, attention should be drawn in order to enable a 

proper understanding of the accounts to be reached.

Name:

Relevant Professional qualification/professional body: 

Address:

Date:

* For accounts prepared on the Accruals basis insert 10(1)(a) to (c); for 

accounts prepared on the Receipts and Payments basis insert 10(1)(d).

**For accrued accounts regulation 8, for receipts and payments basis 

regulation 9.


